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CORPORATE PROFILE
ACILE

As a pioneer in the IT industry, Computer And Technologies Holdings
Limited and its subsidiaries (“C&T" or “the Group”) operate with a vision to
build a better world through information technology. Established in 1991
and listed on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange (Stock Code: 00046) in 1998,
the Group has dedicated itself to delivering best-of-breed software products
and cloud services. These span enterprise information management,
human resources, procurement, retail operations, properties management
and cyber security and intelligence, empowering organisations to optimise
efficiency, innovation, and operational excellence.

Beyond software, C&T boasts a proven track record in end-to-end IT
solutions and services. This includes system design and implementation,
software development, e-services, and business process outsourcing. For
decades, the Group has been serving a diverse clientele from multinational
corporations to government bodies enhancing their competitive edge.
Notable achievements include managing customer care and billing system
that supports water supply for over two million Hong Kong households,
operating Government Electronic Trading Services (GETS) platform that
supports over 10,000 companies for seamless trade documentation
processing, providing mission-critical systems like its award-winning
electronic tendering platform that manage procurements worth billions of
dollars annually and processing payroll for millions of employees monthly
through our flagship HRM system.

Innovation fuels C&T's Success. We leverage Al and cyber intelligence to
empower our clients, accelerating their digital transformation across diverse
industries such as retail, finance, manufacturing, logistics, and public safety.
C&T's Al-powered HRM chatbot streamlines employee self-service by
automating policy retrieval and routine HR tasks. Our Al-driven procurement
and document solutions further optimise business processes through
compliance automation, entity verification, and intelligent data processing,
enhancing operational efficiency. In cybersecurity, our cloud-based
Intelligence-as-a-Service platform delivers 24/7 automated data monitoring,
analytics, and compliance oversight. As threats evolve, we're enhancing
protection with next-gen Al tools including PII encryption, data masking,
and secure archiving to safeguard sensitive information and strengthen
enterprise resilience. C&T enables smarter, faster, and more secure digital
transformation.
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CORPORATE PROFILE (CONTINUED)
D AEI ()

C&T's people are central to its accomplishments. The Group recruits and
nurtures high-calibre professionals skilled in cloud computing, mobile
applications, cybersecurity, and large-scale project implementation.
Rigorous adherence to IT development standards ensures excellence
in quality control, system maintenance, and resource management.
Continuous investment in talent development keeps the team aligned with
evolving technological trends.

Governance and sustainability are equally prioritised. The Group maintains
robust corporate governance frameworks and a risk-aware culture,
complemented by active community engagement. Employees are
encouraged to contribute to societal well-being, earning C&T recognition
for its sustainable practices and social responsibility efforts.

With deep domain expertise spanning enterprise management, retail,
and cyber intelligence, C&T remains committed to delivering innovative
solutions that address both everyday needs such as housing, transportation,
food, and specialised industry challenges. By combining cutting-edge
technology with unwavering quality, the Group continues its mission:
building a better world with information technology.
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CORPORATE INFORMATION
nEEH
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CORPORATE INFORMATION (CONTINUED)
DEER(E)
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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS
MBHE

For the year ended 31 December

BE+T-A=1t—-HLHEE

2020 2021 2023 2024
—TTF T T —T-=F C—E-F
HKS Million HKS Million HKS Million HKS Million HKS$ Million
BEBT BEET BEBT BEBT BEET
Revenue WA 2563 2655 268.7 2575 261.1
Profit attributable to shareholders B 5 & 1 & /& i 7 60.1 538 470 334 29.1
HK cents HK cents HK cents HK cents HK cents
Al Bl Rl Al Al
Basic earnings per share FREREFT
("EPS") ([ERERRH]) 243 218 190 135 120
Interim dividends HEARR B 50 6.0 65 55 5.5
Final dividends REARR B 120 110 75 55 5.5
Special dividend R RIAR B, - - 50 - -
Dividends per share BRRE
('DPS") (IgkKRe1) 17.0 170 190 110 11.0
Revenue Profit attributable to shareholders EPS vs DPS
A % R EAE FE R T EREXBIHEHERKE
HK$M HK$M HK Cent ers oPS
HEET HEET A B opmazn W smme
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
EFEW|E

Dear Shareholders,

OVERVIEW

On behalf of the Board of Directors (the “Board”) of Computer And
Technologies Holdings Limited (the “Company”), | am pleased to present
the audited annual results of the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively
the “Group”) for the year ended 31 December 2024.

During this reporting period, the Group recorded total revenue of HK$261.1
million, reflecting a modest increase of 1.4% from HK$257.5 million
in the previous year. To enhance software product development and
project delivery efficiency, the Group continued to scale up its software
development resources in the Greater Bay Area of Mainland China.
Consequently, the Group reduced the related costs and improved gross
profit by HK$7.3 million or 5.4%, totaling HK$143.2 million (2023: HK$135.8
million). This enhancement also contributed to an increase in the gross
profit margin, which rose to 54.8% (2023: 52.8%).

In contrast, the Group’s other income and gains experienced a slight
decrease of HK$0.2 million, reaching a total of HK$16.1 million (2023:
HK$16.3 million). Furthermore, the Group encountered a valuation loss of
HK$5.3 million on its investment property and financial assets, compared
with a loss of HK$3.1 million in the preceding year, reflecting the prevailing
market conditions.

Considering the launch of several new software products that received
positive market feedback, the Group fully amortised the related remaining
other intangible assets (including deferred development costs), resulting
in an increase in other expenses by HK$2.1 million, bringing the total
to HK$15.5 million (2023: HK$13.4 million). Due to the increase in local
assessable profits, the reduction of deferred tax assets and the additional tax
provision related to the claim for an enhanced deduction of certain research
and development expenditures in previous years!", the income tax expense
surged by HK$5.9 million to HK$10.4 million (2023: HK$4.5 million).
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT (CONTINUED)
EREHE(E)

OVERVIEW (CONTINUED)

As a result, the consolidated net profit attributable to shareholders
decreased by HKS$4.3 million, or 12.8%, to HK$29.1 million (2023: HK$33.4
million). Affected by share repurchases throughout the year, the basic
earnings per share only dropped by 11.5% to 11.95 HK cents (2023: 13.50 HK
cents).

Given the Group's robust financial position, the Board has declared a final
dividend of 5.5 HK cents per ordinary share for the year ended 31 December
2024, same as the 5.5 HK cents paid in the previous year. With the previously
declared interim dividend of 5.5 HK cents (2023: 5.5 HK cents) and the
proposed final dividend, the total annual dividends for the Group will
amount to 11 cents (2023: 11 HK cents) per ordinary share.

BUSINESS REVIEW

Application Software
The Group’s Application Softwarel? business experienced mixed results

among various product lines during the reporting year. On one hand,
unfavorable market conditions prompted enterprise customers to slow
down hiring or even reduce their workforce, resulting in a decline in license
revenue for the Group’s Human Resources Management Software ("HRMS”).
Moreover, the transition from on-premises software licenses to Software as
a Service (“SaaS") has also created a short-term negative impact on license
income. On the other hand, a rising focus on environmental, social, and
governance (“ESG") issues, particularly in corporate governance aspect,
resulted in increased demand for the Group's Enterprise Procurement
Management Software ("EPMS"). Despite the unfavorable market sentiment,
the Application Software business as a whole managed to maintain a
growing stream of recurring SaaS and maintenance incomes and stable
modification request orders from its existing customer base.

Computer And Technologies Holdings Limited
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CHAIRMAN'’S STATEMENT (CONTINUED)
EREHE (R

BUSINESS REVIEW (CONTINUED)

Application Software (continued)
As mentioned in the interim results, the Group’s HRMS business in the

Hong Kong Special Administrative Region (“HKSAR") was affected by
the weakened order pipeline carried over from the prior year, resulting
in a decrease in revenue and profit contribution to the Group. The
performance of the HRMS business in Mainland China also suffered due
to weak market sentiment and keen competition, resulting in a decline
in revenue compared to the prior year. Despite these challenges, the
Group has continued to invest in product research and development,
aiming to enhance its software portfolio with a cloud-native platform
and new Artificial Intelligence ("Al") applications. The Pi-HCM, a Human
Capital Management ("HCM") based on cloud-native technologies, was
launched earlier this year and received positive market feedback. Several
major deals, including a contract with one of the largest human resource
service companies in the Mainland China, were concluded in this context.
Management believes that the newly launched products will enable the
Group to capitalise on additional business opportunities from both existing
and new customers in the coming years.

The Group's enterprise software businesses achieved profit growth, driven
by increased revenue and enhanced project delivery efficiency. Our flagship
SaaS based EPMS product, ProSmart, has been receiving strong interests
from organisations and enterprises aiming to enhance their corporate
governance. During the reporting period, the business acquired several
new customers, including an authority of the HKSAR Government, a
statutory body for the promotion of trade, and various new customers in
the education and commercial sectors. This has contributed to the Group's
long term recurring Saa$S revenue as well as ongoing services revenue for
subsequent enhancements. As a result, the EPMS business showed revenue
growth and made material profit contributions to the Group during the
reporting year.

As indicated in the interim results, the stable recurring maintenance income
and ongoing demand for digital transformation, secured information
repositories, and compliance initiatives enabled the Enterprise Information
Management Software (“EIMS”) business to enhance its profit contribution
to the Group. In contrast, the Enterprise Retail Management Software
("ERMS") business reported flat revenue compared to the previous
year. Nevertheless, through focused management efforts to streamline
operations, the ERMS business improved its profit contribution to the
Group.
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT (CONTINUED)
EREHE(E)

BUSINESS REVIEW (CONTINUED)

Application Software (continued)
Utilising the expertise in Al and Natural Language Processing (“NLP") from

CISC Limited, the Group secured a significant cyber-monitoring project
from a law enforcement department of the HKSAR Government during the
reporting period. Additionally, the rising interest in generative Al has led to
more inquiries and opportunities for the Group's related technologies.

Solutions and Integration Services
The Group’s Solutions and Integration Services® business achieved double-

digit revenue growth during the reporting period, with total revenue
reaching HK$116.1 million (2023: HK$102.8 million). Moreover, due to
improved operational efficiency, the relative increase in profit contribution
outpaced revenue growth compared to last year.

The Customer Care and Billing System (“CCBS”") project for the Water
Supplies Department continued to generate substantial recurring revenue
this year. Driven by new enhancements for CCBS and new business from
other government organisations, the Managed Services® of the Group's
Solutions Services business recorded strong service revenue growth during
the review period.

Furthermore, sustainable professional service and maintenance orders
were secured through ongoing engagement in the HKSAR Government's
Standing Offer Agreement for Quality Professional Services (“SOA-QPS”)
and various agreements with key enterprise customers across finance,
property management, transport and utility industries. Notably, the
information security services team has established a solid foundation
and technical expertise in security risk assessments and privacy impact
reviews by participating in related projects in both public and private
sectors. Management anticipates significant growth in this area, driven by
rising concerns about cybersecurity and data privacy protection among
organisations. Additionally, there is an increasing demand for independent
testing projects, particularly for mission-critical and public-facing systems.
Leveraging its technical expertise and project experience of the Group’s
Solutions Services team, the business successfully concluded several sizable
independent testing projects for various HKSAR Government departments.

The performance of the Integration Services® business in Mainland China
also showed improvement compared to last year.

Computer And Technologies Holdings Limited
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CHAIRMAN'’S STATEMENT (CONTINUED)
EREHE (R

BUSINESS REVIEW (CONTINUED)

e-Service and related business
Benefit from increased import and export activities, the Group’s GETS®

business recorded high single-digit growth in both revenue and profit
contributions during the reporting period. The business also expanded its
market share and is set to launch new value-added services designed to
enhance user experience and strengthen customer loyalty.

Investments
The asset position of the Investment segment declined due to the Group

selling office premises in the PRC to an independent third party for
RMB2.6 million (approximately HK$2.8 million) in early 2024. Additionally,
unfavorable market conditions negatively impacted the valuations of the
Group's remaining investment properties and financial assets, resulting in
downward adjustments of HK$5.3 million (2023: HKS$3.1 million). This also
resulted in a loss of HK$3.5 million for the Investments segment in the
reporting year, compared to a loss of HK$1.0 million in the previous year.

PROSPECT

The economies of the HKSAR and Mainland China are expected to continue
their growth in 2025, but the pace may vary significantly across different
sectors. There is also uncertainty on impact to government IT spending due
to fiscal deficit in HKSAR. Along with evolving geopolitical dynamics that
may impact trade and investment, the overall outlook remains uncertain.

In this complex operating environment, management anticipates that
business momentum will be driven by cost effective operation and focused
go-to-market initiatives. The Group is optimistic about enhancing its SaaS
offerings, supported by an improved product portfolio characterised by
cloud-native architecture, which is expected to bolster growth in recurring
revenue streams.

Enabled by the Group’s technical resource center in the Greater Bay Area,
the Group’s Solutions Services business aims to enhance its involvement in
innovation, technology development, and smart city initiatives of the HKSAR
government. The business will further strengthen its business development
and consolidate resources in managed infrastructure, cloud, and security
services, aiming to engage more key enterprises through our domains in
digital transformation, automation, cybersecurity, cyber-monitoring, and Al.
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT (CONTINUED)
EREHE(E)

PROSPECT (CONTINUED)

To complement or expand its operations and market reach, the Group is
actively exploring various joint ventures as well as merger and acquisition
opportunities. These initiatives could provide improved economies of
scale or new growth prospects. However, the Group remains committed
to prudently evaluating these opportunities, balancing growth aspirations
with financial returns.

FINANCIAL REVIEW

Revenue and gross profit
The Group's total revenue exhibited a modest increase of HK$3.6 million,

or 1.4%, to HK$261.1 million (2023: HK$257.5 million) for the reporting
year. This increase was primarily attributable to the growth in the Solutions
Services business, which was partially offset by the decline in revenue from
the Application Services business.

Conversely, the cost of sales and services experienced a decline of HK$3.8
million, or 3.1%, totaling to HK$117.9 million (2023: HK$121.7 million),
predominantly due to reduction in staff costs.

As a result of lower costs, the overall gross profit improved by HKS$7.3
million, or 5.4%, reaching HK$143.2 million (2023: HK$135.8 million). The
gross profit margin also increased from 52.8% in the previous year to 54.8%
in the current reporting year.

Non-operating income and gains, net (included other
income and gains, foreign exchange differences, net

and fair value losses, net)
Other income and gains diminished by HK$0.2 million, or 1.1%, to HKS$16.1

million (2023: HK$16.3 million), primarily attributable to a decrease in the
value-added tax refund received during the reporting year.

The Group encountered challenges stemming from unfavorable market
sentiment, which adversely impacted the valuation of its investment
properties and financial assets. Consequently, a downward fair value
adjustment of HK$5.3 million (2023: HKS$3.1 million) was recorded during
the reporting year.

Computer And Technologies Holdings Limited

Al = (%)

REAHBRELEINMELEEEZSRE  A5H
FHEBRIEEUNRFERE ZFHEBEA
HREENZEBERmITAIBERAR o AW -
AEEDERFERIGZERE  EERR
B R B 75 () 3R < PR R 5 18 o

Bt %5 B B8

WAREF

REBEFE  AEENRUIAERILIN60E
ETL B 14% E26111EBTL (ZE =4 1 2575
BAT) c RN A RRIRT R EKIL
DNATEL - M E B AR 75 5 B AR A BF 9 P
HE5H o

R 2T @ HE RIRFSA AR 380 8T 3%
3N%E1I79EBETL(ZE_=F 1 21718%T) -
FTERRE TR -

BEZR AR TR BEEFIZIN7308E T 3k
54%F1432BB T (ZE=-=F 1 135818/87T) °
EFEIE FFERIS8%IENERBEEETH
54.8% °

FEBEWARKDFH(BEREMKA
Rz EREZHEFEARAFEESE
)

Ha WA R D208 BT sK1.1%E 1610
BET(CTE-=ZF 1 163088T) - BIPETE
ARREFEWR MISERRBR DT -

AEEMBETIHNTERFOKE  EEEYD
XRUBEENMESEKERZE - Al - ¥
BEFEHEBAFETHASBES T (Z2=
F310887T) °



CHAIRMAN'’S STATEMENT (CONTINUED)
EREHE (R

FINANCIAL REVIEW (CONTINUED)

Operation expenses (including selling and distribution
expenses, general and administrative expenses, net,

finance cost and other expenses)
The enhancement of the sales and marketing team, along with increased

go-to-market activities, resulted in a HK$3.2 million, or 9.4%, rise in selling
and distribution expenses, bringing the total to HK$37.7 million (2023:
HK$34.4 million).

In contrast, general and administrative expenses (including finance costs)
were optimised, yielding a reduction of HK$1.4 million, or 2.1%, to HK$62.0
million (2023:; HK$63.4 million).

Other expenses rose by HK$2.1 million to HK$15.5 million (2023: HK$13.4
million), reflecting the increase in amortisation of other intangible assets.

Due to an increase in local assessable profits, a decrease in deferred tax
assets resulting from a change in the applicable tax rate and additional
tax provisions related to the claim for an enhanced deduction of certain
research and development expenditures in previous years', and the
income tax expense increased by HK$5.9 million to HK$10.4 million (2023:
HKS$4.5 million).

Net profit
The profit attributable to the Company’s shareholders exhibited a modest

dip of HK$4.3 million, or 12.8%, to HK$29.1 million. The net profit margin,
calculated by dividing the profit for the year attributable to shareholders by
total revenue, also decreased to 11.1% (2023: 13.0%).

Non-current assets
Non-current assets registered a slight decline of HK$8.6 million, or 3.5%,

totalling HK$238.0 million (31 December 2023: HK$246.6 million). This
change arose from several key factors: First, the ongoing amortisation of the
Group’s other intangible assets; Second, the disposal of certain investment
properties and the downward adjustment in valuation of the remaining
property; and Third, the Group entered into several new rental agreements,
resulting in an increase in right-of-use assets.
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT (CONTINUED)
EREHE(E)

FINANCIAL REVIEW (CONTINUED)

Current assets
Current assets experienced a modest increase of HK$26.7 million, or 6.5%,

reaching HKS$434.6 million (31 December 2023: HK$407.9 million). This
growth was driven by a rise in trade receivables, contract assets, deposits
paid, and an enhancement in cash and bank balances (including pledged
bank deposits and cash equivalents).

Current liabilities and non-current liabilities
The Group’s current and non-current liabilities rose by HK$21.8 million,

or 14.7%, to HK$170.3 million (31 December 2023: HK$148.5 million). This
change was mainly driven by heightened trade payables, contract liabilities,
tax payable and an incremental rise in lease liabilities linked to the Group’s
new rental agreements.

Segment assets and liabilities
The segment assets of the Applications Services business declined, primarily

due to the amortisation of other intangible assets, along with reductions
in contract assets and deposits. Correspondingly, the segment liabilities for
the Applications Services business also decreased, reflecting the reduction
in trade payables and lease liabilities.

Conversely, the segment assets of the Solutions and Integration Services
business experienced an increase, driven by growth in trade receivables and
contract assets. The segment liabilities for this business also rose, primarily
due to increase in business provisions and contract liabilities.

In relation to the Investments segment, its asset position decreased as
certain properties were sold and the valuations of the remaining properties
were adjusted downward.

Equity attributable to owners of the parent
The Group’s total equity attributable to owners of the parent was slightly

dropped, holding a balance of HK$501.1 million (31 December 2023:
HK$504.7 million). The variation was primarily the results of the profit
generated in 2024, counterbalanced by the effects of share buybacks and
the payment of the 2023 final dividend and the 2024 interim dividend.

Computer And Technologies Holdings Limited
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CHAIRMAN'’S STATEMENT (CONTINUED)
EREHE (R

FINANCIAL REVIEW (CONTINUED)

Footnotes:
[1] Please refer to note 10 to the report for details.

[2] The Group's Application Services business engages in the provision of application
software and e-business services for enterprises including (i) the provision
of enterprise application software (including SaaS product offering) with
implementation and ongoing support services for Human Resource Management,
Enterprise Procurement Management, Enterprise Information Management and
Enterprise Retail Management (collectively the "Application Software”); and (i) the
Government Electronic Trading Services ("GETS"), cloud services and other related
value added services (collectively the “e-Service and related business”).

[3] The Group's Solutions and Integration Services business includes (i) Development
Services for the provision of IT solutions implementation and application software
development (including Saa$S product offering); (i) Managed Services for the
provision of IT and related operation/infrastructure outsourcing services; and (iii)
Integration Services for the provision of IT systems and network infrastructure with
related design, implementation and ongoing support services.

TREASURY POLICIES

The Group has adopted a prudent financial management approach
towards its treasury policies and thus maintained a healthy liquidity position
throughout the period under review. The Group strives to reduce exposure
to credit risk by performing ongoing credit assessments and evaluations
of the financial status of its customers. To manage liquidity risk, the Board
closely monitors the Group’s liquidity position to ensure that the liquidity
structure of the Group's assets, liabilities and other commitments can meet
its funding requirements from time to time.

PLEDGE OF ASSETS

As at 31 December 2024, the Group had pledged an investment property
with a fair value of HK$57.0 million (31 December 2023: HK$62.0 million),
listed equity securities of HK$1.9 million (31 December 2023: HK$2.2 million)
and bank balances of HK$202.5 million (31 December 2023: HKS0.5 million)
to secure certain general bank facilities including guarantee/performance
bonds facilities granted to the Group/subsidiaries of the Company in
aggregate of HK$111.8 million (31 December 2023: HK$111.9 million) of
which HK$22.3 million (31 December 2023: HK$21.1 million) have been
utilised as at 31 December 2024.
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT (CONTINUED)
EREHE(E)

FINANCIAL RESOURCES AND LIQUIDITY

As at 31 December 2024, the Group's cash and cash equivalents were
HK$128.9 million (31 December 2023: HK$316.1 million).

All of the Group’s on hand fundings are in Hong Kong dollars, Renminbi
and US dollars. The Group has not adopted any hedging policies, as these
currencies carry relatively low exchange fluctuation risks. Nevertheless, the
Group has been monitoring the foreign exchange exposures closely and
might consider hedging any significant foreign currency exposure in order
to minimise the foreign exchange risk should the needs arise.

As at 31 December 2024, the Group had no bank borrowings (31 December
2023: Nil). As at 31 December 2024, the Group's current ratio representing
current assets divided by current liabilities was 2.9 (31 December 2023: 3.0)
and its gearing ratio, representing total liabilities divided by total assets, was
25.3% (31 December 2023: 22.7%).

REMUNERATION POLICY AND NUMBER OF
EMPLOYEES

The Group remunerates its employees based on their performance, working
experience and prevailing market conditions. Apart from basic salary,
discretionary bonus and other incentives are offered to employees of the
Group to reward their performance and contributions.

As at 31 December 2024, the Group employed 337 full time employees and
10 part time employees (31 December 2023: 343 full time employees and
12 part time employees).

As at 31 December 2024, the Company operates a share award scheme for
the purpose of providing incentives and rewards to the employees who
contribute to the success of the Group’s operations as well as to retain them
for the continual development of the Group.

Computer And Technologies Holdings Limited
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CHAIRMAN'’S STATEMENT (CONTINUED)
EREHE (R

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS

Save as disclosed in the report, the Group had no significant investments
held as at 31 December 2024.

MATERIAL ACQUISITION AND DISPOSAL OF
SUBSIDIARIES

The Group did not have any material acquisition or disposal of subsidiaries
during the reporting year and up to the date of this report.

FUTURE PLANS FOR MATERIAL INVESTMENTS OR
CAPITAL ASSETS

Save as disclosed in the report, there was no specific plan for material
investments or capital assets as at 31 December 2024.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

Save as disclosed in the report, the Group has no material contingent
liabilities as at 31 December 2024.

FINAL DIVIDEND

The Board has recommended the payment of a final dividend of 5.5 HK
cents (2023: a final dividend of 5.5 HK cents) per ordinary share for the year
ended 31 December 2024.
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT (CONTINUED)
EREHE(E)

CLOSURE OF THE REGISTER OF MEMBERS

The Board has recommended a final dividend of 5.5 HK cents (2023: a final
dividend of 5.5 HK cents) per ordinary share payable to shareholders whose
names appear on the Register of Members of the Company on Wednesday,
11 June 2025. The Register of Members of the Company will be closed
from Thursday, 29 May 2025 to Tuesday, 3 June 2025 (both days inclusive)
for the purpose of ascertaining shareholders’ entitlement to attend and
vote at the annual general meeting (“the AGM"). In order to be eligible to
attend and vote at the AGM to be held on Tuesday, 3 June 2025, all transfer
documents, accompanied by the relevant share certificates, must be lodged
with the Company’s branch share registrar in Hong Kong, Tricor Investor
Services Limited, at 17/F, Far East Finance Centre, 16 Harcourt Road, Hong
Kong for registration not later than 4:30 p.m. on Wednesday, 28 May 2025.
In addition, the Register of Members of the Company will be closed from
Monday, 9 June 2025 to Wednesday, 11 June 2025 (both days inclusive) for
the purpose of ascertaining shareholders’ entitlement to the proposed final
dividend. In order to qualify for the proposed final dividend, all transfers,
accompanied by the relevant share certificates, must be lodged with the
Company’s branch share registrar in Hong Kong, Tricor Investor Services
Limited, for registration not later than 4:30 p.m. on Friday, 6 June 2025.
During such periods, no share transfer will be effected. The final dividend
will be distributed on or about Tuesday, 24 June 2025 to shareholders
whose names appear on the Register of Members of the Company on
Wednesday, 11 June 2025.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Company has an Audit Committee which was established in
compliance with Rule 3.21 of the Listing Rules for the purpose of reviewing
and providing supervision over the Group’s financial reporting process, risk
management and internal controls. As of 31 December 2024, the Audit
Committee comprises three independent non-executive directors of the
Company. The Audit Committee has reviewed with the management the
Group’s consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December
2024 and the accounting principles and practices adopted by the Group,
and discussed risk management and internal controls and financial
reporting matters related to the preparation of the annual results for the
year ended 31 December 2024.

Computer And Technologies Holdings Limited
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APPRECIATIONS

On behalf of the Board and the management, | would like to express our
sincere thanks to all employees, shareholders, customers and business
partners for their supports to the Group during the reporting year.

By Order of the Board

Computer And Technologies Holdings Limited
Ng Cheung Shing

Chairman

Hong Kong, 18 March 2025
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EENRGREER

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Ir. Ng Cheung Shing, aged 63, the founder and Chairman, is responsible
for the corporate strategies and business development of the Group. Ir.
Ng holds a Bachelor of Science (Honours) Degree in Computer Science
from the University of Manchester in the United Kingdom and has over 30
years of experience in IT industry. Before establishing the Company, Ir. Ng
held executive positions in companies such as Hewlett-Packard Asia Pacific
Limited and Sun Hung Kai (China) Limited. Ir. Ng is the Honorary Fellow of
Vocational Training Council and the Professional Validation Council of Hong
Kong Industries and a fellow of the Hong Kong Computer Society and the
Hong Kong Institution of Engineers. Ir. Ng was also the awardees of “Young
Industrialist Awards of Hong Kong’, “ Ten Outstanding Young Persons Award
of Hong Kong”and “Directors of the Year Awards".

Ir. Ng is a director of certain subsidiaries of the Company, the controlling
shareholder of Chao Lien Technologies Limited (a substantial shareholder of
the Company) and the brother-in-law of Mr. Leung King San Sunny.

Mr. Cheung Wai Lam, aged 61, was the Group'’s Chief Executive Officer
and is now responsible for overseas business development. Mr. Cheung
has over 30 years of experience in IT and consulting business ranging from
software development to enterprise solutions implementation and is one
of the founders of Y&A Professional Services Ltd. (the “Y&A"). Mr. Cheung
joined the Group in 2006 when Y&A became a subsidiary of the Group.
Before Y&A, he held various consulting positions in IBM in both Hong Kong
and Australia. Mr. Cheung holds a Bachelor Degree in Computer Science
and an Executive Master Degree in Business Administration from the
Chinese University of Hong Kong. He has also completed the Management
of Technology Program at the Centre for Executive Education, University of
California Berkeley.

Mr. Cheung is a director of certain subsidiaries of the Company.

Mr. Leung King San Sunny, aged 63, is responsible for finance and
administration strategies of the Group. Mr. Leung has over 30 years of
experience in finance, administration and planning in the IT industry. Before
joining the Group, Mr. Leung held senior management positions in IBM and
its associated company in Asia Pacific. Mr. Leung holds a Bachelor's Degree
in Business Administration from the Simon Fraser University in Canada.

Mr. Leung is a director of certain subsidiaries of the Company and the
brother-in-law of Ir. Ng Cheung Shing.

Computer And Technologies Holdings Limited
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS (CONTINUED)

Mr. Ng Kwok Keung, aged 51, is the Chief Financial Officer of the Group
and the Secretary of the Company. He has over 20 years of experience
in accounting, auditing, finance and business advisory. Before joining
the Group, he was a financial controller of a Hong Kong listed company
and worked as a manager of assurance and advisory business services
department of an international accounting firm. Mr. Ng graduated from
the Hong Kong Polytechnic University with a Bachelor of Arts Degree
in Accountancy and is a Certified Public Accountant of The Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants.

Mr. Ng is a director and/or the secretary of certain subsidiaries of the
Company.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Ms. Chan Yuen Shan Clara, MH, JP, aged 53, joined the Board in 2022.
She is the Vice-Chairman, the Chief Executive Officer and an Executive
Director of Lee Kee Holdings Limited (Stock Code: 637), responsible for
proposing strategies and ensuring the implementation of the strategies
and policies of the group. Ms. Chan was awarded the Medal of Honour
and appointed as Justice of the Peace by HKSAR Government. She is a
member of the Hong Kong Housing Authority and its Subsidised Housing
Committee, the Operations Review Committee of Independent Commission
Against Corruption, the Steering Committee on the Child Development
Fund of Hong Kong Labour and Welfare Bureau, the Business Facilitation
Advisory Committee, the Green Technology and Finance Development
Committee of Financial Services and the Treasury Bureau, the Listing
Review Committee of Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited, the
Regional Comprehensive Economic Partnership Task Force on Trade and
Investment under the HKTDC Belt and Road & Greater Bay Area Committee,
as well as the Council Member of Hong Kong Productivity Council. She is
also a Director of Nano and Advanced Materials Institute Limited. Besides,
she serves as an Executive Deputy Chairman of Federation of Hong Kong
Industries. Ms. Chan holds a Master of Social Science Degree in Global
Political Economy from the Chinese University of Hong Kong.

Mr. Poon Siu Hoi Casey, aged 66, joined the Board in 2023. Mr. Poon
has over 30 years of experience in the IT industry and has held various
leadership roles in renowned businesses of technology solutions and
outsourcing services such as Hewlett Packard Hong Kong Limited and
Oracle Systems Hong Kong Limited. He holds a Bachelor of Science Degree
in Electronic and Electrical Engineering from The University of Surrey.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

EEREREEE(E)

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
(CONTINUED)

Mr. Ting Leung Huel Stephen, MH, FCCA, FCPA (Practising), ACA,
CTA(HK), FHKIloD, aged 71, joined the Board in 2004. Mr. Ting is an
accountant by profession and has over 40 years of experience in auditing,
accounting and management. He is currently a non-executive director
of Chow Sang Sang Holdings International Limited (Stock Code: 116)
and holds independent non-executive directorship in four other listed
companies namely, China SCE Group Holdings Limited (Stock Code: 1966),
Dongyue Group Limited (Stock Code: 189), New Silkroad Culturaltainment
Limited (Stock Code: 472) and Tongda Group Holdings Limited (Stock Code:
698).

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Chung Kin Yip, aged 50, the Group’s Chief Executive Officer, is in
charge of the business operations of Application Services, Solutions and
Integration Services, and various corporate functions including human
resources, management information systems, marketing, and research and
development of the Group. He has over 25 years of ICT industry experience
specialising in digital transformation, IT outsourcing and managed services,
and customer communications management. Before joining the Group, Mr.
Chung held various key positions under the scope of business development
and marketing, sales team management, solutions consultancy, and services
delivery in companies such as FUJIFILM Business Innovation, Microsoft,
and PCCW. Mr. Chung graduated from the University of Hong Kong with
a Bachelor's Degree in Physics & Electronic Engineering and obtained his
Master's Degree in Business Administration from the Chinese University of
Hong Kong.

Mr. Yeung Sai Cheong Steve, aged 59, the Group’s Senior Vice President,
is in charge of the corporate development of the Group. Mr. Yeung joined
the Group in 1998 and has over 30 years of IT experience in general
management. He graduated from the University of Hong Kong with a
Bachelor of Science Degree in Computer Studies and received a Master
Degree in Business Administration from the Hong Kong University of
Science and Technology.

Mr. Yeung is a director of CISC Limited, an indirect subsidiary of the
Company.

Computer And Technologies Holdings Limited
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

EEREREEE(E)

SENIOR MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

Ms. Ng Ka Yan Karen, aged 48, the Group's General Manager of enterprise
software, leads the operations and growth of the Group's enterprise
software businesses. Having joined the Group in 2019, Ms. Ng brought with
her 20 years of extensive business experience from international software
and solution companies. Ms. Ng graduated from the University of Hong
Kong with a Bachelor Degree in Arts and a Master Degree in Science.

Mr. Poon Chi Shing Anthony, aged 52, the Group’s Vice President, is in
charge of the Solutions Services business of the Group. Mr. Poon joined the
Group in 2003 and has over 20 years of experience in IT industry. Mr. Poon
graduated from the City University of Hong Kong with a Bachelor Degree in
Computing Science.

Dr. Zhong Shi James, aged 49, the Group’s Head of Product Research
& Development, joined the Group in 2022 and has more than 20 years
of hands-on experience in information technology, including 12 years of
solid experience in a software development life cycle management role
and 6 years of dedication to semantic NLP and Python machine learning
techniques. He obtained his Ph.D. and M.Sc. from the Department of
Computer Science, School of Informatics at the University of Edinburgh,
United Kingdom.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
SEERRE

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company is committed to maintaining high standard of corporate
governance within a sensible framework with an emphasis on the principles
of integrity, transparency and accountability. The board of directors of the
Company (the “Board”) believes that good corporate governance is essential
to the success of the Company and to the enhancement of shareholders’
value.

The Board opined that the Company has complied with the code provision
set out in the Corporate Governance Code (the “CG code”) as stipulated in
Appendix C1 of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing Rules”) during the reporting
year.

The Company considers that sufficient measures have been taken to ensure
that its corporate governance practices are similar to those provided in the
CG Code.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

As at 31 December 2024, the Board comprises four executive directors and
three independent non-executive directors ("INEDs"):

Executive Directors:

Ir. Ng Cheung Shing (Chairman)
Mr. Cheung Wai Lam

Mr. Leung King San Sunny

Mr. Ng Kwok Keung

INEDs:

Ms. Chan Yuen Shan Clara
Mr. Poon Siu Hoi Casey

Mr. Ting Leung Huel Stephen

INEDs constitute more than one-third of the Board. The Company has
received from each INED an annual confirmation of his independence
pursuant to the independence guidelines set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing
Rules and considers that all INEDs are independent. One of the INEDs is a
professional accountant, which is in compliance with the requirement of
the Listing Rules.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)
ERERERE (R)

BOARD OF DIRECTORS (CONTINUED)

One-third of the directors shall retire from office at every annual general
meeting and all directors (including INEDs) are subject to retirement by
rotation once every three years in accordance with the bye-laws of the
Company (“Bye-laws”) as amended from time to time and the CG Code.
Retiring directors are eligible for re-election at the annual general meeting
at which they retire. Any director appointed to fill a causal vacancy is subject
to re-election at the next annual general meeting of the Company. Separate
resolutions have been proposed for the election of each director.

Board nomination policy

The Nomination Committee shall endeavour to find individuals of high
integrity who have a solid record of accomplishment in their chosen
fields and who possess the qualifications, qualities and skills to effectively
represent the best interests of the Company and its shareholders.
Candidates will be selected for their ability to exercise good judgement, and
to provide practical insights and diverse perspectives. Candidates also will
be assessed in the context of the then-current composition in the Board,
the operating requirements of the Group. In conducting this assessment,
the Nomination Committee will, in connection with its assessment and
recommendation of candidates for director, consider diversity (including but
not limited to gender, age, ethnicity, cultural and educational background,
professional experience, skills, industry knowledge and length of service)
and such other factors as it deems appropriate given the then-current and
anticipated future needs of the Board and the Company, and to maintain a
balance of perspectives, qualifications, qualities and skills on the Board.

The Company shall review and reassess the nomination policy and its
effectiveness on a regular basis or as required.

Nomination process
The Nomination Committee shall assess whether any vacancy on the Board

has been created or is expected on a regular basis or as required.

The Nomination Committee utilises various methods for identifying
director candidates, including recommendations from Board members,
management and professional search firms. All director candidates,
including incumbents and candidates nominated by the shareholders,
are evaluated by the Nomination Committee based upon the director
qualifications. While director candidates will be evaluated on the same
criteria through review of resume, personal interview and performance of
background checks.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)
ERERERE (R)

BOARD OF DIRECTORS (CONTINUED)

Nomination process (continued)
The Nomination Committee retains the discretion to establish the relative

weighing of such criteria, which may vary based on the composition,
gender, age, knowledge, skills and experiences of the collective Board rather
than on the individual candidate for the purpose of diversity perspectives
appropriate to the requirement of the Group's business.

Selection criteria
The Nomination Committee considers the following qualifications at a

minimum to be required of any Board members in recommending to the
Board potential new board members, or the continued service of existing
members:

broad experience in business and the ability to provide insights and
practical wisdom based on their experience and expertise;

the highest professional and personal ethics and in compliance with
legal and regulatory requirements;

with sufficient time to carry out their duties effectively and to make
contributions to the Company’s success and such other factors
as it may deem are in the best interests of the Company and its
shareholders; and

ability to develop a good working relationship with other Board
members and to assist and support management of the Group.

Board Diversity Policy
The Company noted that that people from different backgrounds and with

different professional and life experience are likely to approach problems
in different ways and accordingly, members of the Board with diverse
backgrounds will bring different concerns and questions to the table, and
allow the Board to consider a wider range of options and solutions when
deciding on corporate issues and formulating policies for the Group.

Computer And Technologies Holdings Limited
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)
ERERERE (R)

BOARD OF DIRECTORS (CONTINUED)

Board Diversity Policy (continued)
With a view to achieving a sustainable and balanced development, the

Company sees increasing diversity at the Board level as an essential element
in supporting the attainment of its strategic objectives and its sustainable
development. In designing the Board's composition, the Board diversity has
been considered from a number of aspects, including but not limited to
gender, age, cultural and educational background, professional experience,
skills, knowledge and length of service. The Board appointments will
continue to be made on a merit basis and candidates will be considered
against objective criteria, with due regard for the benefits of diversity on the
Board.

The composition of the Board is reviewed on an annual basis by the
Nomination Committee to ensure that the Board has the approximate
mix of expertise and experience, and collectively possesses the necessary
core competence for informed decision making and effective functioning.
The Company adopted its own Board Diversity Policy and recognises the
benefits of having diversity in the composition of the Board.

The board composition was also evaluated by reference to, among other
things, the gender, age, educational background, professional experience,
skills, knowledge and length of service of each director, against the
Company’s business model and specific needs.

As at 31 December 2024, the Board comprises seven directors and is
characterised by great diversity, whether considered in terms of gender,
age, length of service, educational background, professional experience,
skills and knowledge.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (CONTINUED)

)

Composition of the diversified Board

Name of director

ESnA

Ir.Ng Cheung Shing

Mr. Cheung Wai Lam

Mr. Leung King San Sunny
Mr. Ng Kwok Keung

Ms. Chan Yuen Shan Clara
Mr. Poon Siu Hoi Casey

Mr. Ting Leung Huel Stephen

Name of director

3.4

Ir.Ng Cheung Shing

Mr. Cheung Wai Lam

Mr. Leung King San Sunny
Mr. Ng Kwok Keung

Ms. Chan Yuen Shan Clara
Mr. Poon Siu Hoi Casey

Mr. Ting Leung Huel Stephen

The Company believes diversity is important to enhance the Board’s
effectiveness by encouraging a diversity of perspectives and to maintain
high standards of corporate governance. The Company will continue to
monitor and develop new objectives for implementing and achieving
improved diversity on the Board as and when it considers appropriate with
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regard to the specific needs of the Company from time to time.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)
ERERERE (R)

BOARD OF DIRECTORS (CONTINUED)

Composition of the diversified Board (continued)
The directors’ biographical information is set out in the “Directors and Senior

Management” section on pages 20 to 23. Two executive directors, Ir. Ng
Cheung Shing and Mr. Leung King San Sunny, are brother-in-law. Save as
disclosed, there is no relationship between each of the Board members.

The Board has the ultimate decision on the Group’s overall strategy, annual
budget, annual and interim results, appointment or retirement of directors,
significant contracts and transactions as well as other significant policies
and financial matters. The Board has delegated the daily operations and
administration to the Group’s management.

According to the division of responsibilities between the Chairman and
CEO approved by the Board, the Chairman is mainly responsible for long
term strategic development of the Group as well as the operation of the
Board, to make sure that the Board is run in the best interests of the Group
and all the Board meetings are effectively planned and carried out. CEO
mainly focuses on the business operations of the Group, assists the Board to
formulate strategies for the Group and to make sure they are implemented
successfully. CEO is fully responsible to the Board for overall business
operations of the Group.

Every director is entitled to have access to Board papers and related
materials and has access to the advice and services of the Company
Secretary. In addition, every director has separate and independent access
to the Company’s senior management to facilitate them to make informed
decisions. All directors, in the discharge of their duties, are allowed to
seek independent professional advice in appropriate circumstances at a
reasonable cost to be borne by the Company.

The Company has not established any committee responsible for the
corporate governance function of the Group and the function has
been collectively performed by the Board. The Board acknowledges the
overseeing of the corporate governance function by the Board collectively.

During the year, the Board has reviewed and monitored the training and
continuous professional development of directors and senior management.
The Board has also reviewed and ensured compliance of the relevant legal
and regulatory requirements, the code of conducts, the CG Code and the
disclosure in the Corporate Governance Report.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)
ERERERE (R)

GENDER DIVERSITY

The Company values gender diversity across all levels of the Group. As
of 31 December 2024, the Board comprises seven directors, including six
male and one female. The Board is of the view that it has achieved gender
diversity and will take opportunity to enhance the proportion of female
members over time when selecting and making recommendation on
suitable candidates for Board appointments.

Our workforce comprised of 66% male and 34% female as of the year end
date. Details on the gender ratio of the Group together with relevant data
are set out in the “Environment, Social and Governance Report” on pages
51 to 96. The Board considered that the composition of the workforce
were sufficiently diversified in terms of gender in the context of a company
operating in the [T sector.

CONTINUOUS PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT

Directors should participate in continuous professional development to
ensure their contributions to the Board remains informed and relevant.
Each newly appointed director is provided with necessary induction and
information to ensure that he has a proper understanding of the Company’s
operations and businesses as well as his responsibilities under the relevant
statutes, laws, rules and regulations.

Directors’ training is a continuing process. The Company updates directors
on the latest development regarding the Listing Rules and other applicable
regulatory requirements from time to time, to ensure compliance and
enhance their awareness of good corporate governance practices. Directors
are encouraged to participate in continuous professional development
to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills. In addition, all directors
are provided with monthly updates on the Group's performance, position
and prospects to enable the Board as a whole to discharge their duties. On
18 November 2024, training was provided to the Company’s directors to
enhance and update their knowledge and skills.

During the year, all directors, namely Ir. Ng Cheung Shing, Mr. Cheung
Wai Lam, Mr. Leung King San Sunny, Mr. Ng Kwok Keung, Ms. Chan Yuen
Shan Clara, Mr. Poon Siu Hoi Casey and Mr. Ting Leung Huel Stephen, have
participated in appropriate continuous professional development.

Computer And Technologies Holdings Limited
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)
EXRERRE (H)

BOARD MEETINGS AND ATTENDANCE

In order to achieve a high standard of corporate governance, the Directors (in
person or through electronic means of communication) held at least four
regularly meetings at approximately quarterly interval to discuss the overall
strategy as well as the operational matters and financial performance of the
Group. Attendance of each director at the Board meetings is set out below:

Executive directors: BITES:

Ir. Ng Cheung Shing (Chairman) REBEETRM(EE)
Mr. Cheung Wai Lam REREE

Mr. Leung King San Sunny REFEE

Mr. Ng Kwok Keung R85k A4

INEDs: BYFHTES:

Ms. Chan Yuen Shan Clara ek g5 3 22 &

Mr. Poon Siu Hoi Casey ELBEAE

Mr. Ting Leung Huel Stephen TREEE

The Chairman also met with the INEDs without the presence of other
directors.

BOARD COMMITTEES

To strengthen the functions of the Board, there are several Board
Committees namely, the Audit Committee, the Investment Committee,
the Nomination Committee, the Remuneration Committee and the Risk
Management Committee formed under the Board, with each performing
different functions.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)
ERERERE (R)

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee was established on 24 April 1999. During the
reporting period, the Committee comprises of three INEDs, namely, Mr. Ting
Leung Huel Stephen, Ms. Chan Yuen Shan Clara and Mr. Poon Siu Hoi Casey.

Mr. Ting is currently the chairman of the Audit Committee.

The principal duties of the Audit Committee include:

to be primarily responsible for making recommendations to the Board
on the appointment, reappointment and removal of the external
auditor, and to approve the remuneration and terms of engagement
of the external auditor, and any questions of its resignation of

dismissal;

to review and monitor the external auditor’s independence and
objectivity and the effectiveness of the audit process in accordance

with applicable standards;

to develop and implement policy on engaging an external auditor to

supply non-audit services;

to act as the key representative body for overseeing the Company’s

relations with external auditor;

to monitor integrity of the Company’s financial statements and
annual report and accounts, half-year report and to review significant

financial reporting judgments contained in them;

to review the Company’s financial controls, risk management and

internal control systems;

to discuss the risk management and internal control systems with
management to ensure that management has performed its duty to

have an effective risk management and internal control systems;

to review the financial and accounting policies and practices of the

Group; and

to review the external auditor's management letter, any material
queries raised by the auditor to management about accounting
records, financial accounts or systems of control and management’s

responses.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)
EXRERRE (H)

AUDIT COMMITTEE (CONTINUED)

The Audit Committee shall meet (in person or through electronic means of
communication) at least twice every year. Attendance of each director at
the meeting is set out below:

INEDs: BYFHTES:
Mr. Ting Leung Huel Stephen TREEA
Ms. Chan Yuen Shan Clara R 150 3} 22 &=
Mr. Poon Siu Hoi Casey EEEA

During the year, the Audit Committee, among other matters, reviewed and
provided supervision over the Group's financial reporting processes, risk
management and internal control systems, reviewed interim and annual
results of the Group and met with the internal and external auditors.

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Remuneration Committee was established on 22 September 2004.
During the reporting period, the Committee comprises of three INEDs,
namely, Mr. Poon Siu Hoi Casey, Ms. Chan Yuen Shan Clara and Mr. Ting
Leung Huel Stephen and two executive directors namely, Ir. Ng Cheung
Shing and Mr. Leung King San Sunny. Mr. Poon is currently the chairman of
the Remuneration Committee.

The principal duties of the Remuneration Committee include:

to make recommendations to the Board on the Company’s policy
and structure for all directors and senior management remuneration
and on the establishment of a formal and transparent procedure for
developing remuneration policy;

to review and approve the management’s remuneration proposals
with reference to the Board's corporate goals and objectives;

to determine, with delegated responsibility, the remuneration
packages of individual executive directors and senior management
and the terms of their service contracts;
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)
ERERRE (H)

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE (CONTINUED)

to make recommendations to the Board on the remuneration of non-
executive directors;

to consider and approve the grant of shares and share options to
eligible participants pursuant to the share award scheme and share
option scheme of the Company;

to review and approve compensation payable to executive directors
and senior management for any loss or termination of office or
appointment to ensure that it is consistent with contractual terms
and is otherwise fair and not excessive; and

to ensure that no director or any of its associates is involved in
deciding his own remunerations.

The Remuneration Committee shall meet (in person or through electronic
means of communication) at least once every year. Attendance of each
director at the meeting is set out below:

Executive directors: HITES !

Ir. Ng Cheung Shing KREBLAETZA
Mr. Leung King San Sunny REFEE
INEDs: BYFHTES:
Ms. Chan Yuen Shan Clara ek 15 3 22 &

Mr. Poon Siu Hoi Casey E A

Mr. Ting Leung Huel Stephen TREEE

During the year, the Remuneration Committee reviewed the Group’s
remuneration policy for executive directors and senior management
(including the CEO). The Committee also assessed and approved
management’s remuneration proposals, ensuring alignment with the
Board's corporate goals and objectives, and determined the appropriate
remuneration levels.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)
EXRERRE (H)

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE (CONTINUED)

Remuneration of Directors and Senior Management
Pursuant to code provision E.1.5 of the CG code, the remuneration of senior

management by band for the year ended 31 December 2024 is set out
below:

FMESES (&)
BEEREREER 2HM

BREBEEEERTRIBEISETAMG B2
E_NE+-_A=1T-HULEFESREEREMX
BrHMBEFEIMT

Number of Individuals
A

HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000
HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000
HK$3,000,001 to HK$3,500,000

Further particulars in relation to directors’and chief executive’s remuneration
and the five highest paid employees as required to be disclosed pursuant to
Appendix D2 to the Listing Rules are set out in notes 8 and 9 to the report.

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The Nomination Committee was established on 22 September 2004. During
the reporting period, the Committee comprises of three INEDs, namely,
Mr. Poon Siu Hoi Casey, Ms. Chan Yuen Shan Clara and Mr. Ting Leung
Huel Stephen and two executive directors namely, Ir. Ng Cheung Shing
and Mr. Leung King San Sunny. Mr. Poon is currently the chairman of the
Nomination Committee.

The principal duties of the Nomination Committee include:

to review the structure, size and composition (including the skills,
knowledge and experience) of the Board at least annually and
make recommendations on any proposed changes to the Board to
complement the Company’s corporate strategy;

to identify individuals suitably qualified to become Board members
and select or make recommendations to the Board on the selection
of individuals nominated for directorships;

to review the Board Diversity Policy, as appropriate, and review the
measurable objectives that the Board has set for implementing the
Board Diversity Policy, and monitor the progress on achieving the
objectives, and make disclosure of its review results in the Corporate
Governance Report annually;
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)
ERERERE (R)

NOMINATION COMMITTEE (CONTINUED) REZEES (H)

to assess the independence of INEDs and to ensure at least one-third
of the Board should be INEDs; in that the Nomination Committee
should always have in mind the factors set out in the Listing Rules;

where the Board proposes a resolution to elect an individual as an
INED at the general meeting, the Nomination Committee shall set out
in the circular to shareholders of the Company and/or explanatory
statement accompanying the notice of the relevant general meeting:

the process used for identifying the individual and why the
Board believes the individual should be elected and the
reasons why it considers the individual to be independent;

ii. if the proposed INED will be holding their seventh (or more)
listed company directorship, why the Board believes the
individual would still be able to devote sufficient time to the
Board;

ii.  the perspectives, skills and experience that the individual can
bring to the Board; and

iv.  how the individual contributes to diversity of the Board;

to determine the policy for nomination of directors. The policy for
the nomination of directors of the Nomination Committee shall be
disclosed in the annual report of the Company; and

to make recommendations to the Board on the appointment or
reappointment of directors and succession planning for directors, in
particular the Chairman and the CEO.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)
EXRERRE (H)

NOMINATION COMMITTEE (CONTINUED)

The Nomination Committee shall meet (in person or through electronic
means of communication) at least once every year. Attendance of each
director at the meeting is set out below:

Executive directors: HITES !

Ir. Ng Cheung Shing RRBERETRRM
Mr. Leung King San Sunny REFEE
INEDs: BUFHTES:
Ms. Chan Yuen Shan Clara PR 50 3} 22 &=

Mr. Poon Siu Hoi Casey ELBEEE

Mr. Ting Leung Huel Stephen TREEA

During the year, the Nomination Committee reviewed the diversity,
structure, size and composition of the Board, assessed the independence of
INEDs and made recommendations to the Board on the appointment and
reappointment of directors of the Company.

INVESTMENT COMMITTEE

The Investment Committee was established on 17 May 2012. During the
reporting period, the Committee comprises of an executive director, Ir. Ng
Cheung Shing and one INED, Mr. Poon Siu Hoi Casey. Ir. Ng is currently the
chairman of the Investment Committee.

The Committee is responsible for, inter alia, identifying investment
opportunities, reviewing investment proposals and making investment
decisions; monitoring the performance of investments; reviewing the
soundness of existing investment portfolio; devising investment guidelines
and strategies for approval of the Board; and executing investment
guidelines approved by the Board. The investment strategy of the Company
is to exercise prudent treasury investment and management involving
diversification of low to moderate risk investments with a view to counter
the depreciating value of cash and to generate stable income to support
existing business operations.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)
ERERERE (R)

INVESTMENT COMMITTEE (CONTINUED)

During the reporting period, the Investment Committee executed the
investment guidelines approved by the Board, reported the performance of
investments and reviewed the investment strategies with all directors in the
Board meetings.

RISK MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE

The Risk Management Committee was established on 17 August 2016 and
comprises of three executive directors namely, Mr. Leung King San Sunny,
Mr. Cheung Wai Lam and Mr. Ng Kwok Keung and one INED, Ms. Chan Yuen
Shan Clara. Mr. Leung is currently the chairman of the Risk Management
Committee.

The principal duties of the Risk Management Committee include:

to review the Group's risk management (“RM”) and internal control
("IC") strategies, policies and guidelines and submit them to the Audit
Committee for approval;

to review the Group's risk framework and approved risk policies,
standards and limits within the overall appetite and tolerance
approved by the Board;

to review the Group's processes for determining risk appetite
tolerance, monitoring compliance with approved risk tolerance levels
and policies and the resultant action in respect of policy breaches;

to review the Group’s compliance policies and submit them to the
Board and/or Audit Committee for approval;

to review the Group's key risks and submit to the Audit Committee
for approval half-yearly;

to report to the Audit Committee that, to the best of the Risk
Management Committee’s belief, the disclosures made in the annual
report on its activities, the risk governance and related sections are
fair, balanced and understandable;

to consider issues raised by external auditors, the Audit Committee

or any member of the Board who has lodged a request for a meeting;
and
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)

TEERRE (HE)
RISK MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE (CONTINUED) EREEREE (&)
to liaise with the chairman of the Audit Committee to determine . BREZZe e R BESARTARR
on a case by case basis which Risk Management Committee takes ERZEGRERNZER  URERFA
responsibility for undertaking deep dive reviews and keeping the B < BARMBFZZE BN EMHEERE
Audit Committee updated on any relevant findings from reviews ;" e
requested.
The Risk Management Committee shall meet (in person or through EREEZESEEFABROERIMAEE (B
electronic means of communication) at least twice every year. Attendance SEEIEBRAETFBEAIN) ZFEZFLHRFES
of each director at the meeting is set out below: mZIERETAT

Number of meetings
attended/eligible

to attend
HESERE
Al ERE

Executive directors: HITES !

Mr. Leung King San Sunny REFTRE 2/2

Mr. Cheung Wai Lam RIEREAE 2/2

Mr. Ng Kwok Keung R B8 %4 2/2

INED: BYFHTES:

Ms. Chan Yuen Shan Clara R 150 3 22 4 2/2
During the year, the Risk Management Committee reviewed the Group’s FA RREEZESCLENASE ZERE
risk framework and key risks, RM and IC reports and submitted them to the BRETZERR  BEREERAIBEZRSE R
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)
ERERERE (R)

INEDs

During the year under review, the Board at all times met the requirements
of the Listing Rules relating to the appointment of at least three INEDs with
one INED possessing appropriate professional qualifications, or accounting
or related financial management expertise.

The Company has received written annual confirmation from each INED of
his/her independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. Based on
the contents of such confirmation, the Company still considers all of the
INEDs to be independent.

The INEDs bring a wide range of business and financial expertise,
experiences and independent judgment to the Board. Through active
participation in Board meetings, taking the lead in managing issues
involving potential conflict of interests and serving on Board Committees, all
INEDs make various contributions to the effective direction of the Company.

INED WHO HAS SERVED FOR MORE THAN NINE
YEARS

Mr. Ting Leung Huel Stephen has served as an INED for more than nine
years. The future appointment of the INED without the approval by way of
passing a separate resolution of the shareholders is regarded as a deviation
from Code Provision B.2.3 of the CG Code.

To comply with this CG Code Provision, Mr. Ting had retired at the previous
annual general meeting of the Company and offered himself for re-election.

The Board considers that although, as stated in the CG Code, serving on the
Board for more than nine years is generally relevant to the determination
of the independence and appropriateness of the proposal for re-election
of an INED, it may not necessarily be meaningful to or to the benefit of the
Company to determine an individual's appropriateness and independence
arbitrarily on the basis of the length of his/her tenure of service.

The Board adopts a qualitative approach in assessing a candidate's
independence and appropriateness with reference to the overall
assessment of all the attributes associated with the recommendation
for re-election of an individual. In the process of assessing a candidate’s
independence, each of the factors referred to in Listing Rule 3.13(1) to (8)
has been carefully and thoroughly assessed and confirmed. In line with this,
the Company recognises the continued independence of Mr. Ting under
Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)
ERERERE (R)

INED WHO HAS SERVED FOR MORE THAN NINE
YEARS (CONTINUED)

Having served as an INED, Mr. Ting has brought high standards of corporate
governance to the Company and contributed objectively in advising, as
well as monitoring and mentoring the management of the Company. Being
familiar with the corporate values of the Company, the presence of Mr.
Ting has enhanced these values by his sustained development of a strong
advisory relationship with the Company. Mr. Ting has also provided the
Company with his annual independence confirmation in accordance with
Rules 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Directors consider that continued tenure
brings considerable stability to the Board and the Board has benefited
greatly from the presence of Mr. Ting, who has over time gained valuable
insight into the Group, the industry in which it operates, the ordinary affairs
associated with its business and its markets.

Apart from Mr. Ting’s historical valuable contribution to the Group and
his experiences accumulated with regard to the affairs of the Group, in
assessing the proposal for Mr. Ting’s re-election as an INED, the nomination
committee of the Company and the Board have also considered Mr. Ting's
expertise and professional qualifications, his continuous efforts in personal
and professional development and vast experience in the fields of auditing
and accounting, and the holistic view and insight he possesses by way of
sitting in the board of directors of other listed companies in Hong Kong
(which the Company may make use of).

The Board also noted that Mr. Ting has been a professional accountant in
public practice since 1987. The Board considers Mr. Ting, as a professional
who is constantly involved in the provision of impartial advice under
independence requirements and objectivity requirements under
professional rules of conduct, possesses the requisite character and
integrity to retain a high degree of independence and maintain impartiality
despite long-established relationships and familiarity with a certain set of
circumstances.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)
ERERERE (R)

MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code as set out in Appendix C3
of the Listing Rules as its code of conduct for dealings in securities of the
Company by the directors. Based on a specific enquiry of the Company’s
directors, the directors have complied with the required standard set out in
the Model Code throughout the year.

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Company adopted a dividend policy (the “Dividend Policy”) and reviews
the Dividend Policy as appropriate from time to time. As of the date of this
report, the Dividend Policy has been revised to optimise the presentation
therein in respect of the flexibility enjoyed by the Board in determining the
forms of dividends.

The Dividend Policy, as revised, is disclosed as below.
The Dividend Policy is to allow its shareholders to participate in the
Company's profits whilst retaining adequate reserves for future growth. The

Board may declare interim dividends, final dividends, special dividends and
any distribution of net profits as it considers appropriate.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)
ERERERE (R)

DIVIDEND POLICY (CONTINUED)

Factors for consideration
In determining/recommending the frequency, amount and form of any

dividend in any financial year/period, the Board shall consider the following
factors:

the actual and expected financial results of the Company and its
subsidiaries (the “Group”);

economic conditions and other internal or external factors that may
have an impact on the business or financial performance and position
of the Group;

the Group’s business strategies, including future cash commitments
and investment needs to sustain the long-term growth aspect of the
business;

the current and future operations, liquidity position and capital
requirements of the Group; and

any other factors that the Board deems appropriate.

Final dividend will be subject to approval by the shareholders in a general
meeting.

The Company considers that the dividend payout ratio may vary from
year to year and there is no assurance that dividends will be paid in any
particular amount for any given period.

Subject to the Bye-laws and applicable laws and regulations, dividends may
be paid in cash or be satisfied wholly or partly in the form of allotment of
shares of the Company. The Board may also consider the issuance of bonus
shares on a basis permitted by the applicable laws and regulations.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)
ERERERE (R)

INVESTOR RELATIONS AND SHAREHOLDERS'
RIGHTS

Shareholders Communication Policy
A Shareholders Communication Policy has been adopted by the Company

to ensure balanced and understandable information about the Company
(including its financial performance, strategic goals and plans, material
developments, governance and risk profile) are readily available to the
shareholders.

The Shareholders Communication Policy sets out the framework the
Company has put in place for on-going dialogue with the shareholders
and investment community. According to the policy, information of
the Company and the Group are delivered to its shareholders through
a number of channels, which includes annual report, interim report,
announcements and circulars. The latest information of the Company and
the Group together with the published documents are also available on the
Company's website.

The Company’s annual general meeting provides a useful platform for direct
communication between the Board and shareholders. Separate resolutions
are proposed on each substantially separate issue at the general meetings.

Shareholders are encouraged to participate in general meetings or to
appoint proxies to attend and vote at meetings for and on their behalf if
they are unable to attend the meetings.

The process of the Company’s general meeting will be monitored and
reviewed on a regular basis, and, if necessary, changes will be made to
ensure that shareholders'needs are best served.

The annual general meeting in 2024 (“the AGM") was held on 3 June
2024. All directors, namely Ir. Ng Cheung Shing, Mr. Cheung Wai Lam, Mr.
Leung King San Sunny, Mr. Ng Kwok Keung, Ms. Chan Yuen Shan Clara, Mr.
Poon Siu Hoi Casey and Mr. Ting Leung Huel Stephen, and the Company’s
external auditor attended the AGM (in person or through electronic means
of communication).

During the year, the Company has reviewed the implementation and
effectiveness of the Shareholders Communication Policy. With the above
measures in place, the Shareholders Communication Policy is considered to
have been effectively implemented.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)
ERERERE (R)

INVESTOR RELATIONS AND SHAREHOLDERS'
RIGHTS (CONTINUED)

Shareholders’ Rights
According to Section 74 of the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda (the “Act”)

and Bye-law 58 of the Bye-laws of the Company, shareholders holding
in aggregate not less than 10% of the paid-up capital of the Company
have the right, by written requisition to the Board or the secretary of the
Company, to request a special general meeting to be called by the Board
for the transaction of any business specified in such requisition, and
such meeting shall be held within two months after the deposit of such
requisition.

Any number of shareholders representing not less than 5% of the total
voting rights of the Company on the date of the requisition or not less than
100 shareholders of the Company are entitled to put forward a proposal for
consideration at a general meeting of the Company. Shareholders should
follow the requirements and procedures as set out in Section 79 of the Act
for putting forward such proposal at a general meeting.

In relation to the shareholders communication, the shareholders can
contact the Company Secretary or the Senior Vice President of Corporate
Development and Communications by email to InvestorRelation@ctil.com
or by mail to 18" Floor, Viva Place, No. 36 Heung Yip Road, Wong Chuk
Hang, Hong Kong.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

There was no change in the Company’s constitutional documents during
the year of review.

ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT

The directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing the financial
statements of the Group and have adopted the accounting principles
generally accepted in Hong Kong and complied with the requirements of
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (which include all Hong Kong
Accounting Standards and Interpretations) issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants and the disclosure requirements of
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.
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ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT (CONTINUED)

During the reporting year, the management has provided such explanation
and information to the Board as necessary to enable the Board to make
an informed assessment of the financial information and position of the
Group put forward to the Board for approval. The directors are not aware
of any material uncertainties relating to events or conditions that may
cast significant doubt upon the Company’s ability to continue as a going
concern.

The reporting responsibilities of the Company’s independent auditors are
set out in the Independent Auditors’'Report on pages 118 to 126.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board is responsible for maintaining and reviewing the effectiveness
of the risk management and internal controls of the Company, including
material financial, operational and compliance controls, risk management
functions and particularly the adequacy of resources, staff qualifications and
experience, training programs and budget of the accounting and financial
reporting function. The Board, assisted by the Audit Committee and the
Risk Management Committee, is required to assess the effectiveness of
the risk management and internal control systems on an ongoing basis.
Appropriate policies and control procedures have been designed and
established to ensure that assets are safeguarded against improper use or
disposal, relevant rules and regulations are adhered to and complied with,
reliable financial and accounting records are maintained in accordance with
relevant accounting standards and regulatory reporting requirements, and
key risks that may impact on the Group's performance are appropriately
identified and managed. These control procedures are designed to manage,
rather than eliminate, the risk of failure to achieve business objectives and
such procedures can only provide reasonable, and not absolute, assurance
against material misstatement or losses.

Effective risk management is a fundamental part of the Group’s business
strategy. Recognising and managing risk is central to the business and to
protect the shareholders’interests and value. The Company operates within
overall guidelines and specific parameters set by the Board. Each transaction
is comprehensively analysed to understand the risks involved. Responsibility
for managing risks lies initially with the business functions concerned,
working within the overall strategy and risk tolerance established by the
Board, in conjunction with the Audit Committee and the Risk Management
Committee.

Computer And Technologies Holdings Limited

BE R EF& (&)

RBEEFEARN EEERLERMEZGRH
ZERERGEENRESSHRZESTSHE
ZASEMBEMRMRELANERG -EF
Y AREBBEERTHAAEHNBERATEERE

TERRNBFERLEHNRES -

KRR BUAZEEN 2 BRETHNE118E126
B2 BN AZEEN RS -

| B B T e P AR B 4

EXCRRAARARRIZEREE AR
Y EKRY - BREEZNOME  2ERER
ERUMREREEDE  LEZEEES MM
HEBRBMETENER BTEERER N
LETREINEIRENERAEESTEN -
EXxehERZEeNAREEZEEMY T
AR ERTEE R B IR K N BB BRI RATHIRRK ©
BEOBRNMEERERFC &R RGIE - AR
RREEETSEAREHFAITEALEE &
kBT HARMERD  RIFEESHRE
REERBRERTFAENTH LG
AREEWBR N ERARFERAERRRAL
TERR -FIURFEEREFEEEEMIER
BRAEREXREFEFEZRAR  LIHAEMIFE
HRBAHHRBEARERAMSLIER -

BRZEBREERAEEEBRENEATE
BRI R E IR R R T E A RRER R A &
NEEZZL ARFARBEZTSHE 2 EE
HOIMARBRRENR BEXZHYELBEE
BT - DABRAR P S N 2 LR - B IR LR 2 B
ERARANEBELAEFESEREREES
LEBEEZESRECEREBRARETE
T#IT



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)
ERERERE (R)

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL
(CONTINUED)

The Board meets quarterly, or more often if necessary, to review the
Group’s operations and financial performance. The Board also reviews
the risks to the assets and operations of the Company, and acts upon any
comments from the internal and external auditors. The Board considers the
economic environment and the industry risk in assessing business risk. The
management also meets at least monthly to review the operations of the
Group and discuss any identified issues.

Key risks, control measures and management actions are continually
identified, reviewed and monitored by the management as part of the
Group's enterprise wide risk management framework. The internal auditor
assists and guides the management in the formulation of risk policies
and processes to effectively identify, evaluate and manage significant
risks (including Environmental, Social and Governance (“ESG”) risks). The
management has established a risk identification and management process.
The risk profiles are reported to the Risk Management Committee, the Audit
Committee and the Board on a regular basis to highlight changes in the risk
assessment, quantitative and qualitative factors affecting the inherent risks
and effectiveness of respective controls. The ownership of these risks lies
with the respective business functions with stewardship residing with the
Board. Action plans to manage the risks are continually being monitored
and refined by the management and the Board. The internal auditor
conducts audits to review the risk management framework and processes
and assess the effectiveness of the internal controls of the Group, including
material financial, operational and compliance controls. Any material
noncompliance or lapses in internal controls together with corrective
measures are reported to the Risk Management Committee and the Audit
Committee.

In performing its audit of the financial statements, the external auditors
perform tests over operating effectiveness of certain controls that they
intend to rely on which are relevant to the Group's preparation of its
financial statements. The external auditors report any significant deficiencies
in such internal controls to the Risk Management Committee and the Audit
Committee.

In addition to the review of risk management and internal controls
undertaken within the Company, from time to time, the Board and/or the
management will engage professional third parties to assess and comment
on the adequacy and effectiveness of the risk management and internal
controls and, where appropriate, recommendations will be adopted and
enhancements to the risk management and internal controls will be made.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL
(CONTINUED)

Based on the framework established and the reviews conducted by the
internal and external auditors, the Board opines, with the concurrence of the
Audit Committee, that there are adequate and effective risk management
and internal control systems in place within the Group in addressing
material financial, operational, compliance and information technology
control risks in its current business environment.

Risk management framework
The Group has established an effective risk governance and management

framework in line with the requirements set out by the Listing Rules and
other regulations. This framework was built around a structure that enables
the Board and the management to discharge their risk management-related
responsibilities with appropriate delegation as well as checks and balances.
These responsibilities included defining risk appetite in accordance with
the Group’s business strategies and objectives, formulating risk policies that
govern the execution of those strategies, and establishing procedures and
limits for the approval, control, monitoring and remedy of risks.

The members of the Risk Management Committee positioned at the highest
level of the Group’s risk governance structure under the Board. Members
included three executive directors and an INED. The Risk Management
Committee had direct involvements in formulating the Group’s risk appetite,
and determined the levels of risk that the Group is willing to undertake
with reference to its financial capacity, strategic direction, prevailing market
conditions and regulatory requirements.

The Risk Management Committee will continuously ensure the Group’s
risk appetite is realistically reflected in the policies and procedures that
the management adopted in executing its business functions. The Risk
Management Committee will regularly review the Group’s risk management
framework and ensure that all important risk-related tasks are performed
according to established policies and with appropriate resources.

The Board has reviewed and considers the Company’s risk management
and internal control systems are effective and adequate.

Computer And Technologies Holdings Limited
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ERERERE (R)

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL
(CONTINUED)

Inside information
Regarding procedures and internal controls for the handling and

dissemination of inside information, the Company:

is aware of its obligations under the SFO and the Listing Rules and
the overriding principle that inside information should be announced
immediately if it is the subject of a decision;

ii. conducts its affairs with close regard to the applicable laws and
regulations prevailing in Hong Kong;

iil. has included in the Code of Conduct a strict prohibition on the
unauthorised use of non-public or inside information;

iv.  has established a policy and implemented guidelines for monitoring,
reporting and disseminating inside information to our shareholders,
investors, analysts and media. These policies and guidelines also
identify who are the Company’s authorised spokespersons and their
responsibilities for communications with stakeholders; and

V. has communicated to all relevant staff regarding the implementation
of the policy and the relevant trainings are also provided.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)
ERERRE (H)

AUDITORS’ REMUNERATION

Ernst & Young has been re-appointed as the independent auditors of
the Company by shareholders at the last annual general meeting. The
remuneration in respect of services provided by Ernst & Young to the Group
in 2024 is summarised as follows:

BB B &

ZXEFMEHAMEERRER LERRBE X
CEEAAARBIZEE KT ZMNF -
B KETMBEBMRAAEERERE ZH
Bt T -

HK$’000
FER

Auditing services BB 1,380
Non-auditing services (which included agreed IEEZIRTE

upon procedures and other professional services) (BEWERFREMBERD) 183
Total R 1,563

COMPANY SECRETARY

The company secretary, Mr. Ng Kwok Keung, was appointed as the
Company Secretary of the Company on 18 May 2007 and is a full time
employee of the Group. Mr. Ng is a Certified Public Accountant of the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and has confirmed that he
has taken no less than 15 hours of relevant professional trainings during the
reporting year.

Computer And Technologies Holdings Limited
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

RIS - dERERHE

MESSAGE FROM THE BOARD

C&T stands as a leading software and services company at the forefront of
sustainable practices within the information technology landscape. C&T
believes that integrating sustainability factors into our business goals is
essential for long-term success and sustainable growth. Top management
upholds a proactive approach to risk management, recognising the
importance of regularly assessing risks across environmental, social, and
governance factors. We have implemented a robust ESG governance
mechanism that outlines the crucial supervisory role of the Board, the
guiding role of top management and the implementation role of ESG
Working Group in ESG performance and risk management. ESG-related risks
are managed by the business functions responsible for them, while the
Board holds the role of stewardship. Internal auditors are entrusted with
the responsibility of evaluating and ensuring the effectiveness of internal
controls in areas such as finance, operations, and compliance. By conducting
thorough and impartial assessments, the Company can prioritise essential
aspects pertaining to management, operations, and sustainability. For
further details, please refer to the session of ESG governance structure,
commitment and strategy.

Environmental Conservation
Governments and businesses around the world prioritise carbon neutrality.

At the 2023 United Nations Climate Change Conference, the first ‘global
stocktake’ was concluded to ratchet up climate action before the end
of the decade, with the overarching aim of keeping global temperature
increase to 1.5 degrees Celsius above pre-industrial levels. C&T joins the
Green Council to support UN Sustainable Development Goal 13, combating
climate change. We take conscientious approach towards the environment
entails prioritising eco-friendly products at every stage of the selection
process, aiming to minimise the environmental impact.

Nurturing Talent
The success of a business is reliant on its skilled workforce. C&T is committed

to fostering employee talent through training programs and offering
opportunities for overseas training. With the company’s financial support,
our employees have participated in around 257 hours of training. At C&T,
we place a strong emphasis on team development as we acknowledge that
the skills acquired by our employees directly contribute to enhanced service
quality, increased client satisfaction, and greater innovation in our products.
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MESSAGE FROM THE BOARD (CONTINUED)

Community Contribution
Recognised as a caring company since 2015, C&T upholds its role in

corporate social responsibility (“CSR"). The company donates to support
various charitable events, including those run by The Community Chest
of Hong Kong, Fu Hong Society and Orbis. In addition to offering financial
assistance, our Company actively promotes volunteer work and charitable
activities as a way to contribute to the betterment of the communities in
which we operate our business.

The Company has achieved consistent progress in business growth, staff
development, CSR initiatives, and environmental conservation. These
efforts are expected to generate new opportunities and enhance value for
our partners and stakeholders through our top-notch software products,
effective IT solutions, and high-quality services. With a focus on embracing
the positive impact of digitalisation in Hong Kong, we aim to build a
greener, more resilient, and smarter world. The Board remains committed to
our ESG goals, working towards creating a better world for our stakeholders
and future generations. We extend our heartfelt appreciation to our staff,
customers, suppliers, business partners, and other stakeholders for their
invaluable contributions to our sustainability journey.

REPORTING STANDARD AND PRINCIPLES

The Company (collectively mentioned as “the Company’, “C&T" or “we")
is pleased to present the Environmental, Social and Governance ("ESG”)
Report ("ESG Report”) for the year ended 31 December 2024 which
summarises the ESG policies, initiatives and performance of the Group as
well as its commitment in achieving environmental, social and governance
sustainability.

Computer And Technologies Holdings Limited
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)

RiR - HERER®RE (E)

REPORTING SCOPE AND BOUNDARY

This ESG report has been prepared in accordance with the Environmental,
Social and Governance Reporting Guide (“the Guide”), Appendix C2 of the
Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) and in compliance with the mandatory
disclosure requirements and “comply or explain” provisions thereof.

To fulfill the requirement of the Guide, the Company has commissioned
an independent advisor to engage our stakeholders to perform materiality
assessment. The information disclosed in this report represents the
management performance of the most relevant and material issues of
our business, as identified by our key stakeholders. We endeavored to
incorporate materiality, quantitative, balance and consistency in the
presentation of the information, as required by the Stock Exchange.
Materiality Materiality was assessed based on the results obtained
from stakeholder engagement. The threshold for related
ESG topics was reviewed and confirmed by the Board
and the top management to ensure that they were
sufficiently important to our stakeholders.

Quantitative Where applicable, we compared year-to-year data
and discussed its implications. In the reporting of
emissions and energy consumption, relevant standards,
methodologies, assumptions, and conversion factors
are disclosed.

Balance This report provided an accurate, objective and
fair description of the Company’s sustainability
performance.

Consistency This report adopted consistent methodologies to allow
a fair comparison of our performance over time. Where
applicable, we disclosed the changes to the methods or

key performance indicators (KPIs) used.
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RiR - fERER®RE (E)

REPORTING SCOPE AND BOUNDARY (CONTINUED)

This report details our ESG governance structure, commitment and
strategy, management approach and performance during the period from
1 January to 31 December 2024 (the “reporting period”). The content of
the report covers our core business in solutions and integration services,
application software business in Hong Kong and Mainland China and
excludes investment sector. The report is published annually to maintain
ESG transparency. It is published on the Stock Exchange’s website
(www.hkexnews.hk) and the Company's website (http://www.ctil.com).

In the long run, we commit to enrich our ESG information disclosure in
order to enhance the transparency in our sustainability performance.

We sincerely welcome your feedback on our ESG report and our ESG
performance. Please contact us by any of the following means to share your
comments:

Address:
18" Floor, Viva Place, 36 Heung Yip Road, Wong Chuk Hang, Hong Kong

Tel: (852) 2503-8000
Fax: (852) 2503-8100
Email: info@ctil.com

Website: http://www.ctil.com

Computer And Technologies Holdings Limited
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)
RE - 4 EREBHRE (K)

STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT AND MATERIALITY BEHESHEREEMHTMG

ASSESSMENT

BPEETE2ENFNESEFMGE LT BS
MEHRE HEREATENREANEER

A comprehensive stakeholder engagement exercise was conducted in
order to understand the perceptions and expectations of our stakeholders
with regard to our ESG management approach and performance. During B - @R BMBBETHEBREEAY
the process, we communicated with key internal stakeholders that we ZNFZARF[HEBR BRARAS  F
identified to have a significant impact to our business. Stakeholders were MEBHRELERE L REARRABHNEE
given the opportunity to share their views on ESG matters that are most RAEBER UERRALFEEZENBEF -
pertinent to them through the administration of surveys. We incorporated BRPMAROENRE  LILEATERBAR
their feedback into the process of identifying and prioritising the material R HERELARBONERE  URERHARE

topics, which acts as the foundation of the formulation of long-term ESG HEZERXEER -
strategies as well as a strong reference to this report.
Process of stakeholder engagement and materiality assessment: BHESEREEHTHRRE

Identify the relevant ESG
issues making reference
with the Guide and
Sustainability Accounting
Standards Board (SASB)

Materiality Map
2E 55| KA HE
ERETENEEN
B - BAIEE RS

HeRkEaHEE

Develop the survey
and invite the key
stakeholders to complete
the survey
FERBAENHEFEE
Fip & TKHEE

Conduct materiality
assessment to prioritise
the ESG issues based
on the responses of the
survey
ETEEMME
RIEAE 4 RIEEIR
% e REREE

kSN2

MR EEER AR

Get the approval from
the Board and the top
management
BEREESh&ESE

12 [Z B #E
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)
RE - gRELARE ()

STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT AND MATERIALITY BFOESEREEMNME)
ASSESSMENT (CONTINUED)
Material topics identified by our stakeholders are: BRSO EERNEEZE S
Subject area Material topics Related session(s) in this report
FTEHR EEERE ABENHBEED
Employment and . Talent development . Developing talent
labour practices AABEE AAER
BERSTITER . Employee engagement, rights and benefits . Fostering employee engagement
BT 20 #MEEF ReEELHEE
Employee health and safety . Promoting employee health and well-being
BEREREZS RTHE 8 (@ R AR AL
Labour practices . Being an employer of choice
BIER RE B EE
Operating practices - Product and service quality . Continuous improvement in quality service
2IE B Em Rk REEE BERBOFEICE
Customer privacy and data security . Protecting IP rights, data privacy and
EPEALEEELZS cybersecurity
Resources consumption efficiency REMNBER BERLBERBELZE
BIRBRERE . Our efforts in improving environmental
performance
BB ERERS
Corporate . Anti-corruption, business ethics and compliance - Upholding ethical conduct
governance to regulations RFFERIRST
rEER RE)T - EXEBRTREBFER
Contribution to . Community service engagement . Our contribution to community
community 2t B RS AP 4L (2 5 B B
BRittR
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)
RE - gRERARE ()

STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT AND MATERIALITY
ASSESSMENT (CONTINUED)

We also communicate with our stakeholders on an on-going basis through

different communication channels, the table below shows our main
channels with our key stakeholders.

Stakeholders

K0OE

Key of communication

BEEE

BFHEZ2RREEZMTME (E)

BATEBTRBBREFERFNERRE
TRETEBERFNENTIERE -

Communication channels
BBRE

Employees C&T understands the needs of employees through Staff intranet portal, corporate news, promotion
EE different channels and handles their opinions and videos, posters, training, performance appraisal,
recommendations. meetings and emails
MEERTRARETREENTEREEAE BINHE 0ENE SEXH 8K 5
B - KA gENEER
Suppliers C&T continuously reviews performance of suppliers/ Product/service terms and conditions, code of
e service providers and ensures quality of products/ conduct, contracts, after-sales service (customer
services. inquiries or complaints), meetings and emails
Rt RERREES, R HERNRRLE ER/ RBGERREE BFFR - 6400 &
RE®R,/ TRIBEEE - ‘IR® (FFERHIRF) EHRER
Clients C&T collects customer feedback through various Negotiation of contracts, satisfaction survey, customer
B platforms to ensure customer opinions are handled in  service hotline, meetings and emails
a timely manner. BEEak mEERALT BPREAE @
MEE R T RATAREEPREMBREFE KEB
BEFER-
Investors C&T ensures timely disclosure and compliance of Notices, announcements, circulars, annual and interim
wEE listing rules and other related rules and regulations. reports, annual general meeting and face-to-face

LB RE AR B B 0 BB o BT E AR A R Lt
HRPIFOEIR ©

meetings/calls with investors
BE D B FERPHRE  RRBESF
RehBEREERTSH,BEHE

MR EEER AR
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)

RiR - fERER®RE (E)

ESG GOVERNANCE STRUCTURE, COMMITMENT
AND STRATEGY

Governance Structure
The Board, which has overall responsibility for the Company’s ESG strategy

and performance progress, is committed to ensuring that our business
operates responsibly and acts in the best interests of our stakeholders and
shareholders. Ms. Chan Yuen Shan Clara, an independent non-executive
director of the Group, chairs the ESG Working Group, which is delegated
the day-to-day management of ESG aspects by the Board. The ESG Working
Group oversees our ESG performance, leads long-term ESG strategic
development, and reports to the Board. Our ESG performance is reviewed
and evaluated annually, which will be disclosed in our annual ESG report.

To ensure appropriate and effective ESG risk management and internal
control systems are in place, the Board also delegates its responsibility
to evaluate and determine key risks (including ESG related risks) to the
Audit Committee and the Risk Management Committee. After completing
the review, the committees provide the Board with their findings and
recommendations for the Board's consideration and approval.

To enhance the sustainability capability of the Board and our ESG Working
Group, training was arranged to ensure the Board and ESG Working Group
were aware of the latest corporate governance regulations and updates on
ESG.

Further information about our risk management, internal controls and
corporate governance can be found in the section headed “Corporate
Governance Report” of this annual report.

Commitment and Strategy
As a corporate citizen, we consider ESG compliance as a fundamental

operation while striving to create value for our people, environment, and
community. The Board will conduct periodical review of strategies and
areas for improvement. Nurturing Talent, Environmental Conservation,
Community Contribution and Supply Chain Management are the four pillars
guiding our business excellence.

Computer And Technologies Holdings Limited
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)
RE - gRERARE ()

ESG GOVERNANCE STRUCTURE, COMMITMENT RIE -HEREREE RER
AND STRATEGY (CONTINUED) g (&)

Commitment and Strategy (continued) AERRE (&)

The Group realises the emerging importance of sustainability worldwide. AEEEHRINEKARELRNEEZENL - BEE
Aligning with the United Nations Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs) HREBE TT% RESZME -EREER(LE A
that address the global challenges with respect to poverty, inequality, FRIFESZIKEMNBEHAIFELERBE -
climate change, environmental degradation, peace and justice, we based BPEERBAR TRIEOMNETRHEZRER
our focus on four SDGs listed in the following table. The ESG Working Group T IR M RERITIENMEFIFEREIURE
will keep monitoring the ESG targets and report to the Board regularly while HEREREE WETHRAEESER M=
the Board will provide opinions on the target progress. EgHREKBETEESREER

Nurturing Talent

BEAT
SDG 8 DecentWork  Targets BE
and Economic Growth - To maintain our employer-employee relationship - BBETFHEUERAMRERANEET
AHERREES: with our staff in strict compliance with or beyond HHRETEXESHE:
BEHIFNREER the employment rules and regulations;
DECENT WORK AND - Todevelop and retain talents prospering - BERBEAFUEHLRAER: K
ECONOMIC GROWTH company growth; and
m - Tostrive for a decent and safety work - SEERMHRZEHIIERE-
environment.
Approach B
- To provide regular training, development - REEEHEN BRFAEREIEDTES
programmes and training sponsorship to our
staff;
- Toimplement occupational safety and health - ERBELERERER: X
measures; and
- Toorganise team building and staff activities. - BRERERREIEY-
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ENVIRONMENTAL SOC|AL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)

ESG GOVERNANCE STRUCTURE, COMMITMENT
AND STRATEGY (CONTINUED)

Environmental Conservation

RERE

ERRE AER

SDG 13 Climate
Action
UREEREZ13:
RIRTE

1 CLIMATE
ACTION

4

Community Contribution

BERHE

Targets

To raise awareness about environmental
sustainability among our staff;

To promote the 5Rs (Refuse-Reduce-Reuse-
Repurpose-Recycle) concept in office; and

To combat climate change in terms of energy
conservation and emission reduction.

Approach

To enhance existing recycling programmes and
facilities in office;

To provide non-disposable utensils to staff;

To organise seminars and workshops regarding
environmental sustainability;

To increase greenery covers in office, to
encourage staff to adopt a plant-based diet to
combat climate change, and to encourage and
bring awareness about a vegetarian diet;

To maintain a comfortable temperature range of
24-26°C in office;

To refine business procedures and our products
to achieve paperless office; and

To support or collaborate with organisations
which promote environmental protection.

S

TR B THREAFERRNER
RPAEHBESRER-RL-ER-EHFT
% BB : R

RETAI IR MR EE T R RAEZ L -
MRBAEHHE ARG S K&

REFNERAATET
ERMBBRIKERRNTERITIEY

BIMAENRE HBETERARER

RECARRERERER

RFRERFRR 24 E26ENFEEE

BREBEFRERAEREABLD R

X HEBRRAMEIEEAE-

SDG 17 Partnerships
for the Goals
URERREZ17:
REEZERORH
&

1 7 PARTNERSHIPS
FOR THE GOALS

&
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Targets

To be a community care company; and
To raise awareness among the staff about caring
for the community and the underprivileged.

Approach

To participate in community volunteering events;

To make donation to charities; and
To provide internship programmes for university
graduates.

Computer And Technologies Holdings Limited
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)

RiR - HERER®RE (E)

ESG GOVERNANCE STRUCTURE, COMMITMENT
AND STRATEGY (CONTINUED)

Supply Chain Management

HEgEER

SDG 12 Responsible  Targets
Consumption and - To source from sustainable supplier; and
Production - To raise awareness among the staff about
ARHERREZ12: sustainable use of resources.
BETHENEE  Approach
19 e - To establish sustainable procurement guidelines
AND PRODUCTION for our staff; and

w - To regularly review and adopt up-to-date

supplier code of conducts.

- WAUREHERRE: R
- REEIHARUHENMORA-

-  REIHEAUFERERES R

- TEHEREREARMNHEERTAER -

DECENT WORK AND
ECONOMIC GROWTH

o

OUR TALENT

Being an Employer of Choice
Investing in our ability to attract, train, retain, and motivate talented

professionals is a crucial strategy for our success and growth. By providing
competitive remuneration packages for our employees, we hope to attract
high potential candidates in the market and motivate our employees.
The remuneration package of employees is also regularly reviewed and
necessary adjustments are made to conform to the market standard.

We are keen to provide remuneration packages beyond the requirements
of the Employment Ordinance; hence, full-paid sick leave, maternity leave,
and paternity leave are provided to local staff. Upholding our work-life
balance culture and continuous learning advocation, C&T offers special
paid leave such as birthday leave, marriage leave, compassionate leave, and
graduation and examination time off. Medical insurance and education
subsidy are also available to our staff.

BMHAT

BREBNEE

BRERARS| - F9)| - 28 KOSUBI A /O BE
NRBFRD REROEREE - BER/EER
REEEHRFHIOFHMEE  HAFERSIH
SEEBFOAS  XHERERE - HANTE
HiaERENFMEE ETLENAE AU
FERATIZKF

BPARREHEEREIMBEEEREED
oS it - RAImAHE TREZFHRR
EBRRGER RARMEEIFEELE Y
XA FAESE - R RISROHEH KR -
PlanE AR - BR - BIMR - EXREHKRE -
BIMAZRERRRMEME R -

MR EEER AR
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)

RiR - fERER®RE (E)

OUR TALENT (CONTINUED)

Being an Employer of Choice (continued)
Our Employee Handbooks set forth conduct and attitude expectations

for employees, and provide detailed information about employment
terms, benefits, and development policies. These documents are regularly
reviewed and updated to reflect changes in labour regulations. Feedback
from employees on our policies and their job duties and work environment
is welcome.

We have a formal grievance procedure in place that aims to settle employee
grievances within the shortest possible time, with the objective of rendering
fairness and justice to all parties concerned. Employee may present their
grievance either verbally or in writing to the Company’s Human Resources
Department, who is responsible for assisting the employee to solve the
grievance. All grievances are treated confidentially.

We strictly abide by the labour regulations of where we operate and
prohibit the employment of child and forced labour and we are also
committed to promoting a transparent and fair recruitment process.

During our recruitment and staff promotion process, we provide equal
opportunity for all people regardless of sex, marital status, family status or
disability. Our judgment is based on their qualifications, experience, skills,
potential and performance. Performance appraisal is offered to employees
on an annual basis. The purpose of our performance appraisal is not solely
to evaluate employees’ abilities, it also provides the opportunities for them
to discuss their concerns and ideas with management.

We acknowledge our responsibilities to actively promote a diversified
working environment that is free from discrimination. It is believed that the
potential of our employees will be fully enabled when they are given equal
opportunities in terms of career development and promotion.

In 2024, we complied with all relevant laws and regulations, including
the Employment Ordinance, Minimum Wage Ordinance, Provident Fund
Schemes Ordinance, Sex Discrimination Ordinance, Disability Discrimination
Ordinance, Family Status Discrimination Ordinance, Race Discrimination
Ordinance, Inland Revenue Ordinance, and the Occupational Safety
and Health Ordinance of Hong Kong, as well as the Labour Law and
Employment Contract Law of the People’s Republic of China.

Computer And Technologies Holdings Limited
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RiR - HERER®RE (E)

OUR TALENT (CONTINUED)

Diversity and Inclusiveness
Employee profiles in 2023 and 2024 of our operations in Hong Kong and

Mainland China, breakdown by gender, age group, employment type,
employee category and geographical location are as below.

Year ended 31 December

BAAZ ()

ZtEERM
TECFR_E_NFRERPBE A ER
EBEBRISWOT - IZER - FHRAR - EE
A EERRIREE S -

HE+T-_A=+—HILFE

2024 2023
—E-NE —E=F
347 355

Our workforce BB AH

By gender 121 Bl &l 5
Female g

Male S

By age group RERARE D
Below 30 30BRA T

30-39 30-39 7%

40-49 40-49 5%,

50 or above 50 S A =

By employment type REERRES
Full-time iy

Part-time Fe

By employee category REEERE S
Top =%

Middle R

General — MR B AR

By geographical location &t E &5

Hong Kong &G
Mainland China H B b

119 126
228 229
77 84
121 121
103 105
46 45
337 343
10 12
9 9
17 17
321 329
186 193
161 162
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)

RiR - fERER®RE (E)

OUR TALENT (CONTINUED)

Employee turnover rates in 2023 and 2024 of our operations in Hong Kong
and Mainland China, breakdown by gender, age group and geographical
location are as below.

Year ended 31 December

BEMBOAT (&)

TEC=FR-T_NFEFEELRTEAMER
EBERERFIHMT - MR - Fhedn Rt
&7 e

BHET-_A=+—HILFE

2024 2023
—E_ME —Eg2-=

14% 20%

16% 13%

13% 23%

|

Overall turnover rate' BRRkLx
By gender &t Bl &l 5
Female pegis

Male B

By age group R F i 48 Bl 8l 2
Below 30 305 A T

30-39 30-3975%

40-49 40-49 5%,

50 or above 50788k A

By geographical location % ih & 8| 2

Hong Kong BH
Mainland China HE i

1 The turnover rate = the total number of leaver who either leave voluntarily, retire,

or is dismissed in the specified category/the total number of employees of the
corresponding category as at the year-end date.
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ENVIRONMENTAL SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)

OUR TALENT (CONTINUED)

Developing Talent
We are committed to developing a capable team. As a company providing

IT solutions, the skills and knowledge of our employees are closely linked
to the quality of what we deliver, client satisfaction and sustainability of our
business. Under our training programme, employees are regularly provided
with opportunities to attend formal training programmes that benefit their
career developments, including overseas training opportunities.

To incentivise our employees to take role-related training and qualification
assessments organised by external parties, we offer financial sponsorship as
stated in our “Education Subsidy Policy”.

(1) Structured orientation training is provided to new joiners which
covers an introduction to our values, business operations, employee
rights and ESG related areg;

(2)  Appropriate in-house and external trainings are organised to ensure
satisfactory job performance of our employees; and

(3)  Provide education subsidy to encourage employees to take external
courses or professional examinations for career development.

During the reporting year, we continue support our staff to take job
related examinations and trainings. We have provided over HK$59,000 of
financial sponsorship during the reporting year. The Group will periodically
organise briefings to all directors aimed at enhancing and updating their
understanding and proficiency with respect to their duties and obligations,
such as those pertaining to ESG and corporate governance.

BMHAF (8

AT R

BRBNERBRNVEK - (FRREHEMBIR
R RODAE RFESMREERAE - &
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)
RE - gRELARE ()

OUR TALENT (CONTINUED) BMHAF ()
Developing Talent (continued) AT #RE (&)
Total training hours completed during the year by our employees are EERFNTAM AR ET -

summarised as below.

31 December 2024 —E-_ME+=-—B=+—H
Percentage Average
of employees training hours
trained’ per employee?
BEZIEIN BE2EEN
Staff Training B Tl EEFS 15 12 3| /) B 2
By gender B BI85
Female 7 19% 0.75
Male St 14% 0.74
By employee category REEEAE S
Top =% 89% 5.72
Middle F 24% 0.76
General — AR B AR 14% 0.60
31 December 2023 —EZ=H+ZA=t+—H
Percentage Average
of employees training hours
trained' per employee?
EZEIH SEEEN
Staff Training B T3 EEEDL 15 $Z 3 /) By 2
By gender &1 Bl El 5
Female g 40% 3.89
Male St 34% 1.90
By employee category REEERE D
Top =% 100% 561
Middle AF N 59% 482
General — AR B AR 33% 241
1 The percentage of employees trained = the total number of employees trained by 1 EXEINEEB =R ERINZ I E
specified category/the total number of employees of the corresponding category BRBAE/ NEEBEEERNEEB AR -

as at the year end date.

2 The average training hours per employee = the total training hours by specified 2 B EE N TR =1C 5 EH 82K
category/the total number of employees of the corresponding category as at the BB, RELBREERNNESR/AR -

year end date.
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RiR - HERER®RE (E)

OUR TALENT (CONTINUED)

Developing Talent (continued)
C&T aspires to achieve a sustainable growth that could bring enlightenment

and a positive impact to young people. To cultivate potential talents in the
IT industry, we conduct mentorship programs and give advice on career
planning to future generations.

Fostering Employee Engagement
As a signatory for the Racial Diversity and Inclusion Charter for Employers

of the Equal Opportunities Commission (EOC), C&T is dedicated to an
inclusive workplace that values diversity and promotes equal opportunities
for all employees. Our commitment extends to implementing employee-
oriented initiatives designated to enhance morale and well-being across our
diverse workforce. We encourage two-way communication and embrace
feedback through regular review meetings and employee surveys. Some
family-friendly employment practices include flexible work arrangements,
recreational activities for employees and their family members, and
breastfeeding support facilities for working mothers, all aimed at
accommodating diverse needs.

The Company actively promotes a work environment that fosters inclusivity
among employees through inter-departmental gatherings and team-
building activities and a comprehensive Staff Engagement Programme.
A variety of staff benefits are provided, such as transportation subsidies,
corporate discounts, local expo and funfair tickets, etc. To express our
gratitude for employees’ dedication, long service awards are presented to
those celebrating 5, 10, 15, and 20 years with the company, recognising
their commitment to C&T and our shared values of diversity and inclusion.

Engaging employees can contribute to higher productivity and more
profitability. It is in our best interest to keep employees engaged through
efficient communication. Continuing from the practise started in 2020, the
"Regular Customer Highlights” functions as a means to introduce our new
customer acquisitions from different business units. In addition, internal
communication was improved by supplying regular updates of our success
stories, corporate news and promotion videos to employees. Through
different internal channels, we established better communication to
provide first-hand market news to our staff.

BMHAF (8

AT &R (1)
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)

RiR - fERER®RE (E)

OUR TALENT (CONTINUED)

Promoting Employee Health and Well-being
At C&T, we recognise that a healthy and harmonious working environment

is essential for attracting, retaining and motivating talent. The health and
well-being of our employees are among our top priorities. To ensure a safe
and healthy workplace, we have established a comprehensive Occupational
Safety and Health (OSH) Policy in accordance with the Occupational Safety
and Health Ordinance, Chapter 509. This policy is communicated to all
employees.

We focused on the following areas when executing the OSH initiatives:

1. Enhance workplace safety awareness and reporting;

2. Promote ergonomics and employee well-being both physically and
mentally;

3. Strengthen emergency preparedness and response; and

4. Enhance policies for work-life balance such as annual leave package
to enable employees to have flexible time-off options, and to boost
work-life satisfaction.

A dedicated team is appointed to coordinate and ensure the effective
execution of OSH programs and to conduct regular safety inspections. Fire
safety education is provided to employees, demonstrating the emergency
routes and essential safeguards in a fire outbreak. To effectively deliver
health information to employees, we circulated advice on nutritious diets,
stretching exercises, and mental health management on the staff intranet.

We believe that nurturing a wholesome work environment is imperative
to the physical well-being of our staff as well as for cultivating a culture of
collaboration and efficiency. Our commitment to employee engagement is
reflected in a series of thoughtfully designed initiatives that align with our
core OSH focus areas.
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OUR TALENT (CONTINUED)

Promoting Employee Health and Well-being (continued)
In 2024, we organised employee engagement workshops and activities,

including:

Tai Chi Ba-duan-jin Group Exercise Session

In collaboration with The Occupational Health & Safety Council, the
workshop underscores our commitment to promoting ergonomics
and employee well-being by introducing gentle movements that
improve flexibility, balance and mental clarity. Regular practice of Tai
Chi helps reduce stress and encourages mindfulness, contributing to
a healthier workplace.

Green Walk Challenge

The company-wide Green Walk Challenge, aimed at encouraging
staff to prioritise walking over public transportation. Participants
have the opportunity to earn rewards based on their accumulated
steps, incentivising them to choose walking for longer distances.
This initiative not only contributes to the reduction of carbon and
pollutant emissions but also promotes increased physical activity
among employees, thereby enhancing overall occupational health.

Staff Engagement Programme

The programme is designed to actively encourage employees to
participate in company-organised activities and community service
initiatives. Through a structured points system, employees earn
rewards for their involvement, fostering a sense of camaraderie
and collective purpose. In addition to building team spirit, this
programme reinforces our commitment to social responsibility and
creates a vibrant workplace culture where every contribution is
valued and celebrated.

Furthermore, we celebrated various festivals that enriched our workplace
culture. These vibrant events provided opportunities for employees
to unwind and connect, creating a positive atmosphere that balances
professional responsibilities with personal joy. To encourage healthy
eating habits and support overall well-being, “Wellness Snacks Corner” is
established, featuring a selection of nutritious fruits and refreshments.

Our health and safety performance was deemed satisfactory during the
reporting year, with zero employee fatalities recorded during the current
and the past three years from 2022 to 2024. No work-related injuries and
lost day were reported during the reporting year. Moving forward, we
remain committed to maintaining a safe and healthy working environment
for all our employees.
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OUR RESPONSIBILITIES

Continuous Improvement in Quality Service
Green practices are becoming increasingly prominent as organisations strive

to transition to a sustainable economy. C&T is committed to developing
the green economy by offering organisations with efficient, high-quality
software solutions and services that meet sustainability goals to empowers
businesses to embrace environmentally responsible practices and enhance
their operational efficiency.

We are delighted to report that a charitable organisation serving the Hong
Kong community has chosen the C&T ProSmart system to streamline
procurement and approval processes. This one-stop e-procurement system
successfully manages and integrates various operations, such as supplier
registration and requests for quotations, significantly enhancing the
organisation’s procurement efficiency across different business segments.
The system enables the management team to evaluate and compare
diverse quotation data, facilitating the identification of potential risks. These
capabilities promote traceability and operational efficiency, aligning with
the organisation’s corporate governance principles and legal compliance
norms. The e-procurement system also improves operational efficiency by
automating repetitive tasks, thereby conserving both time and financial
resources. Additionally, it reduces human error and minimises paper
usage, supporting environmentally responsible office practices. These
advancements provide a solid foundation for ongoing community service
and future organisational growth.

Our customer service hotline efficiently handles client inquiries and
complaints throughout business hours. In the event of a complaint, we
promptly investigate, respond, and develop improvement plans based
on the findings. During the reporting period, we conducted customer
satisfaction surveys to identify areas for improvement and gather insights
for our future products and services.
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OUR RESPONSIBILITIES (CONTINUED)

Protecting IP Rights, Data Privacy and Cybersecurity
Our employees are committed and compelled to maintain a high standard

of integrity and ethics, as set out in the Group'’s Code of Business Conduct
Policy. This policy establishes basic principles to guide our behaviours and
practices when conducting business, ensuring compliance with local laws
and regulations.

The Group has a strong compliance culture and are committed to adhering
to data privacy laws and regulations to safeguard customers’ data and
sensitive information. Guidelines on data collection, usage and retention
are clearly set out in the policies and standard procedures in our Privacy
Statement and Personal Information Collection Statement.

The Employee Handbook outlines the Group’s policies on intellectual
property, including compliance with relevant copyright laws, the use
of computer software for business purposes, and security precautions
for accessing the Company network. Employees are expected to act in
accordance with these information security measures as set out in the
handbook.

The policy requires our employees to respect and protect intellectual
property rights in our day-to-day operations. This includes the careful
handling and usage of trade secrets, patents, trademarks and copyrights,
as well as business, marketing and service plans, engineering ideas, design
and databases. Data is protected by a number of physical, electronic and
procedural safeguards that are in line with the regulatory requirements.

We acknowledge our responsibility in safeguarding the data privacy
of our customers. The Group is committed to ensuring that customer
information is handled safely and securely by implementing dedicated
customer data protection measures. Access to C&T's network is restricted
to registered devices, with password authentication required for logging
into the Company’s systems. To safeguard data confidentiality, preventive
measures such as regular security assessments and network maintenance
are conducted routinely.
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OUR RESPONSIBILITIES (CONTINUED)

12 RESPONSIBLE
CONSUMPTION
AND PRODUCTION

O

Supply Chain Management

As an IT services provider, C&T mainly procure services from qualified
suppliers and subcontractors. Our policy requires outsourced activities to
comply with the same security requirements as in-house activities. If there
are needs to engage new suppliers or subcontractors, sufficient background
and quality assessment will be conducted to ensure quality of work
delivered to customers. In the reporting period, 30 suppliers underwent
performance evaluations. These evaluations are conducted regularly by the
project team to ensure that the quality of the goods and services provided
by the suppliers or subcontractors remains at an acceptable level, and that
there are no significant environmental or social risks identified.

C&T is committed to sustainable business practices, valuing environmental,
social and governance impacts along the supply chain. Our procurement
policy standardises supplier selection and minimises risks throughout the
supply chain, prioritising local suppliers to reduce carbon emissions from
transportation and focusing on eco-friendly products and services.

Supplier integrity is of great importance to us. Therefore, we only
collaborate with suppliers and partners who have good track records
and haven't violated any relevant regulations or business ethics. We
have a zero-tolerance policy towards bribery and corruption, and strictly
prohibit suppliers from obtaining procurement contracts or cooperative
relationships through any form of pay-to-play or gifts.

Despite the significant disruptions caused by the geopolitical events to the
global supply chain, being an IT services provider with self-developed core
software and services, the impact to our daily operations was considered
not material during the reporting period.

Computer And Technologies Holdings Limited

BN EE (&)

g EE

BB S REARMKRGHER  TEREER
HER kD B RERE - HANWBKESREN
HRBAETEALEHHERNZ 2 BF - 40
BEREZEHMAERI O BN $EALETRED
VESRMERFNE UBERAEFPRERHEFER
B TAR - RS B - 30 R BT R AT
ff o i FrPE R IA R BT T - UERHE
R kD BEEEHNEMERBERERRA
ZEKF - BREEMA N ERERRERLE
[ B o

MEBEBNRABEEBER ERRR 48
RenEEENTE - RPN RBBRA—
THEBKESE YHEEREZEHEERD
R BERAMHEERANKERMES
BB HEDR - 3 R B IRAREE dn B AR

BFEFEREEAMNRE Bt HARE
ARMFEACHEE NG EREMEBERLE
FEEnHERREHAE  BRAPEBEELE
BITRERERRHE  UEEHREREBET
AN EEXNERNERBEAORAE
FR%

BEWGBOREMHBREEREINMER  BH
REFIEBTTREZL ST KRB A E AP
RIGEER  BNHREPRR - HRMEAELE
MFELTEK -



ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)

RiR - HERER®RE (E)

OUR RESPONSIBILITIES (CONTINUED)

Supply Chain Management (continued)
Number of vendors by geographical region

During the reporting year, the number of major vendors* by geographical
region is as follows:

BN EME (&)

HEEEE (&)

RitBEI D W EREE

RWEFE  BMESHHFEHER BB W
T

Geographical region
Hong Kong BA

TER
HiBEKR, &

Mainland China
Other countries/regions

* Vendors with more than HK$ 10,000 purchases during the reporting period.

Upholding Ethical Conduct

Our “Code of Business Conduct Policy” sets out our operating principles
to mitigate the risk of bribery and corruption. We have a zero-tolerance
policy towards any corrupt practices. The policy provides guidance on the
appropriate practice when dealing with our suppliers, contractors, business
partners and other external parties. Our expectations on the conduct
of employees have been well stated in the Employee Handbooks. Anti-
corruption training sessions have been provided to directors and our staff
and attendance is mandatory. The last training session to our staff was
arranged in 2023 with Independent Commission Against Corruption. During
the year, all directors attained anti-corruption training from the Hong Kong
Institute of Directors.

Under the Group's Whistleblowing Policy, we offer anonymous
whistleblowing channels for our employees and stakeholders to report any
suspected case of misconduct. All reports will be brought to our internal
auditor for investigation, which is overseen by C&T's Audit Committee.

Our anti-corruption related policies are crafted according to Prevention
of Bribery Ordinance of Hong Kong, the Criminal Law and the Anti-Money
Laundering Law of the People’s Republic of China. Our compliance with
these pertinent laws and regulations has resulted in no confirmed incidents
of corruption in our operations during 2024.

In terms of data breaches and cyberattacks, the Group takes measures
for external and internal network access layers, server security, daily
management and monitoring. In addition, we frequently disseminated
information security advice to all personnel via internal email. This included
guidance on protecting mobile devices, thwarting phishing scams and
securely conducting online meetings.
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OUR RESPONSIBILITIES (CONTINUED)

Upholding Ethical Conduct (continued)
We design information security efforts to protect our intellectual property

and ensure the safe collection and usage of personal data. We register
our trademarks and domain names in relevant jurisdictions to protect the
intellectual property of the Group and make our expectations clear to our
employees in the Employee Handbook and employee contract, which
requires all employees to treat customer data in strict confidence.

To illustrate, our security measures include:

Firewalls at both external and internal network access points, with
four layers of access control for intranet access server traffic and
distinct security isolation zones to prevent exposure of high-risk ports
and control traffic behavior between zones.

|dentification of attack characteristics of complete protocol data in
traffic, enabling detection and blocking of malicious activity, thus
protecting our business systems.

Implementation of anti-virus and server security systems on servers to
intercept viruses and intranet attacks.

Regular auxiliary management and monitoring of database access
traffic, security system’s security log files, equipment operations of
production business systems, mail security gateways, etc.,, to conduct
audits and analyses for prompt identification and elimination of
corresponding security risks.

Encryption of data transmission in our business systems to ensure
network transmission processes are secure.

In 2024, we complied with all relevant laws and regulations that have a

significant impact to us, including Personal Data (Privacy) Ordinance, and no
incident of information leakage reported during the reporting year.
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RESPONSIBLE 1 CLIMATE
CONSUMPTION
AND PRODUCTION

ACTION

OUR ENVIRONMENT

Our Relationship with the Environment
At C&T, we believe in establishing a foundation of corporate citizenship

that emphasises balance between business, community and environment.
As we conduct our operations, we strive to minimise our impact on the
environment while promoting environmental sustainability through our
solutions. The Environmental Policy that documents our actions to conserve
the environment is communicated with employees and along the value
chain. In addition to complying with the relevant legislation and regulatory
requirements, the policy offers guidance for our management and staff to
follow in daily operations. This policy is available to all personnel in C&T and
is reviewed regularly.

Our operation does not involve significant air and greenhouse gas
emissions, discharges into water and land, water consumption, as well as
generation of hazardous and non-hazardous waste in significant quantities.
Also, the use of packaging material to the finished products is not related to
our business.

In 2024, we complied with all applicable environmental regulations
including Air Pollution Control Ordinance and Waste Disposal Ordinance.

Climate Change

C&T is increasingly aware of the direct and indirect impacts of global climate
change on our business. The management recognises the necessity of
taking appropriate measures to enhance our climate resilience and adaptive
capacity.

We have identified several climate change-related risks which have
impacted or may affect to our business as below:
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OUR ENVIRONMENT (CONTINUED) BMHRE (&)
Climate Change (continued) Rix# 1 (&)
Physical Risks ERE g
(1) Urban Heat Island Effect Causing more Hot Days and Nights (1) BHRENEGHLRNEREZ
~  Higher probability of heat stress related illness and lower — BEIERERROEEIEM - ITE
working efficiency and productivity; and MEREENRRK: &
~  Increasing energy costs for air-conditioning in office and server — WAERFARBENTALRKAR
room, worsening air pollution levels. TETIE I - FEZERITRIKFERIL -
Actions taken or considered BRI E RERINNITE
- Maintaining comfortable temperature in range of 24-26°C in - BRAERAEERTUERRK
office (except server room); E (AR ERI)
~  Replacing and cleaning air filters in air-conditioning — TEHEBRRBERERNZERBHE -
periodically to enhance energy efficiency; AR = BB IR
~  Enhancing staff awareness of heat stress related illness; — RSB IHERE Eﬁﬁﬁ B R
- Reorganising work schedule; and — ENTHI{ERR:
~  Using level 1 energy label equipment in office. - HEBMAEFRAEME z& RIZEH R
1o
(2)  AnIncrease in the Occurrence of Extreme Weather Events (e.g. super Q) B XAEM WERBEARERER)
typhoons, along with hot days and nights) M R EE %
~  Resulting in operation delay, lowering productivity; — EIRERE RETEESN:
- Reducing revenues; — AR
- Increasing operational cost; — BRI
- Damaging facilities (for example: server disruption due to - ﬁ)ﬁ R (Pl BRNMEE - EPE
power failure, window damage, flooding). SR ERK Y R AR B P ET) o

- Amanging work-from-home or flexible working hours for staff - ﬁ?ﬁFE\IE%If’ET@ﬁ}EE’JIT’EH—?
to minimise the effect of disturbance in operations; M- UEERIHEBOTELE

- Equipping with a backup power supply to maintain the — REEABER UNEEPERHS
operation of servers when it encounters a disruption; and MREEHET &

~  Monitoring window safety regularly. - THEAEFPZZE-
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OUR ENVIRONMENT (CONTINUED)

Climate Change (continued)
Physical Risks (continued)

(3)  More Natural Disasters (e.g. flooding, storm surge etc.)

BHNERE (&)

R (&)
EREER (R

() ESERCE KK BEHE)

Impact 4

= Suspending operations;
- Damaging facilities; and
- Collapsing of infrastructures.

Actions taken or considered

— fE:
— WEEE R
—  ERBIEES -

- Establishing a business continuity plan;

- Following government’s and international’s guidelines of
climate change in the industry closely; and

- Engaging in industry forums or seminars to stay updated on

best practices and technologies.

- BUEKEENE

— EYRIBRFRERETEHEAR
RE(EMIEETT S

— ZHEXFRENMNE  ATHET
BT R AR R

Transition Risks

(1) Policy and Regulatory (e.qg. local carbon emission targets)

Impact

- Posing difficulties in operations; and
- Increasing operational cost to fulfil stringent carbon emission
requirements either by hardware replacement or by

technology applications.

Actions taken or considered

B E R
(1) BEREE (A7 K A 1E)

EI
-2

— EEEEEENRAE: R

— BB BRI R R
MBERER - BB ER AT
#210 -

ERMRE R KRN TH

- Setting carbon emissions targets and reduction plans;
- Conducting comprehensive carbon audits;
- Replacing low energy-efficient devices; and
- Procuring energy efficient or environmentally friendly

products or services.

—  RREMBENE RN E
— EfTEmORET

— EREMENRE R

— REBEEIRRNERBIRS -

RBMEGEMARAT —S-masm 17



78 ANNUAL REPORT 2024

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)

RiR - fERER®RE (E)

OUR ENVIRONMENT (CONTINUED)

Climate Change (continued)
Transition Risks (continued)

(2)  Market and Reputation (e.g. stakeholders’expectation on the Group’s
climate change commitments)

BRANERE (&)

RIRE 1t (8])
B R ()

@ THERER(WFEEHANEERIREE

HREEHEIE)

Impact 2

- Becoming less qualified on tendering;
= Becoming less competitive among peers; and
- Losing reputations and client trust.

— ERIEERE
— ERTROBINTE: R
— AEBBAESEL -

Actions taken or considered EENFZEFRINNITE

- Participating in charters, programmes or recognitions or/and
even awards to demonstrate commitments; and

- Communicating with stakeholders to understand their needs
and expectations constantly.

- 2HTENEARTRREE
R - UEBRAGE R

- BEEFOHEBRDR TRRENT
K HRE -

C&T consistently implements various measures that encourage employees
to conserve resources and reduce wastage to promote green operations.

Providing Environmental Solutions for Customers

Our solution offerings follow closely the Environmental Policy of the
Company. From design to implementation, we are dedicated to realising
our corporate’s vision “To build a better world with Information Technology’

"

and inspiring our clients to adopt IT to protecting our environment.

Pursuing carbon neutrality is a concern across all industries, as customers
increasingly seek technological solutions to support their sustainability
goals. Addressing the environmental impact of consumption, the
traditional procurement and tendering process heavily relies on paper
usage. During the reporting period, several key public organisations and
commercial enterprise in essential industries in Hong Kong adopted our
ProSmart, enabling a significant shift from paper-intensive processes to
environmentally friendly alternatives. This transition resulted in savings of
millions of pages per year. Ensuring the relevance of our products entails
providing customers with reliable and efficient systems that align with their
conservation objectives.

Computer And Technologies Holdings Limited

ME—EBmSEER BB THYERM
MARE - NREREEE -

REFPRUERRBRL R

KPR ENRR S REBADAMRREE -
HRABIEIT - RABBHERLEIEMEA
Bt HERXHHURIOES 3I8RFAME
ABHRRERIE -

BEREPBRMSKENBEATRABHEE
RAFERREE  BRMPNKASTSE
FIMEE - BEHEBHRBENTE 5
MRELRBEAEREXRBERNER - N
EHRN AREBEETENTEARKER
D ZERAProSmart * BEIR AR T EAE
FRRREFHEAEE - HEEFTF A
EEHABERE - BEREMERVMARELE -
LMV EARPRERAFEAEGHNESENTER



ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)

RiR - HERER®RE (E)

OUR ENVIRONMENT (CONTINUED)

Our Efforts in Improving Environmental Performance
In the realm of C&T's future endeavors, achieving environmental

sustainability stands as a pivotal objective. Apart from establishing
environmental guidelines and facilities, we emphasise initiating a green
mindset among our employees. We pursue greater environmental
consciousness in the workplace through diverse sustainability programmes.
Up-to-date green trends and topics are introduced via staff intranet and
posters on notice boards. Employees are also encouraged to participate in
different local and international environmental advocacies.

As part of our commitment to sustainability, C&T relocated our Hong Kong
office in mid-2024 to a more efficient space that optimised resource use and
enhanced operational efficiency. This new location featured energy-efficient
systems, improved natural lighting, and better space utilisation, allowing
us to significantly reduce carbon footprint. The move was designed to
foster collaboration and innovation while reinforcing our dedication to
environmentally responsible practices.

C&T is dedicated to upholding its business operations with top-tier green
practices, aiming at mitigating environmental impacts and enhancing
overall quality of life. With a continued commitment to environmental
conservation, C&T remains unwavering in its dedication to creating a
sustainable future. During the reporting period, we continued our efforts to
achieve our energy consumption target of reducing absolute consumption
by 25% by 2030, using 2023 as the base year. Apart from that, we engaged
an independent verification body to verify carbon emissions for the
base year (such verification details is available at the C&T website) laying
the groundwork for setting future carbon reduction targets within the
Company.
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OUR ENVIRONMENT (CONTINUED)

Our Efforts in Improving Environmental Performance

(continued)
In line with this goal, the Group has implemented a range of energy-

saving measures to oversee energy consumption. These initiatives include
deploying energy-efficient lighting systems and embracing bulk purchasing
to reduce packaging. We have also initiated a digital transformation
program to foster a paperless office and strategically placed recycling
collection points throughout the office. Apart from the usual recyclables,
we actively promote the recycling of coffee grounds to minimise organic
waste, as well as festive recyclables like desk calendars, mooncake tins, and
red packets. To further enhance our sustainability efforts, we have formed
a Green Committee tasked with promoting awareness at the working level
and monitoring ESG performance holistically. Furthermore, we are phasing
out traditional name cards in favour of digital name cards, aligning with our
commitment to reducing paper waste and embracing innovative solutions.

Furthermore, efforts to reduce water consumption have been undertaken,
including the installation of water-saving devices and the implementation
of regular inspections of water pipes to prevent wastage. Water meter was
installed in the new office in Hong Kong to facilitate water conservation
with visualised data. These proactive measures underscore the Group’s
commitment to sustainability and environmental stewardship, ultimately
contributing to a greener and more efficient workplace.

By monitoring various environmental metrics, we can continuously
enhance the environmental performance of our operation. Our tracking
includes electricity consumption, paper usage, and carbon emissions. The
information presented in the subsequent sections is valuable for assessing
our environmental performance and devising improvement measures.

Year ended 31 December

BMHRE (&)
BEMBOIRERARKRE (B)
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BERERER  ZERE BRI EHERA
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BUENABNRERRMCMAE  WHEEE
WAERBEMEREOYPREE R THEREH
AT B4 am S - T AP AR 8k e JE 00 i 00 O LA
BERLVAMEY  ARESBA K@ W
EEAR At RNEH - RE—FHTH
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RMRREENARE  KEANITERRR
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BBEMNSEREER  RAUTUTERESZ
EBRBEM - EIREMBEENERE  HRE
PR - HBER M EEP 2N ERER
AHERPNRERB LG ESERE BT E S
ZEE-

HE+T-_A=+—HILFE

ERBAE
ENHE(FREE)

BN ERTE
(FRE,/FHAER)
B HE B (18 H 0 2)
(RSB S

Office in Hong Kong

Electricity consumption (kWh)!

Electricity consumption intensity
(kWh/m? floor area)

Carbon emission (Scope 2 only)?
(tonnes CO -e)

Carbon intensity
(tonnes CO -e/m? floor area)

FIIRETE)

Computer And Technologies Holdings Limited

WHEREE(AE_athEs

227,493 290,224 -21.61%
70 156 -55.13%

150 197 -23.86%
0.05 0.1 -54.55%
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OUR ENVIRONMENT (CONTINUED)

Our Efforts in Improving Environmental Performance
(continued)

Year ended 31 December

BEMHRE (&)
BEMBOIRERARKRE (B)

BE+-_A=1t—HILFE

TEAEHAE?
EHHFE(TEE)!
(TEB,FI3KEE)

fixBE ((Z4REE2)

(R S E &
B E (A St
FIOKEE)

Offices in Mainland China?®
Electricity consumption (kWh)'
Electricity consumption intensity
(kWh/m? floor area)
Carbon emission (Scope 2 only)*
(tonnes CO.-e)
Carbon intensity*
(tonnes CO-e/m? floor area)

1 Electricity consumption report included electricity consumed by office central air-
conditioning, lighting and other electronic devices.

2 We are accounting for Scope 2 carbon emission (indirect emission from
consumption of purchased electricity) only. Our operation involves insignificant
direct emission from stationary and mobile consumption. In 2024 and 2023, Scope
2 carbon emissions were calculated with reference to the emission factors provided
in the 2023 and 2022 Sustainability Report of HK Electric, the carbon footprint per
kWh of electricity sold were 0.66kg and 0.68kg in 2023 and 2022, respectively.

3 Included offices in Shanghai, Beijing, Shenzhen and Nanjing. For the office in
Beijing, the reporting period of the electricity consumption is from 1 January 2024
to 30 September 2024. Due to the office relocation and the inclusion of electricity
fee in the property management fee for the Beijing office, the data of the remaining
period of the reporting year cannot be obtained.

4 For carbon emissions accounting of the China operation, we used the latest
electricity emission factor published by the Ministry of Ecology and Environment
of the People’s Republic of China which was 0.5366 kgCO,/kWh. This reflects the
appropriate emission factors recommended by the mainland government.

C&T believes that delivering energy saving messages to our employees is
critical to minimising electricity consumption.

2024
—E-F
154,674 153,389 +0.84%
65 82 -20.73%
83 87 -4.60%
0.03 0.05 -40.00%
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RiR - fERER®RE (E)

OUR ENVIRONMENT (CONTINUED)

Our Efforts in Improving Environmental Performance
(continued)

Paper Usage

BMHRE (&)

Total paper consumption (in tonnes) #& 4% 3R A2 (LABAET)
Intensity (by square meter of #E (G ¥ KHEE)
floor area) (tonnes/m?) (W8, 77 K)

Apart from strictly monitoring printing usage, C&T has fully transitioned to
using 100% Post-Consumer Waste (PCW) Paper for printing purposes in
Hong Kong office. By utilising post-consumer waste as a raw material, PCW
paper helps divert paper and cardboard waste from landfills, promoting
a circular economy and reducing the amount of waste sent for disposal.
The production of PCW paper generally requires less energy compared to
virgin paper, as it bypasses the pulping and bleaching processes associated
with virgin fiber production. This results in lower greenhouse gas emissions
and reduced energy consumption, contributing to overall environmental
sustainability.

Our Green Procurement Practices
Our dedication to the environment is evident in our procurement practices.

As part of our operational support, we procure electronic and paper
products that have an environmental impact throughout their life cycles.
In response, we have developed a Green Procurement Policy that governs
our purchasing practices in day-to-day operations. In addition to our regular
practices in green procurement, certain criteria were added when choosing
suppliers, such as product environmental certification, fair trade label and
sustainability statement.

As a way of saving cost, the policy also encourages our staff to purchase
products with less packing and greater durability.

82 ANNUAL REPORT 2024 Computer And Technologies Holdings Limited
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OUR ENVIRONMENT (CONTINUED)

Our Contribution to Community

1 PARTNERSHIPS

FOR THE GOALS

&

C&T is devoted to developing an inclusive and caring society focusing on

the human health and the environmental areas. Our target beneficiaries are
children in poverty, underprivileged families and the physically impaired.

BEMHRE (&)
BEMEEENER

MEBRHZRABLRBENLE  BENAR
BEMRRES BEXRASBEEREE 5%
REZEMREAL - BMMATAHE - HFIm

As set out below, employees were encouraged to participate in different BEESLHUSBEETIRBRESEE -
voluntary services and charitable activities.

Organisers

A

Contribution

R

06 January 2024 Hong Kong Blind Union Hong Kong Blind Union Flag Day

i 1 S SN BRERAARES BERAADESERA

12 January 2024 Children’s Thalassaemia Foundation Children’s Thalassaemia Foundation

—E-ME-A+=H WHEEMTEES Cookies & Chocolate Sale
WHEEMZEESEOEERE

17 February 2024 Mission of Love Chai Wan Elderly Visitation Activity

“E-ME_A+LR RETH KERERDED

24 February 2024 Hans Andersen Club Hans Andersen Club Flag Day

“ECMFE-AZ+MA RiEEE LS EER

22 March 2024 The Community Chest of Hong Kong Skip Lunch Day

—T_ME=A-1+=H BERHT fRHA

17 June 2024 The Community Chest of Hong Kong Green Low Carbon Day
“Z-MEAATLER BERHD e R A

07 July 2024 Médecins Sans Frontieres Hong Kong MSF Day
—“T-_NFEEALRA (MSF) EERBELER

BEARBLE(FR)

MR EEER AR

Flag Selling

Charity Product Sale
REEMEE

Elderly Visitation
RakE

Flag Selling

Donation

=

BR

Donation

RN

Donation
B

—z=—pmaasn 83
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OUR ENVIRONMENT (CONTINUED)

Our contribution to community (continued)

Organisers

BMHR

=15 ()

BMYELEER ()

Contribution

31 August 2024
“ECMOENA=T—H

4 September 2024
—Z_MEAAMAE

10 October 2024
ZEZmFE+A+AE

31 October 2024
ZEZRF+A=+—H

23 November 2024
—E-pmF+—A=+=H

3 December 2024
—EZNFE+=ZA=H

1 December 2024
_7—E¢+ A+—AH
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ERER

The Community Chest of Hong Kong
BELRE

Orbis
B H

Orbis
B

The Community Chest of Hong Kong
YNk

Children’s Thalassaemia Foundation

wHEENRERS

Fu Hong Society
KEE

Fu Hong Society
KEg

Computer And Technologies Holdings Limited

Mooncake Charity Sale
N A g

Mooncake Charity Sale 2024
BLHT R k3R B 2024

Orbis World Sight Day 2024
B HT it SRARE A 2024

Dress Casual Day

NEeERA

Children’s Thalassaemia Foundation
Flag Day
wHEEMTEESERA

Madam Hong’s Bakery Cookie
R 158 £E A

General Donation

—REX

B
Charity Product Sale
REEMERE

Charity Product Sale
REEMEE

Donation

B

Donation

BR

Donation

RN

Charity Product Sale
REEMES

Donation
B
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OUR ENVIRONMENT (CONTINUED) B PIRE (&)
Awards and Recognition RIFRABA
The Group has obtained and held the following major awards and AEBEMBRBFEEATEERIBRFZE

certifications:

Year Organisers Awards

£ ES 3 2 817

Since 2015 The Hong Kong Council of Social Service Caring Company

B-E—hF® BELERBEHE [ERNEY N

Since 2015 The Hong Kong General Chamber of Small Partner Employer Award

E-_T—RHFH and Medium Business REBR
BERPNRIMERERS

Since 2017 Federation of Hong Kong Industries Industry Cares

B-ZE—tF HEIELS IERBEL

Since 2018 Environmental Campaign Committee EnergywiSe Certificate

B N\Fk REEHEZEE Eipe &

Since 2018 Environmental Campaign Committee Wastewi$e Certificate

BT N\F REEHEEG BEEEE

Since 2018 Hong Kong Productivity Council Hong Kong Green Organisation

B-ZE-/\F HEEENRER BB EHE

Since 2019 Hong Kong Productivity Council Happy Company

BTN EBEENRER 0 TYERM

Since 2019 Environment Bureau and The Electrical and Energy Saving Charter & 4Ts Charter

BT hFR8 Mechanical Services Department BN ERIATAE
RERMEEIRE

Since 2020 Department of Health and Advisory Mental Health Workplace Charter

E-T-TFHE Committee on Mental Health B ERSOE
BREERKEBREEAAZES

Since 2021 Green Council Green Council Corporate Membership — Bronze Membership

B-ZE-—FE REREES rEEEFE-RRGE

2018, 2019, 2022 & HSBC and Business Environment Council HSBC Living Business ESG Award

2023 [ELRTAERIBEREBE - Certificate of Merit (2018 & 2019)

ZE-NF-Z=F - Certificate of Excellence (2022 & 2023)

—h&E == [ELLEHEBNIRE HERERE

FR-FT-=f - BRERCFT-N\ER-F-NF)

- BHEERCE__FR_ZT-=F)

Mg RsEEERAT 2 —T-omean 85
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OUR ENVIRONMENT (CONTINUED)

BMHRE (&)

Awards and Recognition (continued) RERABA (&)
Year Organisers Awards
F14 THHAE ®15
2019, 2022-2024 Hong Kong Productivity Council Hong Kong Awards for Environmental Excellence
—hEF - = BEEENRER - Certificate of Merit
= %\E_Z?\ BEARBAWAE
—mE - BE#®
2022 SocietyNext Foundation INNOESG Prize
—ZF- HEBIRES INNOESG 58
Since 2023 Green Council UNSDG Achievement Award Hong Kong -
BE_ZT_=F RIRIBEE (Organisation Award — Merit)

BAETHEERAREBEKE
(KR 2R « BRRIBE)

Since 2023 World Green Organisation Green Office Label and Eco-Healthy \/\/orkplace Label

BT -=Fi R A A HERATERERER RS

Since 2023 Equal Opportunities Commission Racial Diversity and Inclusion Charter for Employers

Since 2023 ICAC Business Sector Integrity Charter

B-T-=F€ RBRFE HENE

2024 Green Council Hong Kong Green Awards

—ETMF RIRIBER Green Management Award (Large Corporation) — Bronze
BB ERAE

BHIRREER (X)) WK

Future Directions
C&T is committed to furthering business excellence through dedicated

efforts in ESG. In 2025, the Group will continue to focus on two key areas:
enhancing employee education and engagement to raise awareness on
sustainability and improving the sustainability performance of our office
assets and facilities. Through diverse initiatives and business solutions, we
aim to make a meaningful contribution to building a sustainable society.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)
R - ERER®RE ()

HKEX ESG GUIDE CONTENT INDEX BXMEBRE #H2RERFEES
%3

ESGAspects B - HERERBREEE Disclosedin 1T E& |Remarks &

A Environmental A IR

Aspect Al: Emissions [BE A1 : HEIRYD

General Information on: Our relationship with the
Disclosure (@)  the policies; and environment
— = (b)  compliance with relevant laws and regulations MR B AR

that have a significant impact on the issuer
relating to air and greenhouse gas emissions, discharges
into water and land, and generation of hazardous and
non-hazardous waste.

BRAER OB ERBYI - MK EHOFES

BENBEREVNHELSN
@ BX: K
(o) BFHBETABERTZENBBEELR
B o
KPIAT. The types of emissions and respective emissions data. Not material C&T's operation does not
R xﬁ@a Z | P i@ iE kAR HE I EUE - TEKX involve emission to air and
A1.1 discharge to water and land
in significant quantities.
Therefore, these figures are
not disclosed.
RIS ERIE I &
MZER KR+ REHE
FCPE o BRIkt F AP I A 4%
BRABE -
KPI'A1.2 Direct (Scope 1) and energy indirect (Scope 2) Our efforts in improving
RIS 45 IEHZ | greenhouse gas emissions (in tonnes) and, where environmental performance
A12 appropriate, intensity (e.g. per unit of production BMBNRERRER

volume, per facility).

B (BE) RepRhEEZE (BE2)AER ’E@?JHI
(AmMEEHE) & (WER) BE (MASES B
BREFE) °

Ukn

@ Hfﬂ\m

MgRsEEgRAT 2 —Z-omaasn 87
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HKEX ESG GUIDE CONTENT INDEX (CONTINUED)

BT FTIRIR
=5l (#)

* ?‘ig}i%ﬁ/ﬁ

e g ]

kg xA@aTﬁ
A16

wastes are handled, and a description of reduction
target(s) set and steps taken to achieve them.

MR IEEERESEEMN L RiEAPAE]
SHVRRE R R R AEDEE BRI R o

commitment and strategy,

our relationship with the
environment, climate
change and our efforts in
improving environmental
performance

RE - HeghBEHRE

AGERRES - RAIER
BORRE  RIRZ{LR
BB BERERR

ESGAspects RIE  HEBREARBREEE Disclosedin #EZEH [Remarks fE&
KPI'AT.3 Total hazardous waste produced (in tonnes) and, Not material C&T's operation does not
RESR A FETR | where appropriate, intensity (e.g. per unit of production | T~E X involve hazardous waste
A13 volume, per facility). generation in significant
Fﬁ?iﬁgfﬁg% BE (LABEET &) )32 (ﬁumﬁﬁ) = quantities. Therefore, this
B BESEMN  BIERBAE figure is not disclosed.
MR L ERIER U E
EXREBEEY - AL
B R FR A B o
KPIAT4 Total non-hazardous waste produced (in tonnes) and, Not material C&T's operation does not
BA 52 45 IS HZ | where appropriate, intensity (e.g. per unit of production | TNE X involve non-hazardous waste
Al4 volume, per facility). generation in significant
FTEAEEEEYEE (UEAE) R (ZZD B = quantities. Therefore, this
EMAEEEEN SERBTE figure is not disclosed.
M RE 2 ERIEP U E
EEREREZEY - At
BT B EZEE -
KPIA1.5 Description of emission target(s) set and steps taken to | Climate change
RIS 4E B [achieve them. RfzE1b
A15 M PAEI I BERE B R R R EDNEHBEMK
e 25 -
KPIAT. Description of how hazardous and non-hazardous ESG governance structure,
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RE - gRERARE ()

HKEX ESG GUIDE CONTENT INDEX (CONTINUED)

BT FTIRIR -
#5l| (#)

HERERBEES

ESG Aspects

RR - HEREARBSER

Disclosed in

Remarks &

Aspect A2: Use of Resources

EBEA2 : BRER

RS AR IR

electricity, gas or oil) in total (kWh in '000s) and intensity

General Policies on the efficient use of resources, including Our environment
Disclosure energy, water and other raw materials. HMAIRE
—RREEE BRUERER (BIEEIR K REMRMED) BBUER

KPI'A2.1 Direct and/or indirect energy consumption by type (e.g. | Our efforts in improving

environmental performance

A Bt B e AR
A23

steps taken to achieve them. )
Wl PRI RS REA R R AR RER AR
TR P ERER Y 22 B8 -

commitment and strategy
and climate change,

our efforts in improving
environmental performance

BIE e MERRRE -

A2.1 (e.g. per unit of production volume, per facility). RPN ERERE
RENESNEER SEEER(WE - |Eoh)
BRE UATHETRARFAE) RNEE (MAGESESE
7 - BIERBAHE) -
KPI A2.2 Water consumption in total and intensity (e.g. per unit of | Not material C&T's operation does not
AR 4E 1R | production volume, per facility). TEKX involve consumption of water
A2.2 BFEKEREE (NMAEBESSEM BERETE) ° in significant quantities. And
the water consumption fee
isincluded in the landlord’s
rental fee. Therefore, this
figure is not disclosed.
M EBLETEMEEX
EKER - BFKERD
FAEEFMEASAN - Bk
B R R 2 B -
KPIA2.3 Description of energy use efficiency target(s) set and ESG governance structure,

UK AT BEMHHEE (AN E) Kk (ER)
BHEESMGE -

A N SRS N AR
BB HERREKER
KPI A2.4 Description of whether there is any issue in sourcing Not material C&T's operation does not
RASR 4B UIE1R | water that is fit for purpose, water efficiency target(s) set | TNE X involve consumption of water
A24 and steps taken to achieve them. in significant quantities. And
UK EGE AR R B AR ERE - A RATET S the water consumption fee
B KR B IR R A DA R B IRATERERAY 2P 5 o is included in the landlord’s
rental fee. Therefore, this
indicator is not disclosed.
B EBLEWEMEE KR
=2/KEIR - AFKERD
SFAETFNEESA - Fit
B BRI -
KPI'A2.5 Total packaging material used for finished products (in | Not material As an IT services provider, C&T
AR AE FETZ [ tonnes) and, if applicable, with reference to per unit TEKX does not produce any finished
A2.5 produced. products. For quantities of

paper consumed, please refer
to “Our efforts in improving
environmental performance”
EREMBI ARG ER -
BT A BE ARG - A
BANSBEERRRE
2R RMBOHERR
KB o

==
AR

MR EEER AR
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HKEX ESG GUIDE CONTENT INDEX (CONTINUED) H%*a’&lf); )iﬁ HERERKREES
2 5| (4

ESGAspects B - HERERBREET Disclosedin 1T E& |Remarks &

Aspect A3: The Environment and Natural Resources  [ETEA3 : IRIBER KAE R

General Policies on minimising the issuer’s significant impacts on | Our relationship with the As an IT services provider, we
Disclosure the environment and natural resources. environment consider our operation not
— M H TR BREIT AR R RAAERENERNTZENBUR < [ R MEREHBER impacting the environmental

and natural resources
significantly.
TEREMEIE RIS IER -
BMRARRAIEEHIR

5B RRRE R EEKE
KL o
KPI'A3.1 Description of the significant impacts of activities on Not material As an IT services provider, we
BASR 45 UIEHZ | the environment and natural resources and the actions | TNE X consider our operation not
A3.1 taken to manage them. impacting the environmental
MM EBEDEIRBERRRERNEAZE and natural resources
KOEREE@ESENTH - significantly.

f@ﬁﬁ%‘tﬂ&ﬁﬁﬂ‘%#&%ﬁ '
BFIRR/A DB EEH IR
iﬁ&%%éﬁﬁﬂﬁﬁﬁﬁi%
REE -

Aspect A4: Climate Change [EE A4 : RIRE b

General Policies on identification and mitigation of significant Climate change
Disclosure climate-related issues which have impacted, and those | 515 &4t
—MEE which may impact, the issuer.
BRI N EHER LA SHEITAELEFENSE
ARIEHEBEENBR -
KPI A4.1 Description of the significant climate-related issues Climate change
RAGR4E SRIE1Z [ which have impacted, and those which may impact, the | @& & (b
A4.1 issuer, and the actions taken to manage them.

HMBENAIEeHBITAEEFENERTIE
HEEE REHTE -
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BT FTIRIR -
#5l| (#)

HERERBEES

ESGAspects RIE  HEBREABREEE Disclosedin #ZEZ® [Remarks &t
B.Social B.ft&
Aspect B1: Employment  [ETIB1 : {& (%
General Information on: Our talent
Disclosure @  the policies; and B AA
— AR EE (b)  compliance with relevant laws and regulations
that have a significant impact on the issuer

relating to compensation and dismissal, recruitment

and promotion, working hours, rest periods, equal

opportunity, diversity, anti-discrimination, and other

benefits and welfare.

BTN EAFE BEREA  TERE - RE -

FERE 2Tl - R AR E MR8 AN

@ BER: K

(o) BEFHBETABERZENBBEEKLAN

BEH -

KPIB1.1 Total workforce by gender, employment type (for Diversity and inclusiveness
BAH2AE WIEHZ | example, full- or part-time), age group and geographical | % Joib B2 A 1E
B1.1 region.

IR EEER (a2 BB  FRAR R

RS S ESEE -
KPIB1.2 Employee turnover rate by gender, age group and Diversity and inclusiveness
R 45 IEHZ | geographical region. %A e /M
B1.2 RMR - FRAR R RE S HEERAKLE -

Aspect B2: Health and Safety

)
EHB2: @EELZE

General
Disclosure

— R

Information on:

(@)  the policies; and

(b)  compliance with relevant laws and regulations

that have a significant impact on the issuer

relating to providing a safe working environment and

protecting employees from occupational hazards.

BERRHZ2TERBERRBESREBELR

e

@ BER: R

(b) BIFHBETABERZENEBEEZLRD
BB R

Promoting employee health
and well-being

RIHE B2 R R AR

MR EEER AR
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BRXARE  HERERREES

=5l (#)

TRERTE -

ESGAspects RIE  HEBREARBREEE Disclosedin #EZEH [Remarks fE&

KPI B2.1 Number and rate of work-related fatalities occurred in Promoting employee health

BAH2AE WHEHZ | each of the past three years including the reporting year. | and well-being

B2.1 BA=F (BERSFE)SFEITHMOAZSE (B EERERENL
Fo o

KPIB2.2 Lost days due to work injury. Promoting employee health

FRERIER |ATEBEATIEEE - and well-being

B2.2 R E B R REH

KPIB2.3 Description of occupational health and safety measures | Promoting employee health

BAHEAE WFEHZ | adopted, how they are implemented and monitored. and well-being

B23 HPTER AN B R R IR 2R - A RMAREHE | IRHE B @R RAEi

Aspect B3: Development and Training & [ B3 : 2 & K 13l

R E

General Policies on improving employees'knowledge and skills | Developing talent
Disclosure for discharging duties at work. Description of training AR
—REE activities.
B E B BT TIERE B A RV BUR -
HREIED -
KPI B3.1 The percentage of employees trained by gender and Developing talent
BAHEAE WIETZ | employee category (e.g. senior management, middle AT ERE
B3.1 management).
BRMFIRESRENE D (NEREEE HPRER
B)NXIEEBDL
KPIB3.2 The average training hours completed per employee by | Developing talent
RIS 4E SRIETZ [ gender and employee category. AT ERE
B3.2 RUERREEEMNE D - BHEETKEINTF
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B X AT IR
?ﬂ%@

CHERE

AR EES

ESG Aspects

RR - HEREARBSER

Disclosed in

Remarks &

Aspect B4: Labour Standards

EHB4 : BT R

General Information on: Being an employer of choice | As an IT services provider, we
Disclosure (@  the policies; and RAEEBEEE mainly employ talents who
— M H R (b)  compliance with relevant laws and regulations have specific qualifications
that have a significant impact on the issuer and work experience. We
relating to preventing child and forced labour. consider the risk in engaging
BHEMGIEET REHIESTH : child and forced labor is very
@ HE: K low.
() BFHBETABERZENBBEELRH REMB SRS ER -
B E R o BT ERRABEEE
FE N HERE TRV AT -
HARBERETI AR
BTHRRIFFEER -
KPI B4.1 Description of measures to review employment practices | Low risk See remark for KPI B4 “General
RS 4E SRIE1Z | to avoid child and forced labour. 1K B Disclosure”
B4.1 it BB EBARSE T REHST - RERERIERR — K
BBt
KPI B4.2 Description of steps taken to eliminate such practices Low risk See remark for KPI B4 “General
BAR4E TIETE [ when discovered. 1K = Fax Disclosure”
B4.2 R IRERIE R ER A RIS ERIA 5 - REgEREEea — &

e

Aspect B5: Supply Chain Management

JEmBS : fEEERE

FRER AR IR IR
B5.1

minEa D mHEHEAE -

General Policies on managing environmental and social risks of | Supply chain management
Disclosure the supply chain. e

— R E IR R SR IR IR At g AR UK

KPI B5.1 Number of suppliers by geographical region. Supply chain management

R E R

KPI B5.2
FAS A BT
B5.2

Description of practices relating to engaging suppliers,
number of suppliers where the practices are being
implemented, how they are implemented and
monitored.

L AR RHERNED - mERTEBED
MHEREE AREREHNRITRERTE -

Supply chain management

R E R

T

RS EEARAT]
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BRXARE  HERERREES

=5l (#)

monitored.
il REHERREEZARREM KRG
B - ARABBERITREERTTE -

ESGAspects RIE  HEBREARBREEE Disclosedin #EZEH [Remarks fE&
KPIB5.3 Description of practices used to identify environmental | Supply chain management
BAH2 A5 WHEHZ | and social risks along the supply chain, and how they are | £t i §& & 12
B5.3 implemented and monitored.
3G B ekl L PE S B EER BT R IR 3R it & A B
BB - ARMEBRITRERTE -
KPIB5.4 Description of practices used to promote Supply chain management
BAIR B IR | environmentally preferable products and services when | £ & # & 12
B54 selecting suppliers, and how they are implemented and

Aspect B6: Product Responsibility BT B6 : &M=

General
Disclosure

—RWE

Information on:

(@)  the policies; and

(b)  compliance with relevant laws and regulations
that have a significant impact on the issuer

relating to health and safety, advertising, labelling

and privacy matters relating to products and services

provided and methods of redress.

BRMREERMBRENEERLZ S

KEALBEEALMBRTER

@ HE: K

(b) BFHBETABERZENEBERZLRD
B -

BE R

Continuous improvement in

quality service
B RS 05 B

KPI B6.1
FAR A BT
B6.1

Percentage of total products sold or shipped subject to
recalls for safety and health reasons.
EERCEXERBRTRLEREREHMA
B EER A

Not applicable
N iE A

As an IT services provider,
C&T does not produce any
tangible products, and the
software products in general
do not exert any control

over hardwares that can
pose safety and healthy
consequence. This indicator is
therefore not applicable.
TEREMBIH RIS HER -
BN EEE AR ER -
HEMHER RIS
AREER R R R R E
B RE 1 1T AR (A4 I
B ERTEA -
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BT FTIRIR -
#5l| (#)

HERERBEES

REEFRTTE

BLEKLE

ESGAspects B - HERERBREEE Disclosedin 1T E& |Remarks &

KPI B6.2 Number of products and service related complaints Continuous improvement in | Number of written products

BAH2AE WFETZ | received and how they are dealt with. quality service and service related

B6.2 BEREANERRBRBEIRFEE ARBE L - |BERBOFESCE complaints is 0
BEREMANEDRRE
BIREFEE © 0

KPIB6.3 Description of practices relating to observing and Protecting IP rights, data

BABEAE WIEHZ | protecting intellectual property rights. privacy and cybersecurity

B6.3 T it £ 4 o R AR PR AN EERE A RA RV IE A - REMBERE - BRI

Rk L s

KPI B6.4 Description of quality assurance process and recall Continuous improvement in

BASEAE RIER | procedures. quality service

B6.4 B ERTEREREBYPIRT BERBGOFELICE

KPIB6.5 Description of consumer data protection and privacy Protecting IP rights, data

BASEAE WIEHZ | policies, and how they are implemented and monitored. | privacy and cybersecurity

B6.5 BB BEERMRERLBEER - URBENT [(RENZEE - ERA

Aspect B7: Anti-corruption

EBEB7 : RE)S

General
Disclosure

—REE

Information on:
(@)
(b)

the policies; and

compliance with relevant laws and regulations
that have a significant impact on the issuer
relating to bribery, extortion, fraud and money
laundering.

BRAP LR - BR - BEF RO EN

@ BR: R

(b) BIFHBETABERTZENEMEEZLRD
BB EL o

Upholding ethical conduct
REFBREST

KPI B7.1
PR AE IR IR
B7.1

Number of concluded legal cases regarding corrupt
practices brought against the issuer or its employees
during the reporting period and the outcomes of the
cases.
REMEHANHETASIHEERLYEFTENE
HERARMEVEE RFAER -

g

Upholding ethical conduct
REFBREST

MR EEER AR
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BRXARE HERERREES

=5l (#)

ESGAspects B - HERERBREET Disclosedin 1T E& |Remarks &
KPIB7.2 Description of preventive measures and whistle-blowing | Upholding ethical conduct
BAHEAE WFEHZ | procedures, and how they are implemented and FRIFEEBRST
B7.2 monitored.
Faa e e R BT - U RAEERIT RER
FE o
KPIB7.3 Description of anti-corruption training provided to Upholding ethical conduct
BA S 45 WIEAZ | directors and staff. BB
B73 HmEERE TRHENRETE -

Aspect B8&: Community Investment

BHBS : iRk &

General Policies on community engagement to understand the | Our contribution to
Disclosure needs of the communities where the issuer operates community
—REE and to ensure its activities take into consideration the | B P9 %1 44 [ &9 & Bk
communities’interests.
BN RBERTBEEMEHREFEMBER
HEEBLTHGZERMENRABE -
KPIB8.1 Focus areas of contribution (e.g. education, Our contribution to
BSR4 BIBIZE | environmental concerns, labour needs, health, culture, | community
B3.1 sport). BMETEAER
EIERER (HE RIEHE STHERK BER -
Xt - &) -
KPI B8.2 Resources contributed (e.g. money or time) to the focus | Our contribution to
RSB B BIELR |area. community
B8.2 EZIDBBEMEAER (NS ERER) - BMETEROER
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EEERE

The directors present their report and the audited financial statements of
the Company and the Group for the year ended 31 December 2024.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. Details of the
principal activities of its principal subsidiaries are set out in note 1 to the
financial statements. There were no significant changes in the nature of the
Group’s principal activities during the year.

BUSINESS REVIEW

A review of the business of the Group during the year under review and
a discussion on the Group's future business development and important
events affecting the Company occurred during the year ended 31
December 2024 are provided in the section headed “Chairman’s Statement”
of this annual report.

An analysis of the Group’s performance during the year ended 31 December
2024 using key financial performance indicators is provided in the section
headed "Financial Review"in the “Chairman’s Statement” of this report.

EEeERETERENARNIERERHZE
—E T NNFE+ A=+ B FEZEEZY

Bk -
FEXK
AARZEEXBAREER - HEEHBA

Tz EEEBHHERNSHREN T AEM
TEBEBMERENLREARS -

e e

REAREENEBERE ANEHEAEER
REBERIMNBE_Z-_WNF+-_A=+—
BLEFEABEMBARRBREENERS
HEElam - HERNAFRZ [EFHRE]—H -

ERRARMBRARSREAEERBE_F
TME+ A=+t RLEFEANREETH
DMBRANFRZ [EFEHRE] AT HRRE]—

# -

MR EEER AR
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PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

The Group’s financial condition, results of operations, businesses and
prospects may be affected by a number of risks and uncertainties. The key
risks and uncertainties identified by the Group are discussed in this section.
There may be other risks and uncertainties in addition to those shown
below, which are not known to the Group or which may not be material
now but which could become material in the future. Furthermore, risks can
never be eliminated completely due to inherent limitations in measures
taken to address them. Also, risks may be accepted for strategic reasons or if
it is deemed not cost-effective to mitigate them.

Strategic Risk
The business strategy may require the Group to develop its business both

organically and through new business combinations, strategic investments
and acquisitions. If market conditions change or for any other reasons, the
Group may decide to delay, modify or forgo some aspects of its growth
strategies.

Business Risk
The Group constantly faces the challenge of gauging and responding

promptly to market changes within the industry it operates in. Any failure
to interpret market trends properly and adapt its strategy to such changes
accordingly may have a material adverse effect on the Group's business,
financial condition, results of operations and prospects.

The Group has been looking into different kinds of business and investment
opportunities to broaden the revenue sources of the Group in order to
manage the associated risk and to create greater value for the shareholders.

The Board meets quarterly, or more often if necessary, to review the
Group's operations and financial performance. The Board also considers the
economic environment and the industry risk in assessing the strategic risk as
well as the business risk. The management meets at least monthly to review
the business developments of the Group and keeps the Board informed on
any issues identified.

Computer And Technologies Holdings Limited
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AEBNMBRR KLEXEE EBRAKA
EXTRRR NI THAAEZRMEE - AKEMR
a8 Al 1) 3 2 A B N A BABA R SR AN Ef AR At
BRTXAzs ke FEARERALRE
Y AEBANBAEERKRESEANE MR &
THBEER - o EREHEREENES
Rl B EET 2 - BE - AR

REREEEREZRER - N HBERRKES

PRHEEE S - A RE SR ER -

R g | B3
EBRBEEEBAMERAREE SO W
BEMBBUERANRENEGER - 0IHR
S ANEMINRE AEELEEFEL
R EEAES T A IS RRES -

R

AEBEEHEBHEETEOTHEE L AEE
R R S B E R B o REEERBEN 5B
LUHERRREERE A e H AREER
IR - BEXERAIRBRERTNEE -

AEB-—ESRITABRENEBRREKRSE
BRAAKEZWARIR  KEERERR NS
BREEE=EE-

EXeEFOR - RERNEATEREAT
WAFER  ABHARE ZKLRMBRR -
AR R R M EERARE  EEQNEE
BRERERTERAR EEENEEBANE
RO DRI AKREZ ZHER T WET
EE:SIE S



REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS (CONTINUED)
EEEHRE (@)

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES
(CONTINUED)

Operational Risk
Operational risk is the risk of financial loss or reputational damage resulting

from inadequate or failed internal processes, people and systems.
Responsibility for managing operational risks in the Group rests with every
function at both divisional and departmental levels.

Key functions in the Group are guided by standard operating procedures,
limits of authority and a reporting framework. The Group will continuously
identify and assess key operational exposures and report such risk issues
to the Board and/or senior management as early as possible so that
appropriate risk responses can be taken.

Technology Obsolescence
The Group’s operations depend on its ability to innovate and the successful

deployment of continuously evolving technologies, particularly its response
to technological and industry developments, as well as its ability to foresee
and/or rapidly adapt to the emergence of disruptive technologies. The
Group cannot be certain that technologies will be developed in time to
meet changing market conditions, that they will perform according to
expectations or that they will achieve commercial acceptance. The Group
has made relentless efforts in producing and delivering premium products
and high quality services. Looking forward, the Company will continue with
its research and innovation to enrich and enhance its products portfolio.

Manpower and Retention Risk
The Group's success and ability to grow depends largely on its ability to

attract, train, retain, and motivate highly skilled and qualified managerial,
sales, marketing, administrative, operating, and technical personnel. The
loss of key personnel, or the inability to find additional qualified personnel,
could materially and adversely affect the Group’s prospects and results of
operations.

The Group recognises the employees as one of our most valuable assets
and will keep on providing competitive remuneration package to motivate
the employees and to attract any suitable candidates in the market. The
Group also regularly reviews the remuneration package of employees and
makes necessary adjustments to conform to the market standard.

FTERBREFTHBER (&)

LER R
LERRERABRERF - ASRHIETRKR
REYWMBRAABEZBNRER - A& H
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HAREA -
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TELERAR YEFHZFARMENES
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PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES
(CONTINUED)

Financial Risk
In the course of its business activities, the Group is exposed to various

financial risks, including market, liquidity and credit risks. The currency
environment and interest rates cycles may significantly affect the Group's
financial condition and results of operations.

The Group's earnings and capital or its ability to meet its business objectives
may be adversely affected by movements in foreign exchange rates,
interest rates and equity prices. In particular, any depreciation in the Group's
functional currency may affect its net profit margin. The Group closely
monitors the relative foreign exchange positions of its assets and liabilities
and allocates its holdings of different currencies accordingly in order to
minimise foreign currency risk.

The Group may also be subject to liquidity risk if it is unable to obtain
adequate funding to finance its operations. In managing liquidity risk, the
Group monitors its cash flows and maintains an adequate level of cash and
credit facilities to enable it to finance its operations and reduce the effects
of fluctuations in cash flows.

The Group is also subject to exposure to credit risk from its customers. New
customers are subject to credit evaluation while the Group continues to
monitor its existing customers, especially those with repayment issues. Cash
is deposited with creditworthy banks with no recent history of default.

The financial risk management policies and practices of the Group are
shown in note 35 to the financial statements.

Computer And Technologies Holdings Limited
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS (CONTINUED)
EEEHRE (@)

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES
(CONTINUED)

Climate change-related risk
Climate risk was evaluated from the impact of physical risk and transition

risk. The Board and the management were involved in managing such risk
with objective to reduce the impact from climate change. Details on the
climate change-related risks are set out in the “Environmental, Social and
Governance Report”on pages 51 to 96.

COMPLIANCE WITH THE RELEVANT LAWS AND
REGULATIONS

The Group has established procedures in place to ensure that its operations
comply with applicable laws, rules and regulations. The Board is responsible
to monitor the Group’s policies and practices for achieving compliance with
legal and other regulatory requirements, and such policies and practices
are regularly reviewed. Any changes in the applicable laws, rules and
regulations are brought to the attention of relevant employees and relevant
operating units whenever necessary.

As far as the Board is aware, the Group has in all material respects complied
with laws and regulations that have a significant impact on the Group’s
business and operations.

RELATIONSHIP WITH EMPLOYEES, CUSTOMERS
AND SUPPLIERS

Employees are valuable assets to the Group. The Group provides equal
employment opportunity and competitive remuneration packages to
attract and retain employees. In addition, the Group subsidises employees
to attend job-related training courses to enhance their career progression
and provides occupational health and safety information to employees to
raise their awareness. The Group prides itself on providing a safe, effective
and congenial work environment and it values the health and well-being
of its staff. Adequate arrangements, training and guidelines have been
implemented to ensure its working environment is healthy and safe. The
Group provides communications on health and safety matters and other
programmes to employees in order to raise their awareness of such issues
and enhance their related behaviour.

To suppliers and customers, the Group values mutually beneficial long
standing relationships with them by providing high quality services to
customers and developing mutual trust with suppliers.

FTERBREFTHBER (&)
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RELATIONSHIP WITH EMPLOYEES, CUSTOMERS
AND SUPPLIERS (CONTINUED)

Details of the Group’s trade receivables and trade payables are set out in
notes 19 and 24 to the financial statements, respectively.

There was no material dispute between the Group and its business partners.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND PERFORMANCE

The Group does not operate in an environmentally sensitive business
and is predominantly service-oriented. However, the Group is committed
to the long term sustainability of the environment and communities in
which it operates. As a supporter of environmental protection, the Group
endeavours to comply with laws and regulations regarding environmental
protection and adopt effective measures to achieve efficient use of
resources, energy saving and waste reduction. The Group also strives for a
greener future by eco-friendly practices in various aspects of our operations.
Efficient and effective use of energy and resources are encouraged in the
operation and management level of the Group. “Green Guidelines and
News" are formulated and launched on a continuous basis via intranet or
email to promote the concept of "Reduce, Reuse and Recycle”and to arouse
the employee’s awareness of the importance of environmental protection.

Further details are provided in the section headed “Environmental, Social
and Governance Report” of this annual report.

DONATIONS

The Group's charitable donations during the year amounted to HK$3,000.

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

The Group's profit for the year ended 31 December 2024 and the Group’s
financial position at that date are set out in the financial statements on
pages 127 to 253.

An interim dividend of 5.5 HK cents per ordinary share was paid on 19
September 2024. The directors recommend the payment of a final dividend
of 5.5 HK cents per ordinary share in respect of the year to shareholders on
the Register of Members of the Company on Wednesday, 11 June 2025.
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SUMMARY FINANCIAL INFORMATION

A summary of the published results, assets and liabilities of the Group
for the last five financial years, as extracted from the audited financial
statements, is set out on pages 255 to 256. This summary does not form
part of the audited financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL AND AWARDED SHARES

Details of movements in the Company’s share capital and awarded
restricted shares of the Company during the year are set out in notes 27 and
28 to the financial statements, respectively.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Bye-laws or
the laws of Bermuda, being the jurisdiction in which the Company is
incorporated, which would oblige the Company to offer new shares on a
pro rata basis to existing shareholders.
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PURCHASE, REDEMPTION OR SALE OF LISTED
SECURITIES OF THE COMPANY

During the year, a subsidiary of the Company purchased 2,684,000 shares
of the Company on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited for an
aggregate consideration of HK$6,006,000 and these shares were cancelled
by the Company. The summary details of those transactions are as follows:

Number of
shares
repurchased

BERDHE

January 2024 —Z-mF—H 614,000
March 2024 —E-mF=A 612,000
April 2024 ZEZFmY A 426,000
May 2024 ZE-FAA 184,000
June 2024 ZEZMFERA 228,000
July 2024 ZEZMF LA 306,000
August 2024 —ZEZmFENA 314,000

2,684,000

The purchase of the Company’s shares during the year was effected by the
directors, pursuant to the mandate from shareholders received at the last
annual general meeting, with a view to benefiting shareholders as a whole
by enhancing the net asset value per share and earnings per share of the
Group.

Except as disclosed above, neither the Company, nor any of its subsidiaries

purchased, redeemed or sold any of the Company’s listed securities during
the year.

Computer And Technologies Holdings Limited
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FREMR Total
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R R XA
HK$ HK$ HK$’000
BT AT THET
2.55 245 1,548
2.25 2.16 1,356
228 222 958
222 222 409
215 2.10 481
2.10 2.10 642
1.95 1.95 612
6,006
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DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

At 31 December 2024, the Company's reserves available for distribution,
calculated in accordance with the provisions of the Bermuda Companies
Act 1981, amounted to HK$39,115,000, of which HK$13,353,000 has been
proposed as final dividend for the year. In addition, the Company share
premium account, in the amount of HK$41,410,000, may be distributed in
the form of fully paid bonus shares.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

In the year under review, sales to the Group's five largest customers
accounted for 44.3% of the total sales for the year and sales to the largest
customer included therein amounted to 32.9%. Purchases from the Group's
five largest suppliers accounted for 40.8% of the total value of external
supplies purchased and services consumed for the year and purchases from
the largest supplier included therein amounted to 9.7%.

None of the directors of the Company or any of their associates or any
shareholders (which, to the best knowledge of the directors, own more than
5% of the Company’s issued share capital) had any beneficial interest in the
Group’'s five largest customers and suppliers.

DIRECTORS

The directors of the Company during the year and up to the date of this
report were:

Executive directors:
Ir. Ng Cheung Shing (Chairman)

Mr. Cheung Wai Lam
Mr. Leung King San Sunny
Mr. Ng Kwok Keung

INEDs:
Ms. Chan Yuen Shan Clara

Mr. Poon Siu Hoi Casey
Mr. Ting Leung Huel Stephen

In accordance with bye-law 84 of the Company's bye-laws, Ir. Ng Cheung
Shing, Mr. Leung King San Sunny and Mr. Poon Siu Hoi Casey will retire
by rotation and, being eligible, will offer themselves for re-election at the
forthcoming annual general meeting.
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DIRECTORS (CONTINUED)

All INEDs of the Company renewed their appointments with the Company
for specific terms of three years but are subject to retirement by rotation in
accordance with the provisions of the Bye-laws.

The Company has received confirmations of independence from Ms. Chan
Yuen Shan Clara, Mr. Poon Siu Hoi Casey and Mr. Ting Leung Huel Stephen,
and as at the date of this report still considers them to be independent.

DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S
BIOGRAPHIES

Biographical details of the directors of the Company and the senior
management of the Group are set out on pages 20 to 23 of the annual
report.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

No directors proposed for re-election at the forthcoming annual general
meeting has a service contract with the Company which is not determinable
by the Company within one year without payment of compensation, other
than statutory compensation.

DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION

The directors'fees are subject to shareholders’ approval at general meetings.
Other emoluments are determined by the Company's board of directors
with reference to directors’ duties, responsibilities and performance and the
results of the Group. In addition, the directors’ remuneration is reviewed by
the Remuneration Committee annually.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

Pursuant to the Bye-laws, every director shall be entitled to be indemnified
out of the assets and profits of the Company against all actions, costs,
charges, losses, damages and expenses which they or any of them may
incur in or sustain or about the execution of the duties of their office or
otherwise in relation thereto.

The Company has arranged appropriate directors’ and officers’ liability

insurance coverage for the directors and officers of the Group throughout
the year.

Computer And Technologies Holdings Limited
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS

No director nor a connected entity of a director had a material interest,
whether directly or indirectly, in any transactions, arrangements or contracts
of significance to the business of the Group to which the Company, or any
of the Company’s subsidiaries was a party during the year.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration of the whole
or any substantial part of the business of the Company were entered into or
existed during the year and up to the date of this annual report.

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S INTERESTS
AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES AND
UNDERLYING SHARES

As at 31 December 2024, the interests of the directors and chief executive in
the share capital and underlying shares of the Company and its associated
corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures
Ordinance (the “SFQ"), as recorded in the register required to be kept by
the Company pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, or as otherwise notified
to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code for
Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers, were as follows:

Long positions in ordinary shares of the Company:

EENRG RGN zER

FR BEENEFCHETHRERANRAH
ARBEMMBRBMET ERNHAREED
MEBEAZRS ZHAANTEERAME
BEE R -

EEEH

REARBEERFRAMBIL  BIBITIHFE
EAEBEARR2MHEMEAT D EXBHE
BRITHAH

EERTHAZARD RAEEKRED
ZEBERAR

RZE-_WNMFEF+-_A=+—H SESBRITH
BERNAARREEEEZE (TE REH LB
BIRA ((FHRBAEEG) EXVER) 2 B’RA K
RGP #EEARRAEREESEKBEIED
FINBEBREGFE 2T MP LSRR E L
MBETAEZETESFRHNIZETRBITA
GARRNA MR RN

RAFEBRZER

Number of shares held,
capacity and nature of interest

FRROHE  SoREREE

Percentage of

Directly Through the Company'’s

beneficially controlled issued share

owned corporation capital

Name of directorand EERTHAHR EERARE BT

chief executive ®H EEREREE ZBIZZHLH A BRAB DL

Directors BE

Ir. Ng Cheung Shing REBLETERM @ 7,740,000 114,614,000 122,354,000 50.08

Mr. Cheung Wai Lam REREE 1,000,000 - 1,000,000 041

Mr. Leung King San Sunny & #1504 1,030,000 - 1,030,000 042

Mr. Ng Kwok Keung REIREE 300,000 - 300,000 0.12
Chief executive THRER

Mr. Chung Kin Yip BRELE 240,000 - 240,000 0.10

10,310,000 114,614,000 124,924,000 5113
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S INTERESTS EERITHAZRNRG REER G

AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES AND ZEBRKRE (&)

UNDERLYING SHARES (CONTINUED)

Long positions in shares of an associated corporation: R—EHRBELIERA2HFE

Percentage of
Number of shares the associated
BHHA corporation’s
Name of Relationship Directly Through issued
associated with the Classof  beneficially controlled share
Name of director corporation company shares owned corporation capital
1 =2 A
BEARQF BE ik ) EEE BT
EENE HE LB AR Z % % 13 %8 5 BERER SZEFH AR RA&E o
Ir.Ng Cheung Shing Computer And Company's Non-voting 1,750,000 3,250,000 N/A
SRBAETRM Technologies subsidiary deferred (Note fi{5E (b)) TEA

International ERFlZ BERERRL

Limited gy
R R BR AR

Notes: M 5E -

@@  The 114,614,000 shares were held by Chao Lien Technologies Limited (“Chao Lien”), @  CS. BV Limited Z 2 & WB R RABHEHRERAF
a wholly-owned subsidiary of C.S. (BVI) Limited. Ir. Ng Cheung Shing was entitled to (Tf8EE ) 8 114614000 8810 - RRBELETZ
exercise or control the exercise of one-third or more of the voting power at general R A #E R CS. (BV) Limited Z BRI A& 1715 a5
meetings of C.S. (BVI) Limited, which in turn was entitled to exercise or control the TE=D2—H A EZ®ZERE - MCS. (BV) Limited
exercise of one-third or more of the voting power at general meetings of Chao Lien. BIERNBBRRRNE LITFEREFTE=22
Accordingly, Ir. Ng Cheung Shing was deemed, under the SFO, to be interested in — A EREZEE Bt REZHFRBEGR
all shares held by Chao Lien. REBEETIEMERARBHARAEZIER

MR ER -

(b)  The 3,250,000 non-voting deferred shares were held by Chao Lien. (b)  #%3,250,000 & IS EIBBELER D ABHITE -

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2024, none of the directors and BREXEREN RZEZNEF+=ZA=1+—

chief executive had registered an interest or a short position in the shares H BEEERITHRER N AR R B[

or underlying shares of the Company or any of its associated corporations BOEE o RSO T - HERBEIHFR

that was required to be recorded pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, or as HIEEPIZE 352 KA Taisk - RIE EMEITA
otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the ERETESFRINEETASITHEARRA

Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers. NEE P 2 R SOK R ©
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DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed in the section “Restricted share award scheme” below,
at no time during the year were rights to acquire benefits by means of
the acquisition of shares in or debentures of the Company granted to any
director or their respective spouses or minor children, or were any such
rights exercised by them; or was the Company, or any of its subsidiaries a
party to any arrangement to enable the directors to acquire such rights in
any other body corporate.

RESTRICTED SHARE AWARD SCHEME

The Company adopted a restricted share award scheme (the "Award
Scheme”) on 22 May 2008 and renewed the Award Scheme on 31 May
2017 (the "Renewed Date”"). Pursuant to the Award Scheme, shares of
the Company (the "Awarded Shares”) are granted to eligible employees
(including directors) of the Group until the 10" anniversary from the
Renewed Date. The Company shall also pay cash to the appointed trustee
company for its acquisition and holding upon trust of the Awarded Shares
for the benefit of these employees and directors. The Awarded Shares will
then be transferred to these employees and directors upon vesting. The
aggregate number of shares to be awarded under the Award Scheme
throughout its duration shall not exceed 10% of the issued share capital
of the Company from time to time or such other percentage as notified to
them by the Board (provided that the overall limit on the number of shares
which may be issued upon exercise of all outstanding options granted and
yet to be exercised under any other incentive or share option schemes
and under the Award Scheme must not exceed 30% of the shares of the
Company in issue from time to time).

The Award Scheme shall be effective from the Renewed Date and shall
continue in full force and effect for a term of 10 years unless sooner
terminated as determined by the Board of Directors. The Award Scheme is
to expire on 31 May 2027.

Details of the Award Scheme and the shares awarded thereunder are set
out in note 28 to the financial statements.
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RESTRICTED SHARE AWARD SCHEME (CONTINUED) BERGEIRGEBTE (&)

The following table illustrates the number of and movements of the TR EE T -_MF+_A=+—HIEF
Awarded Shares under the Award Scheme for the year ended 31 December ENZEZR T EIE T B R 2 8B REEH -
2024.
Closing price
of the shares
Number of Unvested Awarded Shares immediately
ABRREROUE before
Transfer Fairvalue  thedateon
At Awarded in/(out) Vested At EETCHEY which
Name of category 1January during during during  31December Vesting period thedate  theawards
of participant 2024 the year theyear theyear 2024 Award date of Award Shares ofgrant  were granted
B gt 3 R7%M
12 £ = RTZER  AMA-X
SRER AR -f-B FREER 8\/(H) FAEHR =t+-A RIEZRES RERHBRHY NATE  REUWE
HK$ HK$
BT BT
Directors
gz
Ir.Ng Cheung Shing 100,000 - - (50000) 50000 6June 2022 30June 20231030 June 2025 224 260
RRBLETEN “E-o-E CECZERBITHE
AARE ZECZREAAZTA
Ir.Ng Cheung Shing 100,000 - - - 100000 28 September 2023 30 April 2026 to 30 April 2027 19 AV,
RREAETRD “E-=F ZE-RFRAZTRE
ABZTNB ZECLFRAZTE
Mr.Ng Kwok Keung 100,000 - - (50,000) 50000 6June2022 30 June 2023 to 30 June 2025 24 260
REBREE “E--E CE-CERASTHE
AARRE ZECREAAZTH
Mr.Ng Kiwok Keung 100000 - - - 100000 28 September 2023 30 April 2026 to 30 April 2027 192 212
REBREE “E-CE CEoREMACTHE
ABZTAR ZECHERAZTE
Chief executive
et
Mr. Chung Kin Yip 240,000 - - (80000) 160000 28September 2023 30 September 2024 to 19 212
BRERE “BoCE 30 September 2026
NAZTNB ZZZEENA=1RE
ZROAENAZTR
Sub-total
It 640,000 - - (180000 460,000
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RESTRICTED SHARE AWARD SCHEME (CONTINUED) BRGEIRAOEBTE (&)

Closing price

of the shares
Number of Unvested Awarded Shares immediately

FEREBRO%A before

Transfer Fairvalue  thedateon
At Awarded in/(out) Vested At of awards at which

Name of category 1January during during during  31December Vesting period thedate  theawards
of participant 2024 the year the year the year 2024 Award date of Award Shares ofgrant  were granted
B R-R=RE RF%R

b Judi 3 £ t2A RT%EBA  AME-X

SRENZFBER -A-B ERCEE  &0/(h) £ncHE =t-A RuZBAMH ERROBRED WAYE  RHUWE
HKS HK$

BT BT

Two top-paid individuals

(excluding Directors and
the Chief Executive)
RUSEHHNEA
(EZRATBAZRN
In aggregate - - 20,000 (20000 - 4July2019 30 June 202010 30 June 2024 Al 377
aif “E-N\F “E-EERA-TEE
tARE  ZEZRFAAZTA
In aggregate 140000 - (40,000) (70,000 30,000 6June 2022 30 June 202310 30 June 2025 224 260
aif “RoCF CECZERB-TRE
AARE ZEZRESACTA
In aggregate - - 70,000 (10,000 60000 28September 2023 30 September 2024 to 192 212
i —EoCE 30 September 2026
ARZTNE —B-REAR=1RE
ZEIRENACTH
In aggregate 60,000 - - - 60000 28September2023 30 April 2026 to 30 April 2027 19 DAV,
aif “E-cE CE-REMASTRE
ABZTNE  “E-HEMRZ1E
Sub-total
It 200000 - 50000 (100000 150000

Rmzaemaras  —Zopasml1]
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RESTRICTED SHARE AWARD SCHEME (CONTINUED) BERGEIRGEBTE (&)

Closing price
of the shares
Number of Unvested Awarded Shares immediately
ABRRBROHE i
Transfer Fairvalue  thedateon
At Awarded in/(out) Vested At of awards at which
Name of category 1January during during during  31December Vesting period thedate  theawards
of participant 2024 the year the year the year 2024 Award date of Award Shares ofgrant  were granted
B ot Jud -3 RY%ER
12 £ = RT%EBA  AME-X
SaRNEFRER -A-B ERCEE  E\/(h) £RCEEE =t+-8 RuZBAM RRROEEH WATE ROUWE
HK$ HK$
BT BT
Other employees
EftEE
Inaggregate 44000 - (20000 (24000 - 4July2019 30 June 202010 30 June 2024 3N 377
ait “E-hE CECEERAIHAE
tARA  ZEZRERA=TA
Inaggregate 440,000 - 40000 (220,000) 260000 6June 2022 30June 2023t0 30 June 2025 224 260
ait 2o CECCERR-TRE
AARE ZECZREAAZTA
Inaggregate 260,000 - (70,000 (90,000 100000 28September 2023 30 September 2024 to 192 212
it “BocE 30 September 2026
ARZTNE ZEB-DEAR=1HE
“RoAEAAZTR
In aggregate 50,000 - - - 50000 28September2023 30 April 2026 to 30 April 2027 192 212
ait IBRCZE CRIREMASTHE
ARZTAB —E-LEMAZTE
Sub-fotal
15t 794000 - (50000 (334000) 410000
Total
it 1,634,000 - - (614000 1020000
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RESTRICTED SHARE AWARD SCHEME
(CONTINUED)

The weighted average closing price of the Company’s ordinary shares
immediately before the dates on which the awards were vested during the
year ended 31 December 2024 was HK$2.08 (31 December 2023: HK$2.32).

* No purchase price is payable by the employees for the Awarded
Shares.
* There are no performance targets attached to the Awarded Shares.

Review by Remuneration Committee
The remuneration committee of the Board is tasked within its term of

reference to review and/or approve matters relating to share schemes
under Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules.

During the year, the Remuneration Committee considered and approved
the grant of restricted award shares to the Executive Directors, senior
executives and certain staff members for the purpose of providing
incentives and rewards to the employees who contribute to the success
of the Group's operations as well as to retain them for the continual
development of the Group.

Amendments to the Listing Rules relating to share scheme of listed issuers
became effective on 1 January 2023. As provided under the transitional
arrangements, the Company can continue to make grants to participants
eligible under the amended Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules under the
existing Award Scheme until refreshment or expiry of the existing scheme
mandate.

The outstanding Awarded Shares granted under the Award Scheme are
subject to a vesting period of approximately 12 months. For the sake of
simplicity and administrative consistency, the Company has conventionally
adopted the end of the month immediately before or after the anniversary
of the date of grant of the Award Shares as the first vesting date.
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RESTRICTED SHARE AWARD SCHEME
(CONTINUED)

Review by Remuneration Committee (continued)
The Company considers that such arrangement is in spirit consistent with

the requirement set out in Rule 17.03F of the Listing Rules, as the vesting
period would only fall short of 12 months by a short period of time. In
addition, the Awarded Shares will generally be vested annually and evenly
in several batches over a timespan of one to five years, which shows the
Company’s intention to retain the grantees for the continual development
of the Group and contribution to the long-term success of the operation
of the Group. At the same time, the Company could retain more flexibility
to account for and formulate its share award schedule in accordance with
its current practice. The Company considers that the current vesting period
for the Awarded Shares is appropriate and in line with the purpose of the
Award Scheme.

It is one of the purposes of the Award Scheme that equity-based
remuneration may serve as an alternative source of remuneration for
the Company to provide rewards to the employees who contribute to
the success of the Group’s operation. Share awards have been part of
the remuneration structure of the Company for rewarding historical
contributions of employees. The Company considers that the grants of the
Awarded Shares were primarily based on time-based vesting criteria instead
of performance-based vesting condition, which would effectively satisfy the
objective to remunerate and reward past performances while at the same
time provide sufficient incentive for the grantees to remain at the Company.
The Directors consider that it is beneficial to the Company and consistent
with the purpose of the Award Scheme if the Company is able to offer a
variety of emolument packages taking different forms based on its needs
and the actual circumstance, which would give the Company maximum
flexibility in order to attract or retain talents.

Computer And Technologies Holdings Limited
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS (CONTINUED)
EEEWE(HE)

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ AND OTHER
PERSONS’ (NOT BEING A DIRECTOR OR CHIEF
EXECUTIVE OF THE COMPANY) INTERESTS IN
SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES

As at 31 December 2024, the following interests of more than 5% of the
issued share capital and share options of the Company were recorded in
the register of interests required to be kept by the Company pursuant to

section 336 of the SFO.

Long positions:

Name of shareholder of the Company Notes Capacity and nature of interest

ARERREE/ LB SORERME

Chao Lien Technologies Limited @ Directly beneficially owned

BHHRERAR ERERREAR

CS. (BV)) Limited @ Through a controlled corporation
EBELHAT

Puttney Investments Limited (‘PIL") (b) Directly beneficially owned
ERERREAR

Hutchison International Limited ("HIL") (b) Through a controlled corporation
EBELHAT

Hutchison Whampoa Limited ("‘HWL") (b) Through a controlled corporation

MEEBERAR(HE]) BRREHRA

Cheung Kong (Holdings) Limited (‘CKH") (b) Through a controlled corporation

RICRERBRAR(RE]) BBXEHIAF

CKHutchison Holdings Limited (‘CKHH") (b) Through a controlled corporation

RIMCZEXBERAR(RM])

BBXEHIAT

Hui Yau Man Directly beneficially owned
FNX EREHER

FTERRREMAL (EIFADT
EEWTHAR) RROREEK

7z

RZEZWM&E+=—A=+—H

AT RARRF

ALBRNEREBRES LB HROIFE 336158 E
FEZEDELMABEARBEBHITRANE

A% 50 DA 2 #EES ¢

wRE:
Percentage of
Numberof  the company’s
ordinary issued share
shares held capital
EARRAE R
s EREE RABDL
114,614,000 4691
114,614,000 4691
29,148,938 11.93
29,148,938 11.93
29,148,938 1193
29,148,938 11.93
29,148,938 1193
26,782,000 10.96

MR EEER AR

Number of
share options
held

FrisiR R EHE

—z-—mss5115
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS (CONTINUED)
EEEHRE (@)

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ AND OTHER
PERSONS’ (NOT BEING A DIRECTOR OR CHIEF
EXECUTIVE OF THE COMPANY) INTERESTS IN
SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES (CONTINUED)

Long positions: (continued)
Notes:

(a) The interest was also disclosed as an interest of Ir. Ng Cheung Shing in the
section “Directors’ and chief executive’s interests and short positions in shares and
underlying shares” of this report.

(b) PIL is a wholly-owned subsidiary of HIL, which in turn is a wholly-owned subsidiary
of HWL. CKH is a wholly-owned subsidiary of CKHH and subsidiaries of CKH are
entitled to exercise or control the exercise of more than one-third of the voting
power at the general meetings of HWL. By virtue of the SFO, CKHH, CKH, HWL and
HIL were deemed to be interested in the 29,148,938 shares of the Company held by
PIL.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2024, no person, other than
the directors of the Company, whose interests are set out in the section
"Directors’ and chief executive's interests and short positions in shares and
underlying shares” above, had registered an interest or a short position in
the shares or underlying shares of the Company that was required to be
recorded pursuant to section 336 of the SFO.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS AND CONTINUING
CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

During the year, there was no connected transaction nor continuing
connected transactions which need to be disclosed pursuant to Chapter
14A of the Listing Rules.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

Details of the contingent liabilities of the Company and the Group are set
out in note 31 to the financial statements.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information that is publicly available to the Company and within
the knowledge of the directors, at least 25% of the Company’s total issued
share capital was held by the public as at the date of this report.

Computer And Technologies Holdings Limited
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS (CONTINUED)

Egéiﬁi(nﬁ)

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD HEHR2EBIE

There is no other material subsequent event undertaken by the Company RZFEZWF+ A=+ —HEREERFH
or by the Group after 31 December 2024 and up to the date of this annual HEALE - AARISAKE S BETHEMERD
report. 1818 -

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE EEER

Details of the corporate governance of the Group are set out in the section EBRASENCEEANFRBRRAREAFR
headed “Corporate Governance Report”in this annual report. XERWME]—Hi

AUDITORS ¥ B R

Ernst & Young will retire and a resolution for their reappointment as auditors LKEETEMEBHGEER  MARBKRER
of the Company will be proposed at the forthcoming annual general BREBEFAE FRE-TBRER BREAR
meeting. NGIEZE - i

ON BEHALF OF THE BOARD KREFS

Ir. Ng Cheung Shing 5

Chairman RERBEETREM

Hong Kong, 18 March 2025 B —E_RF=ATN\H

B ZSEEERA —zomagi117
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
BB EN RS

EYzx

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF
COMPUTER AND TECHNOLOGIES HOLDINGS LIMITED
(Incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Computer And
Technologies Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (the
"Group”) set out on pages 127 to 253, which comprise the consolidated
statement of financial position as at 31 December 2024, and the
consolidated statement of profit or loss, the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes in equity
and the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended,
and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including material
accounting policy information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair
view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 December
2024, and of its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated
cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants ("HKICPA") and have been properly prepared in
compliance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance.

Computer And Technologies Holdings Limited
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT (CONTINUED)
By RBE®RE ()

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing ("HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under those
standards are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the
audit of the consolidated financial statements section of our report. We are
independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's Code of Ethics
for Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our other
ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that the
audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a
basis for our opinion.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement,
were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the
context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole,
and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate
opinion on these matters. For each matter below, our description of how
our audit addressed the matter is provided in that context.

We have fulfilled the responsibilities described in the Auditor’s
responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial statements
section of our report, including in relation to these matters. Accordingly,
our audit included the performance of procedures designed to respond to
our assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated
financial statements. The results of our audit procedures, including the
procedures performed to address the matters below, provide the basis for
our audit opinion on the accompanying consolidated financial statements.

RREAE
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT (CONTINUED)

BZBERE (&)

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (CONTINUED)

Key audit matter

RREXEE (E)

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

REEXSEE

Revenue from contracts with customers

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group recognised
certain contract revenue from the provision of application
services over time, generally using the input methods, by
reference to the progress towards complete satisfaction of the
services. Input methods recognise revenue on the basis of the
Group's efforts or inputs to the satisfaction of a performance
obligation relative to the total expected inputs to the
satisfaction of that performance obligation. The determination
of the progress towards complete satisfaction of the services
involves significant management judgements and estimates,
including various factors affecting the total expected inputs to
the complete satisfaction of the services.

We focus on this matter due to the significance of such revenue
and the significant accounting judgements and estimates
required in estimating the progress towards complete
satisfaction of the services.

The related disclosures about significant accounting judgements
and estimates are included in note 3 to the consolidated
financial statements.

FKEEPERIAIHA

BE_T_NF+_A=1t—HLFE BEFEZ2EK
RETIRBHEE - EREERRHEARENETA
WA FIRTZRERBANLZ BAZLE EXKER
TERBHOBEEMAETH TIESRIEHNRA - BRI
ZRERHBEEAELNERAGR  RILHERRA - BE
FBITIRIS N EREE R - 8 & B2 B E A B R fEE
ETEReYETERITRGMBE AN BRRANZIA
ESE

> db

AREEEER L RN ZRAERE R G ETR
B TRCEE R EEE ERG AT HB R b5 -

BRERGFHE LG ZBERBREHNRA M BERE
PEsE3 -

Computer And Technologies Holdings Limited

R 2 BT NAREREERSE

Our related key audited procedures included, amongst others, the
following:

We obtained an understanding and performed testing of the
Group's controls over its process to recognise contract revenue
from the provision of application services, including the
measurement of the progress towards complete satisfaction of
application services. We selected a sample of relevant contracts
entered into during the year to obtain understanding of their
key contract terms, such as contract price, scope of services
and deliverables. We checked to their project status reports
and related supporting documents showing, for example, costs
incurred to date relative to the total expected costs to the
complete satisfaction of the services to evaluate the measure of
progress used by management for revenue recognition.

Apart from the above, we assessed the significant judgements
and estimates made by management through the examination
of a sample of project documentation, including, inter alia, the
total expected inputs, by checking to relevant internal records
and/or the invoices or quotations provided by subcontractors/
other suppliers, and discussion of the status of those projects in
progress and relevant factors affecting the total expected inputs
to the complete satisfaction of the services with management.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT (CONTINUED)

BZBERE ()

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (CONTINUED)

Key audit matter

HAEERER

RREXEE (&)

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

ARz BT NNEERREREE

Impairment assessment of goodwill

As set out in note 16 to the consolidated financial statements,
the Group had goodwill (the “Goodwill”) acquired through
business combinations with a total carrying amount of
approximately HK$133 million allocated to the cash-generating
units (the “CGUs") of various application services.

Goodwill is tested for impairment annually or more frequently
if events or changes in circumstances indicate that its carrying
amount may be impaired. Impairment is determined by
assessing the recoverable amount of the CGU to which the
goodwill relates and whether the recoverable amount of
that CGU is less than its carrying amount. For the year under
review, the recoverable amount of each of the CGUs has been
determined based on the CGU’s value in use calculation using
cash flow projections specific to the CGU and applying a
discount rate which reflects specific risks associated with the
CGU.

BB R B A1

AR A M RRME 16FTES] - EXEREBEHM
BREEREENRIBEETNEE ((BHE])  LoEE
ZEERRERCELEM((ReELBM]) -
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BEET BERTARANREUARRRSELEQ
Y HE AR

We evaluated management’s impairment assessments of the
Goodwill and the key audit procedures we performed included,
inter alia, the following:

assessing the key assumptions and estimates used in
management’s respective value in use calculations using
discounted cash flow projections, including, inter alia,
budgeted/forecasted revenues and margins, growth rates
and discount rates;

obtaining an understanding of the current and expected
future developments of the respective CGUs and factors
that might affect key assumptions and estimates of the
cash flow projections and discount rates applied;

A FHAEEENBERELE
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT (CONTINUED)

BZBERE (&)

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (CONTINUED)

Key audit matter

RREXEE (E)

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

REEZEE

The impairment testing of goodwill required management to
make certain significant accounting estimates and assumptions
that would affect the reported amount of goodwill and related
disclosures in the consolidated financial statements.

We focus on this matter due to the magnitude of the total balance
involved and the significant judgements and estimates required
in determining the recoverable amounts of the respective CGUs.

The related disclosures about significant accounting judgements
and estimates and impairment testing of goodwill are included
in notes 3 and 16 to the consolidated financial statements,
respectively.

EREERASAERERBFELETERNE HTR
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Computer And Technologies Holdings Limited

ARz BT NAEERREREE

involving our internal valuation specialists to assist us
in evaluating the methodology used and certain key
assumptions and estimates made by management in their
goodwill impairment assessments, including, inter alia,
the specific discount rates and long-term growth rates
applicable to the respective CGUs;

evaluating management’s assessments about reasonable
possible changes in certain key assumptions and estimates,
as appropriate; and

assessing the adequacy of related disclosures in the
consolidated financial statements.

BB NG ERRES R T HERE
T 507 R (LB BR B 0 0 R UA B A 1 ) BB AR
Rfbzt Hoh BEARR S EE S EBOFRE
MR B RE

REZEEAFHEEBNAGES TEERKR LM
RAAEREES &

AHERA M B RERMBBENERS D °



INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT (CONTINUED)
By RBE®RE ()

OTHER INFORMATION INCLUDED IN THE ANNUAL
REPORT

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information. The
other information comprises the information included in the Annual Report,
other than the consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report
thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the
other information and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion
thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the
consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit
or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we
have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this
other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to
report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view
in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such
internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors of the
Company are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors of
the Company either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations or
have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors of the Company are assisted by the Audit Committee in
discharging their responsibilities for overseeing the Group's financial
reporting process.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'’S REPORT (CONTINUED)
By REE®RE ()

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report
that includes our opinion. Our report is made solely to you, as a body, in
accordance with section 90 of the Bermuda Companies Act 1981, and for no
other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability
to any other person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee
that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a
material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or
error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they
could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users
taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional
judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. We
also:

Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks,
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting
from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on
the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the

reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures made
by the directors.

Computer And Technologies Holdings Limited
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT (CONTINUED)
By RBE®RE ()

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(CONTINUED)

Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going
concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence
obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events
or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability
to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material
uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s
report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our
opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained
up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or
conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going
concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair
presentation.

Plan and perform the group audit to obtain sufficient appropriate
audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or
business units within the Group as a basis for forming an opinion
on the consolidated financial statements. We are responsible for the
direction, supervision and review of the audit work performed for
purposes of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our
audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit
findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we
identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence and
to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may
reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable,
actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'’S REPORT (CONTINUED)
By REE®RE ()

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(CONTINUED)

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period and are therefore
the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor's report
unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or
when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should
not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of
doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest
benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor’s report is Chan Yat Fai, Peter.

Ernst & Young

Certified Public Accountants
27/F, One Taikoo Place

979 King's Road

Quarry Bay, Hong Kong

18 March 2025
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS
mERER

YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024 #{Z —Z U4+ —-A=+—HILFE

2024 2023
—ESE-mE
HK$’000 HKS$'000
TET FATT
REVENUE N 5 261,076 257,504
Cost of sales and services SHE R ARTS A (117,890) (121,663)
Gross profit EF 143,186 135,841
Other income and gains EAth Y A B ez 5 16,086 16,271
Foreign exchange differences, net ME W 2 BEF R 555 2
Fair value losses, net: NEEEIEFE
Financial assets at fair value through BATELERAR
profit or loss LB EE (280) (1,219)
Investment properties wEYE (5,000) (1,872)
Selling and distribution expenses SHE R HHR X (37,659) (34,423)
General and administrative expenses, net —M AT S R (60,930) (62,906)
Finance costs B &R 7 (1,088) (469)
Other expenses HmAx (15,542) (13,442)
PROFIT BEFORE TAX R B AT R 6 39,328 37,783
Income tax expense FrBHiAX 10 (10,432) (4,540)
PROFIT FOR THE YEAR REEBRF 28,896 33,243
ATTRIBUTABLE TO: U AL :
Owners of the parent [SYNSIEZFSPN 29,065 33,350
Non-controlling interests FE 2 1 fE 2 (169) (107)
28,896 33,243
2024 2023
—E-IF —B_=F
HK cents HK cents
A B
EARNINGS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLETO B2 FEERRE
ORDINARY EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE EBiEESRAR
PARENT 12
Basic HAR 11.95 13.50
Diluted e 11.90 13.44

Mg RsEEaRAT 2 —=-omeasnl127



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

mEEERER

YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024 #{Z —Z — U4+ —-A=+—HILFE

INF R
Hip 2 A

PROFIT FOR THE YEAR
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

Other comprehensive income/(loss) that may be  REEHIR - E2EKRA
reclassified to profit or loss in subsequent periods:  (E518) ATREEFT D AR B2 K ¢
Exchange differences on translation of foreign BREBINEBKREX VERZHE

operations

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE AEEEHEWALE
YEAR

ATTRIBUTABLE TO: LT AL
Owners of the parent [EYNSIEZFPN

FEIE I AR ES

Non-controlling interests

1 28 ANNUAL REPORT 2024 Computer And Technologies Holdings Limited

2024 2023
BN E —EZ=F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
28,896 33,243
(1,167) 27
27,729 33,270
27,898 33,377
(169) (107)
27,729 33,270




CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

e BEBIR R

31 DECEMBER 2024 — =4+ _-A=+—H

NON-CURRENT ASSETS

Property, plant and equipment

Investment properties

Right-of-use assets

Goodwill

Other intangible assets

Financial asset at fair value through
profit or loss — debt investment

Deposits

Deferred tax assets

Total non-current assets

CURRENT ASSETS

Inventories

Trade receivables

Contract assets

Prepayments, deposits and other receivables

Tax recoverable
Financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss — listed equity investments
Pledged bank deposits
Cash and cash equivalents

Total current assets

CURRENT LIABILITIES
Trade payables, other payables and accruals

Contract liabilities
Lease liabilities
Tax payable

Total current liabilities
NET CURRENT ASSETS
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT LIABILITIES

REEE
W - BE R &G

S UL

AR

BE

A
BATEEERENEY
A E - ABIRE
#e

EAERIE A
SERBEER(E
TENE

i

R 556 5
AWEE
T30 -
FEROR
iR B
BATEERRENEY
M EE- L RARE
BRI ITER
BeREARGEE
RBEERE

HEAE

BTE SR - H iR
OB R R 3R
AwRE

wmE REAM

PR IA
nBRERE
REBEEFE
REERRBAE

2024 2023

—E-mEF
HK$’000 HK$'000
THET FATT
13 6,123 1,031
14 57,000 64,338
15(a) 18,306 7,986
16 135,001 135,001
17 16,857 32,292
22 2,100 2,100
20 1,845 657
26 773 2,715
238,005 246,620
18 1 14
19 39,514 36,705
21 37,064 29,338
20 15,296 14,929
9,393 8,085
22 1,926 2,206
23 202,491 466
23 128,907 316,145
434,602 407,888
24 70,474 68,657
25 60,208 52,143
15(b) 4,286 6,267
15,170 9,468
150,138 136,535
284,464 271,353
522,469 517,973

MR EEER AR
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION (CONTINUED)
mEaMBERR R (&)

31 DECEMBER 2024 — = —_F&+_A=+—H

2024 2023
—EINF —F-=fF
HK$’000 HKS$'000
FExT FAT
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES e =R
Provision BiE 24 795 =
Contract liabilities BHERE 25 894 1397
Lease liabilities HEAR 15(b) 15,009 2,889
Deferred tax liabilities RERIBEAE 26 3,511 7,688
Total non-current liabilities ERBEERE 20,209 11,974
Net assets BEFE 502,260 505,999
EQUITY e
Equity attributable to owners of the parent &2 T #EH A EHEE
Issued capital BETRAR 27 24,433 24,702
Share premium account f&fnim E R 27 41,410 47147
Shares held under the restricted share award RIEA R SR D B 5T £l
scheme BA KK 27 (3,872) (5,454)
Other reserves H A 425,770 424,776
Proposed final dividend ¥R R BRI B 11 13,353 13,493
501,094 504,664
Non-controlling interests FEIE I M R A 1,166 1,335
Total equity “arE 502,260 505,999
Ir. Ng Cheung Shing & & B 5t &£ T2 60 Mr. Leung King San Sunny £ £ $ & &£
Director 2% Director B
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
mEEnBER

YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024 #{Z —Z U4+ —-A=+—HILFE

final and

At T January 2023 i =%-f-H (6:204) (3189 423133 30882 521,649 1442 523,091
Profitfor the year AEEER - - 33350 - 33350 (107) 3243
Other comprehensive income for  AEBEEM2EMA -
the year:
Exchange differences on BEBNEREELL
translation of foreign EREE
operations - 27 - - 21 - 27
Total comprehensiveincomefor -~ AEE2ARNEE
the year - 27 33350 - 33377 (107) 33270
Purchase of shares held under the B E AR FIIR (7 £ H 8
restricted share award scheme ~ JE FR1R 8 (1,130) - - - (1,130) - (1,130)
Vesting of shares held under the R 51k (7 BT BT
restricted share award scheme RV B 28 1880 - - - - - -
Share award arrangements Ry RBRH 8 - - - - 1488 - 1488
Final 2022 and special 2022 SRZZZZERER
dividends declared ZEICERRIRE - - @) (0882 (30909 - (30909)
Interim 2023 dividend “EoCERERS 1 - - (13600 - (13600 - (13607)
Shares repurchased BE R 7 - - - - (6:204) - (6204
Proposed final 2023 dividend RE-Z-=FRERE 1 - - (1349) 13493 - - -
At 31 December 2023 RZF-=%
+-A=+-H (5,454) (3162) 429356 13493 504,064 1335 505999

MR EEER AR
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY (CONTINUED)
REERSBR(E)

YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024 #{Z —Z 4+ —-A=+—HILFE

At T January 2024
Profit for the year

Qther comprehensive loss for the

year

Exchange differences on
translation of foreign
operations

Total comprehensive income for
the year

Vesting of shares held under the
restricted share award scheme

Share award arrangements

Final 2023 dividend declared

Interim 2024 dividend

Shares repurchased

Proposed final 2024 dividend

At 31 December 2024

132 ANNUAL REPORT 2024

RN—= :m¢7/5175
AEEER
TEREBZERR:

REBNEBBELL
BHER

AERLEUNER

BRHIRG R EET
BT

R RBRH
ER-E-CERERE
ZTCRERERE
BRERN
RE_Z-_RERBRS
e 3
+ZA=f-A

Attributable to owners of the parent

BAAREAELR
Other reserves
Hfb it
Shares held
under the Share-
Share restricted based Exchange Proposed Non-
Issued  premium shareaward  payment  Goodwill  Reserve fluctuation  Retained final controlling
capital  account scheme reserve reserve funds reserve profits  dividend Total interests
it 4
RaRH
4 b Rt ES Bk FiRHt
BRTRE ROREE KE<RB (RERE BERE BEEE KOERE REEN  AERS a7 B EnfE
HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000
Tén TEn THEx TEn TEx TER TEx TEr TEx TR TEn TEn
(note29)  (note29)
(Wik29)  (Mfiz20)
24,702 47,147 (5,454) 5,063 (7,227) 746 (3,162) 429,356 13,493 504,664 1,335 505,999
- - - - - - - 29,065 - 29,065 (169) 28,896
- - - - - - (1,167) - - (1,167) - (1,167)
- - - - - - (1,167) 29,065 - 27,898 (169) 21,7129
- - 1,582 (1,582) - - - - - - - -
- - - 1,247 - - - - - 1,247 - 1,247
- - - - - - - 127 (13,493)  (13,366) - (13,366)
- - - - - - - (13,343) - (13,343) - (13,343)
(269) (5737) - - - - - - - (6,006) - (6,006)
- - - - - - - (13,353) 13353 - - -
24,433 41,410 (3,872) 4,728 (7,227) 746 (4329) 431,852 13,353 501,094 1,166 502,260

Computer And Technologies Holdings Limited



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

mERTRER

YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024 #{Z —Z U4+ —-A=+—HILFE

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Profit before tax
Adjustments for:
Finance costs
Bank interest income
Dividend income from listed investments at
fair value through profit or loss
Gain on disposal of items of property,
plant and equipment, net
Fair value losses, net:
Financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss
Investment properties
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment
Depreciation of right-of-use assets
Impairment of trade receivables, net
Amortisation of other intangible assets
Equity-settled share-based payment expense
Gain on lease modifications

Decrease in inventories
Decrease/(increase) in trade receivables
Decrease/(increase) in prepayments,
deposits and other receivables
Increase in contract assets
Increase/(decrease) in trade payables,
other payables and accruals
Increase/(decrease) in contract liabilities

Cash generated from operations
Hong Kong profits tax paid, net
Overseas taxes refunded/(paid)

Net cash flows from operating activities

REZHHRB2HETRE

B 35 A it A

R

MBEER

RITHSUA
BRAFELESARZ LT
KREBRBUWA
HEME  BFE &R EERE
Z st F AR

N EEEFER
BRAELEEARZ
MBEE

REME

ME  BERRBZITE
EREEEZHE
FEUE 5 AR OB EF RR
Hoth 87 6 B B 5

PR E AR D IR
MEEFT 2 W

R

R SRR (S8 10)
BRHE - % RE
IR D,/ ()
BUAEHEN
BRI - R R
R Bt RR S M, GRLD)
B0RERM (HD)
EERBHARSE
MBS F
BB/ (B8 BME
EEEDFEZRLREEE

w

2024 2023
—ESE-mE
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHExT T
39,328 37,783
1,088 469
(14,495) (14,604)
(195) (284)
- ©)
280 1219
5,000 1,872
842 640
6,196 7,540
793 1,066
15,542 13,442
1,247 1,488
(409) -
55,217 50,625
3 2
(3,843) 13,145
(1,863) 2,331
(7,896) (4,037)
2,424 (542)
8,336 (2,057)
52,378 59,467
(8,233) (9,036)
(112) 8
44,033 50,439

MR EEER AR
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (CONTINUED)

RERTRER(E)

YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024 #{Z —Z 4+ —-A=+—HILFE

Net cash flows from operating activities

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Bank interest received

Dividends received from listed investments at
fair value through profit or loss

Purchases of items of property, plant and
equipment

Additions to other intangible assets

Proceeds from disposal of items of property,
plant and equipment

Proceeds from disposal of an investment property

Proceeds from disposal of financial assets at
fair value through profit or loss —
listed equity investments

Decrease/(increase) in pledged bank deposits

Decrease/(increase) in non-pledged bank
deposits with original maturity of more than
three months when acquired

Net cash flows used in investing activities

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Purchases of shares held under the restricted
share award scheme

Shares repurchased

Principal portion of lease payments

Dividends paid

Interest paid

Net cash flows used in financing activities

NET DECREASE IN CASH AND

CASH EQUIVALENTS
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes, net

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
AT END OF YEAR

KEERBFRBcREREFE

REFHREZHERE
EWRITH S
BATELBESEARZ ETR
BREBA

BEYE BELEREHEAB

NEHMELEE
HEWXE - BELREBER
FT1S 38
HE—TRRE Y XS RIE
HERATFELERARZ
M EEMSRIE—- LT
K&
BEMBITEIOR L (GE )
WHERREISEBEB=EA
IR RITER
WA (&)
REESMAZREREFHR

METBHRE2HERE
BEARBI D ZEE 3
A

fE DD
HENZTNASED
ENRE

ERFE
BEERIMAZRESREFER
RERERREEEZ
WD R
FNzBEERERREEE
EREH 2 FEFR
FRZBEESRERAREEE

Computer And Technologies Holdings Limited

2024 2023
—EINF —F-=fF
HK$'000 HK$'000
T FTAT
44,033 50,439
14,495 14,604
195 284
(5,947) (423)
(107) -

- 6

2,838 -

- 780
(202,034) 554
177,398 (136,165)
(13,162) (120,360)
- (1,130)

(6,006) (6,204)
(5,219) (7,582)
(26,709) (44,516)
(1,053) (469)
(38,987) (59,901)
(8,116) (129,822)
81,176 210,969
(1,724) 29
71,336 81,176




CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (CONTINUED)
mERERER(E)

YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024 #{Z —Z U4+ —-A=+—HILFE

2024 2023
—B_opmF —Fo=H
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET AT
ANALYSIS OF BALANCES OF CASH AND ReREAREEEHHR
CASH EQUIVALENTS 2
Cash and cash equivalents as stated in the HEMBRAKRMTIZRER
consolidated statement of financial position SZRIIREEE 128,907 316,145
Non-pledged bank deposits with original maturity W REIHABBE=EA 2
of more than three months when acquired EIRIRITIER (57,571) (234,969)
Cash and cash equivalents as stated in the meaRenERMTIcHE R
consolidated statement of cash flows ZRAEEE 71,336 81,176

MgRsEEaRAT —2-mea3135



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BB R EE

31 DECEMBER 2024 — =4+ _A=+—H

1. CORPORATE INFORMATION 1. ARER

MEBASREEAERARIIRABRER
Mz zBR AR HFEMiltERALN
Clarendon House, 2 Church Street, Hamilton
HM11, Bermuda ° ANA &) F B & b A 7
BEEMLBEECHREEE18E -

Computer And Technologies Holdings Limited is a limited liability
company incorporated in Bermuda. The registered office of the
Company is located at Clarendon House, 2 Church Street, Hamilton
HM11, Bermuda. The principal place of business of the Company is
located at 18" Floor, Viva Place, No. 36 Heung Yip Road, Wong Chuk
Hang, Hong Kong.

During the year, the Group was involved in the following principal FAAEEREATEEERS:
activities:

provision of enterprise application software and e-business
services for enterprises including the provision of enterprise
application software (including Software as a Services ("SaaS")
product offering) with implementation and ongoing support
services, the Government Electronic Trading Services (“GETS"),
cloud services and other related value-added services;

provision of information technology (“IT") solutions
implementation and application software development
(including Saa$S product offering), provision of IT and related
operation/infrastructure outsourcing services, and provision
of IT systems and network infrastructure with related design,
implementation and ongoing support services; and

property and treasury investments.

1 36 ANNUAL REPORT 2024 Computer And Technologies Holdings Limited
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
5o 35 S Y o ()

31 DECEMBER 2024 — = —F+_-A=+—H

1. CORPORATE INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

Information about subsidiaries
Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as follows:

Place of incorporation/
registration and
business

Issued ordinary
share capital/
registered capital
BERTEERE
AR

EEBY

Computer And Technologies British Virgin Islands/ Ordinary US$1,000
(BVI) Limited Hong Kong LBA% 1,000ETT
RBRLHE/BE
Computer And Technologies Hong Kong Ordinary HK$2
International Limited BE Non-voting deferred ©
MBZRAERAR HKS5,000,000
EER2ET
BEREEELC
5,000,000 7T

Computer And Technologies The People’s Republicof  Registered and paid-up

International Trading (Shanghai)  China ("PRC")/Mainland capital US$200,000
Company Limited @ China MR E KR
RBZGERERES (L) FEARANE 200,000 7T
BRARY (TRELL) /HhER,
Computer And Technologies PRC/Mainland China Registered and paid-up

(Shanghai) Company Limited ® B/ B s capital US$3,500,000

HENMBEERRERARO T R B YR A
35000005 7T
Computer & Technologies British Virgin Islands/ Ordinary US$1
Investment Limited Hong Kong LT@RIET
KBRLHE/BE

1. AFEHR A

B 2 R 2 &
ARRAEEMBARZFHEMT -

Percentage of equity
attributable to the Company

FRRRERFEEED L

2024 2023
—g-mE | —F-=F
100 100

100 100

100 100

100 100

100 100

MR EEER AR

Principal activities

TEXRH

Investment holding
REZK

Provision of IT solutions
development and
implementation services,
investment holding and
treasury investments

REAAMBBATRER
RERRYE  REERK
ERRE

Sale of computer networks and
system platforms

HEERBRRER TR

Provision of system and network
integration services

REZR LB EKRE

Investment holding and treasury
investments

RERRLEHRE
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
B35 R 2R B (AR

31 DECEMBER 2024 — = —_F&+_A=+—H

1. CORPORATE INFORMATION (CONTINUED) 1. DEIER(E)
Information about subsidiaries (continued) MBARIZESR (&)

Place of incorporation/  Issued ordinary

1 38 ANNUAL REPORT 2024

registration and
business

EEBY

share capital/
registered capital
EROTEERE/
ERAE

Percentage of equity
attributable to the Company

FRAREERFERE L

2024 2023
“EME | ZT-=F

Principal activities

FEXRH

C&T (Hong Kong) Investment British Virgin Islands/ Ordinary US$1 100 100 Property holding
Limited Hong Kong ERRIET HEME
RERELEE/BE
Computer And Technologies Hong Kong Ordinary HK$10,000 100 100 Provision of integration and
Solutions Limited e L&A 1000078 7T solution services, business
MR EERAF process outsourcing services
and maintenance services
REERRBRATERS -
EBMIBIN IR R E
R
Computer And Technologies PRC/Mainland China Registered and paid-up 100 100 Provision of IT solutions
Solutions (Shenzhen) Company B/ B 9t capital US$1,128,000 development and
Limited © R R B YR AR implementation services
Bgs ORI BR AR 1,128000% 7T REBAMBRRATRER
Bt R
Computer And Technologies Hong Kong Ordinary HK$10,000 100 100 Provision of human resources
Resources Limited A% L BAT 10,0007 7T management
MBERERARATA REANBRER
Computer And Technologies Hong Kong Ordinary HK$10,000 100 100 Provision of enterprise software
Software (Hong Kong) Limited ~ &% T 1000078 7T applications and maintenance
BEZGEH (F5)BRAA services
RUEGERHERAR
BERK
Global e-Business Services (BVI)  British Virgin Islands/ Class A US$1,600 100 100 Investment holding
Limited Hong Kong Class B US$400 REER
EEEREE/BE  ABRI00ET
BXE400ETT

Computer And Technologies Holdings Limited



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
5o 35 S Y o ()

31 DECEMBER 2024 — = —F+_-A=+—H

1.

CORPORATE INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

Information about subsidiaries (continued)

Global e-Business Services Limited

BRETHERBBRAF

Global e-Trading Services Limited

BEIREBRAR

IPL Research Limited

Platinum China Limited

Place of incorporation/
registration and
business

i) A 3D
EEBY

Hong Kong
BE

Hong Kong
30

Hong Kong
AR

Hong Kong
Bt

Issued ordinary
share capital/
registered capital
BRTEBRE/
AR

Ordinary HK$1,010,000
EBAZ 101000078 7T

Ordinary HK$2,501,000
TR 2,501,000

Ordinary HK$3,000,000

Non-voting deferred ©
HK$300,000

3% 3,000,000 7T

ERERELO
300,000/ 7T

Ordinary HK$10,000
L@k 1000078 T

1. AFEH(E)
MR Z2E R (&)

Percentage of equity
attributable to the Company

AAAEERTEZE DL
2024 2023
“EME | ZT-=F
100 100
100 100
100 100
100 100

MR EEER AR

Principal activities

FEXRH

Provision of management
services and enterprise
application software services

RUEEERELERER
B R

Provision of e-business related
services, including government
electronic trading services

RUSTEZRERE £
RERETESRE

Provision of enterprise software
applications and related
operation outsourcing services
and investment holding

RECERMHEANEEE
EIMIRBARREZR

Trading of computer software
licences, provision of
training, implementation
and maintenance of software
services, and investment
holding

EESRHM SR 74
BHEI - B RAER
BARREER
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
B35 R 2R B (AR

31 DECEMBER 2024 — = —_F&+_A=+—H

1. CORPORATE INFORMATION (CONTINUED) 1. AREH (&)
Information about subsidiaries (continued) MEAR &R (&)
Place of incorporation/  Issued ordinary
registration and share capital/ Percentage of equity
business registered capital attributable to the Company  Principal activities
KL R ERTEBRE/
EENE R APEEERAEZREOL FEEH
2024 2023
ZRIME | ZT-=F
Platinum Software Systems PRC/Mainland China Registered and paid-up 100 100 Trading of computer software
(Shanghai) Company Limited ® & /# Bl fuith capital US$700,000 licences, provision of training
HEaHERG(LE) R R B YR AR and implementation,
BRARY 700000% 7T maintenance and support
services

EEEMETE Rt
BIRERAREERX
RR

Sanyo Extended System Services  Hong Kong Ordinary HK$1,000,000 100 100 Provision of enterprise software
Limited 55 T /A% 1,000,000 78 7T applications and maintenance
SHREZRBRAF services and investment
holding
RECETMHEANAZR
BARREER

Sanyo Extended Data Systems Hong Kong Ordinary HK$180,000 100 100 Provision of enterprise software
Limited 6 E3BA% 180,000/ 7T applications and maintenance
SHREEKERAT services
RELETHEAR
EER%

LamganERAFY PRC/Mainland China Registered and paid-up 100 100 Provision of enterprise
RE RE R capital US$450,000 application software and
A R E YA related operation outsourcing
4500003 7T services
RECEERRMRERSE
EONIRT
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
5o 35 S Y o ()

31 DECEMBER 2024 — = —F+_-A=+—H

1. CORPORATE INFORMATION (CONTINUED) 1. AREH (&)
Information about subsidiaries (continued) MEBAR &R (E)
Place of incorporation/  Issued ordinary
registration and share capital/ Percentage of equity
business registered capital attributable to the Company  Principal activities
HEMK L R ERTEBRE
EENE R APEEERAEREOL FEEH
2024 2023
ZBIME | ZT=F
BB (R BB AT Macau Ordinary MOP25,000 100 100 Provision of enterprise
P B 25,0008 7T application software and
related operation
RECEEARMR
1HEEE
CISC Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HK$3,652,950 80 80 Provision of products, solutions
% T AR 3,652,950 /87T and consulting services on

cyber intelligence, and cyber
security
REBRBENBEL 2H
Ef - BRTRNEARSE

(@ The subsidiary is registered as a Sino-foreign equity joint venture under PRC @ ZW B DR T IRE R EAREM ARG
law. BhE-

(b) The subsidiaries are registered as wholly-foreign-owned enterprises under (®) Z 5B AR IR R BURE RN
PRC law. BELX -

(@] The non-voting deferred shares, which are not held by the Group, carry no © Z5WIFMAREEA 2 MRRBLTR
rights to dividends or to receive notice of or to attend or vote at any general MR E AR 2 RA - TREZHE
meeting. In the winding-up of the subsidiaries, the holders of the deferred W B A A BR SR K & 38 5 R R R B K &
shares carry the rights to receive a return of capital after the holders of the & LIRFZ R - MIMEARELE - BT
ordinary shares have received a sum of HK$1,000,000,000 per ordinary share. Bein 7B N BHER BB A ARG KT

i iR U B A 4£1,000,000000 7 7T 14 - 18R
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CORPORATE INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

Information about subsidiaries (Continued)
Except for Computer And Technologies (BVI) Limited, all of the above

subsidiaries are indirectly held by the Company.

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company which, in the
opinion of the directors, principally affected the results for the year
or formed a substantial portion of the net assets of the Group, or
are of particular importance to the Group. To give details of other
subsidiaries would, in the opinion of the directors, result in particulars
of excessive length.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES

BASIS OF PREPARATION

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) (which include
all Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards, Hong Kong Accounting
Standards (“HKASs") and Interpretations) issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA") and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance. They have
been prepared under the historical cost convention, except for
investment properties and financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss which have been measured at fair value. These financial
statements are presented in Hong Kong dollars ("HKS") and all
values are rounded to the nearest thousand except when otherwise
indicated.

Basis of consolidation
The consolidated financial statements include the financial

statements of the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively referred
to as the “Group”) for the year ended 31 December 2024. A subsidiary
is an entity (including a structured entity), directly or indirectly,
controlled by the Company. Control is achieved when the Group is
exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with
the investee and has the ability to affect those returns through its
power over the investee (i.e, existing rights that give the Group the
current ability to direct the relevant activities of the investee).

Computer And Technologies Holdings Limited

2.1

RNAER (&)
ML R Z2E ¥ (&)

Bk Computer And Technologies (BVI) Limited
G EAFR A M E A RS B AR R EE R
ﬁ o
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2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION (CONTINUED) 2.1 BLEXE (E)

Basis of consolidation (continued)

Generally, there is a presumption that a majority of voting rights
results in control. When the Company has less than a majority of the
voting or similar rights of an investee, the Group considers all relevant
facts and circumstances in assessing whether it has power over an
investee, including:

(@)  the contractual arrangement with the other vote holders of the
investee;

(b)  rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and

(c)  the Group's voting rights and potential voting rights.

The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared for the
same reporting period as the Company, using consistent accounting
policies. The results of subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on
which the Group obtains control, and continue to be consolidated
until the date that such control ceases.

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive
income are attributed to the owners of the parent of the Group
and to the non-controlling interests, even if this results in the non-
controlling interests having a deficit balance. All intra-group assets
and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and cash flows relating to
transactions between members of the Group are eliminated in full on
consolidation.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts
and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one or more
of the three elements of control described above. A change in
the ownership interest of a subsidiary, without a loss of control, is
accounted for as an equity transaction.

If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognises the related
assets (including goodwill), liabilities, any non-controlling interest and
the exchange fluctuation reserve; and recognises the fair value of any
investment retained and any resulting surplus or deficit in profit or
loss. The Group's share of components previously recognised in other
comprehensive income is reclassified to profit or loss or retained
profits, as appropriate, on the same basis as would be required if the
Group had directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities.

REEE (&)

—RIBAT  FEZBREETRIEGE
ZHTE - WARBHEEREERINAZ
HZWE B OER - A EAREY
REHSELCHEERNE  8EE YN
BEERER B
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>‘<ﬂ
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2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND 22 B BRERBEEZEH

DISCLOSURES

The Group has adopted the following revised HKFRSs for the first time REBERAFE 2B ImEK B XA A

for the current year’s financial statements. TRAEET 2 BB B wESED -

Amendments to HKFRS 16 Lease Liability in a Sale and Leaseback BEMBREE ERHEBXZHH

BIZE 16 5% HEARE
CEREN),
Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as Current BEGETER KEESER B I
or Non-current (the "2020 F15(BEIARN) mE ([ ZZE=_TFB
Amendments”) IARD
Amendments to HKAS 1 Non-current Liabilities with Covenants BB EFTER B 7 22 5 1 FE i B
(the “2022 Amendments”) E15E(BEIARN) BAE(ZZEZ=F(&
HEND)
Amendments to HKAS 7 Supplier Finance Arrangements BEGETERE HEBHELH
and HKFRS 7 75 RE B
WEEAE 7R
CEHEN),

The nature and the impact of the revised HKFRSs are described LETNE S BRELENNMEE R E

below: T -

@  Amendments to HKFRS 16 specify the requirements that a @ BETBRMEEIE 165 (IBFTA)
seller-lessee uses in measuring the lease liability arising in a B ABALEFESEAD
sale and leaseback transaction to ensure the seller-lessee does RPGEENHEESERMRANS
not recognise any amount of the gain or loss that relates to EABREFEABEATZER
the right of use it retains. Since the Group has no sale and FREERENFEAES @ K=
leaseback transactions with variable lease payments that do EESE BHRAEEEEHERE
not depend on an index or a rate occurring from the date of RAEBMBHREENE 65k AL -
initial application of HKFRS 16, the amendments did not have I 8 A8 & R S HEUR R $8 Bk FI
any impact on the financial position or performance of the MU BERERR S AtZSE
Group. & 5] 30 59 7N & B ) B A AR O s R

REKERFE -
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2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
DISCLOSURES (CONTINUED)

(b)

The 2020 Amendments clarify the requirements for classifying
liabilities as current or non-current, including what is meant by
a right to defer settlement and that a right to defer must exist
at the end of the reporting period. Classification of a liability
is unaffected by the likelihood that the entity will exercise its
right to defer settlement. The amendments also clarify that a
liability can be settled in its own equity instruments, and that
only if a conversion option in a convertible liability is itself
accounted for as an equity instrument would the terms of a
liability not impact its classification. The 2022 Amendments
further clarify that, among covenants of a liability arising from
a loan arrangement, only those with which an entity must
comply on or before the reporting date affect the classification
of that liability as current or non-current. Additional disclosures
are required for non-current liabilities that are subject to the
entity complying with future covenants within 12 months after
the reporting period.

The Group has reassessed the terms and conditions of its
liabilities as at 1 January 2023 and 2024 and concluded that the
classification of its liabilities as current or non-current remained
unchanged upon initial application of the amendments.
Accordingly, the amendments did not have any impact on the
financial position or performance of the Group.

Amendments to HKAS 7 and HKFRS 7 clarify the characteristics
of supplier finance arrangements and require additional
disclosure of such arrangements. The disclosure requirements
in the amendments are intended to assist users of financial
statements in understanding the effects of supplier finance
arrangements on an entity’s liabilities, cash flows and exposure
to liquidity risk. As the Group does not have supplier finance
arrangements, the amendments did not have any impact on
the Group's financial statements.

22 EERERKE 225 ()
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2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG KONG
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FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS

The Group has not applied the following new and revised HKFRSs,
that have been issued but are not yet effective, in these financial
statements. The Group intends to apply these new and revised
HKFRSs, if applicable, when they become effective.

HKFRS 18
HKFRS 19
Amendments to HKFRS 9

and HKFRS 7

Amendments to HKFRS 9
and HKFRS 7

Amendments to HKFRS 10
and HKAS 28

Amendments to HKAS 21

Annual Improvements

to HKFRS Accounting
Standards — Volume 11

Presentation and Disclosure in Financial
Statements?

Subsidiaries without Public
Accountability: Disclosures®

Amendments to the Classification
and Measurement of Financial
Instruments?

Contracts Referencing Nature-
dependent Electricity?

Sale or Contribution of Assets between
an Investor and its Associate or Joint
Venture*

Lack of Exchangeability’

Amendments to HKFRS 1, HKFRS 7,
HKFRS 9, HKFRS 10 and HKAS 72

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2025

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2026

: Effective for annual/reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2027

4 No mandatory effective date yet determined but available for adoption

Further information about those HKFRSs that are expected to be

applicable to the Group is described below.

Computer And Technologies Holdings Limited
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FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(CONTINUED)

HKFRS 18 replaces HKAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements.
While a number of sections have been brought forward from HKAS
1 with limited changes, HKFRS 18 introduces new requirements
for presentation within the statement of profit or loss, including
specified totals and subtotals. Entities are required to classify all
income and expenses within the statement of profit or loss into
one of the five categories: operating, investing, financing, income
taxes and discontinued operations and to present two new defined
subtotals. It also requires disclosures about management-defined
performance measures in a single note and introduces enhanced
requirements on the grouping (aggregation and disaggregation)
and the location of information in both the primary financial
statements and the notes. Some requirements previously included
in HKAS 1 are moved to HKAS 8 Accounting Policies, Changes in
Accounting Estimates and Errors, which is renamed as HKAS 8 Basis
of Preparation of Financial Statements. As a consequence of the
issuance of HKFRS 18, limited, but widely applicable, amendments
are made to HKAS 7 Statement of Cash Flows, HKAS 33 Earnings per
Share and HKAS 34 Interim Financial Reporting. In addition, there
are minor consequential amendments to other HKFRSs. HKFRS 18
and the consequential amendments to other HKFRSs are effective
for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2027 with earlier
application permitted. Retrospective application is required. The
Group is currently analysing the new requirements and assessing the
impact of HKFRS 18 on the presentation and disclosure of the Group's
financial statements.
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2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG KONG 23 EEMEEKRERZEBYH

FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(CONTINUED)

HKFRS 19 allows eligible entities to elect to apply reduced disclosure
requirements while still applying the recognition, measurement and
presentation requirements in other HKFRSs. To be eligible, at the end
of the reporting period, an entity must be a subsidiary as defined in
HKFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements, cannot have public
accountability and must have a parent (ultimate or intermediate)
that prepares consolidated financial statements available for public
use which comply with HKFRSs. Earlier application is permitted. As
the Company is a listed company, it is not eligible to elect to apply
HKFRS 19. Some of the Company’s subsidiaries are considering the
application of HKFRS 19 in their specified financial statements.

Amendments to HKFRS 9 and HKFRS 7 clarify the date on which a
financial asset or financial liability is derecognised and introduce
an accounting policy option to derecognise a financial liability
that is settled through an electronic payment system before the
settlement date if specified criteria are met. The amendments
clarify how to assess the contractual cash flow characteristics of
financial assets with environmental, social and governance and
other similar contingent features. Moreover, the amendments clarify
the requirements for classifying financial assets with non-recourse
features and contractually linked instruments. The amendments also
include additional disclosures for investments in equity instruments
designated at fair value through other comprehensive income and
financial instruments with contingent features. The amendments shall
be applied retrospectively with an adjustment to opening retained
profits (or other component of equity) at the initial application date.
Prior periods are not required to be restated and can only be restated
without the use of hindsight. Earlier application of either all the
amendments at the same time or only the amendments related to
the classification of financial assets is permitted. The amendments are
not expected to have any significant impact on the Group’s financial
statements.

1 48 ANNUAL REPORT 2024 Computer And Technologies Holdings Limited
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FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(CONTINUED)

Amendments to HKFRS 9 and HKFRS 7 Contracts Referencing Nature-
dependent Electricity only apply to contracts that reference nature-
dependent electricity and clarify the application of the ‘own-use’
requirements for in-scope contracts. The amendments to HKFRS 9
will now allow an entity designating a contract referencing nature-
dependent electricity as the hedging instrument in a hedge of
forecast electricity transactions, to designate a variable nominal
amount of forecast electricity transactions as the hedged item. HKFRS
7 has been amended to require disclosures relating to contracts that
have been excluded from the scope of HKFRS 9 as a result of the
amendments. In such cases, an entity must disclose in a single note:

Information about the contractual features that expose the
entity to variability in an underlying amount of electricity and
the risk that the entity would be required to buy electricity
during a delivery interval where it cannot use it.

Information about unrecognised contractual commitments
arising from such contracts.

Quialitative and quantitative information about the effects
on the entity’s financial performance for the reporting period
interval where it cannot use it.

The HKFRS 7 disclosure amendments must be applied when the
HKFRS 9 amendments are applied. The clarifications regarding the
‘own use’requirements must be applied retrospectively without using
hindsight, but the guidance permits hedge accounting to be applied
prospectively to new hedging relationships designated on or after
the date of initial application. The amendments are not expected to
have any significant impact on the Group's financial statements.
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2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG KONG 23 EEMEEKRERZEBYH

FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(CONTINUED)

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 address an inconsistency
between the requirements in HKFRS 10 and in HKAS 28 in dealing
with the sale or contribution of assets between an investor and its
associate or joint venture. The amendments require a full recognition
of a gain or loss resulting from a downstream transaction when the
sale or contribution of assets constitutes a business. For a transaction
involving assets that do not constitute a business, a gain or loss
resulting from the transaction is recognised in the investor’s profit
or loss only to the extent of the unrelated investor’s interest in
that associate or joint venture. The amendments are to be applied
prospectively. The previous mandatory effective date of amendments
to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 was removed by the HKICPA. However, the
amendments are available for adoption now.

Amendments to HKAS 21 specify how an entity shall assess whether
a currency is exchangeable into another currency and how it
shall estimate a spot exchange rate at a measurement date when
exchangeability is lacking. The amendments require disclosures of
information that enable users of financial statements to understand
the impact of a currency not being exchangeable. Earlier application
is permitted. When applying the amendments, an entity cannot
restate comparative information. Any cumulative effect of initially
applying the amendments shall be recognised as an adjustment to
the opening balance of retained profits or to the cumulative amount
of translation differences accumulated in a separate component
of equity, where appropriate, at the date of initial application. The
amendments are not expected to have any significant impact on the
Group's financial statements.
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2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG KONG 23 EHEGERRER BRI
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS w2 R (&)
(CONTINUED)

BB R R 2 5 R 2 F R —
FNEHINBEMBREENE 15K &

Annual Improvements to HKFRS Accounting Standards — Volume 11
set out amendments to HKFRS 1, HKFRS 7 (and the accompanying
Guidance on implementing HKFRS 7), HKFRS 9, HKFRS 10 and HKAS 7. B IS E ERE 7 (REEM & & E
Details of the amendments that are expected to be applicable to the HB#HREERE7RAIES)) - BAEYH
Group are as follows: WEEAFEOR  BAPBHEREEAFE 10

FREBGHENE7R BFIAR) - % F

HKFRS 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures: The amendments
have updated certain wording in paragraph B38 of HKFRS
7 and paragraphs IG1, IG14 and IG20B of the Guidance on
implementing HKFRS 7 for the purpose of simplification or
achieving consistency with other paragraphs in the standard
and/or with the concepts and terminology used in other
standards. In addition, the amendments clarify that the
Guidance on implementing HKFRS 7 does not necessarily
illustrate all the requirements in the referenced paragraphs
of HKFRS 7 nor does it create additional requirements. Earlier
application is permitted. The amendments are not expected to
have any significant impact on the Group’s financial statements.

HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments: The amendments clarify
that when a lessee has determined that a lease liability has
been extinguished in accordance with HKFRS 9, the lessee is
required to apply paragraph 3.3.3 of HKFRS 9 and recognise
any resulting gain or loss in profit or loss. In addition, the
amendments have updated certain wording in paragraph 5.1.3
of HKFRS 9 and Appendix A of HKFRS 9 to remove potential
confusion. Earlier application is permitted. The amendments
are not expected to have any significant impact on the Group's
financial statements.

HKFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements: The amendments
clarify that the relationship described in paragraph B74 of
HKFRS 10 is just one example of various relationships that
might exist between the investor and other parties acting as de
facto agents of the investor, which removes the inconsistency
with the requirement in paragraph B73 of HKFRS 10. Earlier
application is permitted. The amendments are not expected to
have any significant impact on the Group’s financial statements.
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2.3
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ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(CONTINUED)

HKAS 7 Statement of Cash Flows: The amendments replace
the term “cost method” with “at cost” in paragraph 37 of
HKAS 7 following the prior deletion of the definition of “cost
method”. Earlier application is permitted. The amendments
are not expected to have any impact on the Group’s financial
statements.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Business combinations and goodwill
Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition

method. The consideration transferred is measured at the acquisition
date fair value which is the sum of the acquisition date fair values
of assets transferred by the Group, liabilities assumed by the Group
to the former owners of the acquiree and the equity interests
issued by the Group in exchange for control of the acquiree. For
each business combination, the Group elects whether to measure
the non-controlling interests in the acquiree at fair value or at the
proportionate share of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets. All other
components of non-controlling interests are measured at fair value.
Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred.

The Group determines that it has acquired a business when
the acquired set of activities and assets includes an input and a
substantive process that together significantly contribute to the
ability to create outputs.

When the Group acquires a business, it assesses the financial assets
and liabilities assumed for appropriate classification and designation
in accordance with the contractual terms, economic circumstances
and pertinent conditions as at the acquisition date. This includes the
separation of embedded derivatives in host contracts of the acquiree.

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the previously
held equity interest is remeasured at its acquisition date fair value
and any resulting gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss or other
comprehensive income, as appropriate.

Computer And Technologies Holdings Limited
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 24 EREFTBUER (&)

(CONTINUED)

Business combinations and goodwill (continued)
Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the acquirer

is recognised at fair value at the acquisition date. Contingent
consideration classified as an asset or liability is measured at fair value
with changes in fair value recognised in profit or loss. Contingent
consideration that is classified as equity is not remeasured and
subsequent settlement is accounted for within equity.

Goodwill is initially measured at cost, being the excess of the
aggregate of the consideration transferred, the amount recognised
for non-controlling interests and any fair value of the Group's
previously held equity interests in the acquiree over the identifiable
net assets acquired and liabilities assumed. If the sum of this
consideration and other items is lower than the fair value of the net
assets acquired, the difference is, after reassessment, recognised in
profit or loss as a gain on bargain purchase.

After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less any
accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill is tested for impairment
annually or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances
indicate that the carrying value may be impaired. The Group performs
its annual impairment test of goodwill as at 31 December. For the
purpose of impairment testing, goodwill acquired in a business
combination is, from the acquisition date, allocated to each of the
Group's cash-generating units, or groups of cash-generating units,
that are expected to benefit from the synergies of the combination,
irrespective of whether other assets or liabilities of the Group are
assigned to those units or groups of units.

Impairment is determined by assessing the recoverable amount of
the cash-generating unit (group of cash-generating units) to which
the goodwill relates. Where the recoverable amount of the cash-
generating unit (group of cash-generating units) is less than the
carrying amount, an impairment loss is recognised. An impairment
loss recognised for goodwill is not reversed in a subsequent period.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 24 EREFTBUER (&)

(CONTINUED)

Business combinations and goodwill (continued)
Where goodwill has been allocated to a cash-generating unit (or

group of cash-generating units) and part of the operation within
that unit is disposed of, the goodwill associated with the operation
disposed of is included in the carrying amount of the operation when
determining the gain or loss on the disposal. Goodwill disposed of in
these circumstances is measured based on the relative value of the
operation disposed of and the portion of the cash-generating unit
retained.

Goodwill previously eliminated against
consolidated reserves
Prior to the adoption of the HKICPA's Statement of Standard

Accounting Practice 30 Business Combinations ("SSAP 30") in 2001,
goodwill arising on acquisition was eliminated against consolidated
reserves in the year of acquisition. On the adoption of HKFRS 3, such
goodwill remains eliminated against consolidated reserves and is not
recognised in the statement of profit or loss when all or part of the
business to which the goodwill relates is disposed of or when a cash-
generating unit to which the goodwill relates becomes impaired.

Fair value measurement
The Group measures its investment properties, debt investment and

listed equity investments at fair value at the end of each reporting
period. Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset
or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market
participants at the measurement date. The fair value measurement
is based on the presumption that the transaction to sell the asset or
transfer the liability takes place either in the principal market for the
asset or liability, or in the absence of a principal market, in the most
advantageous market for the asset and liability. The principal or the
most advantageous market must be accessible by the Group. The
fair value of an asset or a liability is measured using the assumptions
that market participants would use when pricing the asset or liability,
assuming that market participants act in their economic best interest.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into account
a market participant’s ability to generate economic benefits by using
the asset in its highest and best use or by selling it to another market
participant that would use the asset in its highest and best use.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 24 EREFTBUER (&)

(CONTINUED)

Fair value measurement (continued)
The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in the

circumstances and for which sufficient data are available to measure
fair value, maximising the use of relevant observable inputs and
minimising the use of unobservable inputs.

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or disclosed
in the financial statements are categorised within the fair value
hierarchy, described as follows, based on the lowest level input that is
significant to the fair value measurement as a whole:

Level 1 - based on quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for
identical assets or liabilities

Level 2 - based on valuation techniques for which the lowest level
input that is significant to the fair value measurement is
observable, either directly or indirectly

Level 3 - based on valuation techniques for which the lowest level
input that is significant to the fair value measurement is
unobservable

For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the financial
statements on a recurring basis, the Group determines whether
transfers have occurred between levels in the hierarchy by reassessing
categorisation (based on the lowest level input that is significant to
the fair value measurement as a whole) at the end of each reporting
period.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 24 EREFTBUER (&)

(CONTINUED)

Impairment of non-financial assets
Where an indication of impairment exists, or when annual impairment

testing for an asset is required (other than inventories, contract
assets, deferred tax assets, financial assets and investment properties),
the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated. An asset’s recoverable
amount is the higher of the asset’s or cash-generating unit’s value
in use and its fair value less costs of disposal, and is determined for
an individual asset, unless the asset does not generate cash inflows
that are largely independent of those from other assets or groups of
assets, in which case the recoverable amount is determined for the
cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs. In testing a cash-
generating unit for impairment, a portion of the carrying amount of a
corporate asset is allocated to an individual cash-generating unit if it
can be allocated on a reasonable and consistent basis or, otherwise,
to the smallest group of cash-generating units.

An impairment loss is recognised only if the carrying amount of an
asset exceeds its recoverable amount. In assessing value in use, the
estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value
using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments
of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset. An
impairment loss is charged to the statement of profit or loss in the
period in which it arises in those expense categories consistent with
the function of the impaired asset.

An assessment is made at the end of each reporting period as
to whether there is an indication that previously recognised
impairment losses may no longer exist or may have decreased.
If such an indication exists, the recoverable amount is estimated.
A previously recognised impairment loss of an asset other than
goodwill is reversed only if there has been a change in the estimates
used to determine the recoverable amount of that asset, but not
to an amount higher than the carrying amount that would have
been determined (net of any depreciation/amortisation) had no
impairment loss been recognised for the asset in prior years. A
reversal of such an impairment loss is credited to the statement of
profit or loss in the period in which it arises.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2.4 EXEFTBUR (&)
(CONTINUED)
Related parties EAL -
A party is considered to be related to the Group if: ETIERT  BEALTBHERALRSE
ZREANT
(@  the party is a person or a close member of that person’s family @ MBI TAL BlZALTZAL

and that person RN E B E

() has control or joint control over the Group; ()  FEHIsEHE I AEE

(i) has significant influence over the Group; or iy HAREBBEAFE: 5K

(i) is a member of the key management personnel of the (il BRAREXAEEFAGZE
Group or of a parent of the Group; EEREKE

or B4
(b)  the party is an entity where any of the following conditions () MRS TIERGEYS  BIEEEAR
applies: SEE#HE

()  the entity and the Group are members of the same () ZEBEASEBR—SBE2
group; MERF]

(i) one entity is an associate or joint venture of the other iy —HEBAS—EBEZIHZER
entity (or of a parent, subsidiary or fellow subsidiary of Al aErE (KRS &R
the other entity); ZRE - HE AR SRR

BAa):

(i) the entity and the Group are joint ventures of the same (i) ZRERBEAXNEERHAER —F=
third party; FREgbE:

(iv)  one entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the vy —HERBAF-_FHEREZEE
other entity is an associate of the third entity; TtE ME—EBAZE-F

BB BE QR

(V) the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the v EBAASENEARNEEEAH
benefit of employees of either the Group or an entity HrEBMEENSR L 25
related to the Group; Bz R EHE

(vi)  the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person vi) EEBXQ@FFHEATERLRZ
identified in (a); KA %U ;

(vii) a person identified in (a)(i) has significant influence Vi) RE@OFTEMNATHERBEE
over the entity or is a member of the key management AEBNNBZER (KZKE
personnel of the entity (or of a parent of the entity); and BENANR)FTEEHEEKE

54

(viii)  the entity, or any member of a group of which it is a part, Vi) BB —HEEEZEMKER
provides key management personnel services to the Al (BEEz —ED) MAEE
Group or to the parent of the Group. SAREEZERARRBEETEE

BABRT -
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 24 EREFTBUER (&)

(CONTINUED)

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation
Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated

depreciation and any impairment losses. The cost of an item of
property, plant and equipment comprises its purchase price and
any directly attributable costs of bringing the asset to its working
condition and location for its intended use.

Expenditure incurred after items of property, plant and equipment
have been put into operation, such as repairs and maintenance, is
normally charged to the statement of profit or loss in the period in
which it is incurred. In situations where the recognition criteria are
satisfied, the expenditure for a major inspection is capitalised in the
carrying amount of the asset as a replacement. Where significant
parts of property, plant and equipment are required to be replaced
at intervals, the Group recognises such parts as individual assets with
specific useful lives and depreciates them accordingly.

Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis to write off the
cost of each item of property, plant and equipment to its residual
value over its estimated useful life. The principal annual rates used for
this purpose are as follows:

Leasehold improvements Over the shorter of the lease terms and
20%
Computer equipmentand  20% to 33%%

software

Furniture, fixtures and other  18% to 25%
equipment

Motor vehicles 20%

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have
different useful lives, the cost of that item is allocated on a reasonable
basis among the parts and each part is depreciated separately.
Residual values, useful lives and the depreciation method are
reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at least at each financial year
end.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 24 EREFTBUER (&)

(CONTINUED)

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation

(continued)
An item of property, plant and equipment including any significant

part initially recognised is derecognised upon disposal or when no
future economic benefits are expected from its use or disposal. Any
gain or loss on disposal or retirement recognised in the statement
of profit or loss in the year the asset is derecognised is the difference
between the net sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the
relevant asset.

Investment properties
Investment properties are interests in land and buildings (including

right-of-use assets) held to earn rental income and/or for capital
appreciation. Such properties are measured initially at cost, including
transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition, investment
properties are stated at fair value, which reflects market conditions at
the end of the reporting period.

Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair values of investment
properties are included in the statement of profit or loss in the year in
which they arise.

Any gains or losses on the retirement or disposal of an investment
property are recognised in the statement of profit or loss in the year
of the retirement or disposal.

Intangible assets (other than goodwill)
Intangible assets acquired separately are measured on initial

recognition at cost. The cost of intangible assets acquired in a
business combination is the fair value as at the date of acquisition.
The useful lives of intangible assets are assessed to be either finite
or indefinite. Intangible assets with finite lives are subsequently
amortised over the useful economic life and assessed for impairment
whenever there is an indication that the intangible asset may be
impaired. The amortisation period and the amortisation method for
an intangible asset with a finite useful life are reviewed at least at
each financial year end.

ME BERREBERTE (&)

ROFHERZME BEREFERE (8
REFREARD) REHEXEHRISEB
EAHEEGARREEN R4 LR
REUILERZAEEFEERRRER
HERMEMEEEMKENERE - THiH
EMSRAFREEHEERTEMEH
ZERE e

BREM=E
REMEDHERDESRAR,RAE

BAREZ LM REF 2D (BHEER
BEE) REWNENTERAE B
BRGRA - R FERE  REVMER
RNFEHE  URRBERAETEER 2T
ISR ©

BREMELFEESAELRAEXEER
HELFEFABRGRRE -

HEHEREME 2 TARERERE
W HEFENBRRRER

BREE (BERM)

18 I U B 2 S T2 B B I 4] 2 B AR B R A AR
AR EBAMFTRBETLEE ZKA
DEREBRAMZATE BREEZA
ERFRLHERBRIER - ABRF
Mz B EERLRIZAERQEF RN -
WL E B E IR A R BT REFE
B AARAERFM B EECH
HEMEBENZAEINEMBEFESF
EEEmET -

Mg RsEEaRAT —Z-maa5159
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Intangible assets (other than goodwill) (continued)

Customer relationships

Purchased customer relationships are stated at cost less any
impairment losses and are amortised on the straight-line basis over

their estimated useful lives of 8 to 10 years.

Software

Purchased software is stated at cost less any impairment losses and is
amortised on the straight-line basis over its estimated useful lives of 5

to 10 years.

Research and development costs

All research costs are charged to the statement of profit or loss as

incurred.

Expenditure incurred on projects to develop new products is
capitalised and deferred only when the Group can demonstrate the
technical feasibility of completing the intangible asset so that it will
be available for use or sale, its intention to complete and its ability
to use or sell the asset, how the asset will generate future economic
benefits, the availability of resources to complete the project and the
ability to measure reliably the expenditure during the development.
Product development expenditure which does not meet these

criteria is expensed when incurred.

Deferred development costs are stated at cost less any impairment
losses and are amortised using the straight-line basis over the
commercial lives of the underlying products/services not exceeding
five years, commencing from the date when the intangible assets are

available for use.

Leases

The Group assesses at contract inception whether a contract is, or
contains, a lease. A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract
conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset for a period

of time in exchange for consideration.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
B35 $R 2R B (AR)

31 DECEMBER 2024 — = —F+_-A=+—H

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Leases (continued)
Group as a lessee

The Group applies a single recognition and measurement approach

for all leases, except for short-term leases. The Group recognises lease

liabilities to make lease payments and right-of-use assets representing

the right to use the underlying assets.

(a)

)

Right-of-use assets

Right-of-use assets are recognised at the commencement date
of the lease (that is the date the underlying asset is available for
use). Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less accumulated
depreciation and any impairment losses, and adjusted for any
remeasurement of lease liabilities. The cost of right-of-use
assets includes the amount of lease liabilities recognised, initial
direct costs incurred, and lease payments made at or before
the commencement date less any lease incentives received.
Where applicable, the cost of a right-of-use asset also includes
an estimate of costs to dismantle and remove the underlying
asset or to restore the underlying asset or the site on which it
is located. Right-of-use assets are depreciated on a straight-line
basis over the lease terms.

Lease liabilities

Lease liabilities are recognised at the commencement date
of the lease at the present value of lease payments to be
made over the lease term. The lease payments include fixed
payments (including in-substance fixed payments) less any
lease incentives receivable, variable lease payments that
depend on an index or a rate, and amounts expected to be
paid under residual value guarantees. The lease payments also
include the exercise price of a purchase option reasonably
certain to be exercised by the Group and payments of penalties
for termination of a lease, if the lease term reflects the Group
exercising the option to terminate the lease. The variable
lease payments that do not depend on an index or a rate are
recognised as an expense in the period in which the event or
condition that triggers the payment occurs.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
B35 R 2R B (AR

31 DECEMBER 2024 —Z — U4 +=-H=+—H

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Leases (continued)
Group as a lessee (continued)

(b)

(©

162 ANNUAL REPORT 2024

Lease liabilities (continued)

In calculating the present value of lease payments, the
Group uses its incremental borrowing rate at the lease
commencement date because the interest rate implicit in the
lease is not readily determinable. After the commencement
date, the amount of lease liabilities is increased to reflect the
accretion of interest and reduced for the lease payments
made. In addition, the carrying amount of lease liabilities is
remeasured if there is a modification, a change in the lease
term, a change in lease payments (e.g., a change to future lease
payments resulting from a change in an index or rate) or a
change in assessment of an option to purchase the underlying
asset.

The Group’s lease liabilities are presented separately in the
statement of financial position.

Short-term leases

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition exemption
to its short-term leases of offices and car parking space (that
is those leases that have a lease term of 12 months or less
from the commencement date and do not contain a purchase
option). Lease payments on short-term leases are recognised
as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

Computer And Technologies Holdings Limited
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
B35 $R 2R B (AR)

31 DECEMBER 2024 — = —F+_-A=+—H

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 24 EREFTBUER (&)

(CONTINUED)

Leases (continued)
Group as a lessor

When the Group acts as a lessor, it classifies at lease inception (or
when there is a lease modification) each of its leases as either an
operating lease or a finance lease.

Leases in which the Group does not transfer substantially all the
risks and rewards incidental to ownership of an asset are classified
as operating leases. When a contract contains lease and non-lease
components, the Group allocates the consideration in the contract to
each component on a relative stand-alone selling price basis. Rental
income is accounted for on a straight-line basis over the lease term
and is included in revenue in the statement of profit or loss due to
its operating nature. Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating and
arranging an operating lease are added to the carrying amount of the
leased asset and recognised over the lease term on the same basis
as rental income. Contingent rents are recognised as revenue in the
period in which they are earned.

Leases that transfer substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to
ownership of an underlying assets to the lessee are accounted for as
finance leases.

Investments and other financial assets
Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets of the Group are classified, at initial recognition, as
subsequently measured at amortised cost, and fair value through
profit or loss.

The classification of financial assets at initial recognition depends
on the financial asset’s contractual cash flow characteristics and the
Group's business model for managing them. With the exception
of trade receivables that do not contain a significant financing
component or for which the Group has applied the practical
expedient of not adjusting the effect of a significant financing
component, the Group initially measures a financial asset at its fair
value plus in the case of a financial asset not at fair value through
profit or loss, transaction costs. Trade receivables that do not contain
a significant financing component or for which the Group has
applied the practical expedient are measured at the transaction price
determined under HKFRS 15 in accordance with the policies set out
for "Revenue recognition” below.

HE (&)

A EMIER LA
HAEEALHAAR - AREREEH
R (REARE ST B L5 ARE
SEAMEHERRATRSE -

AR SEY REBREERFEAMEH
BARE D RRLEAKNEERELSEEHE
g -BENBEHENFEEENIOR -
AEBRBHBYEELSNTHRED
T &AEKED - B2 WAREHRNRE
BOEDIBRY At ABERNKRAR - REAR
HEaME RNEBLTHRERERE
AR EERKRAT G ABEEENERR
B AREHAZBER T EER SHES
A HARE IR AR AR A ER R
YA

HEEEEB NS D E KB RS
BEABANHEFESREHEEAK -

RERHMUBEE
NSmARGTE

AEBPBEEN SR DOE/ER
BB HEKATERRATFELER ARY
MBEE -

RN EHERE - BB EED BEURRK M
BENGHRERERH M AREEEX
SUHEENEHEN - RABBAME
RO SAKE D EAAITRE AL &R
EEABEXRDZENREKE SRR
AREBZAFEME (8 # 15 & E W IR
RFELBEAR) RFRAFTERBE
EoWHBEBAMERDHXAKECEMA
TTHETNENRKE 5 R FRE T X
AR IENOBRIZ T B H RS EL
FISHABENR ZERE -

MgRsEEERAT 2 —2-omes5163



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
B35 R 2R B (AR
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Investments and other financial assets (continued)

Initial recognition and measurement (continued)

In order for a financial asset to be classified and measured at
amortised cost, it needs to give rise to cash flows that are solely
payments of principal and interest (“SPPI") on the principal amount
outstanding. Financial assets with cash flows that are not SPPI
are classified and measured at fair value through profit or loss,

irrespective of the business model.

The Group’s business model for managing financial assets refers to
how it manages its financial assets in order to generate cash flows.
The business model determines whether cash flows will result from
collecting contractual cash flows, selling the financial assets, or both.
Financial assets classified and measured at amortised cost are held
within a business model with the objective to hold financial assets in
order to collect contractual cash flows, while financial assets classified
and measured at fair value through other comprehensive income are
held within a business model with the objective of both holding to
collect contractual cash flows and selling. Financial assets which are
not held within the aforementioned business models are classified

and measured at fair value through profit or loss.

Purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery of assets
within the period generally established by regulation or convention
in the marketplace are recognised on the trade date, that is, the date

that the Group commits to purchase or sell the asset.

Subsequent measurement

The subsequent measurement of financial assets depends on their

classification as follows:

Financial assets at amortised cost (debt instruments)

Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently measured using
the effective interest method and are subject to impairment. Gains
and losses are recognised in the statement of profit or loss when the

asset is derecognised, modified or impaired.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are carried in the
statement of financial position at fair value with net changes in fair

value recognised in the statement of profit or loss.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
B35 $R 2R B (AR)

31 DECEMBER 2024 —Z — Y4 +—-HA=+—H

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2.4 EXEFTBUR (&)
(CONTINUED)
Investments and other financial assets (continued) RERHMEM K EE ()
Subsequent measurement (Continued) H#THE ()
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (Continued) R FEEE AR EE (&)
This category includes equity investments which the Group had 1L 28 BI85 7N & [ 37 4 1 7] 4 [ b iR 42 4R
not irrevocably elected to classify at fair value through other AFEFAEMEABAD B ZRAIGE -
comprehensive income. Dividends on the equity investments are also ENRENEEY BREAREHREITR
recognised as other income in the statement of profit or loss when BEakRERABEMIA -

the right of payment has been established.

Derecognition of financial assets RIEANKEE
A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial asset or ﬁﬁ%ﬁ% (hwniE A - g EEHP — B
part of a group of similar financial assets) is primarily derecognised DR —HBEUZMBEEREY —#H) E
(i.e., removed from the Group’'s consolidated statement of financial EETINERTHRIEBR (AR AEEZ
position) when: e BRRRPMBR)
the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired; or . BZEERMR RS 2ENEE
Wk
the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from . AEECEERIREZEERS
the asset or has assumed an obligation to pay the received MEZRER  SHEREHR] 28
cash flows in full without material delay to a third party under MAEEACEWESERERBERLT
a “pass-through” arrangement; and either (a) the Group has ME=ZAE2EEINBEHNRERE
transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, or Eop=g ==k & IREBCOEEZEE
(b) the Group has neither transferred nor retained substantially BRE DR REH - kb AE
all the risks and rewards of the asset, but has transferred control R i% BREEZB RIS
of the asset. Bz RElw - EEEEZEE 2
il 4
When the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows WMEAEBECHELAQEAEKDRERE
from an asset or has entered into a pass-through arrangement, it NS EEI N ERLH - A ERS
evaluates if, and to what extent, it has retained the risk and rewards of ERE LREEERERE AR &@#ﬁ
ownership of the asset. When it has neither transferred nor retained EHEAEENNMRBEEZRBRID
substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset nor transferred KOl - AR A E E\'Jﬁg
control of the asset, the Group continues to recognise the transferred Bl HEESEZEEEE 2 I2EHRZ
asset to the extent of the Group's continuing involvement. In that BE -RZIBAT  NEE TR
case, the Group also recognises an associated liability. The transferred BE-CEREAENMABEEBENDARBRAK
asset and the associated liability are measured on a basis that reflects " @ﬁﬁﬁ% BT MNEERELERE °

the rights and obligations that the Group has retained.

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee over the i%%, ERSERDEREEEEL 2R
transferred asset is measured at the lower of the original carrying CEEREEDUZBEELRERE
amount of the asset and the maximum amount of consideration that ?@ZF%E B i BEE 2 RESEE LR 2R
the Group could be required to repay. KEE -

R RS EEERA —=—ms45H 165



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
B35 R 2R B (AR

31 DECEMBER 2024 — = —_F&+_A=+—H

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 24 EREFTBUER (&)

(CONTINUED)

Impairment of financial assets
The Group recognises an allowance for expected credit losses ("ECLs")

for all debt instruments not held at fair value through profit or loss.
ECLs are based on the difference between the contractual cash
flows due in accordance with the contract and all the cash flows
that the Group expects to receive, discounted at an approximation
of the original effective interest rate. The expected cash flows will
include cash flows from the sale of collateral held or other credit
enhancements that are integral to the contractual terms.

General approach

ECLs are recognised in two stages. For credit exposures for which
there has not been a significant increase in credit risk since initial
recognition, ECLs are provided for credit losses that result from
default events that are possible within the next 12 months (a
12-month ECL). For those credit exposures for which there has been
a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition, a loss
allowance is required for credit losses expected over the remaining
life of the exposure, irrespective of the timing of the default (a lifetime
ECL).

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether the credit risk
on a financial instrument has increased significantly since initial
recognition. When making the assessment, the Group compares
the risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument as at the
reporting date with the risk of a default occurring on the financial
instrument as at the date of initial recognition and considers
reasonable and supportable information that is available without
undue cost or effort, including historical and forward-looking
information.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
B35 $R 2R B (AR)

31 DECEMBER 2024 — = —F+_-A=+—H

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(CONTINUED)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)
General approach (continued)

The Group considers a financial asset in default when contractual
payments are 90 days past due. However, in certain cases, the Group
may also consider a financial asset to be in default when internal or
external information indicates that the Group is unlikely to receive the
outstanding contractual amounts in full before taking into account
any credit enhancements held by the Group. A financial asset is
written off when there is no reasonable expectation of recovering the
contractual cash flows.

Financial assets at amortised cost are subject to impairment under
the general approach and they are classified within the following
stages for measurement of ECLs except for trade receivables and
contract assets which apply the simplified approach as detailed
below.

Stage 1 — Financial instruments for which credit risk has not
increased significantly since initial recognition and for
which the loss allowance is measured at an amount
equal to 12-month ECLs

Stage 2 - Financial instruments for which credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition but that are not
credit-impaired financial assets and for which the loss
allowance is measured at an amount equal to lifetime
ECLs

Stage3 - Financial assets that are credit-impaired at the reporting
date (but that are not purchased or originated credit-
impaired) and for which the loss allowance is measured
at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
B35 R 2R B (AR
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 24 EREFTBUER (&)

(CONTINUED)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

Simplified approach

For trade receivables and contract assets that do not contain a
significant financing component or when the Group applies the
practical expedient of not adjusting the effect of a significant
financing component, the Group applies the simplified approach
in calculating ECLs. Under the simplified approach, the Group
does not track changes in credit risk, but instead recognises a loss
allowance based on lifetime ECLs at each reporting date. The Group
has established a provision matrix that is based on its historical credit
loss experience, adjusted for forward-looking factors specific to the
debtors and the economic environment.

Financial liabilities
Initial recognition and measurement

Financial liabilities of the Group are classified, at initial recognition, as
loans and borrowings, or payables, as appropriate.

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value and net of
directly attributable transaction costs.

Subsequent measurement
The subsequent measurement of financial liabilities depends on their
classification as follows:
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
B35 $R 2R B (AR)
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 24 EREFTBUER (&)

(CONTINUED)

Financial liabilities (continued)
Subsequent measurement (continued)

Financial liabilities at amortised cost (trade and other payables, and
borrowings)

After initial recognition, trade and other payables, and interest-
bearing borrowings are subsequently measured at amortised
cost, using the effective interest rate method unless the effect of
discounting would be immaterial, in which case they are stated at
cost. Gains and losses are recognised in the statement of profit or loss
when the liabilities are derecognised as well as through the effective
interest rate amortisation process.

Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any discount or
premium on acquisition and fees or costs that are an integral part of
the effective interest rate. The effective interest rate amortisation is
included in the statement of profit or loss.

Financial guarantee contracts

Financial guarantee contracts issued by the Group are those contracts
that require a payment to be made to reimburse the holder for a
loss it incurs because the specified debtor fails to make a payment
when due in accordance with the terms of a debt instrument. A
financial guarantee contract is recognised initially as a liability at its
fair value, adjusted for transaction costs that are directly attributable
to the issuance of the guarantee. Subsequent to initial recognition,
the Group measures the financial guarantee contracts at the higher
of: (i) the ECL allowance determined in accordance with the policy as
set out in “Impairment of financial assets”; and (i) the amount initially
recognised less, when appropriate, the cumulative amount of income
recognised.

Derecognition of financial liabilities
A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the

liability is discharged or cancelled, or expires.

When an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the
same lender on substantially different terms, or the terms of an
existing liability are substantially modified, such an exchange or
modification is treated as a derecognition of the original liability
and a recognition of a new liability, and the difference between the
respective carrying amounts is recognised in the statement of profit
orloss.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 24 EREFTBUER (&)

(CONTINUED)

Offsetting of financial instruments
Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount

is reported in the statement of financial position if there is a currently
enforceable legal right to offset the recognised amounts and there is
an intention to settle on a net basis, or to realise the assets and settle
the liabilities simultaneously.

Treasury shares
Own equity instruments which are reacquired and held by the

Company or the Group (treasury shares) are recognised directly in
equity at cost. No gain or loss is recognised in the statement of profit
or loss on the purchase, sale, issue or cancellation of the Group’s own
equity instruments.

Shares held under the restricted share award

scheme
Where shares of the Company are purchased from the market for a

restricted share award scheme, the consideration paid, including any
directly attributable incremental costs, is presented as “Shares held
under the restricted share award scheme”and deducted from equity.

Inventories
Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value.

Cost is determined on the weighted average basis and, in the case
of finished goods and work in progress, comprises direct materials,
direct labour and an appropriate proportion of overheads. Net
realisable value is based on estimated selling prices less any estimated
costs to be incurred to completion and disposal.

Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents in the statement of financial position

comprise cash on hand and at banks, and short-term highly liquid
deposits with a maturity of generally within three months that
are readily convertible into known amounts of cash, subject to an
insignificant risk of changes in value and held for the purpose of
meeting short-term cash commitments.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash
and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and at banks, and
short-term deposits as defined above, less bank overdrafts which are
repayable on demand and form an integral part of the Group’s cash
management.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
B35 $R 2R B (AR)

31 DECEMBER 2024 — = —F+_-A=+—H

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 24 EREFTBUER (&)

(CONTINUED)

Provisions
A provision is recognised when a present obligation (legal or

constructive) has arisen as a result of a past event and it is probable
that a future outflow of resources will be required to settle the
obligation, provided that a reliable estimate can be made of the
amount of the obligation.

When the effect of discounting is material, the amount recognised
for a provision is the present value at the end of the reporting period
of the future expenditures expected to be required to settle the
obligation. The increase in the discounted present value amount
arising from the passage of time is included in finance costs in the
statement of profit or loss.

Income tax
Income tax comprises current and deferred tax. Income tax relating

to items recognised outside profit or loss is recognised outside profit
or loss, either in other comprehensive income or directly in equity.

Current tax assets and liabilities are measured at the amount expected
to be recovered from or paid to the taxation authorities, based on
tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively
enacted by the end of the reporting period, taking into consideration
interpretations and practices prevailing in the countries/jurisdictions
in which the Group operates.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
B35 R 2R B (AR
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 24 EREFTBUER (&)

(CONTINUED)

Income tax (continued) Fri&w ()
Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method, on all temporary R BRBENTME - RS HHEEER

differences at the end of the reporting period between the tax LEERBBECHEREREAERMEE
bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts for financial RMEE  AREEE RRERIARE -
reporting purposes.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary @TL‘%M\ CFTBRERRE R E RGO
differences, except: RAEBRLERIBEE :

ﬁﬁﬁlﬁﬁﬁ?ﬂiﬁ?ﬁ%—lﬁx%
(WEEBKEH  BRNETRIEH

when the deferred tax liability arises from the initial recognition
of goodwill or an asset or liability in a transaction that is not

a business combination and, at the time of the transaction,
affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or
loss and does not give rise to equal taxable and deductible
temporary differences; and

in respect of taxable temporary differences associated with
investments in subsidiaries, when the timing of the reversal
of the temporary differences can be controlled and it is
probable that the temporary differences will not reverse in the
foreseeable future.
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TRMER) TS REES—HEE
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ERUEER M E ARERT
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M -

R ARETRIBEETI A R RTS8
kR 2 B MEER - FAR R AR AR R
ERARBREEE -BRTEN  MBERE
ATRE IR ERBUE A - AT BIEHR R E A
MRERMEER  AFRARERL KK
RREEE  HEAS/EERREE

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary
differences, and the carryforward of unused tax credits and any
unused tax losses. Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent
that it is probable that taxable profit will be available against which
the deductible temporary differences, and the carryforward of unused
tax credits and unused tax losses can be utilised, except:

when the deferred tax asset relating to the deductible
temporary differences arises from the initial recognition of
an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business
combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects neither
the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss and does not
give rise to equal taxable and deductible temporary differences;
and

in respect of deductible temporary differences associated
with investments in subsidiaries, deferred tax assets are only
recognised to the extent that it is probable that the temporary
differences will reverse in the foreseeable future and taxable
profit will be available against which the temporary differences
can be utilised.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
B35 $R 2R B (AR)

31 DECEMBER 2024 — = —F+_-A=+—H

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2.4 EXEFTBUR (&)
(CONTINUED)
Income tax (continued) Fri8 % (&)
The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of FERIBEE 2 REERSERE BREE
each reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is no longer HATUEN W BAEE THER
probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or NI EAERIEESKBIELEHRIEE
part of the deferred tax asset to be utilised. Unrecognised deferred ERBPEEHIBEERMTE - NAJ
tax assets are reassessed at the end of each reporting period and are B R HIPE R F A] A /E U B 2 B 3k &R
recognised to the extent that it has become probable that sufficient DIRERIEEER - AR SREERE RS
taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of the deferred tax HREHEMNABRCELERIBEE I
asset to be recovered. INCATERR ©
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that BERBEERBEDBRENRE RS
are expected to apply to the period when the asset is realised or the SHEBEMKELER/MG 2 E (RBUE) -
liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been RERSREHEEESEERBAEEDNRA
enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period. HRAZHERTE -
Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset if and only if BEEBBEERELEHIAEBEEHEER
the Group has a legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets SEECEARFIBITEIAGRETIEE
and current tax liabilities and the deferred tax assets and deferred tax EETETIE A EHHRIEERIEE & A
liabilities relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation authority RIERIBBE RN R — TR R —
on either the same taxable entity or different taxable entities which JERME BB A BN & B AR KM (M 78
intend either to settle current tax liabilities and assets on a net basis, BATE B R BRI M G 4508 S Bl KRB YR AT
or to realise the assets and settle the liabilities simultaneously, in each MIBBEREE) WFEEELEF RSB
future period in which significant amounts of deferred tax liabilities or BERHEEIRREREERGLEFAEE
assets are expected to be settled or recovered. W EERT BRI ERE - 75
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
B35 R 2R B (AR
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2.4 EXEFTBUR (&)
(CONTINUED)
Revenue recognition WARER
Revenue from contracts with customers REEFAHHKA
Revenue from contracts with customers is recognised when control REBEPEHNBARE &R R 2|
of goods or services is transferred to the customers at an amount that @}%’?E TEFPRER MASERBRAEEH
reflects the consideration to which the Group expects to be entitled TEH AR RZEE MR EEESE
in exchange for those goods or services. HRAE o
When the consideration in a contract includes a variable amount, MEHNREBRSAEESE  MERBEARSE
the amount of consideration is estimated to which the Group will .)5/\(‘1%2)5@;*“ B RIS - DURELE
be entitled in exchange for transferring the goods or services to ERESHRESB|ETMHT - TERE
the customer. The variable consideration is estimated at contract TR & ARBRER BT RIAR - B
inception and constrained until it is highly probable that a significant FHAEREMRBTHBAEEEEFN
revenue reversal in the amount of cumulative revenue recognised R BHERERFTRERAIEITSELESES
will not occur when the associated uncertainty with the variable A RBEE I -

consideration is subsequently resolved.

Revenue from the sale of goods and provision of software, and GETS HEEREREEHERBNEFE HRE
services is recognised at the point in time when control of the asset AR EEZESEE TR PR ER (B
is transferred to the customer, generally on delivery of the goods and EARXNERERGE) ER -

services.

Revenue from provision of software implementation and related RERHESEEERBERY - REME
services, and IT solutions implementation and related services is RERAARE B MEERE 2 AR —F
recognised over time, using an input method to measure progress KEAFERBAEZTEEETKBITRE
towards complete satisfaction of the service, because the Group’s EEMER BANEEEN AN
performance creates or enhances an asset that the customer controls BEPFHEEAENIMNEEEMIEHNEE -
as the asset is created or enhanced, or the customers simultaneously IR FRERKEEASERHENFIE -
received and consumes the benefits provided by the Group. The WMAZERAEERBITRAOBREM#ET
input method recognises revenue on the basis of the Group's efforts B TIESRIEHMIR AR BRI B TR B4
or inputs to the satisfaction of a performance obligation relative to %T‘Eﬁﬁflﬁﬂj AR - PR EE EER
the total expected inputs to the satisfaction of that performance R PK 7N MR TE AR AR 75 1 BT 4B AR A Y B 1
obligation, for example, based on the proportion of the actual costs ﬁEa«mHﬂU\ °

incurred relative to the estimated total costs to complete satisfaction
of the services.

Revenue from the provision of SaaS product offering and TR B BN AR 75 O 1 B % 4 7 AR 755 O LK
maintenance services is recognised over the contract/service period ARBEEAH/IRENRESEERER
on a straight-line basis because the customer simultaneously receives JR A 7% % P [F] 5 B K B FE AN SR B 42 (it &Y
and consumes the benefits provided by the Group. HMas o

Revenue from other sources REEMBFEHUWA

Rental income is recognised on a time proportion basis over the lease 8 & W A PN FH BE 0 F R R B B R RR o
terms.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 24 EREFTBUER (&)

(CONTINUED)

Revenue recognition (continued)
Other income

Interest income is recognised on an accrual basis using the effective
interest method by applying the rate that exactly discounts the
estimated future cash receipts over the expected life of the financial
instrument or a shorter period, when appropriate, to the net carrying
amount of the financial asset.

Dividend income is recognised when the shareholders’ right to
receive payment has been established, it is probable that the
economic benefits associated with the dividend will flow to the
Group and the amount of the dividend can be measured reliably.

Contract assets
If the Group performs by transferring goods or services to a customer

before being unconditionally entitled to the consideration under
the contract terms, a contract asset is recognised for the earned
consideration that is conditional. Contract assets are subject to
impairment assessment, details of which are included in the
accounting policies for impairment of financial assets. They are
reclassified to trade receivables when the rights to the consideration
becomes unconditional.

Contract liabilities
A contract liability is recognised when a payment is received or a

payment is due (whichever is earlier) from a customer before the
Group transfers the related goods or services. Contract liabilities
are recognised as revenue when the Group performs under the
contract (i.e, transfers control of the related goods or services to the
customer).
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 24 EREFTBUER (&)

(CONTINUED)

Contract costs
Other than the costs which are capitalised as inventories, property,

plant and equipment and intangible assets, costs incurred to fulfil
a contract with a customer are capitalised as an asset if all of the
following criteria are met:

(@)  The costs relate directly to a contract or to an anticipated
contract that the entity can specifically identify.

(b)  The costs generate or enhance resources of the entity that will
be used in satisfying (or in continuing to satisfy) performance
obligations in the future.

(c)  The costs are expected to be recovered.

The capitalised contract costs are amortised and charged to the
statement of profit or loss on a systematic basis that is consistent with
the transfer to the customer of the goods or services to which the
asset relates. Other contract costs are expensed as incurred.

Share-based payments
The Company operates a restricted share award scheme. Employees

of the Group (including directors of the entities comprising the
Group) receive remuneration in the form of share-based payments,
whereby employees render services in exchange for equity
instruments (“equity-settled transactions”).

The cost of equity-settled transactions with employees is measured
by reference to the fair value at the date at which they are granted.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 24 EREFTBUER (&)

(CONTINUED)

Share-based payments (continued)
The cost of equity-settled transactions is recognised in employee

benefit expense, together with a corresponding increase in equity,
over the period in which the performance and/or service conditions
are fulfilled. The cumulative expense recognised for equity-settled
transactions at the end of each reporting period until the vesting
date reflects the extent to which the vesting period has expired and
the Group’s best estimate of the number of equity instruments that
will ultimately vest. The charge or credit to the statement of profit or
loss for a period represents the movement in the cumulative expense
recognised as at the beginning and end of that period.

Service and non-market performance conditions are not taken into
account when determining the grant date fair value of awards, but
the likelihood of the conditions being met is assessed as part of the
Group's best estimate of the number of equity instruments that will
ultimately vest. Market performance conditions are reflected within
the grant date fair value. Any other conditions attached to an award,
but without an associated service requirement, are considered to
be non-vesting conditions. Non-vesting conditions are reflected in
the fair value of an award and lead to an immediate expensing of an
award unless there are also service and/or performance conditions.

For awards that do not ultimately vest because non-market
performance and/or service conditions have not been met, no
expense is recognised.

Where the terms of an equity-settled award are modified, as a
minimum an expense is recognised as if the terms had not been
modified, if the original terms of the award are met. In addition, an
expense is recognised for any modification, that increases the total
fair value of the share-based payments, or is otherwise beneficial to
the employee as measured at the date of modification.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 24 EREFTBUER (&)

(CONTINUED)

Share-based payments (continued)
Where an equity-settled award is cancelled, it is treated as if it

had vested on the date of cancellation, and any expense not yet
recognised for the award is recognised immediately. This includes
any award where non-vesting conditions within the control of
either the Group or the employee are not met. However, if a new
award is substituted for the cancelled award, and is designated as a
replacement award on the date that it is granted, the cancelled and
new awards are treated as if they were a modification of the original
award, as described in the previous paragraph.

The dilutive effect of unvested shares held under the restricted
share award scheme is reflected as additional share dilution in the
computation of earnings per share.

Other employee benefits
Paid leave carried forward

The Group provides paid annual leave to its employees under their
employment contracts on a calendar year basis. Under certain
circumstances, such leave which remains untaken as at the end of
each reporting period is permitted to be carried forward and utilised
by the respective employees in the following year. An accrual is made
at the end of each reporting period for the expected future cost of
such paid leave earned during the year by the employees and carried
forward.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2.4 EXEFTBUR (&)
(CONTINUED)
Other employee benefits (continued) HttEEEA ()
Retirement benefit schemes BREFGTE
The Group operates a defined contribution Mandatory Provident REBIRBEEERGINEAES NGO A
Fund retirement benefit scheme (the “MPF Scheme”) under the ELER2HEEBEIEZEEE M EREME
Hong Kong Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance for FoEs M AR RNEFTE ((RERE
those employees who are eligible to participate in the MPF Scheme. ) - HMATRIEEERTM B HLET
Contributions are made based on a percentage of the employees’ B HERBBESHEZANET MR
basic salaries and are charged to the statement of profit or loss BakxPHk BB ECEERBY
as they become payable in accordance with the rules of the MPF ERCESEAEEEESFAIER - KK
Scheme. The assets of the MPF Scheme are held separately from BrEEXHFIRIN TRESFE B2
those of the Group in an independently administered fund. The GENEE  MEASKEZEIABRME
Group's employer contributions vest fully with the employees when MR EREXREZELHEBHE NS
contributed into the MPF Scheme, except for the Group’s employer BABERLT  AlRBES 8 2R RERE
voluntary contributions, which are refunded to the Group when the REHE o

employee leaves employment prior to the contributions vesting fully,
in accordance with the rules of the MPF Scheme.

The employees of the Group's subsidiaries which operate in REERFEAEE 2 MEARIEER
Mainland China are required to participate in a central retirement 2B A B AP B i 5 T BT & i 2 R iR
benefit scheme operated by the local municipal government. REFIETE - ZEMBARAREE TH
These subsidiaries are required to contribute a certain percentage 2 —FE B LmPIRRERETEIHRK -
of their payroll costs to the central retirement benefit scheme. R TIRRIE R JGRRE R G 82 AR BIR
The contributions are charged to the statement of profit or loss as ERNKEERKRP N -

they become payable in accordance with the rules of the central
retirement benefit scheme.

Termination benefits HIEEF

Termination benefits are recognised at the earlier of when the Group BRIEBEANALEETBEREREREZSENR
can no longer withdraw the offer of those benefits and when the R EAREEBRS R MR IERN &
Group recognises restructuring costs involving the payment of R (AR B BEER%E) R -

termination benefits.

Borrowing costs BE A
Borrowing costs consist of interest and other costs that the Group BERABERAEEERESRESE ZF
incurs in connection with the borrowing of funds, and they are BEREMMAR  ZESREREEAPBTHE -

expensed in the period in which they are incurred.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 24 EREFTBUER (&)

(CONTINUED)

Events after the reporting period

If the Group receives information after the reporting period, but prior
to the date of authorisation for issue, about conditions that existed at
the end of the reporting period, it will assess whether the information
affects the amounts that it recognises in its financial statements. The
Group will adjust the amounts recognised in its financial statements
to reflect any adjusting events after the reporting period and update
the disclosures that relate to those conditions in light of the new
information. For non-adjusting events after the reporting period,
the Group will not change the amounts recognised in its financial
statements, but will disclose the nature of the non-adjusting events
and an estimate of their financial effects, or a statement that such an
estimate cannot be made, if applicable.

Dividends

Final dividends are recognised as a liability when they are approved
by the shareholders in a general meeting. Proposed final dividends
are disclosed in the notes to the financial statements.

Interim dividends are simultaneously proposed and declared, because
the Company’s bye-laws grant the directors the authority to declare
interim dividends. Consequently, interim dividends are recognised
immediately as a liability when they are proposed and declared.

Foreign currencies
These financial statements are presented in Hong Kong dollars,

which is the Company’s functional currency. Each entity in the Group
determines its own functional currency and items included in the
financial statements of each entity are measured using that functional
currency. Foreign currency transactions recorded by the entities in
the Group are initially recorded using their respective functional
currency rates prevailing at the dates of the transactions. Monetary
assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated
at the functional currency rates of exchange ruling at the end of the
reporting period. Differences arising on settlement or translation of
monetary items are recognised in the statement of profit or loss.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 24 EREFTBUER (&)

(CONTINUED)

Foreign currencies (continued)
Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a

foreign currency are translated using the exchange rates at the dates
of the initial transactions. Non-monetary items measured at fair value
in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange rates at the
date when the fair value was measured. The gain or loss arising on
translation of a non-monetary item measured at fair value is treated in
line with the recognition of the gain or loss on change in fair value of
the item (i.e, translation difference on the item whose fair value gain
or loss is recognised in other comprehensive income or profit or loss
is also recognised in other comprehensive income or profit or loss,
respectively).

In determining the exchange rate on initial recognition of the related
asset, expense or income on the derecognition of a non-monetary
asset or non-monetary liability relating to an advance consideration,
the date of initial transaction is the date on which the Group initially
recognises the non-monetary asset or non-monetary liability arising
from the advance consideration. If there are multiple payments or
receipts in advance, the Group determines the transaction date for
each payment or receipt of the advance consideration.

The functional currencies of certain overseas subsidiaries are
currencies other than the Hong Kong dollar. As at the end of the
reporting period, the assets and liabilities of these entities are
translated into Hong Kong dollars at the exchange rates prevailing
at the end of the reporting period and their statements of profit or
loss are translated into Hong Kong dollars at the exchange rates that
approximate to those prevailing at the dates of the transactions.
The resulting exchange differences are recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in the exchange fluctuation
reserve, except to the extent that the differences are attributable
to non-controlling interests. On disposal of a foreign operation, the
cumulative amount in the reserve relating to that particular foreign
operation is recognised in the statement of profit or loss.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows, the cash
flows of overseas subsidiaries are translated into Hong Kong dollars
at the exchange rates ruling at the dates of the cash flows. Frequently
recurring cash flows of overseas subsidiaries which arise throughout
the year are translated into Hong Kong dollars at the weighted
average exchange rates for the year.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND ESTIMATES

The preparation of the Group's financial statements requires
management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions
that affect the reported amounts of revenues, expenses, assets and
liabilities, and their accompanying disclosures, and the disclosure
of contingent liabilities. Uncertainty about these assumptions and
estimates could result in outcomes that could require a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of the assets or liabilities affected
in the future.

Judgements

In the process of applying the Group's accounting policies,
management has made the following judgements, apart from those
involving estimations, which have the most significant effect on the
amounts recognised in the financial statements:

Revenue from contracts with customers

The Group concluded that certain contract revenue from solutions
and integration services and application services is recognised over
time because the Group’s performance creates or enhances an asset
that the customer controls as the asset is created or enhanced or
the customer simultaneously receives and consumes the benefits
provided by the Group. The fact that another entity would not
need to re-perform the services that the Group has provided to
date demonstrates that the customer simultaneously receives and
consumes the benefits of the Group’s performance as it performs.

The Group determined that the input method is the best method in
measuring the progress of the services for certain contract revenue
from solutions and integration services and application services
because there is a direct relationship between the Group's effort or
inputs (e.g., actual costs incurred) and the transfer of services to the
customer. For example, the Group recognises revenue on the basis
of the actual costs incurred relative to the estimated total costs to
complete satisfaction of the services.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS 3. XESTHHERMEE (&)
AND ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)
Judgements (continued) F (&)
Income taxes 8%t
Significant judgement is involved in determining the provision EEEHEER T REXHE - EEH
for income taxes. Determining income tax provision requires SHREENTEEEE LT REE
management to make estimates and assumptions and involves Wb R EE TR 5 2 I8 I VR FI
judgement on the tax treatment of certain transactions, assessment b T IR R BABAML 2 A A M I @ A A 1S
of the probability of tax uncertainties and interpretation of applicable BRAMEL R - WEME - R HER
tax rules. These estimates, assumptions, judgements and assessments SRR BT L B RS Rk S BB ER
affect the amounts that are reported in these financial statements FEMERCESHE  AEEEFEAERS
and accompanying disclosures. The Group carefully evaluates tax ZBBRE  WHEHRTIERE %%
implications of transactions and tax provisions are set up accordingly. RPpZTHMBREHEEREFER - TR
The tax treatment of such transactions is reconsidered periodically to IS IEH - RERSABERR 2 E A
take into account any changes in tax legislation, interpretations and/ g o

or underlying assumptions.

Estimation uncertainty Rt FABEE

The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of RRERREE AR ARR R EME B MG
estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting period, that have THABMREEMEZ EFEREE - AJRES| A
a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying RT—RyBREEREENBERBDEE
amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year, are HARARE s EXERRALT o

described below.

Impairment of goodwill BERE

The Group determines whether goodwill is impaired at least on an AEFBELBF-ANETEFREEL N
annual basis. This requires an estimation of the value in use of the RRE - WREAREER I RERSESE
cash-generating units to which the goodwill is allocated. Estimating BUZEHAEBEEELEE EHESRES
the value in use of a cash-generating unit requires the Group to EEEMEREER  ANEEAMG AR
make an estimate of the expected future cash flows from the cash- KRERESELBU 2 RAKRBESRE - WiE
generating unit and also to choose a suitable discount rate in order BRENRE  UAEHAARERECR
to calculate the present value of those cash flows. The carrying B - RZEZWWF+=—A=+—H B2
amount of goodwill at 31 December 2024 was HK$135,001,000 (2023 BRI E A135001,0008 L (ZE =4
HK$135,001,000). Further details are given in note 16 to the financial 135,001,000/ 7T)  #E — 518 R B W
statements. =Mt 160
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)

Estimation uncertainty (continued)
Impairment of non-financial assets (other than goodwill)

The Group assesses whether there are any indicators of impairment
for all non-financial assets (including the right-of-use assets) at
the end of each reporting period. Non-financial assets with finite
useful lives are tested for impairment when there are indicators
that the carrying amounts may not be recoverable. An impairment
exists when the carrying value of an asset or a cash-generating unit
exceeds its recoverable amount, which is the higher of its fair value
less costs of disposal and its value in use. The calculation of the fair
value less costs of disposal is based on available data from binding
sales transactions in an arm’s length transaction of similar assets or
observable market prices less incremental costs for disposing of the
asset. When value in use calculations are undertaken, management
must estimate the expected future cash flows from the asset or
cash-generating unit and choose a suitable discount rate in order to
calculate the present value of those cash flows.

Estimation of fair value of investment properties

Investment properties are stated at their fair values. The fair value
at the end of each reporting period was based on a valuation on
these properties conducted by an independent firm of professionally
qualified valuers using property valuation techniques which involve
making assumptions on certain market conditions. Favourable or
unfavourable changes to these assumptions would result in changes
in the fair value of the Group's investment properties and the
corresponding adjustments to the gain or loss are recognised in the
statement of profit or loss.

Further details, including the key assumptions used for fair value
measurement, are given in note 14 to the financial statements.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)

Estimation uncertainty (continued)

Provision for expected credit losses on trade receivables and
contract assets

The Group uses a provision matrix to calculate ECLs for trade
receivables and contract assets. The provision rates are based on days
past due.

The provision matrix is initially based on the Group's historical
observed default rates. The Group will calibrate the matrix to adjust
the historical credit loss experience with forward-looking information.
For instance, if forecast economic conditions (i.e., gross domestic
products) are expected to deteriorate over the next year which can
lead to an increased number of defaults in the sector, the historical
default rates are adjusted. At each reporting date, the historical
observed default rates are updated and changes in the forward-
looking estimates are analysed.

The assessment of the correlation among historical observed default
rates, forecast economic conditions and ECLs is a significant estimate.
The amount of ECLs is sensitive to changes in circumstances and
forecast economic conditions. The Group's historical credit loss
experience and forecast of economic conditions may also not be
representative of a customer’s actual default in the future. The
information about the ECLs on the Group's trade receivables and
contract assets is disclosed in notes 19 and 21 to the financial
statements, respectively.

Revenue from contracts with customers

The Group recognises certain contract revenue from solutions and
integration and application services by reference to the progress
towards complete satisfaction of the services at the end of the
reporting period. The progress towards complete satisfaction of the
services may be measured by reference to the actual costs incurred
relative to the estimated total costs to complete satisfaction of the
services. Significant assumptions such as the duration and other
project specific factors are generally required to estimate the total
costs to complete satisfaction of the services. The estimates are made
based on past experience and knowledge of management and/or
relevant project personnel.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)

Estimation uncertainty (continued)
Leases - Estimating the incremental borrowing rate

The Group cannot readily determine the interest rate implicit in a
lease, and therefore, it uses an incremental borrowing rate (“IBR")
to measure lease liabilities. The IBR is the rate of interest that the
Group would have to pay to borrow over a similar term, and with a
similar security, the funds necessary to obtain an asset of a similar
value to the right-of-use asset in a similar economic environment.
The IBR therefore reflects what the Group “would have to pay’, which
requires estimation when no observable rates are available (such as
for subsidiaries that do not enter into financing transactions) or when
it needs to be adjusted to reflect the terms and conditions of the
lease (for example, when leases are not in the subsidiary’s functional
currency). The Group estimates the IBR using observable inputs (such

as market interest rates) when available.

4. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION

For management purposes, the Group is organised into business
units based on their products and services and has three reportable

operating segments as follows:

(@)  the application services segment that primarily engages in the
provision of enterprise application software and e-business
services for enterprises including the provision of enterprise
application software (including SaaS product offering) with
implementation and ongoing support services, the GETS, cloud

services and other related value-added services;

(b)  the solutions and integration services segment that primarily
engages in the provision of IT solutions implementation and
application software development (including SaaS product
offering), provision of IT and related operation/infrastructure
outsourcing services, and provision of IT systems and network
infrastructure with related design, implementation and

ongoing support services; and

Computer And Technologies Holdings Limited
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OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

(©)  the investments segment that primarily engages in various
types of investing activities including, inter alia, property
investment for rental income and/or for capital appreciation
and treasury investment in securities for dividend income and/
or for capital appreciation.

Management monitors the results of the Group's operating segments
separately for the purpose of making decisions about resource
allocation and performance assessment. Segment performance
is evaluated based on reportable segment profit/loss, which is a
measure of adjusted profit/loss before tax. The adjusted profit/
loss before tax is measured consistently with the Group's profit
before tax except that unallocated interest income, unallocated
foreign exchange differences, net, corporate and other unallocated
depreciation, and corporate and other unallocated expenses are
excluded from such measurement.

Segment assets exclude deferred tax assets, tax recoverable, pledged
bank deposits, cash and cash equivalents, and other unallocated head
office and corporate assets as these assets are managed on a group
basis.

Segment liabilities exclude tax payable, deferred tax liabilities and
other unallocated head office and corporate liabilities as these
liabilities are managed on a group basis.
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4. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION 4, RESIER (E)
(CONTINUED)
(a) Operating segments (a) REDH
Application Solutions and Integration
Services Services . Investments Total
FE R BR s BARRRERRK k& &5
2024 2023 2024 q0“ 2024 23 2024
“goRE Z§-cF C3opE % et ST ST ST
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK§ 000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TiEn B TiEn T T#R T TR
Segment revenue L ON
Sales to external customers HETHAREP
(note 9) (Ftsks) 143,358 152781 116,096 102834 1,622 1889 261,076+ 257504
Intersegment sales HHREE 2116 60 13916 9257 - - 16,032 9317
Other income and gains R R 1,334 1367 64 10 195 2 1,503' 1669°
Totasegqment revenue APRALE 06808 1408 130076 112101 1817 28 801 2664%
Recondilation: %
Elimination of intersegrent sales NHEHELHE (16,032) (9317)
262,669 259173
Segment results HRE 28671 34700 31,433 1977 (3,504) (1000 56,600 58626
Reconcilition: %
Unallocated interest income AAEHEHA 14,493' 14602
Unallocated foreign exchange AORERES
diferences, net FE 555 2
Corporate and other unallocated EERE A
depreciation nE (394) (207)
Corporate and other unallocated expenses 8% RE MK 2 BRI % (31,926) (35,240)
Profit before tax BHAER 39,328 37783
Segment assets ANEE 185,835 198776 63,512 5495 61,172 620 310519 3300
Reconcilation: HE:
Himination of intersegment receivables 5 2RI EUZUE 4 3 (2,093) -
Corporate and other unallocated assets  AEREMK PR EE 364,181 331488
Total assets BEAE 672607 654508
Segment liabilities TH8E 94,138 95,769 34423 22404 608 653 129,169 118826
Reconcilation: i
Himination of intersegment payables % BB 3UEH (2,093) -
Corporate and other unallocated liabilties % R A HEE & 321N 29683
Total liablies &AE 170,347 148509
* This represents the consolidated revenue of HK$261,076,000 (2023: * ERGaEarzHEAKRA
HK$257,504,000) in the consolidated statement of profit or loss. 261,076,000/ T (=& = E F
257,504,000 7C) ©
A These comprise the consolidated other income and gains, of A BREGEEERAZES ,Hﬁﬁ%l
HK$16,086,000 (2023: HK$16,271,000) in the consolidated statement AR 51608600078 T (ZF =
of profit or loss. £ :16,271,00087C) ©
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4. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION 4, REFIER (E)
(CONTINUED)
(a) Operating segments (continued) (a) &R&E (&)

Solutions and Integration

Application Services Services Investments Total
ERE® BANRRRARH k& fag
2024 ) 2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023
it il = g8opE =8 ZEoRE [SRSSFN CR-PE SRR
HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000 HKS000
TER T Tz T THR i THT T
Other segment information: BpAHER:
Netfairvalue lossesonnvestment~~~ REAMEAFEBET
properties B - - - - (5,000) (1872 (5,000) (1872)

Net fairvalue losses on financial assets at R A FESBRATZ
fair value through profit o loss IBEELTESE

38 - - - - (280) (119 (280) (1219

Amortisation of other intangibleassets ~ Et B AEH 7,752 5673 7,790 7769 - - 15,542 13442

Depreciation e 2,228 234 1,046 1020 - - 3,274 334
Corporate and other undllocated PEREMRAE

depreciation ik 3,764 483

7,038 8180

Impairment of rade receivables, net* M E BEIAE

AE 580 87 213 239 - - 793 1,066
Capital expenditure® EART~ 162 7 391 0 - - 553 20
Corporate and other unallocated capital -~ EREHADE
expenditure™ BRERH 5,394 143
5947 43
* Including impairment of trade receivables attributable to the * PREREERARBSBRAATR
application services segment of HK$1,192,000 (2023: HK$1,311,000) REKRBE D2 EBKE SRR
and the solutions and integration services segment of HK$634,000 BEDRE1,1920008 T (ZE-_=4F:
(2023: HK$422,000), respectively, and reversal of impairment of 1,311,000 7) } 6340008 0 (=&
trade receivables attributable to the application services segment of T =4 14220008 70) AR B FE
HK$612,000 (2023: HK$484,000) and the solutions and integration AREHHRBRATREREXRS
services segment of HK$421,000 (2023: HK$183,000), respectively. D E 2 FEWE 5 BR F B BURE 5 7B

£6120008 70 (ZF Z = 4 : 484,000
BIT) B4210008 T (ZE =4«
183,000/ 7T) °

** Capital expenditure consists of additions to property, plant and o BARRY BENEDE BB RERE -
equipment.
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4. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION 4, REFBER (FE)
(CONTINUED)
(b) Geographical information (b) HEER
(i)  Revenue from external customers (i) FREIREEFZWA
Hong Kong and other
countries/regions Mainland China Total
BAREMER/HE hER 4y
2024 2024 2023 2024
ZECmE TO-E ZBCQmE | ZECEE ZBIpE
HK$'000 (S HK$'000 HKS'000 HK$'000
T 7 T TAL T
Segment revenue: AHUA
Salesto external customers HETIRRR 218,306 209320 2,770 48184 261,076 257504
The revenue information above is based on the locations LI ABR T AR F AT
of the customers. BEE -
(i) Non-current assets (i) FRBEE
2024 2023
—E-E —E=F
HK$’000 HKS'000
FET FET
Hong Kong BB 134,477 132,042
Mainland China A 98,810 109,106
233,287 241,148
The non-current asset information above is based on the FHIERBEEER NIREE
locations of the assets and excludes financial instruments Rt 25 - BRI R R
and deferred tax assets. BTAERBRERBEE -
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4. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION 4, BEFWER (B)

(CONTINUED)

(c) Information about a major customer (0 —BEXFEXFZEHR
Revenue from transactions with an external customer KE—BINABTPRH ZWAMER
amounting to 10% or more of the Group's total revenue: EEBUA10% KA E -
For the year ended 31 December 2024, revenue from a BHE-ZT-_MF+=-A=+—H
major customer of HK$85,966,000 (2023: HK$78,048,000) was FEFE KB —RBETERFPZHK
derived from transactions with the customer reported in the A £385966,0008 L (ZFE == -
application services segment and the solutions and integration 780480008 7T) - EHSEIIRE 2
services segment. FIRNERRGE MR TRERE

RIRIE D BNEFP RS

5. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS 5. WA - Htt A R iz
An analysis of revenue is as follows: WADITAT -

2024 2023

—E_MF —E=F

HK$’000 HKS$'000

FHET FET

Revenue from contracts with customers REEFEHHKA 259,454 255,615
Revenue from other sources REHARAKA

Gross rental income from investment properties &Y% 2 HE WA 4258 1,622 1,889

261,076 257,504
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5. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS 5. WA - Hittw A R ks (&)
(CONTINUED)
Revenue from contracts with customers REEFEFEHHBA
() Disaggregated revenue information i) DHFBAESR
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For the year ended
31 December 2024

Segments

Types of goods or services

Sale of goods and provision of
software, and GETS services

Provision of software
implementation and related
services, and IT solutions
implementation and related
services

Provision of Saa$S product
offering and maintenance
services

Total revenue from contracts
with customers

Geographical markets
Hong Kong and others
Mainland China

Total revenue from contracts
with customers

Timing of revenue
recognition

Goods and services transferred
ata pointintime

Services transferred over time

Total revenue from contracts
with customers

Em R ER

HEEmREHREUTR
BT E T & 5 R

PR gL 1 B o SR AR R AR
REARSERT RENR
K R AR %5

R IR RA E m &
HEEIRTS

KAEEFPAHN
A

B W5

BB REM

FRE b

RKEEFPEHH
AU A

R A EE

RE-—REEEE N
Ko AR %%
R — B R [ R 58 AR 1%
KAEFPBHN
A

Computer And Technologies Holdings Limited

Application
Services

P& FA R 3%
HK$’000
FEx

Solutions and
Integration
Services
RRFRR
&SRR
HK$’000
THT

Total

HK$’000
TET

25,179 5,915 31,094
38,363 55,054 93,417
79,816 55,127 134,943
143,358 116,096 259,454
104,102 112,601 216,703
39,256 3,495 42,751
143,358 116,096 259,454
25,179 5,915 31,094
118,179 110,181 228,360
143,358 116,096 259,454




NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
5o 35 S Y o ()

31 DECEMBER 2024 — = —F+_-A=+—H

5. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS 5. WA - Htw A R s (&)
(CONTINUED)
Revenue from contracts with customers REEFEFEHHRA (F)
(continued)
() Disaggregated revenue information (continued) (i) DIFBAER(E)

Solutions and

Application Integration
Services Services Total
ORI M
J& A AR 7% SRR FEE]
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THIT THTT T
For the year ended BE-ZT-_=%+=A
31 December 2023 =t+t—HALFE
Segments -1

Types of goods or services & 7 = IR 75 48 5l
Sale of goods and provision of  #5% & [ K IR 81 K

software, and GETS services BN BT E B IR 27,183 4514 31,697
Provision of software RS E M LA R -

implementation and related N B EHE B R T REHE

services, and [T solutions KB R

implementation and related

services 48,181 50,049 98,230
Provision of SaaS product RERHRBGE R &

offering and maintenance HE RS

services 77417 48,271 125,688
Total revenue from contracts KRB B & 41

with customers LTI ON 152,781 102,834 255,615
Geographical markets & T %
Hong Kong and others BB REM 108,286 99,364 207,650
Mainland China A [ A 3, 44,495 3,470 47,965
Total revenue from contracts KB B A& 4IHY

with customers U A 152,781 102,834 255,615
Timing of revenue R A BEE

recognition
Goods and services transferred A ¥ — B #EZE S R

ata pointintime N R 27,183 4,514 31,697
Services transferred over time KA — E& B 5] PR 85 232 iR 75 125,598 98,320 223,918
Total revenue from contracts  2RE B F A4

with customers U A 152,781 102,834 255,615

MgRsEEERAT 2 —2-omea193



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
B35 R 2R B (AR

31 DECEMBER 2024 — = —_F&+_A=+—H

5. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS
(CONTINUED)

Revenue from contracts with customers

(continued)
() Disaggregated revenue information (continued)

The following table shows the amounts of revenue recognised
in the current reporting period that were included in the

contract liabilities at the beginning of the reporting period:

5. WA - HAabA K Wz ()

REEFEHNBA (&)

() DHFWAESR (B
TRETHABSHINENEE
RARERECERR/BWASHE

2024 2023
—E-OE —E-=F
HK$’000 HKS'000
FHEx FHT
Revenue recognised that was included in FFAMREHYVIEHNAERN
contract liabilities at the beginning of the EHERLA
reporting period:
Sale of goods and provision of software, and HEEmRIEHEG R
GETS services BFE T8 5R% 1,133 3378
Provision of software implementation and R EERAEERS
related services, and IT solutions BB BATR
implementation and related services B R ABRE RS 15,657 18,584
Provision of Saa$S product offering and RESHERBER R
maintenance services HERTE 35,353 32,228
52,143 54,190
(i) Performance obligations (i) BHREME
Information about the Group’s performance obligations is EHEASERENE T E B

summarised below:
Sale of goods and provision of software and GETS services

The performance obligation is generally satisfied upon
product/service delivery, where payment in advance is
normally required, and the balance is generally due within 30
to 60 days from the date of delivery.

Provision of software implementation and related services

The performance obligation is generally satisfied over time as
services are rendered and payment is generally due within 30
to 60 days from the date of billing.

1 94ANNUAL REPORT 2024 Computer And Technologies Holdings Limited

T~

HEEmRIEHE M REKTEFE
SR
BHET—RRERIREXF1E
ER G —MEBEELAMNK MEH
—RBERTHBE 30260 HRNEHE -

IER B BRI RT
BHOEE—RERERBARMEZE
BR-mAR—REMAERERBR
sH30& 60 H A FH -



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
B35 $R 2R B (AR)

31 DECEMBER 2024 — = —F+_-A=+—H

5. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS
(CONTINUED)

Revenue from contracts with customers

(continued)
(ii) Performance obligations (continued)

Provision of IT solutions implementation and related services

The performance obligation is generally satisfied over time as
services are rendered and payment is generally due within 30
days from the date of billing. Generally, a certain percentage
of payment is retained by respective customers as the
Group’s entitlement to the final payment is conditional on
the satisfaction of the service quality by the customers over a
certain period as stipulated in the respective contracts.

Provision of Saa$S product offering and maintenance services
The performance obligation is generally satisfied over time as
services are rendered and payments in advance are normally
required before rendering the services.

The amounts of transaction prices allocated to the remaining
performance obligations (unsatisfied or partially unsatisfied) as
at 31 December are as follows:

Amounts expected to be recognised as revenue:
Within one year
After one year

The amounts of transaction prices allocated to the remaining
performance obligations which are expected to be recognised
as revenue after one year relate to maintenance services, of
which the performance obligations are to be satisfied within
two years. All the other amounts of transaction prices allocated
to the remaining performance obligations are expected to
be recognised as revenue within one year. The amounts
disclosed above do not include variable consideration which is
constrained.

5.

T FRTA R BIA
—FR
HBiE—F

WA~ B A K Wz ()

REEFEHNBA (B)

(ii)

BHEFE (H)

TR BRI AR 5 Bt R 1A
R
BOEE—RERERBEARMEZE
B MR — B L ERE QBB
30HANE#H —RBRT BFE
REFENETES L BXEE
WS & &M ROENPBUAREF A
MANENE THRERYRSEE
EMMERE -

FE (R BT AT AR 75 2 i X 4 i R 75

B A& — M BER M AR5 B0 iy ] 22
AR MR RIE - RAREHRE
AT S A e

RtT-ZA=t—BoEEH#RTELD
BECRBITREBNDARET) XS
EBRSBEWT

2024 2023
—E-NE —TE =4
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHT TET
60,208 52,143

894 1,397

61,102 53,540

ENEEHRTENETHRSER
THRBEHER - FRER/BEAY
KA TR M RE R 4 RS © P
BEEREMESEERTROEENR
SERBRMEIN —FAERR
WA LA BENSBRLTBRER
PRI ERAE -
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

B RS R AR B AL ()

31 DECEMBER 2024 — = —_F&+_A=+—H

5. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS 5. WA - Hrl A R Wz ()
(CONTINUED)
2024 2023
—E_E —E =4
HK$'000 HKS'000
FHEx FHT
Other income and gains H A & W=
Bank interest income IRITH BUA 14,495 14,604
Value-added tax refund received g Bl B E R 388 981
Dividend income from listed investments at fair XA FELBF AR Z FHIRE
value through profit or loss g WA 195 284
Gain on disposal of items of property, plantand ~ HEWE - BE MREEE 2 K=
equipment, net HE - 6
Gain on lease modifications HEETT W 409 _
Others HAth 599 396
16,086 16,271
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
B35 $R 2R B (AR)

31 DECEMBER 2024 — = —F+_-A=+—H

6. PROFIT BEFORE TAX

The Group's profit before tax is arrived at after charging/(crediting):

Cost of inventories sold

Cost of services provided

Depreciation of property, plant and
equipment*

BEHEFEKA
E et AR IR
ME - BEREEBEZNE

Depreciation of right-of-use assets TRREEZNE
Amortisation of other intangible assets** Hmp & EgE

Gain on disposal of items of property, plant
and equipment, net 2 W FE

Lease payments not included in the

6.

HEME - BERZEEE

TEEAEHEREZHE

measurement of lease liabilities (NE:N

Gain on lease modifications HEEFT 2 W

Auditor's remuneration =BT &

Employee benefit expense (excluding BERMNAXZ (TEEES
directors’and chief executive’s remuneration 5 77 1B 48 £ 3 Bl —
- note 8)*: BozEs) -

Wages, salaries, allowances and other
benefits v
Equity-settled share-based
payment expense
Retirement benefit scheme contributions

(defined contribution schemes)***

RRREFET &R

Impairment of trade receivables, net
Direct operating expenses (including repairs

and maintenance) arising from rental- KT (BIEEE
earning investment properties R HEE)
Fair value losses, net: NFEEIRFE -

Financial assets at fair value through profit
MBEE
BREWME

or loss
Investment properties

(FE B BRET &)~

FENE 5 RRBUBEF
ARBREE cREMEEE

BRATHELBEGEARZ

TE -#Fe RRHREM

BB AR D AR

B %5 Al 3 R

AEEBZBRBARFLME GEA) T
HIEIg
2024 2023
—E_OF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHExT T
35,790 31,850
82,085 89,753
13 842 640
15(a) 6,196 7,540
17 15,542 13,442
- ©)
15(c) 50 192
(409) -
1,380 1,460
136,945 145,065
737 1,118
9,634 8764
147,316 154,947
19 793 1,066
9 62
280 1219
14 5,000 1,872

MR EEER AR
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
5o 35 2 Y o ()

31 DECEMBER 2024 —Z — U4 +=-H=+—H

6. PROFIT BEFORE TAX (CONTINUED)

*

*%

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment for the year of HK$15,000
(2023: HK$60,000) is included in “Cost of sales and services” on the face of
the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

Amortisation of other intangible assets for the year of HK$15,542,000
(2023: HK$13,442,000) is included in “Other expenses” on the face of the
consolidated statement of profit or loss.

There are no forfeited contributions that may be used by the Group as the
employer to reduce the existing level of contributions. At 31 December
2024, the Group had no forfeited contributions available to reduce its
contributions to the pension schemes in future years (2023: Nil).

Inclusive of research and development cost for application software
products of HK$18,941,000 (2023: HK$24,584,000).

Inclusive of an amount of HK$82,085,000 (2023: HK$89,753,000) classified
under “Cost of services provided”above.

7. FINANCE COSTS

Interest on lease liabilities

Interest on provisions
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BR& AR A ()

*

*%

REEZRWE - BE KB 2 HTE 150007
TL(ZZT =4 : 6000078 7T) WAL B
K2 [HERBRIEEKA]A -

ANF SN E A B E# $515542,000%8 7T
(ZZT =~ =4 11344200078 7T) AR A 1B
mRZ[HMAL IR -

AEBEERREE  LEEADLUKERA
BRBELREHRFKF - R_T-_MF
TZAZ+—R AEEXEFRUWAMH
HA AR ERFENRRSF MK (=

TZF E) e
BREEEERASGER 2R RFAEKR
/518,941,000 7T (= Z = = £ : 24,584,000
BIT) o

BEIERLMIBRERBKAR] 2 H5E
82,085,000 7T (= & — = 4 : 89,753,000 7
JT) °

BB

2024
—E-NEF

HK$’000 HK$'000

FET T T

1,053 469

35 -

1,088 469




NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
5o 35 S Y o ()

31 DECEMBER 2024 —Z — Y4 +—-HA=+—H

8. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S
REMUNERATION

Directors’ and chief executive's remuneration for the year, disclosed
pursuant to the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing Rules”), section 383(1)(a),
(b), (c) and () of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and Part 2 of
the Hong Kong Companies (Disclosure of Information about Benefits
of Directors) Regulation, is as follows:

8. EERITHAHZM

/

FREFRTRASFHRETEH AR
ZIBRARES LMRE J(Fimiﬁ 1)

BB D RMER 5 383(1)() * (b) * (© K OIF
LEBEAR (HEESHE éﬂ)i‘ﬁﬁﬂ%’z
T

2024 2023
—E_F
HK$’000 HKS'000
FHET FET
Fees: e
Executive directors HITESR - -
Independent non-executive directors (“INEDs") MBI IEHITE F
(MBI 3EMITES]) 780 831
780 831
Other emoluments: Ha e -
Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind e EMEREDANS 7,824 6,156
Discretionary Bonuses* BG4l * 1,748 1,441
Equity-settled share-based payment expense® RIEEE AR DR 510 370
Retirement benefit scheme contributions RKEFIETEI 5K
(defined contribution schemes) (EEEMFRETED 20 78
10,172 8,045
10,952 8,876

* Certain directors and the chief executive of the Company are entitled to
bonus payments which are determined on a discretionary basis.

: In the prior year, certain directors and the chief executive were awarded
restricted shares of the Company, subject to certain vesting conditions,
in respect of their services to the Group, under the restricted share award
scheme of the Company, further details of which are set out in note 28 to
the financial statements. The fair value of such restricted shares, which has
been recognised in the statement of profit or loss over the vesting period,
was determined as at the date of grant and the amount included in the
financial statements for the current year is included in the above directors’
and chief executive’s remuneration disclosures.

* ARBETEERTRARBRERBIE
EE 2B -

¢ RBEFE  REARRZHRSI KN R
EEHE NETRBERTZART - %?%
ERITHREHEE RS A EEMRER
BRERARNB GRS  BEE— /ui
i%iﬁ/\ﬁﬁxi&ﬁﬁﬁéfzwEZ—#%EE%‘JHM%

RFEDREHBEREE  YEREE
EﬁWETamiEﬁ&w' FRARFEEM R
RZEENCEBER EXESRITHRER
HERER -

Mt RGEEERA
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
B35 R 2R B (AR

31 DECEMBER 2024 — = —_F&+_A=+—H

8. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S 8.

REMUNERATION (CONTINUED)

(a) INEDs

The fees paid to INEDs during the year were as follows:

EERTHAZGMH (FE)

(a) BYFATES
FA XN TFEBIFERTEEZH
T

INEDs: BYIERITESE :
Ms. Chan Yuen Shan Clara eR 1o 3t 22 &=
Professor Lee Kwok On Matthew TR R H
Mr. Poon Siu Hoi Casey EAE A
Mr. Ting Leung Huel Stephen TREEA

Save as disclosed above, there were no other emoluments
payable to the INEDs during the current and prior years.
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2024 2023
—E-NE —TE =4
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET THT
240 240

- 103

240 188

300 300

780 831

BREXBEEN RAFERBHE
FEITEEMENTEIIFNTE
FZME -
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8. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S 8. EERMTHAHFGM (H)

REMUNERATION (CONTINUED)

(b) Executive directors and the chief executive (b) MITESRITHAR \
The other emoluments paid to executive directors and the FAZINTROTESRITHER 2
chief executive during the year were as follows: HitbemT :

Salaries, Equity-settled Retirement
allowances share-based benefit
and benefits  Discretionary payment scheme
in kind bonuses expense  contributions  remuneration
#e o RER REgEE BAREN
- t/bilk MERAL ROXAEX af Bl
HKS'000 HK§'OOO HK$'OOO HK$'00£)
THT T THR THIL
2024 —E-ME
Executive directors: EEEE
Ir.Ng Cheung Shing REBAETED 2,751 567 134 18 3,470
Mr. Leung King San Sunny 2EHRE 360 - - 18 378
Mr. Cheung Wai Lam REREE 360 - - 18 378
Mr. Ng Kiwok Keung RE®EE 1,982 528 134 18 2,662
5,453 1,095 268 72 6,888
Chief executive: TR, -
Mr. Chung Kin Yip EEEAE 2371 653 242 18 3,284
7,824 1,748 510 90 10,172
2023 ZBIZf
Executive directors; HE%:
Ir.Ng Cheung Shing REBAETED 2751 n 181 18 3702
Mr. Leung King San Sunny DEMEE 360 - - 18 378
Mr. Cheung Wai Lam RERLE 360 - 8 18 386
Mr. Ng Kiwok Keung RE®EE 1941 545 181 18 2685
5412 1317 370 72 7171
Chief executive: T, -
Mr. Chung Kin Yip* BRELE 74 124 - 6 874
6,156 1441 370 78 8,045
* Only included the remuneration of Mr. Chung Kin Yip for the * ERREREXELERZERART
period subsequent to his appointment as the chief executive of the TR AB L AR 5T B R 80 37 A
Company
The directors’ emoluments paid to Ir. Ng Cheung Shing (“Ir. SHTFREBLETRM ([ REE])
Ng") included a housing allowance of HK$2,471,000 (2023: ZEEWE BIE A H 24710008 T
HK$2,471,000) which was remunerated by way of rental TE = 24710008 7) ZEE
reimbursement. The rentals of the related property were paid EE UHeBEC NI A
directly by Ir. Ng to the landlord, which is a company jointly AYE s HeBHREEEESINT
controlled by Ir. Ng and one of his close family members. XEx MaxXTARARKERE
Hf—ZERRGKEHRERZ
NI
There was no arrangement under which a director or the chief REFERBAFE  EFHITH
executive waived or agreed to waive any remuneration during AR R BNEE SR B R (A
the current and prior years. iz ko

g zsemaRAT  —=-mas5201



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
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9. FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES 9.

The five highest paid employees during the year included two
directors and the chief executive (2023: two directors and the chief
executive), of which the chief executive (the “Chief Executive”) was
appointed during the prior year, details of whose remuneration for
the period they are the directors and the Chief Executive are set out
in note 8 to the financial statements. Details of the remuneration for
the year of the remaining two (2023: two) highest paid employees
who are neither a director nor the chief executive of the company are
as follows:

¥e 2MREDNE

Prig s B AR AR

BYISTEAT

RREFE B R
CERHREE)

Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind

Equity-settled share-based payment expense

Discretionary bonuses

Retirement benefit scheme contributions
(defined contribution schemes)

The number of non-director and non-chief executive highest paid
employees whose remuneration fell within the following bands is as
follows:

TEmREFMES

FA - BEESFNEEREREERTR
THAY (ZE_=F - MBEZRITH
mE) - AiTEReE ([fTBRER]) RE
FEZE REEBER RITHAZDE
ZEHEMFBHR M B IHRRM TS - FIR -
HHRME(ZZEZ=ZF MB)ZR=HM3E
RRAREEHITRRH 2 BEHFMFBN
™

2024 2023
—E-ME —E-=%F
HK$’000 HKS'000
FET FAT
2,431 4517

149 291

424 1,004

36 49

3,040 5,861

HMN T AT AR 2 BB HBFEE R
TRBREEZ ABIT :

Number of employees

BEA#

2024
—E-IEF

HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000
HK$2,000,001 to HK$2,500,000

During the prior year, restricted shares of the Company, subject
to certain vesting conditions, were awarded to two non-director
and non-chief executive highest paid employees in respect of their
services to the Group, under the restricted share award scheme
of the Company, further details of which are set out in note 28 to
the financial statements. The fair value of such restricted shares,
which has been recognised in the statement of profit or loss over
the vesting period, was determined as at the date of grant and the
amounts included in the financial statements for the current and prior
years are included in the above non-director and non-chief executive
highest paid employee’s remuneration disclosures.
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1,500,001 78 7T 2 2,000,000 7% 7T 2 1
2,000,001 7 7T £ 2,500,000 75 7T - 2

RBEFE  REBEARF 2GR MM
BFtE RETHEBHREZERT  MA
REFMIFESRIFTRAERRBEERAR
FAAKEMERRFEERANARETE
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10. INCOME TAX 10. FifEH
Hong Kong profits tax has been provided at the rate of 16.5% (2023: BEBFEBRIIBERNFENREBEEY
16.5%) on the estimated assessable profits arising in Hong Kong HETERBE AT E165% (T =F :
during the year, except for one subsidiary of the Group which is 16.5%) 1E L B - RSB — KB R A
a qualifying entity under the two-tiered profits tax rates regime. KAEFTERNET MR EE - %M B
The first HK$2,000,000 (2023: HK$2,000,000) of assessable profits of N EH) B E2,0000008 T (ZE =%
this subsidiary are taxed at 8.25% (2023: 8.25%) and the remaining 2,000,000 7T) F& 3R Fi s F) 16 12 8.25% (=
assessable profits are taxed at 16.5% (2023: 16.5%). Taxes on profits T 1 825%) B i H SR ERBE
assessable elsewhere have been calculated at the rates of tax FAZ165% (ZFEZ=4F : 16.5%) BFi
prevailing in the countries/jurisdictions in which the Group operates. Efth 30 [ FE AR08 M) 2 IR THAR B AR &
KEEBMERR REEERERRE
E
2024 2023
—E_E —E-=4F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FEx FAT
Current - Hong Kong ENER—& B
Charge for the year FREZH 8,441 7,864
Underprovision/(overprovision) in prior years TEEDR(ZR) BE 4,140 @211)
Current - Elsewhere BIVHA — H fth b [
Charge for the year FANZM 161 127
Overprovision in prior years TFEZREE (3) (311)
Deferred (note 26) AEFE (KR 26) (2,307) (2929)
Total tax charge for the year FATIAX HiRHE 10,432 4,540
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31 DECEMBER 2024 — = —_F&+_A=+—H

10. INCOME TAX (CONTINUED) 10. G (&)
A reconciliation of the tax expense applicable to profit before tax at BAREBEEARRRERE S WE QB L
the statutory profits tax rate for Hong Kong in which the Company ER/HEMES ZEEMNESHEGTE
and the majority of its subsidiaries operate and/or domiciled to the FIERIANA M 2 MBS H - BB
tax charge at the effective tax rate is as follows: EABE BB HERAOT

2024 2023
—E-NE —TE =4

HK$’000 HK$'000
FH T FHT
Profit before tax B A5 A A 39,328 37,783

Tax at the Hong Kong statutory tax rate of 165% 2B B AT E165% (ZFE ==

(2023:16.5%) F 1 165%) 5T HE 2 BB 6,489 6,234
Effect of withholding tax at 5% on the RAEEFBIMMB AR 2 DIE
distributable profits of the Group’s PRC H A2 S TEHT 2 B
subsidiaries (381) (371)
Effect of differences in tax rates for overseas TGN B A T3 E HBUT B E &Y
subsidiaries or enacted by local authorities MEEZENZE 413 79
Adjustments in respect of current tax of LB HAR 2 BN EAT I8 {F H 5 &
previous periods 4,137 (522)
Income not subject to tax BAERBUA (2,664) (2,390)
Expenses not deductible for tax R 1,290 933
Tax losses utilised from previous periods FABEBEBIEEE (14) -
Effect of additional tax deduction enacted by tax % 7% 2B PI B AR 5B INR IB R 2 HI 2 &
authorities (390) (1,157)
Tax losses not recognised RERMIEEE 730 956
Others H A, 822 778
Tax charge at the Group’s effective tax rate AEBRERHEFHEZHNEH 10,432 4,540
Under the income tax laws of the PRC, enterprises are subject to RIBREITEEE - B —MRBEZ25% (=
corporate income tax (“CIT") generally at a rate of 25% (2023: 25%). T F 1 05%) 2T RN ERSH
In the current and prior years, certain of the Group’s PRC subsidiaries (TEEFBE#RD  RAFERBTFE -
operating in specific development zones of the PRC were granted REBE TR B E F 2 /) BT
preferential CIT rates of 5% to 15% by the relevant tax authorities. BARIEMRBRBEEELS T5%ZE 15%H)

BELEMEHRBEE -
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
B35 $R 2R B (AR)

31 DECEMBER 2024 — = —F+_-A=+—H

10. INCOME TAX (CONTINUED) 10. Fri5 % (&)

In 2022, the Hong Kong Inland Revenue Department (the “IRD”)
issued an enquiry letter (“1° IRD Enquiry”) to a subsidiary of
the Company regarding the claim for enhanced deduction of
certain research and development expenditures (“R&D Enhanced
Deduction”). After providing the IRD with the available information
and documents for the R&D Enhanced Deduction as requested in
the 1" IRD Enquiry, the subsidiary received the assessor's comments
in October 2023. The subsidiary holds a different view against the
assessor's position and submitted a reply in January 2024. As at the
year-end date, the subsidiary has provided replies to 5 rounds of
enquiries from the IRD. The latest enquiry from the IRD was issued
on 28 February 2025. The subsidiary is in the process of reviewing
the comments from the assessor and preparing a reply. The IRD has
also issued protective assessment for the year of assessment 2018/19
to the subsidiary demanding tax of approximately HK$700,000 on
28 February 2025. The subsidiary will lodge an objection against the
protective assessment for the year of assessment 2018/19 within the
objection period.

In March 2023 and January 2024, the IRD issued protective
assessments for the years of assessment 2016/17 and 2017/18
to another two subsidiaries (the “Subsidiaries”) of the Company
demanding tax of approximately HK$805,000 for the year of
assessment 2016/17 and HK$960,000 for the year of assessment
2017/18 in aggregate. In March 2025, protective assessments for
the year of assessment 2018/19 were issued to the Subsidiaries
demanding tax of approximately HK$640,000 and another two
subsidiaries of the Company for the year of assessment 2018/19
demanding tax of approximately HK$3,432,000 in total. Per discussion
with the assessor-in-charge, the IRD is reviewing the tax affairs of
the Subsidiaries for the years of assessment from 2016/17 onwards
and the issuance of the protective assessments is merely for the
purpose of keeping the relevant assessments open and not to
become statutorily barred. During the discussion, the assessor-in-
charge informed that the focus of the tax review is the nature and
the deductibility of certain expenses of the Subsidiaries and the
R&D Enhanced Deduction claimed by the other two subsidiaries
engaged in R&D activities (“Deduction Claims”). The Subsidiaries have
lodged objections against the protective assessments for the years
of assessment 2016/17 and 2017/18 and have purchased tax reserve
certificates of HK$805,000 for the year of assessment 2016/17 and
HK$960,000 for the year of assessment 2017/18. Objection against
the protective assessments for the year of assessment 2018/19 will be
lodged before the deadline of objection.

BEERERB((REBD N _E-_—FRAA
A —REM B A R R ([ — K
BRABD  RAEERESTHERAX
FoREANIOIR ([FF 32 A BEBAMNTRL) © FE3R
HREBE —RE AT E RN R
AN B AT PR R ST 18 0 % BB A A
RZZE-_=ZF+AKEFRETHEE -
ZHBAREERETCNILBHFETIRE
BUYR-_Z-NF— ARKOE - NZF
“H ZNBRAREYHBEEN I XAM
EREE - RPN AR =ZZ A
FZAZH+NBEL ZWBAREES
FHEAHEAREGBRRILQE -HER
YHR-_ZE-RE-_A-+N\BRZMHBEA
AT N NEEHRFEEELRE
MERERL - ESREUT 49700,000 8 TTHO B FK ©
ZHBARERE B — )\ —WERH
FEMREETRIZEES -

MEBR T =F=ARZT_MF—
ARARRRBINRE W B R R ([ EH B
AENBHREETH  EXp T —K
St ERBREER B+ \ER
i E B A £ 49805,000 78 7T K 960,000
BTHHR - R-ZE-AF=H CEZ
EHBATBRLE N\ —NESHRE
ERREMRR - 25K 49 640,00078 7T
MR WAARABBINMEHERRE
KRN ZT—N—hERBRFEEHL
3,432,000 ST AR 3R o R IR B R B £ 1E 8
A MERLAZELRSWERARIRZ
TR/t FRRNREFE BB S
B M2 A REETER - T5E AR
R T E R BB R T R BR fE i o
AHEAETRPERT BEEHRERE
TEAMMEE RESINHAR S INRRKE
EEEEHHM B QR TR RO M
BN (M EBER]) - ZEHMER A
BN —tEFEE=ZT—+, N
FRUMEEREETIFHIEHES  YOBE
BTN/ tEEHEENERS
805000 B TR —E—+t,/ —NEERFE
9% i 25 960,000 78 7T © M B8 7 i 4 B BR
AEREH =T\ —NERREFEHR
PR ER -

Mg zseEEaRAT  —=-mea205



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
5o 35 2 Y o ()

31 DECEMBER 2024 —Z — U4 +=-H=+—H

10. INCOME TAX (CONTINUED) 10. FriS%i ()

The directors believe that the aforementioned subsidiaries have valid RAAREERR LB ARELEEE
grounds to pursue the Deduction Claims (the “Tax Treatments”). BREMT AR ((HBEE]) - Afm - B
However, there is uncertainty at this stage over whether the IRD will AR THEERE RS REBET A EZW
accept the Tax Treatments under tax law. Up to the date of approval BERE BEHENREVBRRER &
of the financial statements, the directors consider that adequate tax ERAMBHERTPER LRMB AR ME
provisions have been made in the financial statements in relation EMETERATIREATGEG  SLB
to certain expenses incurred by the above-mentioned subsidiaries, AEMESATBERIRESTAMEMNXT
which are in discussion with the IRD whether to qualify for the R&D BIMUBEIEAR ©

Enhanced Deduction.

11. DIVIDENDS 11. BE

2024 2023
—E-NEF —E-=F

HK$'000 HK$'000
TR TATT

Interim — HK$0.055 (2023: HK$0.055) per ordinary A B — & i E i@A% 005580 (=&

share =% :005587T) 13,485 13,722
Less: Dividend for shares held under W IRIBE AR BB R A SRR
the Company’s restricted share award g 2R H TSR A
scheme (95) (115)
Less: Attributable to shares purchased in B BRZZFE_OFAHAENA
May to August 2024 2R E 2D (47) -
13,343 13,607
Proposed final — HK$0.055 (2023: HK$0.055) B AR — R E@R0055 8T
per ordinary share —E - ZF :005587T) 13,438 13,612
Less: Proposed final dividend for shares held B IRIBE AR BB R H%ﬁ =4
under the Company’s restricted share FTEIR A 2 R P #k
award scheme REAIR B (85) (119)
13,353 13,493
26,696 27,100
The proposed final dividend for the year will be payable in cash REEZBMERAREBUREZN - &
and is subject to the approval of the Company's shareholders at the AL N BIRENEER BT RS
forthcoming annual general meeting. & JTRIEE -
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
B35 $R 2R B (AR)

31 DECEMBER 2024 — = —F+_-A=+—H

12. EARNINGS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE TO

ORDINARY EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE PARENT

The calculation of the basic earnings per share amount is based
on the profit for the year attributable to ordinary equity holders of
the parent, and the weighted average number of ordinary shares
of 243,233,417 (2023: 246,998,085) outstanding during the year, as
adjusted to exclude the shares held under the restricted share award
scheme of the Company.

The calculation of the diluted earnings per share amount is based
on the profit for the year attributable to ordinary equity holders of
the parent. The weighted average number of ordinary shares used in
the calculation is the number of ordinary shares outstanding during
the year, as used in the basic earnings per share calculation, and the
weighted average number of ordinary shares assumed to have been
issued at no consideration on the deemed vesting of all dilutive
restricted shares of the Company awarded under the restricted share
award scheme of the Company.

12.

N

?ﬂ%ﬁﬂiﬂﬁi@ﬁ’éﬂi

BEREAEFSENBEFAFLEER
BRREMFRNRZMNRFAEETEBR
DNRE I 8043233417k (Z B =4 :
246,998,085 %) 5T E - WL HIBR AR R AR
B B0 B2 B AT E178 N RIS AR D B AR o

&
B

—

BRETRNSBEIRES AR BB
REERFRRNE -AEARZER
B F B R ESRERBNMAZ
FROBTEBRHAE  URBRRAE
RIBARRBE N Z A BEEERERS
B R IERER  ARRDEEEL R
TITZ BB F B E -

MR EEER AR

—=-—mF53207



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
B35 R 2R B (AR

31 DECEMBER 2024 — = —_F&+_A=+—H

12. EARNINGS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE TO
ORDINARY EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE PARENT
(CONTINUED)

The calculations of basic and diluted earnings per share are based on:

Earnings
The calculations of basic and diluted earnings per share are based on

profit attributable to ordinary equity holders of the parent.

Shares

12.

N

AAEBRRRELSR
A (%

1]

&
=

—
~

AEEREARETRNMAEENT
27

BREAREERNTZE QR E B
REMGBMFTE -

12

Number of shares

RO EE

2024

Weighted average number of ordinary shares
outstanding during the year used in the basic BITE BRI
earnings per share calculation

Effect of dilution — weighted average number of #3857 28 — A% Nt
ordinary shares: g

Restricted shares awarded under the Company’s

restricted share award scheme B2 B R R
Number of shares used in the diluted earnings 518 & I 58 2 R B FB
f&th % 8

per share calculation
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—E-mF

AEERERBMMAEAD

RIBA R BB R G 2Rt &

243,233,417 246,998,085
1,013,587 1,115,111
244,247,004 248,113,196




NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
B35 $R 2R B (AR)

31 DECEMBER 2024 — = —F+_-A=+—H

13. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

31 December 2024

“E-MET-A=t-H

Leasehold
improvements

HEMR
3
HK$'000

TER

13. % BERRE

Computer
equipment
and software
ERRER
Bt
HK$'000
TR

Furniture,
fixtures

and other
equipment
BAE - £ER
HtR M
HK$'000
TR T

Motor
vehicles

nE

HK$'000

b

Total

.
HK$'000
TR

At 1 January 2024; RZZE-MNE—A—AR:

Cost AR 6,795 7,408 2,614 647 17,464

Accumulated depreciation ZETE (6,772) (6,597) (2,417) (647) (16,433)

Net carrying amount EmFE 23 8N 197 - 1,031
At 1 January 2024, net of RZZZME—R—8"

accumulated depreciation MR REE 23 811 197 - 1,031
Additions NE 4,523 492 932 - 5,947
Depreciation provided FRAMERE

during the year (212) (510) (120) - (842)
Exchange realignment [ R (2) 8) (3) - (13)
At 31 December 2024, net of RZEZWMFE+ZA

accumulated depreciation =t—H WREFHE 4,332 785 1,006 - 6,123
At 31 December 2024: RZZ_MF

+=ZR=+-A8:

Cost A 5,667 7,790 3,481 647 17,585

Accumulated depreciation ZETE (1,335) (7,005) (2,475) (647) (11,462)

Net carrying amount EmFE 4,332 785 1,006 - 6,123

MR EEER AR

—=—msr209



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
B35 R 2R B (AR

31 DECEMBER 2024 — = —_F&+_A=+—H

13. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
(CONTINUED)

13. Y15 - BB RHRE (&)

Fumiture,
Computer fixtures

Leasehold equipment and other Motor

improvements and software equipment vehicles

BEME EERER KA KER

%6 GO ot it
HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HKS'000
FHT  TET  TER BT TER

271 0 ANNUAL REPORT 2024

31 December 2023

At 1 January 2023
Cost
Accumulated depreciation

Net carrying amount

At 1 January 2023, net of
accumulated depreciation

Additions

Depreciation provided
during the year

Exchange realignment

At 31 December 2023, net of
accumulated depreciation

At 31 December 2023:

Cost
Accumulated depreciation

Net carrying amount

2EE
B 3E

R-ZE-=%—-f—8"
N 2FE

NE

FNTERE

R R
R-Z-=%+-A
=+—H HREFHE

R-E-=ZF
+=ZR=+-A":
A
2EIE
FEFE

Computer And Technologies Holdings Limited

6,795 7,044 2,597 647 17,083
(6,762) (6,086) (2338) (647) (15,833)
33 958 259 - 1,250
33 958 259 - 1,250
- 393 30 - 423
(10) (538) 92) - (640)
. Q) - - @
23 811 197 - 1,031
6,795 7408 2614 647 17,464
6,772) (6,597) 47) (©647) (16,433)
23 811 197 - 1,031




NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
B35 $R 2R B (AR)

31 DECEMBER 2024 — = —F+_-A=+—H

14. BEWE

14. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

2024 2023

—E-EF
HK$’000 HKS$'000
FET TAT
Carrying amount at 1 January R—A—RZEKHE 64,838 66,710
Disposal k= (2,838) =
Net loss from fair value adjustments NP EFAERZEBEFE 6 (5,000) (1,872)
Carrying amount at 31 December R+—A=+—Bz2EKEE 57,000 64,838

AEBZREMEBRTHE( T _=F:
—B) IR E A EEYER B (=
To=FCR)URBBZIEYME -
ARBEFCRESEDEZIMLE - HE

The Group’s investment properties consist of Nil (2023: one)
commercial property in Mainland China and one (2023: one)
industrial property in Hong Kong. The directors of the Company have
determined that the investment properties consist of one class (2023:
two classes) of asset, i.e, industrial (2023: commercial and industrial), LEBETREME R —EEMN I
based on the nature, characteristics and risks of each property. The BE(CZZ=F - WMEHR  HER
Group's investment properties were revalued on 31 December 2024 T4LE) R E-_NF+_A=+—
H AEBEZREMERBIZESER
HERESAERMITERAREIT ZEE
& {5 /257,000,00078 T ° 7N & [ B 7% 48 £
RE - RESEEREER  BFLSEINE
HEMBERNEEYE 2 INPM-EE - TiE
EEBEMSAH B8 BLIURES
HEFFH KA o REE B RS AAH B (L ERD
BERPBRFENBRER 2 BEMK
and valuation results twice a year when the valuation is performed for Rz BERERETRIR R ©

interim and annual financial reporting.

based on valuations performed by Landscope Surveyors Limited,
independent professionally qualified valuers, at HK$57,000,000.
Each year, the Group's Chief Financial Officer decides, after proper
approval, to appoint which external valuer to be responsible for
the external valuations of the Group's properties. Selection criteria
include market knowledge, reputation, independence and whether
professional standards are maintained. The Group's Chief Financial
Officer has discussions with the valuer on the valuation assumptions

The investment properties are leased to third parties under operating REMECREBELCEHELBTE =T
leases, further summary details of which are included in note 15 to S EMEBEH N Y EIRERMFEIS -
the financial statements.

R _WNE+-_A=+—8  A&EEH[
REB ZRMBEE4 A57,000000%8 7T 2 1%
B (ZF = =4 : 62,000,000 7T) &

At 31 December 2024, the Group's investment property situated in
Hong Kong with a carrying value of approximately HK$57,000,000
(2023: HK$62,000,000) was pledged to secure general banking

facilities granted to the Group.

Further particulars of the Group's investment properties are included

on page 254.

RBEETAREZ —RIBITREFLM -

AEBREME 2 — HFIEHNF 254
E ]

g zsemaRAT 0 —=-omas211



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
B35 R 2R B (AR

31 DECEMBER 2024 — = —_F&+_A=+—H

14. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (CONTINUED) 14. REY = (&)
Fair value hierarchy NEESRERE
The following table illustrates the fair value measurement hierarchy of TREATAEEREMEZ A VFEFES
the Group's investment properties: WBRFE

Fair value measurement as at 31 December 2024 using
REB-NFE+-ZA=+-—HZAVFEHRAUTRETE
Quoted prices Significant Significant
in active observable unobservable
markets inputs inputs

(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3)
SEEB TS EATBE EBEAFITEHE
HE 0ARE WARE

(%1/8) (%28) (%38) et
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$’000
THERT THERT TET FHET
Recurring fair value KEUHRATENE:
measurement for:
Industrial property ITEME - - 57,000 57,000

Fair value measurement as at 31 December 2023 using
RZEBZ=F+_A=1T—HZRFEZEAUATREFE
Quoted prices Significant Significant
in active observable unobservable
markets inputs inputs

(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3)
ERM S BAUBR BEANIER
wE 9 A\ BUE PN 6

(FB1E) (B202) (E3) Bt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS$'000 HKS$'000
FETT FETT FETT FETT
Recurring fair value BEEAFESE:
measurement for:
Commercial property EEL/ED - - 2,838 2,838
Industrial property IEME - - 62,000 62,000
- - 64,838 64,838
During the year, there were no transfers of fair value measurements RAFE B1BEF2EZRAITELNF
between Level 1 and Level 2 and no transfers into or out of Level 3 Bt 28R L TEANTEFEEASKEL
(2023: Nil). FI(ZEZ=F:@|) -
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
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31 DECEMBER 2024 — = —F+_-A=+—H

14. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (CONTINUED)

Fair value hierarchy (continued)
Reconciliation of fair value measurements categorised within Level 3

of the fair value hierarchy:

14. REY = ()

NP ESHRE ()
BEALTESHABEIEOA T A
BHE:

Industrial
property
TEEME

HKS$'000
FET

Commercial
property
EEME

HK$'000
TAET

Carrying amount at 1 January 2023 RZEZ=F—HA—BZEHEE 3,210 63,500
Net loss from a fair value adjustment RERFBRZ AT ERAE
recognised in profit or loss B8 F R (372) (1,500)
Carrying amount at 31 December 2023 and RZEZ=F+=ZA=+—HK
1 January 2024 —E-MF-H—HBZEHRE 2,838 62,000
Disposal & (2,838) -
Net loss from a fair value adjustment RIBZFPER A FEAR
recognised in profit or loss E5i8F %R - (5,000)
Carrying amount at 31 December 2024 RZE_WNHF+-_A=+—H2Z
fRmEE - 57,000

Below is a summary of the valuation technique used and the key
inputs to the valuation of investment properties:

T2HABEBEME

TRR/UREME/RERA ZBEITER

Fair value Significant
hierarchy Valuation technique unobservable inputs Range
NTEER EXFUBE
£ HER % HWAYE #E
2024
“E-NF
Commercial property Level 3 Market comparable method Prevailing price per square foot - RMB1,392to
BEWZ F3E AL ERE BYIRZHAER RMB2326
ARE1307E
AR® 23067
Industrial property Level 3 Market comparable method Prevailing price per square foot HK$10,205 to HKS11,754 to
I¥0% F3E [ikol:A v BYARZAGER HK$11,976 HK$ 12490
10,205 % 1T 17547870
E19768 7 21249087

Under the market comparable method (or market comparable
approach), a property’s fair value is estimated based on comparable
transactions. The market comparable approach is based on the
principle of substitution under which a potential buyer will not pay
more for the property than it will cost to buy a comparable substitute
property. The unit of comparison applied by the Group is the price
per square foot.

RIBTIH A L BOE (TS A LT ) -
MERFETIATLERR 5 RBEEME
5 AT L7 ST AR R R ERE - Bt -
BEERB T ERMENBRBEZNE
ZALBERMERSZ 22/ - AEER
RZUBEMRETFTRZER -

Mg RseEEaRAT  —T-omea5213
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14.

15.

214 ANNUAL REPORT 2024

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (CONTINUED)

Fair value hierarchy (continued)
A significant increase/(decrease) in the estimated market price per

square foot in isolation would result in a significant increase/(decrease)
in the fair value of the investment properties.

LEASES

The Group as a lessee
The Group has lease contracts for various properties used in its

operations. Leases of properties generally have lease terms between
1 and 7 years. Generally, the Group is restricted from assigning and
subleasing the leased assets outside the Group.

(a) Right-of-use assets
The carrying amounts of the Group's right-of-use assets and
the movements during the year are as follows:

14.

15.

As at 1 January n—H—H

Additions NE

Remeasurement on lease modifications HERS L ENTE
Depreciation charge e

Exchange realignment G 5 g =8

As at 31 December R+=—A=+—H

Computer And Technologies Holdings Limited

REW=E (&)

ANTFEERERE (FE)

BYME - &5 RETHHEABRE N
(RD) - #EEIRE A TEAEEN
J GR) »

HE

AEEEREBEA

AEE GG N EES RS ENENTE
AN WEEE—BROBHB—ELE -
—RTE  AEEEE L EE R AEN R
ERHBTFAEBEASNIAL -

(@) FERREAE
FRAKEEREEENREER
HET

Properties
LE S

2024 2023
—EE —E-=F
HK$’000 HK$'000
THT FHETT
7,986 10,815
18,335 405
(1,665) 4,322
(6,196) (7,540)
(154) (16)
18,306 7,986




NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
B35 $R 2R B (AR)

31 DECEMBER 2024 — = —F+_-A=+—H

15. LEASES (CONTINUED)

The Group as a lessee (continued)

(b)

Lease liabilities

The carrying amount of lease liabilities and the movements

during the year are as follows:

Carrying amount at 1 January
New leases

Remeasurement on lease modifications
Accretion of interest recognised during the year
Payments

Exchange realignment

Carrying amount at 31 December

Analysed into:
Current portion
Non-current portion

Repayable:
Within one year
In the second year
In the third to fifth years, inclusive

Beyond five years

The maturity analysis of lease liabilities is disclosed in note 35

to the financial statements.

15. & (&)

AEBEERZEBEA (B)

(b) HEEERE

FRHEHERENERRENREFWT

2024 2023
—E-NE —E o=
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHT TET
R—A—BZEREE 9,156 12,027
wHE 17,575 405
HEEE 2EHTE (2,074) 4322
FRERHBEE 1,053 469
30 (6,272) (8,051)
PE 5 58 & (143) (16)
Rt A=+—HZEHAEE 19,295 9,156
DT
mENEL 4,286 6,267
ERENE D 15,009 2,889
R AT HIRREE -
—EUR 4,286 6,267
F-F 3,399 2,041
FFEERF
(BREEEMT) 7,074 848
RF% 4,536 -
19,295 9,156

FMIEE3s -

MR EEER AR

HEBENIBOMRERER

—z=-masH215
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15. LEASES (CONTINUED)

The Group as a lessee (continued)
()  The amounts recognised in profit or loss in relation to leases

are as follows:

15. & (&)

AEBEREEA (B)
(@ BEEEMREREROSEMAT :

2024 2023
—E-NE —E =4

HK$000 HK$'000
FEx TAET

Interest on lease liabilities HEBRRZME 1,053 469
Depreciation charge of right-of-use assets ERAREEZITE 6,196 7,540
Expenses relating to short-term leases BHERNHHEEZHY 50 192
Total amount recognised in profit or loss RIBRERNE D 7,299 8,201

(d) The total cash outflow for leases is disclosed in note 30(c) to
the financial statements.

The Group as a lessor
The Group leases its investment properties (note 14) consisting of

Nil (2023: one) commercial property in Mainland China and one
(2023: one) industrial property in Hong Kong under operating lease
arrangements. The terms of the leases generally require the tenants
to pay security deposits. Rental income recognised by the Group
during the year was HKS$1,622,000 (2023: HK$1,889,000), details of
which are included in note 5 to the financial statements.

At the end of the reporting period, the undiscounted lease payments
receivable by the Group in future periods under non-cancellable
operating leases with its tenants are as follows:

(d) HEMBReREOAERMERERN
300 WEE -

AEBEES[EHEA
AEERBEEHELRY  BEREME

(MF3E14) B - BIEALH A B A R Z 18
(Z2==F: —H)ERAMERMLRES
E’J*IE(_z__i —IH) TEWE -
EMBER—REKBPINERIZE - K
%@Ki@ﬁmmﬁiWA%mpmma
TT(ZZFE == 18890008 7T) * B
BEN BT IREMES -

RBEREEER  AEERBEEEHEP
RIS Z AR BUBR G HEN R R AR E
Wz REEBEHEBEENHAT ¢

2024 2023
—E-NE —E =4

HK$’000 HK$'000
FTEx TET

Within one year —F R
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31 DECEMBER 2024 —Z — Y4 +—-HA=+—H

16. GOODWILL 16. BHE
HKS$'000
T
31 December 2023 —E-_=5+=-HA=+—H
Cost and carrying amount at 1 January 2023 and RZEZ=F—HA—BRZZTZ=%
31 December 2023 TZA=t+—BRAREEE 135,001
HK$'000
FTET
31 December 2024 —E-NE+=-A=+—H
Cost and carrying amount at 1 January 2024 and RZZEZWMF—-—A—HRZZTZNF
31 December 2024 TZA=+—BERAKREKEE 135,001
As further detailed in note 2.4 to the financial statements, the Group M FERRM T 24FT sl AEBE K
applied the transitional provisions of HKFRS 3 that permitted goodwill RAEBTBHmELERE 35 2BEME
in respect of business combinations which occurred prior to 2001 to AHR_EZ—FHIMEABEBREBE O
remain eliminated against consolidated reserves. BB RER S R -
The amount of goodwill remaining in consolidated reserves, arising RZETE—FRMASHTEBERNFE0NRN
from the acquisition of subsidiaries prior to the adoption of SSAP 30 AT BRI B A RIFTE £ WR BN R G [
in 2001, was HK$7,227,000 as at 31 December 2023 and 2024. ZEAESR NT_=FR-_T_MF

+=—RA=+—8%7227000%87TT °

Impairment testing of goodwill 2R E R
Goodwill acquired through business combinations is allocated to the Eﬁﬂfﬁ BEms  SREBatUECD
following cash-generating units for impairment testing: DEETIREEESBN
Application services cash-generating units; and . JERMRGIR S ELEEN
Solutions and Integration services cash-generating unit. . fRRTT IR R K REIA ©EEBN -
The carrying amounts of goodwill allocated to the cash-generating DRERSEABEN  HEREERAT

units are as follows:

Application Solutions and

Services Integration Services Total
& R R 3 BRERRER R B
2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023
ZE_MFE | ZT-=F CZE-NE  —ZT-=F CZB-_MNE —T-=F
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THT THT THT THT T THT
Carrying amount of goodwill HEREE 132,978 132,978 2,023 2023 135,001 135,001

R RS EEERA —mopmass217
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16. GOODWILL (CONTINUED) 16. & (&)

Impairment testing of goodwill (continued)
Application services cash-generating units

The recoverable amounts of the application services cash-generating
units have been determined based on value in use calculations using
cash flow projections approved by management covering a five-
year period. A zero (2023: zero) growth rate is used to extrapolate
the cash flows of the cash-generating units beyond the five-year
period. The discount rates applied to the cash flow projections are
13% (2023: 12%) and 10% (2023: 12%), respectively, for application
services cash-generating units in Hong Kong and Mainland China.
The cash flow projections are determined by management based on
past performance of the cash generating units and management’s
expectations for market development.

Solutions and Integration services cash-generating unit

The recoverable amount of the solutions and integration services
cash-generating unit has been determined based on a value in use
calculation using cash flow projections approved by management
covering a five-year period. A zero (2023: zero) growth rate is used
to extrapolate the cash flows of the cash-generating unit beyond
the five-year period. The discount rate applied to the cash flow
projections is 13% (2023: 12%). The cash flow projections are
determined based on past performance of the cash-generating unit
and management’s expectations for market development.

Assumptions were used in the value in use calculation of the
application services and the solutions and integration services cash-
generating units for 31 December 2024 and 31 December 2023. The
following describes each key assumption on which management has
based its cash flow projections to undertake impairment testing of
goodwill:

Budgeted/forecasted revenue

The basis used to determine the value assigned to the budgeted/
forecasted revenue is the revenue achieved in the year immediately
before the budget/forecast year, adjusted for management’s
expected change in market demand and customer base.

Budgeted/forecasted gross margins

The basis used to determine the value assigned to the budgeted/
forecasted gross margins is the average gross margins achieved
in the year immediately before the budget/forecast year, adjusted
for any expected efficiency improvements and expected market
developments.

Discount rates
The discount rates used are before tax and reflect specific risks
relating to the relevant cash-generating units.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
B35 $R 2R B (AR)

31 DECEMBER 2024 — = —F+_-A=+—H

17. OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS 17. Hfb B EE
Deferred
development Customer
costs*  relationships Software Total
9% 7 B 3% B Ak * EFH# B4 HE
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THET THET FTHET THET
31 December 2024 —E-NE
T=A=+-H
At 1 January 2024: RZZE-WNE—-A—R:
Cost AR 46,231 14,767 46,028 107,026
Accumulated amortisation RETHEERE
and impairment (24,925) (13,246) (36,563) (74,734)
Net carrying amount REFE 21,306 1,521 9,465 32,292
Cost at 1 January 2024, net of RZEZNE—A—A
accumulated amortisation ZRR - HIBR BET
and impairment BHRRE 21,306 1,521 9,465 32,292
Addition NE 107 - - 107
Amortisation provided during REF R
the year (9,684) (761) (5,097) (15,542)
At 31 December 2024 R_T M
+=-A=+—H 11,729 760 4,368 16,857
At 31 December 2024: R-Z_F
+-A=+—H
Cost DN 46,338 14,767 46,028 107,133
Accumulated amortisation RETHEERRE
and impairment (34,609) (14,007) (41,660) (90,276)
Net carrying amount REFE 11,729 760 4,368 16,857

During the year, addition of deferred development costs of HK$107,000
(2023: Nil) was from internal development.

* FR - ABREMEKA107008T(ZF
Z=F ) REBRNIBHEE -
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
B35 R 2R B (AR

31 DECEMBER 2024 — = —_F&+_A=+—H

17. OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS (CONTINUED)

17. Htb B EE (&)

220 ANNUAL REPORT 2024

Deferred
development Customer
costs relationships Software Total
i3 R B B AR BEPBER ]|t FED
HKS$'000 HK$'000 HKS$'000 HKS$'000
TR FET FET FET
31 December 2023 —EC=F
+=A=+-A

At 1 January 2023:

RZE-_=F—A—H:

Cost B AR 46,231 14,767 46,028 107,026
Accumulated amortisation 2 EERE
and impairment (17,156) (12412) (31,724) (61,292)
Net carrying amount REFE 29,075 2,355 14,304 45,734
Cost at 1 January 2023, net of R-—E-=%—A—H
accumulated amortisation ZRN - H0BR B AT
and impairment BHRRE 29,075 2,355 14,304 45734
Amortisation provided during REGHHRE
the year (7,769) (834) (4,839) (13442
At 31 December 2023 i —
—RB=+—H 21,306 1521 9,465 32,292
At 31 December 2023; i ———
+-A=+—-H
Cost B AR 46,231 14,767 46,028 107,026
Accumulated amortisation 2T BHENRE
and impairment (24,925) (13,246) (36,563) (74,734)
Net carrying amount REFE 21,306 1,521 9,465 32,292

Computer And Technologies Holdings Limited




NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
5o 35 S Y o ()

31 DECEMBER 2024 — = —F+_-A=+—H

18. INVENTORIES

18. BE&

2024 2023
—E-NEF —E =4

HK$'000 HK$'000

Work in progress ERE

19. TRADE RECEIVABLES

FEx TR
11 14

19. ERE B R

Trade receivables FEURE SRR
Impairment VERED

The Group’s trading terms with its customers vary from contract to
contract or depending on the specific arrangements with individual
customers, and may include cash on delivery, advance payment and
on credit. For those customers who trade on credit, the overall credit
period is generally within 60 days, except for certain projects with
longer implementation schedules or for major or specific customers,
where the period may be extended. The Group seeks to maintain
strict control over its outstanding trade receivables and overdue
balances are reviewed regularly by management. The Group does
not hold any collateral or other credit enhancements over its trade
receivable balances. Trade receivables are non-interest-bearing.

2024 2023
—E_NF T =%
HK$’000 HK$'000
FEx FAT
44,522 40,961
(5,008) (4,256)
39,514 36,705

REE 2 X G EFHA MR G QR T 5
BRFEP ZHRLHME  AJERRFEER
M BENREERE - L FARERR
ANETRHZEPME  BREEH R
TZR6e0X - HEMETERETLHRE
IRETERFERS  AIEREEH K
SE-HEEREHIERER ZREE SR
FoBEEINEREHARAELR - K
SEYEREFRKESRREHRTAE
MEARIELEMEESESRE - B
BHRAIALTEHE
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
B35 R 2R B (AR

31 DECEMBER 2024 — = —_F&+_A=+—H

19. TRADE RECEIVABLES (CONTINUED) 19. B E Z R (&)
An ageing analysis of the trade receivables as at the end of the RBEHEEER  ERESERILESR
reporting period, based on the invoice date and net of loss allowance, AE RS EBE 2 Rk DT T -
is as follows:

2024 2023
—E-NE —E =4

HK$’000 HK$'000

FET FET

Within 1 month —EAA 24,232 26,760
1to 3 months —Z=M@A 9,269 4956
410 6 months =75 E A 3,177 2,570
7 to 12 months +tE=+={@A 2,836 2419
39,514 36,705

The movements in the loss allowance for impairment of trade JEWE SRR O REBEREEBNT

receivables are as follows:

2024 2023
—EB-IF

HK$’000 HK$'000

FEx T

At beginning of year NG 4,256 3,923
Impairment losses, net (note 6) WEEEFEE (Mike) 793 1,066
Amount written off as uncollectable HHisH A R U Bl 5RI8 - (736)

Exchange realignment R (41) 3
At end of year % 5,008 4,256
An impairment analysis is performed at each reporting date using RS B R AREEETREDS T
a provision matrix to measure expected credit losses. The provision NErEEEEEEE - BEXTDER B
rates are based on days past due. The calculation reflects the A8ETE ZiERMIAETINEER R
probability-weighted outcome and reasonable and supportable ReERBRAENEBBTEIE - Bk
information that is available at the reporting date about past events, TR AR RAS B IG TR S IR R AT SE &K o

current conditions and forecasts of future economic conditions.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

B RS R AR BT AL ()

31 DECEMBER 2024 — = —F+_-A=+—H

19. TRADE RECEIVABLES (CONTINUED)

Set out below is the information about the credit risk exposure on the
Group’s trade receivables using a provision matrix:

Current

19. BIKWE 5 R (&)

TREIINEEE AR EEEE R
BHEFNEERRER :

Past due
okt

Less than 1to3 Over
1 month months 3 months

At 31 December 2024

Expected credit loss rate

Gross carrying amount
(HK$'000)

Expected credit losses
(HK$'000)

Credit-
impaired
receivables
EERE
WA
R-ZBZQm%F
t=A=+-H
EHREEEEX 100%
EmeE
(F#x) 3,564
BHREEER
(F&T) 3,564

L

0.18%

27,361

49

—fEAR =@ANRE

0.41% 0.97% 24.96% 11.25%
3,392 4,861 5,344 44,522
14 47 1,334 5,008

Current

nEs

Past due
Pkt

Less than Over
T month 3 months

—fEAR =EARL

At 31 December 2023

Expected credit loss rate

Gross carrying amount
(HK$'000)

Expected credit losses
(HK$'000)

Credit-
impaired
receivables
EERE
FEURIR
RZBZ=%
tZA=t-H
BHEEEERX 100%
EmeE
(FEL) 3551
BHEEER
(Fi#) 3551

0.14%

26,863

38

0.31% 0.86% 13.77% 10.39%
3,273 2,669 4605 40,961
10 23 634 4,256
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20. PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER 20. HNRIE  REeERHEMEWR
RECEIVABLES I
2024 2023
—E_E —E =4
HK$'000 HKS'000
FHEx FET
Prepayments B RRIE 12,158 10,643
Deposits and other receivables & R HE A FEYGRIA 4,983 4,943
17,141 15,586
Portion classified as current assets DERRBEER D (15,296) (14,929)
Portion classified as non-current assets NEAEREBEESD 1,845 657
The financial assets included in the above balances relate to BIER Ll 568N < W 75 & B B3 B0 1R
receivables for which there was no recent history of default and past ERES W FIBERBHSEER - X
due amounts. As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, the loss allowance ZECNERZE-=F+ZA=+—81"
was assessed by management to be minimal. ERETHEERERBE -
21. CONTRACT ASSETS 21. BREE
31 December 31 December 1 January
2024 2023 2023
—E-ImE —TE-=4F —T-=F
+=—A=+—-8 +-A=1+—H —HB—H
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FERT FHT FAT
Contract assets arising from: SHEERBUATRIE:
Sale of goods and provision of software, HEE m R
and GETS services MBI EFE SR
% 2,297 3,496 969
Provision of software implementation RSB R
and related services, and IT solutions AR « REMBHLA#
implementation and related services ES N L
R 31,697 23,135 20,552
Provision of SaaS product offering and RS AR S E
maintenance services R & R 7% 3,070 2,707 3,780

37,064 29,338 25,301
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
B35 $R 2R B (AR)

31 DECEMBER 2024 — = —F+_-A=+—H

27. CONTRACT ASSETS (CONTINUED)

Contract assets are mainly initially recognised for revenue earned
from the provision of software implementation and related services,
and IT solutions implementation and related services as the receipt
of consideration is based on the billing process. Included in contract
assets for provision of software implementation and related services,
and IT solutions implementation and related services are unbilled
amounts of revenue. Upon completion of the billing of the revenue
from contract customers, the amounts recognised as contract assets
are reclassified to trade receivables. The increase in contract assets
in 2024 was mainly due to the increase in the provision of software
implementation and related services, and IT solutions implementation
and related services near the end of the year. The increase in contract
assets in 2023 was mainly due to the increase in the provision of
software implementation and related services, and IT solutions
implementation and related services, and sale of goods and provision
of software, and GETS services near the end of that reporting year.

The expected timing of recovery or settlement for contract assets as
at 31 December is as follows:

Within one year —FR"

An impairment analysis is performed at each reporting date using
a provision matrix to measure expected credit losses. The provision
rates for the measurement of the expected credit losses of the
contract assets are based on those of the trade receivables as the
contract assets and the trade receivables are from the same customer
bases. The provision rates of contract assets are based on days past
due of trade receivables. The calculation reflects reasonable and
supportable information that is available at the reporting date about
past events, current conditions and forecasts of future economic
conditions.

None of the above assets is either past due or impaired. There was no
recent history of significant default for the related customers. Since
the contract assets are still current and the payment is not yet due,
the expected credit loss rates of contract assets are assessed by the
management to be minimal.

21.

BHREE (A)

HARENKREDEEENRERENE
B RS EEMAAERS - ARE
R RR 77 2 B s M A8 B8 AR 75 P 15 W A7)
IRFER BB KN EE - SLIRE ST E G &AE
BAARFS - A R B AR AR T R E i M AE
BRI AGHNEEAFRERAZE -
TRENTPBRAFRHLRER  ZFCHE
RBANEENSHEEN T BERKE
ZEAR R _F_FENANEELE T
TEHNEOFRAMBHEGE LA
R - REAREAR T RE i & AERIR
BN -R-B-_=FWNENEER
MIDE B BRI Z MRS F4E B RHE
HEELBERY - REAREBERL R
B RAABERY - RIHEE W MRS
KRBRFETE S RFBIE AT -

RTZA=+—8 AHNEENEHKE
HAEERENT

2024 2023
—s-mE =

HK$’000
FEx
37,064

HK$'000
THET

29,338

RETRE B RRAREBREETRED T
UEtERMEEER sEANEERY
EEERNBREXTDENERE SIRRTE
HEEBERBXZFEMGSH  RAR
BHEENREBEESREFIKEHREFLE
e ANEENBBXRIIERENA KM
BT - ZtEIERBRNRES BRI SR
BRUBESHE - 2R ORI 1T
TBRINGE R AT SEEH

tHEEGEBRIRE - HETP IS
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REH HEREFHANEENELE
EEREREBE -
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
B35 R 2R B (AR

31 DECEMBER 2024 — = —_F&+_A=+—H

22. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH 22 BT ELER ARZMK
PROFIT OR LOSS BE

2024 2023
—E-NE —E=F
HK$’000 HKS'000
FExT TET
Debt investment, at fair value BAVEHEZERKRE 2,100 2,100
Listed equity investments, at fair value BRAFEFE 2 LTRAERE 1,926 2,206
4,026 4,306
Portion classified as current assets DEARSEEISS (1,926) (2,206)
Portion classified as non-current assets DIERIERDEEIS 2,100 2,100

The listed equity investments were classified as financial assets at fair
value through profit or loss as they were held for trading.

The debt investment was mandatorily classified as a financial asset at
fair value through profit or loss as its contractual cash flows are not
solely payments of principal and interest.

As at 31 December 2024, the Group's listed equity investments with
a carrying value of approximately HK$1,926,000 (2023: HK$2,206,000)
were pledged to secure general banking facilities granted to the
Group.

226 ANNUAL REPORT 2024 Computer And Technologies Holdings Limited

EHBRANEERBREEEMED ERIR
NP ERBRZARZHBEE -

BHRRE TSRO BERRAFELE
S ARCHBEE REGHRSREY
FEUIRIMNARE RFE -

R-ZTE-ME+-_F=+—8 AEHZ
ETRAEREEL £1,9260008 7T (=
T Z4F 122060008 70) B ABERT
REEZ —MIRITRE(EIEA -



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
B35 $R 2R B (AR)

31 DECEMBER 2024 — = —F+_-A=+—H

23. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND PLEDGED 23. BEREFREEEUREE

BANK DEPOSITS

HRITER

2024 PUVE!
—E-ImEF —T=F

HK$’000 HK$'000
FTEx TET

Cash and bank balances Be MIRTER 71,593 59,220
Time deposits TE HATE 3K 259,805 257,391
331,398 316,611
Less: Pledged time deposits for performance W BIRITE L 2 BARE
bonds/guarantees issued by banks EREEREHEXK (172) (405)
Pledged bank balances and time deposits for BRI B 2 RITRVEFT
banking facility granted by a bank* AR RIT 45 80 S E HAfE 0 (202,319) (61)
Cash and cash equivalents as stated in the FFABREM BT ZEE R
consolidated statement of financial position ERBeEE 128,907 316,145

The bank facility has not been utilised as at the end of the reporting period.

At the end of the reporting period, the cash and bank balances
and time deposits of the Group denominated in Renminbi (“RMB”)
amounted to approximately HK$25,042,000 (2023: HK$39,638,000).
The RMB is not freely convertible into other currencies, however,
under Mainland China’s Foreign Exchange Control Regulations and
Administration of Settlement, and Sale and Payment of Foreign
Exchange Regulations, the Group is permitted to exchange RMB
for other currencies through banks authorised to conduct foreign
exchange business.

Cash at banks earns interest at floating rates based on relevant bank
deposit rates. Short term time deposits are made for varying periods
of between one and six months depending on the immediate cash
requirements of the Group, and earn interest at the respective short
term time deposit rates. The bank balances and time deposits are
deposited with creditworthy banks with no recent history of default.

* RRESFBAER WRABHAZRTRE -

RIEHBEER  REBUARE (TA
REDFEZESRBITEH LTS
17 349 525,042,000 T (Z B — =4 :
39,638,000/ 70) - ARBEAATEAKIRA
EahEE - BRIES H R INEE 12 R
MaElE EENNETIERT  AEEE
B BT EITINEER 2 BITHEARE
HinBEAING o

RITR S RBAABRITEHA S REHF
8 TR RN T =
AEATE BT AEBEERS B R
o WSS BTG RAETE - B
TRBRERERITENERRFAN
90 4 4 R R R 2 R4 -
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
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24. TRADE PAYABLES, OTHER PAYABLES AND
ACCRUALS, AND PROVISION

Trade payables FERE SRR
Other payables H A 3R

Accruals JEETFIE

Provision BiE

Portion classified as current liabilities SEAERBEES
Portion classified as non-current liabilities NEAEREA

An ageing analysis of the trade payables as at the end of the reporting

period, based on the invoice date, is as follows:

Within 1 month
1to 3 months
4 to 6 months
Over 6 months

The trade payables are non-interest-bearing and are normally settled
on 30-day terms.
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Zl:l/ﬁ °©

24 ERE SRR  HiENSRE
A ] oy
RIS HIERBE
2024 2023
—E-NEF —E =4
HK$’000 HKS$'000
THE T FHETT
12,176 11,174
31,034 30,015
27,264 27,468
795 —
71,269 68,657
(70,474) (68,657)
795 -
RMEHBLEER  BRNESRIUIERE
BZBRBRTIT
2024 2023
—“E-NEF —E =4
HK$’000 HKS$'000
FET FHETT
11,651 9,324
354 1,038
5 415
166 397
12,176 11,174
ENESEREFRUTE  —RIZ30XER



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
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31 DECEMBER 2024 — = —F+_-A=+—H

25. CONTRACT LIABILITIES

Details of contract liabilities are as follows:

Advances received from customers
Sale of goods and provision of software,
and GETS services

Provision of software implementation
and related services, and IT solutions
implementation and related services

Provision of Saa$ product offering and
maintenance services

Portion classified as current liabilities

Portion classified as non-current liabilities

EWEL 2

HEE m R IEHE
AR5

R T B iE R AERE
k75 - REFMEBHX
RDREBR
R AR5

REHF R ER
B # AR 7%

31 December

—E-NmE

BHERE
ANBREEEDT -

31 December 1 January
2024 2023 2023
—E-=F —Eo=F

t=A=+—-8 t=-A=+—H —H—H
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR TAET TR

3,555 1,133 3,378
13,507 15,657 18,584
44,040 36,750 33,635
61,102 53,540 55,597

(60,208) (52,143) (54,190)
894 1,397 1,407

The majority of the contract liabilities mainly include advances
received to render software implementation and related services, and
IT solutions implementation and related services, and the provision
of Saa$ product offering and maintenance services. The increase in
contact liabilities in 2024 was mainly due to the increase in advances
received from customers in relation to the provision of SaaS product
offering and maintenance services. The decrease in contract liabilities
in 2023 was mainly due to the decrease in advances received from
customers in relation to the provision of software implementation
and related services, and IT solutions implementation and related
services, and the provision of Saa$S product offering and maintenance
services at the end of that reporting year.

RN EHNABEETERERRERTER
RARERE  REARBERDRER R
HE B8 AR %5 DA e B2 A R 1 B AR 75 22 m e M v
RIGATRERR B R - R ZE - MFHEL
BEENEZHNEH-EFAIRSE @
RgERBZEREFPBFIBM - R=F
“ZEWMANABERI ERHNEREF
HERHEARETTEEAERSE - K&
AR AR R T R B s M A B AR TS M B AR
1 B AR 7% 2 an M 4 R AR TS 2 B MR P 2 K
e
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
B35 R 2R B (AR

31 DECEMBER 2024 —Z UG+ _-A=+—H

26. DEFERRED TAX

The movements in deferred tax assets and liabilities during the year

are as follows:

26. EEFIE
ER - REHELERBEZE#BHMT -

Deferred tax assets EEBIEEE
Temporary
differences
arising from
Lease contract
liabilities liabilities Total
RERHER
HEAE ZERER B
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THERT THET THET
At 1 January 2024 RZZ-_WE—HA—H 710 2,005 2,715
Deferred tax charged to the consolidated ~ FERFRLGAEBE R Z
statement of profit or loss during the year  IEEF4 18 (532) (1,338) (1,870)
Exchange realignment ME 3 S EE - (72) (72)
Gross deferred tax assets at RZZEZMF+H
31 December 2024 =—t+—HIELEFE
BEEH 178 595 773
Deferred tax liabilities EEBIEEE
Fair value
adjustments
Deferred arising from
Revaluation development acquisitionof ~ Withholding  Right-of-use
of properties costs  subsidiaries taxes assets Total
BEE WEREAR
NEER  BENER 2ATERZ BB GREEE ag
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR TER TR TER TR TR
At January 2024 RZF-R¥-A-A 3 3515 2,685 516 699 7,688
Deferred tax credited to the consolidated FREF ASRABHR L
statement of profit or loss during ERERE
the year (273) (1,593) (1,403) (381) (527) (4,177)
Gross deferred tax liabilties at RZBZME+=ZA=1+—A
31 December 2024 BRREEEEE - 1922 1,282 135 172 351
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31 DECEMBER 2024 — = —F+_-A=+—H

26. DEFERRED TAX (CONTINUED) 26. ELEHIE (&)
Deferred tax assets BEEMEEE
Temporary
differences
arising from
Lease contract
liabilities liabilities Total
KEGHERE
HEBE 2B AR k]
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T FHET FHET
At 1 January 2023 RZE-_=F—HA—H = 2,205 2,205
Deferred tax credited/(charged) to the ~ FEWEF A (FIBR) 424
consolidated statement of profit or Bk 2 IELERIA
loss during the year 710 (200) 510
Gross deferred tax assets at 31 RZE-_=F+=A4
December 2023 =+ —RIEERIE
BEER 710 2,005 2,715
Deferred tax liabilities EEHAEE
Fair value
adjustments
Deferred arising from
Revaluation development acquisition of Withholding Right-of-use
of properties taxes assets
NEE( ik 2R B R RRERE
HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HKS'000
TET THL THL TEL THL
At 1 January 2023 RZZ-=%-A—H 366 4797 4057 887 - 10,107
Deferred tax charged/(credited) R/ (] N\) 24
to the consolidated BRERZEERE
statement of profit or
loss during the year (93) (1282) (1372) (371) 699 (2419
Gross deferred tax liabilitesat ~ R=F==%F+=f
31 December 2023 ZT-BELHE
AEEE 73 3515 2,685 516 699 7,688
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26. DEFERRED TAX (CONTINUED) 26. EAEFIIE ()

The Group is liable for withholding taxes on dividends distributed
by those subsidiaries established in Mainland China in respect of
earnings generated from 1 January 2008. The applicable rate is 5% or
10% for the Group.

At 31 December 2024, no deferred tax has been recognised for
withholding taxes that would be payable on certain unremitted
earnings that are subject to withholding taxes of the Group’s
subsidiaries established in Mainland China. In the opinion of the
directors, it is not probable that these subsidiaries will distribute
such earnings in the foreseeable future. The aggregate amount of
temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries
in Mainland China for which deferred tax liabilities have not been
recognised totalled approximately HK$2,361,000 at 31 December
2024 (2023: HK$2,432,000).

There are no income tax consequences attaching to the payment of
dividends by the Company to its shareholders.

Tax losses not recognised
At the end of the reporting period, the Group had unrecognised tax

losses arising in Hong Kong of approximately HK$3,714,000 (2023:
HK$1,305,000), subject to the agreement by the Hong Kong Inland
Revenue Department, that are available indefinitely for offsetting
against future taxable profits arising in Hong Kong of the companies
in which the losses arose. The Group also has estimated tax loss
arising in Mainland China of HK$35,773,000 (2023: HK$24,225,000),
subject to the agreement by the relevant tax authority in Mainland
China, for offsetting against future taxable profits arising in Mainland
China of the companies in which the losses arose which will expire
in one to five years. Deferred tax assets have not been recognised
in respect of these losses as they have mainly arisen in subsidiaries
that have been loss-making for some time and/or due to the
unpredictability of future taxable profit streams of the companies in
which the losses arose, and it is currently not considered probable
that taxable profits will be available against which the tax losses can
be utilised.
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MEBARTKAREDRZSAEF - R_F
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MEARKRARBzZYREZHEAHEAH
#72,361,00078 70 (ZF = = : 2,432,000/
L) T ERRECRERE -
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KRR HBEREE
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MR EE B 437140008 L (Z T - =
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HWTEAEBRBERRY - XEE IS HEHE
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27. SHARE CAPITAL

Shares

Authorised: SETERRA
1,000,000,000 (2023: 1,000,000,000)
ordinary shares of HK$0.10 each

BT BB

Issued and fully paid: EEITREBERA
244,334,384 (2023: 247,018,384)
ordinary shares of HK$0.10 each

BT BB

A summary of movements in the Company’s issued ordinary share
capital, share premium account and shares held under the restricted
share award scheme is as follows:

27. BR&

&)

2024
—R_-F

2023
T4
HKS$'000
FAT

HK$’000
FEx

1,000,000,000f% (=& = =4 :
1,000,000,000 J&% ) =A% E & 0.10

244334384 1% (= F — =4 :
247,018,384 J%) F AL TEI{E0.10

100,000 100,000
24,433 24,702
ARRIBBFITEBBRA - B8 & KRR

BARERGIRG ZENET EFHE 2R E B
ZmT

Shares held
under the
Number Share restricted
of shares Issued premium  share award
Ordinary shares inissue capital account scheme
REFRH
R RRE
BRT ER7T Kk  HEES
REAEE R& ik 2R B aE
HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HK$'000
FHL FHL FHL FHL
At 1 January 2023 RZE-=%F—H—H 249,488,384 24,949 53,104 (6,204) 71,849
Shares repurchased BER R (2470,000) (247) (5957) - (6,204)
Purchase of shares held under the restricted & B 7 1R #1871 B =1 &I
share award scheme ET &R 28 - - - (1,130) (1,130)
Vesting of shares held under the restricted & R 1 i 1 #2 B)at 158 F
share award scheme BRnBE 28 - - - 1880 1,880
At 31 December 2023 and e
at 1 January 2024 Z+-BRRZZ-NF
—HR—H 247,018,384 24,702 47147 (5,454) 66,395
Shares repurchased BERH (2,684,000) (269) (5737) - (6,006)
Vesting of shares held under the restricted 5 R | % 17 42 B) &t 158 F
share award scheme RinBE 28 - - - 1582 1582
At 31 December 2024 RZB-ME+-A
=ft-H 244,334,384 24433 41410 (3872) 61971
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27.

28.

234 ANNUAL REPORT 2024

SHARE CAPITAL (CONTINUED)

Restricted shares
Details of the Company’s restricted share award scheme and the

restricted shares held under the scheme are included in note 28 to
the financial statements.

RESTRICTED SHARE AWARD SCHEME

The Company adopted a restricted share award scheme (the “Award
Scheme”) on 22 May 2008 and renewed the Award Scheme on 31
May 2017 (the “Renewed Date”) under which shares of the Company
(the "Awarded Shares”) may be awarded to selected employees
(including directors) of any members of the Group (the “Selected
Employees”) in accordance with the provisions of the Award Scheme
and an irrevocable trust (the “Trust”) was also established by the
Company for the purpose of the Award Scheme. The Award Scheme
became effective on the adoption date and, unless otherwise
terminated or amended, will remain in force for 10 years from the
Renewed Date. The Award Scheme is to expire on 31 May 2027.
Further details of the Award Scheme are also set out in circulars of the
Company dated 29 April 2008 and 26 April 2017.

The aggregate number of the Awarded Shares currently permitted
to be awarded under the Award Scheme throughout the duration
of the Award Scheme is limited to 10% of the issued share capital of
the Company from time to time or such other percentage as notified
to them by the board of directors of the Company (the “Board”)
(provided that the overall limit on the number of shares which may
be issued upon exercise of all outstanding options granted and yet
to be exercised under any other incentive or share option schemes
and under the Award Scheme must not exceed 30% of the shares
of the Company in issue from time to time). Subject to the aforesaid
limit, the maximum number of the Awarded Shares which may be
awarded under the Award Scheme shall not exceed 2% of the issued
share capital of the Company as at the year end date of the preceding
financial year of the Company for any 12-month period up to and
including the date of the relevant grant. The maximum number of
the Awarded Shares which may be awarded to a Selected Employee
under the Award Scheme shall not exceed 1% of the issued share
capital of the Company as at the year end date of the preceding
financial year of the Company.

Computer And Technologies Holdings Limited

27.

28.

eN)

BRI R

AR BEVE R BB 2B ET 8 RAR R AT 8
FB 2 ARSI FBHN MBS HRERM
28°

BRI REE S
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28. RESTRICTED SHARE AWARD SCHEME 28. ARFIR G EBE (B)
(CONTINUED)
Pursuant to the rules governing the operation of the Award Scheme BIBRET R E 2 EERA (58148
(the “Scheme Rules”), the Board shall select the Selected Employees Al))  EEeARELCTRES  WET
and determine the number of the Awarded Shares to be awarded. BE N REROEE - ESE AT
The Board shall cause to pay the trustee of the Trust (the “Trustee”) XA TZTADBIEEAZARRE R
the purchase price and the related expenses from the Company’s M UAERRIZERAZTEAZTEAR
resources for the shares of the Company to be purchased by the MEHER IAXARESSRTERSE
Trustee. The Trustee is a third party appointed by the Board for the BB E=0  c XEAERMHAEA
administration of the Award Scheme. The Trustee shall purchase EETEMRECARRTBREE@AHE KD -
from the market such number of shares of the Company awarded WARERD  BEEZEROILEH A
as specified by the Board and shall hold such shares until they are TUSRB AL -
vested in accordance with the Scheme Rules.
When a Selected Employee has satisfied all vesting conditions, which FETEESENESENEL ZERKIE
might include service and/or performance conditions, specified by EZ—RBEH (SeRERSE KK
the Board at the time of making the award and becomes entitled FIBGH) W ERESREXNRE T8
to the shares of the Company forming the subject of the award, the ZARNAIRNE  XFEABBEEREE
Trustee shall transfer the relevant vested Awarded Shares to that e BEETZIEES - AN - ZEH
employee at no cost. The Selected Employee, however, is not entitled BEEBSNEWEEMWAS DR - Fl2Am
to receive any income or distribution, such as dividend derived WECHERBEERBRNDEE ZRE - Ll
from the unvested Awarded Shares allocated to him/her. The said WASED RBEAZTAARIIXFTAR
income or distributions shall be used by the Trustee for payment of A sk AR E 2 AR ARG ©

the Trustee’s fees or expenses or for purchase of further shares of the
Company for the Award Scheme.

The Trustee shall not exercise the voting rights in respect of any ZREAPNFRBETLFEE 2R R RIEMAR
shares of the Company held under the Trust, including, inter alia, the H(EFREEERORUAEAmEEZHE
Awarded Shares and further shares of the Company acquired out of AR AIEE 2 AN EID) 1T I M -
the income derived therefrom.

The fair value of the Awarded Shares awarded was based on the RBE_Z_NF+_A=T—HBIEFE -
market value of the Company’s shares at the grant date and the BE L EERG 2 ATFERERRBRORN
Group recognised an equity-settled share-based payment expense L AEE) A Bl 2 T E A A S B AT R AR
of HK$1,247,000 for the year ended 31 December 2024 (2023: HEAEE AR 0 S 3R 21,247,000 7T (=
HK$1,488,000). T =4 148800078 7C) 5T H -

During the year ended 31 December 2024, 614,000 Awarded Shares RBE_Z_NF+A=T—"HBIEFE -
(2023: 764,000 Awarded Shares) were vested and transferred to RRARETHRITES  ARATHREH K
certain executive directors of the Company, the chief executive of REEETREREESB X E:#614000 8%
the Company and certain employees of the Group. During the year RER D (ZF = =4 : 764,000 f% 42 Fh I
ended 31 December 2024, upon the vesting of certain Awarded M) REBE_T-_NF+_HA=+—H
Shares, the carrying value of the shares held under the restricted ILFE - ETRBROERFER  RAEARQ
share award scheme account of the Company was reduced by ARG REGTEIRR B THRB KD
HK$ 1,582,000 (2023: HK$1,880,000) and such amount was transferred AR T BB 21,582,000 T (ZE =4 :
to the share-based payment reserve of the Company. 1,880,000 7C)  Z e BMEEE EAR QT

B D FRRE A -
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28. RESTRICTED SHARE AWARD SCHEME
(CONTINUED)

In the prior year, the Trustee acquired for the Award Scheme
496,000 ordinary shares of the Company through purchases on the
open market at a total cost (including related transaction costs) of

approximately HKS$1,130,000.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, no Awarded Shares were
awarded. In the prior year, 810,000 Awarded Shares were awarded
to certain executive directors of the Company, the chief executive
of the Company and certain employees of the Group, which will
be transferred to the employees at Nil consideration, subject to the
satisfaction of certain service conditions, upon vesting in various

tranches, with the last tranche ending on 30 April 2027.

The following Awarded Shares were awarded and unvested under
the Award Scheme during the year:

At 1 January KR—HA—H
Awarded during the year FREH

Vested during the year FNEE

At 31 December R+ZA=+—H

Out of the total of 14,445,000 Award Shares awarded, 4,750,000
Awarded Shares were awarded to the executive directors of the

Company.

At the date of approval of these financial statements, the Company
had 1,020,000 Awarded Shares unvested under the Award Scheme,
which represented approximately 0.4% of the Company’s ordinary

shares in issue at that date.

Computer And Technologies Holdings Limited

28.

AR R R B S (&)

EF ST ARBEEEEARMISEN
4911300008 T2 B A (BRIEHBER S
A7) BE A 496,000 AR 2 B EEBAR o

REE-_E-_NFE+-_A=+—HIFE -
W BB o AT - 810,000 8% 22 E)
BROEBRTFARRETFTHITES - A2
THEEERAEBETREE  ZZ58ER
DBRETRISIEHERE  ROHXER
BRNEEEETRES  &EMHEBRD
R-ZE-_+FNA=Z+HEE-

FA- REZEFEERED KRB 2%
BRI

2024 2023
—EComE —E-=F
Weighted Weighted
average Number of average Number of
fair value unvested fair value unvested
at grant date Awarded = at grant date Awarded
per share Shares per share Shares
R B RE LB
Bk AEBER FERNE AEBEE
FHAYLE BRHEEE | FHAFE Pin 2 B
HK$ HKS
BT BT
2,10 1,634,000 233 1,588,000
- - 1.92 810,000
2.21 (614,000) 237 (764,000)
2,04 1,020,000 2.10 1,634,000

ERE 7 A 14,445,000 B% 22 B) B% 17
B a AR MITE F1% 4,750,000 A% 22 E)
B A7 e

RHEL SRR E R ARRIRE &
BharEl AR B 2 2R IR 88 & 1,020,000
B IEARARRNZBZERITEBERY
0.4% °
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29.

30.

RESERVES

The amounts of the Group's reserves and the movements therein
for the current and prior years are presented in the consolidated
statement of changes in equity on pages 131 to 132 of the financial
statements.

Pursuant to the relevant PRC laws and regulations, a portion of the
profits of the Group's subsidiaries, which are established in the PRC,
has been transferred to reserve funds which are restricted as to use.
The subsidiaries are not required to effect any further transfer when
the amount of the reserve funds reaches 50% of their registered
capital.

The Group’s goodwill reserve represents goodwill which arose on
the acquisition of certain subsidiaries in prior years and remains
eliminated against consolidated reserves, as further explained in note
16 to the financial statements.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT
OF CASH FLOWS

(a) Major non-cash transactions
During the year, the Group had non-cash additions to right-

of-use assets, lease liabilities and provision of HK$18,335,000
(2023: HK$405,000), HKS$17,575,000 (2023: HK$405,000)
and HK$760,000 (2023: Nil), respectively, in respect of lease
arrangements for properties.

29.

30.

e

REBRERINBEFEZHESERE
EH 2R PBRREFINEINAEZ
RAEREEK -

REBRBEREDERZIER  RPBERILZ
AEEHBARZHBANBCERERHE
e WRHIEM - BEXEHBAR 2
BESEINHEEIMERZ50%E - ZEH
BARHBEEE - SEE-

AN B IHREM T 16— TR - KAEH
ZEERBBERBEFERBETHER
AEAZEHE  BEERKRARELH-

mEREREBRME

(@) FEHFBEEXRS
FRN AEEEEYWERAETHD
FREEE HEaBREBENIE
BEAE D B A18335000% T (=
T T = 4F 1 405,000/ 7C) ~ 17,575,000
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30. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT 30. MEBEERERME (&)
OF CASH FLOWS (CONTINUED)
(b) Changes in liabilities arising from financing (b) METEMEEZ2AEED
activities

Lease liabilities

HEEE
HK$'000
FExT

2024 —E-—mE
At 1 January 2024 RZZTE-mF—A—H 9,156
Changes from financing cash flows BERSRES (6,272)
New leases HE 17,575
Remeasurement on lease modifications HESE L EMTE (2,074)
Interest expense B 1,053
Exchange realignment EREHW (143)
At 31 December 2024 —ZE_mME+-—RA=+—H 19,295

Lease liabilities

HEAE
HKS$'000
FET
2023 —E-=
At 1 January 2023 RZEBE-_=F—H—H 12,027
Changes from financing cash flows BMERSRELH (8,051)
New leases HE 405
Remeasurement on lease modifications HEST v EHTE 4322
Interest expense FERE 469
Exchange realignment PE X 32 (16)
At 31 December 2023 RIBZ_=F+-HA=+—H 9,156
(c) Total cash outflow for leases () HEHABSHRE
The total cash outflow for leases included in the statement of FARESRERNHEHERR SR
cash flow is as follows: mr

2024 2023
—E_-_MF —E-=F

HK$’000 HK$'000

FTET T

Within operating activities LETEBN 50 192
Within financing activities BEREA 6,272 8,051
6,322 8,243
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31. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES 31. HARER
At the end of the reporting period, contingent liabilities in connection RFERBLEER - WARRIMEIHREAIE
with certain guarantees not provided for in the financial statements ERERE TEREBIKAGENT

were as follows:

Guarantees have been given to certain banks by the Company for RZZEZWNFE+ZA=+—H8 " AQFAB
facilities relating to performance bonds/guarantees issued by the MAGEEAZE 2ETEAOMASHERITE
banks in relation to certain contracts undertaken by the Group PZBHORE/EREBzZRERS T
amounting to HK$31,700,000 as at 31 December 2024 (31 December RITIRME A 317000008 (ZE-=4F
2023: HK$31,700,000), of which HK$22,168,000 (31 December 2023: +ZA=+—8 :31,700,0008T) Z IR
HK$20,656,000) was utilised as at 31 December 2024. He22,168000 8 L (ZE-_=F+_A

=+—H8 :20656008TT) BN
F+—-_A=+—H#HA-

32. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 32. BEAERS
In addition to the transactions, arrangements and balances detailed Rt EMBHRREMESFR LIRS K
elsewhere in these financial statements, the Group had the following EREHRIN  XEBRFANBEIT TSI
transactions with related parties during the year: BALRS :
Compensation of key management personnel of the Group: REBXETEASZMEHET :
2024 2023
—E-_ME
HK$’000 HKS$'000
FHExT T
Short term employee benefits and other benefits 58 B {& B 18 F I H 1t 42 7| 14,666 14,993
Equity-settled share-based payment expense iR s H AR ) R 801 726
Retirement benefit scheme contributions RIRBHRET B
(defined contribution schemes) (ERBHRETE) 162 158
Total compensation paid to key management SINEEERABZHEBEE
personnel 15,629 15,877
These included continuing connected transactions exempt from the IS ERER S BEER R ET LR
connected transaction requirements under Rule 14A.95 of the Listing FUASENBER ZHFT - RIE LR
Rules. The above related party transactions are fully exempt under RIZEV4AE - LIBEE T X 2 HE R ©

Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

Further details of directors’ and the chief executive’s emoluments are FENITHRBEKING & — DFBHN
included in note 8 to the financial statements. WM TMFES ©
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33. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY 33. I IEZSE
The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial EHRAGBTARNRERBEER KA
instruments as at the end of the reporting period are as follows: (ERORNE
2024 —E_ME
Financial assets MEEE
Financial assets
at fair value
through
profit or loss
BAFELER
ARZEBKEE
Mandatorily Financial
designed assets at
assuch amortised cost Total
Bl 778 K%
MEEE ARZHBEEE HEE
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET FHET
Trade receivables FEUE Z R - 39,514 39,514
Deposits and other receivables & ME A FEAGRIE - 4,983 4,983
Financial assets at fair value through BEAFELERAR
profit or loss 2B EE 4,026 - 4,026
Pledged bank deposits EHEARITIER - 202,491 202,491
Cash and cash equivalents RehERBECEE - 128,907 128,907
4,026 375,895 379,921
Financial liabilities g S=Ki
Financial
liabilities at
amortised cost
2 8 68 R 7R
ARZHBER
HK$'000
FHET
Trade payables ERE SRR 12,176
Other payables E BT ROR 31,034
Financial liabilities included in accruals FTARRTRIBZ MBEE 8,789
Lease liabilities HEBE 19,295
71,294
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33. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY 33. I T Ao (&)
(CONTINUED)
2023 —E—-=
Financial assets MEEE

Financial assets
at fair value

through

profit or loss
BATELER
AR B EE

Mandatorily Financial
designed assets at
as such amortised cost

58 il REEHA AR
WMtIEE ABRZHMBEE

HK$'000 HKS'000
FHET FHET

Trade receivables JEW & Z BR R - 36,705 36,705
Deposits and other receivables R& RHM EYFRIE - 4,943 4,943

Financial assets at fair value through BATELERAR
profit or loss ZIHBEE 4306 - 4,306
Pledged bank deposits EEARITER - 466 466
Cash and cash equivalents RehkERBESEE - 316,145 316,145
4,306 358,259 362,565

Financial liabilities BKaE

Financial
liabilities at
amortised cost
TR SR AR
AR BEE
HK$'000
FHET
Trade payables IS E SR 11,174
Other payables H fth fE T 5RIE 30,015
Financial liabilities included in accruals FFABRRIBE U BEE 9,070
Lease liabilities HEAaE 9,156
59,415
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34. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF 34, BRI AEAFERAFESEHR

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

At the end of the reporting period, the carrying amounts of the
Group’s financial assets and liabilities reasonably approximated to
their fair values.

Management has assessed that the fair values of cash and cash
equivalents, pledged bank deposits, trade receivables, current portion
of deposits and other receivables, trade payables, other payables
and financial liabilities included in accruals reasonably approximate
to their carrying amounts largely due to the short term maturities of
these instruments or the effect of discounting is not material.

The fair values of the financial assets and liabilities are included
at the amount at which the instrument could be exchanged in a
current transaction between willing parties, other than in a forced or
liquidation sale. The following methods and assumptions were used
to estimate the fair values for certain financial instruments:

The fair values of the non-current deposits have been calculated by
discounting the expected future cash flows using rates currently
available for instruments with similar terms. In the opinion of the
directors, the fair values of these financial instruments reasonably
approximate to their carrying amounts.

The fair values of listed equity investments are based on quoted
market prices.

The fair value of a club membership debenture included in debt
investment is based on available market prices.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
B35 $R 2R B (AR)

31 DECEMBER 2024 — = —F+_-A=+—H

34. FAIRVALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

Fair value hierarchy
The following tables illustrate the fair value measurement hierarchy of

the Group’s financial instruments:

Assets measured at fair value:
As at 31 December 2024

34.

Quoted prices
in active
markets

(Level 1)
b
miaHE
(E18)
HK$'000
THT

MBITAQAFERRIFESER
&R (&)

DFESRRE
TRERAEEMBTAZATENES
MR

BAFEHNEBZEE
RZE-_WMF+=-_A=+—H

Fair value measurement using
ATEFAUTSE;E
Significant
observable

inputs
(Level 2)
EXTHE
BAYE
($218)
HK$'000
THET

Significant
unobservable
inputs

(Level 3)

ER IR 5
BAHE
(E3E)
HK$'000
THET

ag
HK$'000
TET

Financial assets at fair value through BRATELERARZ
profit or loss: PHEE -
Listed equity investments THAREEE 1,926 - - 1,926
Debt investment EBERE - 2,100 - 2,100
1,926 2,100 . 4,026

As at 31 December 2023

Quoted prices
in active
NELES

(Level 1)
TR
TS ME
(#18)
HK$'000
THT

RZE-_=F+=-_A=+—H

Fair value measurement using
ATEFANTRENE
Significant
observable
inputs

(Level 2)
BEAAER
BARR
(£208)
HK$'000
THAT

Significant
unobservable
inputs

(Level 3)
BANABEE
BABE
(£3E)
HK$'000
THT

)

o HR
HKS'000
TR

Financial assets at fair value through BEATESESAEY
profit or loss: WBEE -
Listed equity investments iR ARE 2,206 - - 2,206
Debt investment EBRE - 2,100 - 2,100
2206 2100 - 4306
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34.

35.
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FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

Fair value hierarchy (continued)
Liabilities measured at fair value:

The Group did not have any financial liabilities measured at fair value
as at 31 December 2024 and 2023.

During the year, there were no transfers of fair value measurements
between Level 1 and Level 2 and no transfers into or out of Level 3 for
both financial assets and financial liabilities (2023: Nil).

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
AND POLICIES

The Group's principal financial instruments include lease liabilities,
pledged bank deposits and cash and cash equivalents. The main
purpose of these financial instruments is to raise finance for the
Group's operations. The Group has various other financial assets and
liabilities such as trade receivables, deposits and other receivables,
trade and other payables, financial liabilities included in accruals, and
financial assets at fair value through profit or loss, which mainly arise
directly from its operations or investments.

The main risks arising from the Group's financial instruments are
interest rate risk, foreign currency risk, credit risk, equity price risk and
liquidity risk. The board of directors reviews and agrees policies for
managing each of these risks and they are summarised below.

Computer And Technologies Holdings Limited

34.

35.

MBTIAQAFERRIFESER
3R (&)

AP EEHREE (F)
ROAFEFEZEE:
AEBR-_ZE-_NFER=-_ZE-_=F1+=A
—t+—BYEIMRAFEFEZTKE

F o

FRN RUBKEERMBEEENS &
1BEFEBEZHMEQATEFEEE
MEQATEAEEARELEIE (=T
TZFEE) o

MigEEEEBERBER

AEEZIENBIABREEERE
ERRTERARRSRERARTEE
HWEMBTAZTIERE I RASE ZE
GRE AREEEMZEMBEERA
B ENE SRR e AR
B BNESERFREMBENFIE - GTA
ARz M B AaERE A FELERA
ReHMBEE UEMBEERABEEIR
BXRFLERREERES -

AEEFHTREL 2 TREMR B ERE
b SRR EERR - RABRER
ERBETAR EFERMALFRETX
P AL 38 4 TR UL 5 LB 2 R e



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
B35 $R 2R B (AR)

31 DECEMBER 2024 — = —F+_-A=+—H

35. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES 35. I EKREE R EREEK (&)
AND POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Interest rate risk R == = bz
The Group's exposure to the risk of changes in market interest rates REBEEE TS EE B mAS 2 @bk E
relates primarily to the Group’s cash at banks and bank deposits with ZHASEEFHRRIRITIRBIZBIA KA
floating interest rates. IR RIBITFEREMH -
The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to a reasonably TREHNEMEEMEREFTTE ZIER
possible change in interest rates, with all other variables held T AEEZBREANRF (GERZBFE
constant, of the Group's profit before tax (through the impact on RITEBMBITIFRAIEE) HRES
floating rate bank balances and bank deposits). BRI IR E B BURIRE o

Increase/

Increase/ (decrease)
(decrease) in in profit
basis points before tax

EEEm, BR B AT 3 7
(B4) & (Rd)

HK$’000
FExT

2024 —E-ME
Hong Kong dollar BT (50) (445)
United States dollar ETT (50) (1,082)
RMB ARE (50) (125)
Hong Kong dollar BT 50 445
United States dollar ETT 50 1,082
RMB AR 50 125

Increase/

Increase/ (decrease)
(decrease) in in profit
basis points before tax

EEhgm, B 5 A& 7
g4 i/ CRd)

HKS$'000

FAT
2023 —m-=%
Hong Kong dollar BT (50) (415)
United States dollar ETT (50) (966)
RMB AR (50) (198)
Hong Kong dollar BT 50 415
United States dollar EVin 50 966
RMB AR 50 198
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35. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES 35 IEBEERERBEK (&)

AND POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Interest rate risk (continued)
There is no impact on the Group'’s equity except on the retained

profits.

Foreign currency risk
The Group has transactional currency exposures. Such exposures

mainly arise from revenue generated and/or costs and expenses
incurred by operating units in currencies other than the units’
functional currencies.

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity at the end of
the reporting period to a reasonably possible change in the
RMB exchange rate, with all other variables held constant, of the

A = 3 ke ()
BRBEFS - WAEEE SRR
£,

IS LB

AEEEYEXSEWER - LEBREER
B B B AL P A BT L) B M A SN
BRI WAR,HEEZ KRB -

TRENEMAEMBRGRTEZIEN
T AKRERBSHEEER (AARK
REMMBTEMES) Z BB AE M &

ANEHEETHLABED 2 GBI -

Group's profit before tax (arising from RMB denominated financial
instruments).

Increase/ Increase/
(decrease) in (decrease)
exchange in profit
rate before tax

ExLH BR Bt Al 73 7
(NEe) i (R2)

% HK$'000
FHTT

2024 —E-—mE
If the Hong Kong dollar weakens against RMB WAETHARERE 5 (1,015)
If the Hong Kong dollar strengthens against RMB WA THARSHE (5) 1,015
2023 —m-=f
If the Hong Kong dollar weakens against RMB WS TH ARKEE 5 (891)
If the Hong Kong dollar strengthens against RMB ST AREAE (5) 891

There is no impact on the Group’s equity except on the retained BRIRE AN - HAEE#ERSMEE AR
profits. 2.
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35. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES 35 IEBEERERBEEK (&)

AND POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Credit risk

The Group primarily trades on credit terms with recognised
and creditworthy third parties. It is the Group's policy that most
customers who wish to trade on credit terms are subject to certain
credit verification procedures. In addition, receivable balances are
monitored by the Group’s management on an ongoing basis.

Maximum exposure and year-end staging

The tables below show the credit quality and the maximum exposure
to credit risk based on the Group’s credit policy, which is mainly
based on past due information unless other information is available
without undue cost or effort, and year-end staging classification as at
31 December. The amounts presented are gross carrying amounts for
financial assets.

As at 31 December 2024

FERR
AEBETEERANEERFZE=ZNR
EERFETRS HRAKEZHE
RO BREEGTETRIZEFP AR
BETEEERER - I BREHZ
AR AEEERERHEER -

RS ER RN ES B TERER
TREFERAKEEERRNEEEER
kasEERR  TENABREHAELE
(BRIFMETREBEZRNAKE HHNER
THEEMLER)  ER+t-A=+—H
FRBMEEERDE -2 B R
BEEMNKREAE-

RZE-_mMF+=-_A=+—H

12-month
ECLs Lifetime ECLs
12{8 A B
FEER 2HRNEERE
Simplified
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 approach Total
E-Ra ERE EZRR L5k aeg
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Tz TR TR TR Tz
Trade receivables* KR S8R - - - 44,522 44,522
Contract assets BRAE - - - 37,064 37,064
Deposits and other receivables - & & R H A1 B U
Normal** TIE-E®E* 4,983 - - - 4,983
Pledged bank deposits - BERRITER
Not yet past due —HRBH 202,491 - - - 202,491
Cash and cash equivalents - RekERES
Not yet past due EE-HABH 128,907 - - - 128,907
336,381 - - 81,586 417,967

MR EEER AR

—z-mE53247
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35. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
AND POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Credit risk (continued)
Maximum exposure and year-end staging (continued)

As at 31 December 2023

35. I EREERRREE (&)

FERER (&)
£ 75 LM IR T OF 45 I TR PR AR ()

R-ZF-_=Ft+t-H=1—8H

12-month
ECLs Lifetime ECLs
TI A Hﬁ
2HEREEESRE
Simplified
Stage 2 Stage 3 approach Total
—fEER FFEER E=PRE ki k)
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THET THEx THxT AT FThEx
Trade receivables* B E SR - - - 40,961 40,961
Contract assets AWEE - - - 29338 29338
Deposits and other receivables - & & R E 1B
Normal** TIE-EE* 4,943 - - - 4943
Pledged bank deposits - BERRITER
Not yet past due — MR8 466 - - - 466
Cash and cash equivalents - RekERRe
Not yet past due EE-HABH 316,145 - - - 316,145
321,554 - - 70299 391,853
* For trade receivables to which the Group applies the simplified approach * MAEEERGTEAERENERE

for impairment, information based on the provision matrix is disclosed in
note 19 to the financial statements.

** The credit quality of the deposits and other receivables is considered to be
‘normal” when they are not past due and there is no information indicating
that the financial assets had a significant increase in credit risk since initial
recognition. Otherwise, the credit quality of the financial assets is considered
to be "doubtful”

Since the Group primarily trades on credit terms with recognised and
creditworthy third parties, there is no requirement for collateral.

Concentrations of credit risk are managed by customer/counterparty.
At the end of the reporting period, the Group had certain
concentrations of credit risk as 26.5% (2023: 20.8%) of the total trade
receivables of the Group were due from certain departments/units of
the Government of the HKSAR, the Group's largest customer.
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35. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
AND POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Credit risk (continued)
Maximum exposure and year-end staging (continued)

Further quantitative data in respect of the Group's exposure to credit
risk arising from trade receivables are disclosed in note 19 to the

financial statements.

Equity price risk

Equity price risk is the risk that the fair values of equity securities

35. I EREERRREE (&)

FEERR (&)
BERBRAELEBFTEREBR (E)
AEBREREKRE ZRAMEENEZERR
WEZESLTEREZ DREAMB®RE
MoaE19 o

N R
AN 48 LB 2 9 o A AR B2 H BORN B 3 38

FEEZ B LBRRABSF 2 A FERE
2R AEEZBRAEBRBIRENE =
E_NMEN_TE_=ZF+_A=+—H#
BRAFELBESARZYBEE— LT
AEE (F5k22) Z BRI AILE o ANE
B EMBRAKERBEBHERIHNAR
NARIET  RBEHEEEREMSHRE

decrease as a result of changes in the levels of equity indices and the
value of individual securities. The Group is exposed to equity price
risk arising from individual equity investments included in financial
assets at fair value through profit or loss — listed equity investments
(note 22) as at 31 December 2024 and 2023. The Group’s listed equity
investments are listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
and are valued at quoted market prices at the end of the reporting

period. ST(E o
The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to every 10% change TRESNEMEEMESGEFTE BN

TERARFHEMMEEER - UEEREER
B AEEETRARERRE BEE
BHZAFESE10%E  HEERZ
BRRIRE -

in the fair values of the Group’s listed equity investments, with all
other variables held constant and before any impact on tax, based on
their carrying amounts at the end of the reporting period.

Carrying Increase/
amount (decrease)

of equity in profit
investments before tax

RAEKRE BR B Al 735 7
ZBREE & (8d)

HKS'000 HKS$'000
T T
2024 —E-—mE
Equity investments listed in Hong Kong: EEB LM zBRAEE -
— financial assets at fair value through profit or loss —EBATFELEZAERY
MBEE 1,926 193
2023 —Z2-=
Equity investments listed in Hong Kong: EEB LMz BARKRE -
— financial assets at fair value through profit or loss —ZAVELERARY
MBEE 2,206 221
There is no impact on the Group’s equity except on the retained BRIRE RN - HAEEERMET MY
profits. 2.
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35. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES 35. IEAREEEERBE (&)
AND POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Liquidity risk REBESRR
The Group’s objective is to ensure there are adequate funds to meet REBBERBERERSEHESAEN
its contractual payments for financial liabilities in the short and long HEBRRHAZUBEEGHANR - B8R
terms. In the management of liquidity risk, the Group monitors and mMBECRRE  NEEERRERERE
maintains a level of cash and bank balances, and bank deposits ERAETHRErAEEEEMT RS R
deemed adequate by management to finance the Group's operations IRITHEBRKFEARIRITF R WREFER
and mitigate the effects of fluctuations in cash flows. Cash flows EMERDERIFE SREEERE
of the Group are closely monitored by senior management on an RERAEEZRERE -

ongoing basis.

The maturity profile of the Group’s financial liabilities at the end of the RFERBEER  NEBEIRES LR
reporting period, based on the contractual undiscounted payments, BN ECMBEEINHERNAT
is as follows:

2024
—E-NME
3to
(o])] Less than less than 1to

demand 3 months 12 months 5 years Total
=F

REXRME JIR=EA +=EAR —ERf aE

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR TER TR TER TER

Trade payables FERTE 5 8RR 11,882 128 166 - 12,176
Other payables HibENRIE - 31,034 - - 31,034
Lease liabilities HEBG - 1,003 4,316 17,486 22,805
Financial liabilities included in accruals AR B
MBak - 8,789 - - 8,789
Guarantees given to banks for performance BAEBAZ 2 ET
bonds/guarantees issued in relation AHBLBHORE/
to certain contracts undertaken by the ERMEETRE
Group LR 22,168 - - - 22,168
34,050 40,954 4,482 17,486 96,972
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35. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES 35. IR EEEERBE (&)
AND POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Liquidity risk (continued) REESRK (E)

On Less than less than Tto

demand 3 months 12 months 5 years

)
e JRZAR +tZEARN  —ZRF
HKS 00 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000

THEx TAEx FHET TAET
Trade payables B E SRR 9,879 898 397 - 11,174
Other payables Hio R ZE - 30015 - - 30015
Lease liabilities HEAR - 1676 4,866 3,067 9,609
Financial liabilities included in accruals BN
BBak - 9,070 - - 9,070
Guarantees given to banks for performance St A £ B #E 2 & T

bonds/quarantees issued in relation AUBHEORE
to certain contracts undertaken by the ERMRBTRE
Group LR 20,656 - - - 20656

30,535 41,659 5263 3,067 80,524

Capital management
The primary objectives of the Group'’s capital management are to

safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern and to
maintain healthy capital ratios in order to support its business and
maximise shareholders’value.

The Group regularly reviews and manages its capital structure and
makes adjustments to it in light of changes in economic conditions
and the risk characteristics of the underlying assets. To maintain
or adjust the capital structure, the Group may adjust the dividend
payment to shareholders, return capital to shareholders or issue new
shares. No changes were made in the objectives, policies or processes
for managing capital during the years ended 31 December 2024 and
2023.

Capital of the Group comprises all components of shareholders’

equity.

EXREE

AEEAAER TBAMRAREAE
BB EG S N L RBBRARILE
DR REERRARESRBABEE -

AEBERBEBERR cEZLNABEEZ
RERAIE - EHERREEENERE R
HAEE - AEE A B EFHBEHRRIRE
ZHEB - ABRRBEEEARLBEITHB A
RENAREAZR BE_T_NFK
—E=FFTZA=T—HLEFERN K
SEZEAEERR BEHREFLES

AEE 2 BEARMPTARRERFDAMK
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36. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE 36. AN B AR &R

COMPANY

RBEPRHEEARRAPBRARERZE
BT

Information about the statement of financial position of the Company
at the end of the reporting period is as follows:

2024
—E-mF

2023
—E-=F
HK$'000
FET

HK$’000
TET

NON-CURRENT ASSETS FRBEE
Investments in subsidiaries KB AR E 104,957 136,664
CURRENT ASSETS REBEE
Prepayments TEfTFRIB 368 341
Cash and cash equivalents RehERABEEE 948 673
Total current assets MEEERE 1,316 1,014
CURRENT LIABILITIES REBAE
Trade payables, other payables and accruals EREB SRR - EMERRIE
K FEFT IR 459 442

NET CURRENT ASSETS REBEEFE 857 572
Net assets BEEFE 105,814 137,236
EQUITY =
Issued capital BT 24,433 24,702
Share premium account f& 17 4 18 Bk 41,410 47147
Shares held under the restricted share award BEERGIRMD EEEEFE

scheme 2 &1 (3,872) (5,454)
Share-based payment reserve (note) &9 1< St 1 (P 5E) 4,728 5,063
Retained profits (note) R & F (MI5E) 25,762 52,285
Proposed final and special dividends (note) R R E M R B (B 5E) 13,353 13,493
Total equity s 105,814 137,236
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36. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE 36. A FHHAMR K (&)
COMPANY (CONTINUED)
Note: MIEE -
A summary of the Company’s other reserves and proposed final and special AR TR E M B R BRI R RSB ZE T -

dividends is as follows:

Other reserves

Hithf# 5
Proposed
Share-based final and
payment Retained special
reserve profits dividends Total
g BORAR B R
R E RERR 5B B FCE ]
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHATT FHET FATT FHT
At 1 January 2023 R-ZE-_=%F—H—H 5455 79,453 30,882 115,790
Loss for the year REEFEER - (41) - 1)
Vesting of shares held under the restricted share 45 PR %1 A% 17 22 B 51 2118 T A% 1D
award scheme BB (1,880) - - (1,880)
Share award arrangements &1 5B & Bk 1,488 - - 1,488
Final 2022 and special 2022 dividends declared ERZZEZ_FRAR-E
T OERRIRE - 27) (30,882) (30,909)
Interim 2023 dividend —E=FHPHRE - (13,607) - (13,607)
Proposed final 2023 dividend BE-_Z-_=FRPBRE - (13,493) 13,493 -
At 31 December 2023 and at 1 January 2024 RZZZ=F+=-A=+—H
ER-_ZE-_WF—HA—H 5,063 52,285 13,493 70,841
Profit for the year REFRHM - 46 - 46
Vesting of shares held under the restricted share & R I B% {7 22 Eh a1 818 T B 1%
award scheme wE (1,582) - - (1,582)
Share award arrangements & 1) 22 8 22 HE 1,247 - - 1,247
Final 2023 dividend declared SRZZE_=FREKE - 127 (13,493) (13,366)
Interim 2024 dividend ZTmERBERE - (13,343) - (13,343)
Proposed final 2024 dividend FR T ZIMFERERE - (13,353) 13,353 -
At 31 December 2024 R-ZE-MEF
+=-—A=+—H 4,728 25,762 13,353 43,843
37. APPROVAL OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 37. #HETBRRK
The financial statements were approved and authorised for issue by E=ZeN TR - AT ABERERK
the board of directors on 18 March 2025. TR o
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PARTICULARS OF PROPERTIES
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INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

Location

1. Units1,2and 3on 111
Westlands Centre
No. 20 Westlands Road

Quarry Bay
Hong Kong
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FIVE YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY
FFEHBEEE

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the Group for LNTAAEEAELAEMBFE ZXEURE
the last five financial years, as extracted/derived from the published audited ERABBEZHE  HHtkE REEFBZE
financial statements and reclassified as appropriate, is set out below. This EZVBHRE YEEEWEFT > HE  LHE
summary does not form part of the audited financial statements. W NERK S EZI T HRKR R ERELD o
RESULTS E3

Year ended 31 December

BET-A=t-HLEE

2024 2023 2022 2021 2020
—E-ME —E-=fF T T C—TZFTF
HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HKS'000
TERT FTAEL FTAET FTAET AT
REVENUE N 261,076 257,504 268719 265,504 256,265
Cost of sales and services HERRBRA (117,890) (121,663) (123,719) (113,073) (111477)
Gross profit EH 143,186 135,841 145,000 152,431 144,788
Other income and gains H AU A R Uz 16,086 16,271 13,642 5367 22,279
Foreign exchange differences, net [& i, 7 %8 /% 58 555 2 866 (403) (625)
Fair value gains/(losses), net: DEEKRE (BE)
R
Financial assets at fair value BATELEEARZ
through profit or loss WHEE (280) (1,219) (2,332) 163 (2,755)
Investment properties REME (5,000) (1872) (80) 500 (941)
Selling and distribution expenses 5% &% 2 #5593 (37,659) (34,423) (32,153) (33,068) (32,812)
General and administrative —RRTEAT T8
expenses, net (60,930) (62,906) (62,490) (60,626) (60,906)
Finance costs HBER (1,088) (469) (397) (245) (1,155)
Other expenses Hinfx (15,542) (13442) (10,624) (6492) (6,233)
PROFIT BEFORE TAX BB ADRF 39,328 37,783 51,432 57,627 61,640
Income tax expense FriSfm% (10,432) (4,540) (4,467) (4,634) (1,726)
PROFIT FOR THE YEAR REE R 28,896 33,43 46,965 52,993 59914
ATTRIBUTABLE TO: BUF AL FEL
Owners of the parent SRAEEA 29,065 33,350 47,011 53,844 60,125
Non-controlling interests IR (169) (107) (46) (851) 211)
28,896 33243 46,965 52,993 59914
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FIVE YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY (CONTINUED)

FFEMBEREGE)
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES EERAE
As at 31 December
Rt=A=+—H
2024 2023 2022 2021 2020
“ECNE | DB -=F T —Eo—F —E-FF
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FRT FHET FHET FHET TET
TOTAL ASSETS BEEHAE 672,607 654,508 678,490 681,297 667,268
TOTAL LIABILITIES BE4E (170,347) (148,509) (155,399) (157,668) (151,709)
502,260 505,999 523,091 523,629 515,559
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Computer And Technologies Holdings Limited
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18t Floor of Viva Place,
No.36 Heung Yip Road,
Wong Chuk Hang, H.K.
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